

THE UNIVERSITY of EDINBURGH

This thesis has been submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for a postgraduate degree (e.g. PhD, MPhil, DClinPsychol) at the University of Edinburgh. Please note the following terms and conditions of use:

- This work is protected by copyright and other intellectual property rights, which are retained by the thesis author, unless otherwise stated.
- A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge.
- This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author.
- The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author.
- When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given.

Modelling Fragile X Syndrome in rats:

New directions in translational research

Antonis Asiminas



Doctor of Philosophy Deanery of Biomedical Sciences College of Medicine and Veterinary Medicine University of Edinburgh

2016

...φύσιν δὲ ἕκαστον ἕχει καὶ δύναμιν έφ' ἑωυτοῦ, καὶ οὐδὲν ἄπορόν έστιν οὐδὲ ἀμήχανον.

Each (disease) has a nature and power of its own; none is hopeless or incapable of treatment

Hippocrates, The Sacred Disease, 400 BCE

Abstract

Fragile X syndrome (FXS) is the leading single gene cause of intellectual disability and Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). It is caused by epigenetic silencing of the fragile X mental retardation gene (*FMR1*), causing a loss of Fragile-X Mental Retardation Protein (FMRP). Over the last 2 decades, much has been learned about the pathophysiology related to the loss of FMRP from mouse models of FXS. The recent generation of a rat model of FXS opens the door to: validate phenotypes across mammalian species, address cognitive dysfunction using paradigms that are more difficult to address in mice and explore candidate therapeutics more accurately.

This thesis explored the validity of a new rat model for FXS (*Fmr1* KO rat). I showed that Fmr1 KO rats exhibit normal spatial navigation memory, social interactions and anxiety levels. On the contrary, when subjects were tested in a battery of spontaneous exploration tasks: object recognition (OR), object-context (OC), object-place (OP), and object-place-context (OPC) recognition, which assess associative memory, Fmr1 KO rats showed a severe deficit in remembering the most complex (episodic-like) associations.

Following these results, I sought to explore the development of associative memory from postnatal day 25 (P25) to adulthood (P71). Subjects were tested in the four spontaneous exploration tasks, previously mentioned, 8 times between P25 and P71 to assess the development of their ability to discriminate novel from familiar associations between objects, contexts and places. Fmr1 KO rats' ability to discriminate novel from familiar object-place (spatial) and object-place-context (episodic-like) associations was significantly impaired (OP was delayed, and OPC ability did not develop).

In the last part of this thesis I examined whether early therapeutic intervention with lovastatin can restore the cognitive deficits I observed. Subjects were fed either a diet containing lovastatin ("lovachow") or an identically looking control diet, between P29 and P64, and tested in the four spontaneous exploration tasks, previously mentioned. *Fmr1* KO rats demonstrated a developmental profile of associative memory indistinguishable from that of WT animals. At P64, lovachow was replaced with standard laboratory chow and the animals were tested 1 and 3 months later. Surprisingly, lovastatin treated *Fmr1* KO animals maintained the ability to perform the OPC task even at 3 months after the end of treatment, whereas Fmr1 KO animals on control chow showed no improvement with age.

The findings of this work indicate that transgenic rats can complement existing mouse models of FXS, providing valuable insights into the effects of FMRP loss on cognitive function. Furthermore, the results from the treatment study show that not only can lovastatin treatment prevent the emergence of cognitive deficits associated with Fragile X Syndrome but also that lovastatin (and perhaps pharmaceutical interventions more generally) may prevent the developmental deficits in neuronal circuit formation which can be maintained into adulthood.

Lay Summary

Fragile X syndrome (FXS) is the most common form of inherited intellectual disability and the most frequent single gene cause of autism, affecting approximately 1 in 4,000 males and 1 in 6,000 females. Over the last 2 decades, much has been learned about the disease mechanism using mouse models of FXS. This thesis focusses on a new rat model of FXS (*Fmr1* KO rat), and examines whether it can model FXS efficiently. Furthermore, it examines whether therapeutic intervention early in life can prevent emergence of cognitive deficits and whether any benefits are dependent on ongoing treatment.

Fmr1 KO rats appear to have normal cognitive performance in various tests but they are severely impaired in a complex type of memory called episodic memory (memory of events). This is a novel finding which offers valuable insights into the cognitive impairments associated with FXS but also provides a good way to test candidate therapies.

Following my previous results, I sought to explore how episodic memory and other forms of associative memory develop in juvenile rats and, since FXS is a neurodevelopmental disorder, examine if *Fmr1* KO rats experience any developmental delays. I found a certain type of associative memory (association of an object and its position) takes longer to appear in this rat model of FXS and episodic memory, as previously observed, doesn't develop at all.

Finally, I investigated if early therapeutic intervention can restore normal development of learning and memory. Treated *Fmr1* KO rats demonstrated a developmental profile of associative memory indistinguishable from that of normal animals. I then tested if the beneficial effects of this treatment could be maintained into adulthood without ongoing drug application. After 5 weeks of treatment, drug-containing diet was replaced with standard laboratory diet and the animals were tested 1 and 3 months later. Surprisingly, treated Fmr1 KO animals maintained normal learning behaviour even at 3 months after treatment had been terminated, whereas Fmr1 KO animals on control diet showed no improvement with age.

The findings of this thesis indicate that rat disease models can expand our knowledge of FXS, thus complementing existing mouse models. Furthermore, the results from the treatment study show that not only can appropriate treatment prevent of cognitive

delays associated with Fragile X Syndrome but also that pharmaceutical interventions during potentially critical developmental windows can have long lasting or even permanent effects.

Acknowledgements

Making the transition from chemistry to neuroscience is not a trivial task. I've been very lucky to be part of a team which made it look so simple. Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr Emma Wood who was patient, strict when she had to be, supportive and understanding all in the right amounts; a true mentor. She taught me to focus on the right question since my mind has a tendency to drift from the main idea to smaller questions of minor importance; she taught me how to think as a behavioural neuroscientist.

I would like to thank Dr Vassilis Beglopoulos and Prof Richard Morris. Even though they weren't directly involved in the work described in this thesis, they were the ones who brought me in Edinburgh and gave me a chance to make the transition; if it wasn't for them to open the door for me to the beautifully complex world of neuroscience I wouldn't have been in this position today.

Question! Probably a third of all the sentences I've formulated during the last 5 years, started with this word. I have asked thousands of questions, so having people around who were willing to give me answers, or help me find these answers, was amazing. From people in the PhD student office: Adrian, Roddy, Tizzy, Fitzy, Daisy and Rachael, Rosie and Ellie to people in the postdoc room Lisa, Tomo, Mio, Janine, Dorothy, Dave and Bruce, everyone has spent time answering weird and not so weird questions, helping me design experiments and expand my knowledge in neuroscience.

I've been amazingly lucky to have a great thesis committee; Emma, Peter, Sally and David were the best group of people I could have, to guide me through this process. Every thesis committee meeting was a bit intense for me for the simple reason I had nowhere to hide, there was no room for arguments not supported by data; between the four of them, they cover all aspects of neuroscience. This was the best way to improve the way I think about experiments and interpret data.

I would also like to thank my parents Nikos and Dimitra who let me "do my thing" and supported me, even though they didn't always agree with my decisions. I want to say a very big thank you to Dennis, my soon to be father in-law, who proofread a big part of this work and provided invaluable comments on my writing. Last but not least I want to thank my fiancée Jude. She has been very patient and supportive throughout my PhD research and the writing process and I feel lucky to be with her.

This is definitely not the end; this is just the beginning. Completing a PhD is the first step of a career I've always dreamt of. The reason I decided around 20 years ago, while I was still in primary school, to pursue a career in science is because I saw the passion of two people who are very special to me; Prof "Lola" Theodora Choli-Papadopoulou and Dr "Biskotos" George Papadopoulos; my first mentors. They taught me why and how to love science, to chase my dreams but at the same time always plan ahead and be prepared for challenges and changes in my research direction. I declare that all presented work is my own except if stated otherwise; and I composed this thesis myself. The work in this thesis has not been submitted for any other degree or professional qualification.

Antonis Asiminas

Chapter 1: Data collection for open field, light/dark box and reference memory and reversal task in watermaze was performed in collaboration with Dr Sally M Till. USVs data collection was performed in collaboration with Prof Maria Louisa Scattoni, Dr Caterina Michetti and Dr Sally M Till. Due to the special nature of the dataset, data analysis in the same experiment was primarily carried out by Dr Caterina Michetti Prof Maria Louisa Scattoni who are experts in the field.

Chapter 3: Data collection for Object exploration tasks and daily food/ weight monitoring of the animals was performed by Athina Aruldass, Kimberley Reed and Cecilia Neill-Edwards during summer placement (AA) and honours project (KR & CNE); all data analysis was performed by the author.

Table of Contents

| Overview | 1 |
|---|---------------|
| 1. Studying Fragile X Syndrome | 4 |
| 1.1 From Martin and Bell to Fragile X | 4 |
| 1.2 Genetics of FXS | 4 |
| 1.3 Clinical symptoms of Fragile X Syndrome | 7 |
| 1.3.1 Cognitive symptoms | 7 |
| 1.5 The mouse model of FXS | |
| 1.5.1 Mouse model generation | |
| 1.5.2 Effects of background genetics in phenotype | |
| 1.5.3 Pathophysiology of the <i>Fmr1</i> KO mouse | |
| 1.5.4 Cognitive deficits of the <i>Fmr1</i> KO mouse | |
| 1.5.5 Behavioural abnormalities of the <i>Fmr1</i> KO mouse | 26 |
| 1.5.6 Neurological symptoms of the <i>Fmr1</i> KO mouse | |
| 1.5.7 Lessons learned and lessons to be learned | |
| 2. Therapeutic approaches in FXS | |
| 2.1 From Symptom-based to Mechanism-based therapeutic in | terventions37 |
| 2.2 Symptom-Based Interventions | |
| 2.2.1 ADHD treatments | |
| 2.2.2 Oxytocin | |
| 2.2.3 Aripiprazole | |
| 2.2.4 Melatonin | |
| 2.2.5 Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors | |
| 2.3 Modulating Excitatory Neurotransmission | |
| 2.3.1 Fenobam | |
| 2.3.2 Mavoglurant/AFQ056 | |
| 2.3.3 Basimglurant/RO4917523 | |
| 2.3.4 Memantine | |
| 2.4 Modulating Inhibitory Neurotransmission | |
| 2.4.1 R-baclofen/arbaclofen/STX209 | |
| 2.4.2 Acamprosate | |
| 2.4.3 Riluzole | 51 |
| 2.4.4 Ganaxolone | 51 |
| 2.5 Other Mechanism-based Treatments | |
| 2.5.1 Lithium | |

| 2.5.2 Minocycline | 52 |
|--|---------|
| 2.5.3 Lovastatin | 53 |
| 2.5.4 Insulin Growth Factor 1/Trofinetide/ NNZ-2566 | 55 |
| 2.6 Treatment development for FXS: Quo Vadimus? | 55 |
| 3. From Mouse to Rat | 61 |
| 3.1 Rats are not oversized mice | 61 |
| 3.2 Rat in translational research | 62 |
| 3.2.1 Larger sample volumes | 63 |
| 3.2.2 Easier surgery | 63 |
| 3.2.3 Higher resolution imaging | 64 |
| 3.2.4 Physiology closer to humans | 65 |
| 3.2.5 Rich behavioural profile | 65 |
| 3.2.6 More translational | 67 |
| 3.3 Rat as a model organism of ASD and FXS | 69 |
| 3.3.1 Differences in anxiety-hyperactivity | 69 |
| 3.3.2 Differences in social interactions | 71 |
| 3.3.3 Differences in cognition | 75 |
| 3.4 The age of KO rats | 80 |
| 4. Behavioural characterisation of a new rat model of Fragile X syndrome | 82 |
| 4.1 Introduction | 82 |
| 4.2 The <i>Fmr1</i> KO rat | 83 |
| 4.3 Methods | 85 |
| 4.3.1 Animals | 85 |
| 4.3.2 Experimental Design | |
| 4.3.3 Behavioural Assays | 86 |
| 4.4 Results | 95 |
| 4.4.1 Fmr1 KO rats exhibit normal activity and anxiety levels | 95 |
| 4.4.2 Fmr1 KO rats display minor communication and social interaction defi | cits.96 |
| 4.4.3 Watermaze tasks reveal normal spatial memory in Fmr1 KO rats | 102 |
| 4.4.4 FMRP loss leads to hippocampus-dependent, spatial and episodic-like memory impairments | 104 |
| 4.4.5 Spatial and episodic-like memory impairments persist across different | rat |
| strains | 111 |
| 4.5 Discussion | 115 |
| 4.5.1 <i>Fm1</i> KO rats exhibit distinct behavioural deficits | 115 |
| 4.5.2 Persistent cognitive deficits across background strains | 120 |

| 5. Fmr1 KO rats exhibit abnormal development of associative memory | |
|---|---|
| 5.1 Introduction | |
| 5.2 Methods | |
| 5.2.1 Animals | 125 |
| 5.2.2 Apparatus | |
| 5.2.3 Habituation/Testing | |
| 5.2.4 Statistical analysis | |
| 5.3 Results | |
| 5.3.1 <i>Fmr1</i> KO rats show significant memory for objects throughout deve | lopment 128 |
| 5.3.2 <i>Fmr1</i> KO rats show similar object-context memory developmental p wildtype littermates | orofile to 133 |
| 5.3.3 <i>Fmr1</i> KO rats display a delay in the developmental trajectory of objects associative memory | ect-place 133 |
| 5.3.4 <i>Fmr1</i> KO rats are unable to discriminate novel from familiar object-context associations | place- 134 |
| 5.4 Discussion | |
| 5.4.1 Distinct developmental trajectories in associative memory of wildty | pe rats |
| | |
| 5.4.2 <i>Fmr1</i> knockout rats display abnormal development of associative m | nemory |
| 5.4.2 <i>Fmr1</i> knockout rats display abnormal development of associative m 5.4.3 Looking forward | nemory |
| 5.4.2 <i>Fmr1</i> knockout rats display abnormal development of associative m 5.4.3 Looking forward. 6. Lovastatin treatment early in life restores cognitive development in <i>Fmr1</i> K | 137 nemory 140 141 30 rats145 |
| 5.4.2 <i>Fmr1</i> knockout rats display abnormal development of associative m 5.4.3 Looking forward. 6. Lovastatin treatment early in life restores cognitive development in <i>Fmr1</i> K 6.1 Introduction | nemory 140 141 O rats145 145 |
| 5.4.2 <i>Fmr1</i> knockout rats display abnormal development of associative m 5.4.3 Looking forward 6. Lovastatin treatment early in life restores cognitive development in <i>Fmr1</i> K 6.1 Introduction 6.2 Methods | nemory |
| 5.4.2 <i>Fmr1</i> knockout rats display abnormal development of associative m 5.4.3 Looking forward 6. Lovastatin treatment early in life restores cognitive development in <i>Fmr1</i> K 6.1 Introduction 6.2 Methods 6.2.1 Animals | nemory 140 |
| 5.4.2 <i>Fmr1</i> knockout rats display abnormal development of associative m 5.4.3 Looking forward. 6. Lovastatin treatment early in life restores cognitive development in <i>Fmr1</i> K 6.1 Introduction 6.2 Methods. 6.2.1 Animals 6.2.2 Experimental Procedures. | nemory 140 141 0 rats145 145 145 150 150 150 |
| 5.4.2 <i>Fmr1</i> knockout rats display abnormal development of associative m 5.4.3 Looking forward 6. Lovastatin treatment early in life restores cognitive development in <i>Fmr1</i> K 6.1 Introduction 6.2 Methods 6.2.1 Animals 6.2.2 Experimental Procedures | nemory 140 141 0 rats145 145 145 150 150 150 150 151 |
| 5.4.2 <i>Fmr1</i> knockout rats display abnormal development of associative m 5.4.3 Looking forward. 6. Lovastatin treatment early in life restores cognitive development in <i>Fmr1</i> K 6.1 Introduction 6.2 Methods. 6.2.1 Animals 6.2.2 Experimental Procedures. 6.2.3 Statistical analysis 6.3 Results | nemory 140 141 20 rats145 145 145 150 150 150 151 151 |
| 5.4.2 <i>Fmr1</i> knockout rats display abnormal development of associative m 5.4.3 Looking forward. 6. Lovastatin treatment early in life restores cognitive development in <i>Fmr1</i> K 6.1 Introduction | nemory 140 141 20 rats145 145 145 145 150 150 151 151 151 |
| 5.4.2 <i>Fmr1</i> knockout rats display abnormal development of associative m 5.4.3 Looking forward | nemory 140 141 0 rats145 145 145 145 150 150 150 151 151 151 151 and 152 |
| 5.4.2 <i>Fmr1</i> knockout rats display abnormal development of associative m 5.4.3 Looking forward. 6. Lovastatin treatment early in life restores cognitive development in <i>Fmr1</i> K 6.1 Introduction | nemory 140 141 0 rats145 145 145 145 145 150 150 151 151 151 151 and 152 153 |
| 5.4.2 <i>Fmr1</i> knockout rats display abnormal development of associative m 5.4.3 Looking forward | nemory 140 141 0 rats145 145 145 145 150 150 150 151 151 151 151 151 151 15 |
| 5.4.2 <i>Fmr1</i> knockout rats display abnormal development of associative m 5.4.3 Looking forward | nemory 140 141 0 rats145 141 0 rats145 145 150 150 150 151 151 151 151 151 151 15 |

| 6.4.2 Are all statins alike? | .171 |
|---|-------|
| 6.4.3 How can early intervention have such long lasting results? | . 173 |
| 6.4.4 Paradigm shift in future clinical trials? | .175 |
| 7. General discussion | . 176 |
| 7.1 So you want to be a model (of FXS): what rats have to offer | .177 |
| 7.2 Time after time: the value of studying developmental trajectories | .178 |
| 7.3 The early bird gets the worm | . 179 |
| 7.4 Changing direction in translational research | . 181 |
| 8. Supplementary figures | . 182 |
| Bibliography | . 186 |

Overview

Animal models of Fragile X Syndrome (FXS) have proven invaluable to advance our understanding of the pathogenesis and pathophysiology of FXS. Until the development of the first *Fmr1* knockout mouse (*Fmr1* KO) model of FXS (Bakker et al., 1994) it was not feasible to study the effects of FMRP loss in vivo. The discoveries made using this model have undoubtedly changed the way we think about, not only FXS, but also neurodevelopmental disorders in general (Wijetunge et al., 2013). Although there is currently no effective therapy against the core symptomatology of FXS, our increasing understanding of the disease pathophysiology has created multiple lines of investigation for targeted therapies. Even though many phenotypes associated with the loss of FMRP have been shown to improve in preclinical treatment studies, attempts to translate these animal-model success stories into successful treatments for human patients have so far been unsuccessful. The recently created rat model of FXS offers a great potential for the study not only FXS but also ASD and other neurodevelopmental disorders. This thesis aims to introduce this new rat model into the research community and highlight its importance as an exciting new alternative to the established mouse model on 3 different levels: (1) the validation of phenotypes across mammalian model species carrying the same genetic lesion, (2) the exploration of pathophysiology and behaviour associated with FXS, using assays which are quite challenging for the mouse model and (3) bridging the gap between preclinical and clinical research.

In the three introductory chapters of my thesis, I will discuss FXS, the most frequently encountered singe gene cause of inherited intellectual disability and the most common monogenic cause of autism. I will then review reseach on the mouse model of the syndrome which carries an analogous genetic lesion and expresses similar physiological and behavioural phenotypes. This mouse model of FXS has been an invaluable tool for understanding pathophysiology of the disease on multiple levels, but my review is mainly focussed on the behavioural phenonype. Drug discovery is a challenging but absolutelly critical process in translational research. The empirical approach to drug discovery - focussed only on safety and efficacy in humans, but not connected to the underlying biological mechanisms – is gradually being replaced by a mechanism-based, targeted approach. Thus, in the second introductory chapter, I will summarise the most recent findings in FXS drug development and summarise current mechanism-based FXS





therapeutic strategies and their translation from animal models to humans. Finally, in the last introductory chapter, I will reflect on the behavioural differences between rats and mice and I will attempt to highlight the huge potential impact of the newly generated rat models of FXS and autism.

The first series of experiments described in Chapter 4 focus on the initial behavioural characterisation of *Fmr1* KO rats. The main aim is to determine whether this rat model recapitulates behavioural phenotypes seen in the mouse model. The tasks are divided into three categories, highlighting the three main behavioural domains affected in FXS: elevated anxiety/repetitive behaviours, social interaction abnormalities and cognitive deficits. Although the main body of work in this chapter makes use of the commercially available *Fmr1* KO rat, on an albino Sprague-Dawley background strain, the last section of the chapter, I introduce a custom made model of FXS in a Long-Evans Hooded background strain, in an attempt to examine whether there are strain specific behavioural deficits as observed in the mouse model, or not.

The study described in Chapter 5 attempts to build upon the findings of Chapter 4. We aim to investigate the development of associative object memory in *Fmr1* KO rats and their wildtype littermates. The rationale behind this study is to identify possible developmental delays in this model of FXS, which would be consistent with the human phenotype since FXS is a neurodevelopmental disorder (children with FXS meet almost all developmental milestones later in life).

The final experiment (Chapter 6) described in this thesis goes a step further towards closing the loop of molecular medicine. It investigates the effect of early pharmacological treatment with lovastatin (a candidate therapeutic also discussed in Chapter 2) on two levels: (1) restoring normal cognitive development (described in Chapters 5), and (2) resulting in robust long lasting effects.

1. Studying Fragile X Syndrome

1.1 From Martin and Bell to Fragile X

In 1943 Martin and Bell described an X-linked form of intellectual disability in a family with 11 affected boys; they had below average IQ and specific morphological characteristics (Martin & Bell, 1943) (Fig. 1.1A). Several years later, in 1969, Lubs (1969) revealed the existence of a "fragile site" on the long arm of chromosome X in Xq27.3 (FRAXA site)(Fig. 1.1B), when they cultured lymphocytes derived from 4 boys with intellectual disability. In 1977, Sutherland noticed that this fragile site was more easily observed if folic acid is not added to the culture medium. The discovery of the fragile site in the members of the family that Martin and Bell first studied lead to the connection between the chromosomal abnormality and the clinical image of the syndrome, known today as Fragile X syndrome (FXS). Its known genetic aetiology, and neurobiological commonality with less well understood prevalence, neurodevelopmental disorders - including autism spectrum disorder (ASD), attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and other forms of intellectual disability make FXS a valuable model for understanding the neurobiology of these diseases and developing targeted therapeutic interventions (Elizabeth Berry-Kravis, Knox, & Hervey, 2011).

1.2 Genetics of FXS

Fragile X Syndrome is the most prevalent single-gene cause of mental retardation (Turner et al., 1996). Recent estimates indicate that approximately 1 in every 4000 males and 1in every 8000 females are affected (Crawford, Acuña, & Sherman, 2001; P. J. Hagerman, 2008; Turner et al., 1996). FXS arises from an inter-generational trinucleotide expansion (cytosine, guanine and guanine) in the 5' untranslated region (UTR) of the Fragile X Mental Retardation 1 gene (*FMR1*) (Verkerk et al., 1991)(Fig. 1.1C). This gene encodes FMRP, a protein involved in the regulation of mRNAs at the post-transcriptional level, playing key roles in synaptic structure and function, and in underlying cognitive processes. In typically developing individuals, the number of trinucleotide (CGG) repeats varies between approximately 5 and 50 with an average number of 30 trinucleotide units (Cunningham et al., 2011; Fu et al., 1991; Snow et al., 1993). However, individuals

affected with FXS typically have more than 200 CGG repeats (Chiurazzi, Neri, & Oostra, 2003)(Fig. 1.1C). A two-step process leads to the full mutation of the *FMR1* gene. The first mutation results in the expansion of the CGG trinucleotide to 55 - 200 repeats (called a premutation); the person is considered a carrier at that point and can have only up to mild clinical symptoms. The second step of the mutation, results in an affected individual with more than 200 repeats (called a full mutation). The premutation only develops into a full mutation when passed by a female to her offspring, because a recombination event with the other X chromosome facilitates the expansion process. That expansion results in an epigenetic silencing of the *FMR1* gene on the X chromosome (Sherman et al., 2002) through over-methylation of the promoter, which in turn prevents expression of Fragile X Mental Retardation protein (FMRP) (Verkerk et al., 1991). Although this increase in the number of trinucleotide (CGG) repeats accounts for the vast majority of cases of FXS, rarely an individual can also be affected by point mutations or deletions within *FMR1* gene which can result in its silencing (Grønskov, Hallberg, & Brøndum-Nielsen, 1998; Santoro, Bray, & Warren, 2012).

While FXS was originally thought to be a recessive genetic disorder, scientists noticed that approximately 1/3 of carrier females exhibited mild clinical symptoms including cognitive difficulties, emotional and social deficits and occasionally depression (Kim Cornish et al., 2005; F. Tassone et al., 2000). This points to the fact that FXS is not recessive, but rather an X-linked dominant disorder with reduced penetrance in females due to the normal process of X-inactivation (Sherman et al., 1985). Female premutation carriers - even those not experiencing any cognitive and emotional abnormalities - may experience problems later in life. Almost twenty-eight percent of female premutation carriers suffer from premature ovarian failure and early menopause, a condition called Fragile X associated primary ovarian insufficiency (FXPOI) (Cronister et al., 1991; Sullivan et al., 2005). Male premutation carriers are at high risk of developing a neurological disorder known as Fragile X tremor/ataxia syndrome (FXTAS) - characterized by ataxia, tremor, cognitive and autonomic dysfunction, and Parkinson's-like symptoms - usually by the age of 50 (Hagerman et al., 2004; Moore et al., 2004).



Figure 1.1 The fragile X phenotype. (A) Affected individual: the characteristic facial features of the syndrome include long, narrow face, prominent forehead, jaw, and ears. **(B)** The "marker X" chromosome. This peculiar constriction at the end of the long arm of metaphase chromosome X is characteristic in fragile X (FX) individuals. **(C)** Schematic representation of the fragile X mental retardation 1 (*FMR1*) gene. The CGG repeat is located within the untranslated region of the first exon. Expansion over 200 repeats leads to overmethylation of the promoter and transcriptional silencing. **(D)** Scatterplot of full-scale intelligence quotient (FSIQ) on FMRP levels (percentages of normal expression) showing high correlation between the two paprameters. Figures modified from Penagarikano, Mulle & Warren 2007 and Loesch, Huggins & Hagerman 2004

The fact that FXS has single gene aetiology enables us to establish a direct link between the *FMR1* gene mutation and corresponding FXS phenotype (Fig. 1.1D). In typically developing individuals, FMRP is expressed in most cells with high levels of FMRP in both foetal and adult brains (Abitbol et al., 1993; Devys, Lutz, Rouyer, Bellocq, & Mandel, 1993). In individuals with FXS, the lack of expression of *FMR1* in somatic cells (Pieretti et al., 1991) leads to a well-defined phenotype that is characterized by a range of physical, neuroanatomical, behavioural and cognitive deficits.

1.3 Clinical symptoms of Fragile X Syndrome

1.3.1 Cognitive symptoms

Intellectual disability is the main symptom of Fragile X syndrome, and can vary in severity even between members of the same family. The vast majority of patients (>90%) have IQ between 20 and 70 (Dykens et al., 1988; Cornish et al., 2001). While preschool children with FXS show an IQ close to the lower end of the average, cognitive development is significantly delayed in childhood and adolescence relative to unaffected individuals. Therefore, it is common for boys with FXS to progressively fall behind in school. By adulthood, most FXS men have an IQ well below the average of 100- around 40 - with specific deficits in visuospatial skills, attention, and executive function (Van der Molen et al., 2010). Females carrying the full mutation tend to experience learning difficulties, with 25% having cognitive defects severe enough to be characterized as intellectual disability (de Vries et al., 1996). Males with the fully mutated gene and extensive over-methylation have a mean IQ of 41, while men with the full mutation but less than 50% methylation have a mean IQ of 88 (Merenstein et al., 1996). It is thus obvious that the IQ of an individual heavily depends on the methylation pattern of his DNA, which impacts expression of FMR1 and production of Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein (FMRP) (Warren & Ashley, 1995).

1.3.2 Physical Symptoms

In addition to the cognitive impairments associated with FXS, which are the hallmark feature of the syndrome, a number of physical symptoms are common. The typical triad of features in FXS adult males includes macroorchidism (enlarged testicles), elongated faces and large prominent ears (Hagerman, 1997) (figure 3). Also common are flat feet,

high arched palate, and connective tissue abnormalities like hyper-extensible joints (Beckel-Mitchener & Greenough, 2004). Amongst all the aforementioned physical features, it has been suggested that large ears are a feature particularly associated with FXS and no other forms of intellectual disability (Bagni et al., 2012).

1.3.3 Behavioural Symptoms

Males with FXS have distinct behavioural features. Hyperactivity and attentional deficits manifest in almost 9 out 10 affected individuals, while restrictive language and, repetitive, compulsive behaviours such as hand-flapping occur in 95% of boys (Hagerman, 1997; Merenstein et al., 1996). FXS males display a pronounced eye gaze aversion, excessive shyness, and anxiety. Anxiety disorders are often seen in both male and female affected individuals and include selective aphonia (lack of speech), social seclusion, specific phobias, as well as generalized anxiety (de Vries et al., 1996; Hagerman et al., 2009; Sullivan et al., 2007). Aggressive behaviour occurs in approximately 30 to 50% of males and can also include impulsivity, tactile defensiveness and hand biting, (Hagerman et al., 2009). Females with FXS tend to have less intense and widely variable symptoms. Quite often, they display executive function and attention deficits, even when their IQ is within the normal range (de Vries et al., 1996; Hagerman et al., 2009). Visual perception deficits are also markedly affected in females with the full mutation. Finally, social deficits and social anxiety are problematic in FXS females and can lead to general shyness and selective aphonia (Elizabeth Berry-Kravis et al., 2011).

1.3.4 Neurological Symptoms

Affected individuals experience profound deficits in sensory processing. The pronounced hyperarousal and hyper-responsivity to auditory, tactile, visual, and olfactory stimuli in the environment, can lead to sensory defensiveness - defined as aversive and out of proportion behavioural response, to certain types of stimuli of any sensory modality, that most people would find to be non-painful (Hagerman & Hagerman, 2002). Hypersensitivity to visual stimuli or visual avoidance is evident in more than 9 out of 10 males with FXS, including high functioning males of normal intelligence (Merenstein et al., 1996). Auditory hyper-responsivity is also a common sensory integrative dysfunction in individuals with FXS as well as other types of intellectual disability. Its prevalence is quite variable, ranging from 15 to 100% in patients on the autism spectrum and is heavily dependent on the way of assessment (in

clinical research tests 15 - 40%, in questionnaires for parents 16 - 100%, in questionnaires for teachers approx. 30%) (Sullivan et al., 2007).

The prevalence of epilepsy in people with an intellectual disability (ID) is apparently higher than in the general population (McGrother et al., 2006), therefore is not a surprise that seizure susceptibility is high amongst males with FXS with a prevalence of 13 to 18%. Seizures gradually stop in adulthood (Elizabeth Berry-Kravis, 2002). Many seizures are generalized tonic-clonic in which the whole brain is involved from the onset and include a loss of consciousness and violent muscle contractions, while other episodes can be subtler, partial complex or partial motor seizures which start at a specific focal area (Musumeci et al., 1999). Seizures are characterized by muscle tension followed by convulsions, a types of seizure called tonic-clonic. If not controlled properly, status epilepticus (a state of persistent seizure) can under certain conditions lead to death. While the pathophysiology underlying seizures in FXS is not adequately understood, these seizures can be triggered by environmental stimuli (Hagerman & Hagerman, 2002). Sudden aggressive attacks not caused by such stimuli may have temporal lobe origin or be partial complex seizures (Hagerman & Hagerman, 2002).

1.4 Fragile X Syndrome and Autism Spectrum Disorders

Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) are extremely heterogeneous and their aetiology is characterised by increased biological complexity. While the main cause of most cases of ASD remains elusive, a growing body of literature suggests that ASD has a strong genetic basis. In families with a child on the autism spectrum, the risk that a future sibling will be affected is 25 to 50 times greater than for the general population (Abrahams & Geschwind, 2008; DiCicco-Bloom et al., 2006). Studies of twins yield even more powerful evidence that autism has a strong genetic component: concordance rates are between 70 and 90% for monozygotic twins and 0 - 10% for dizygotic twins (Abrahams & Geschwind, 2008). This evidence has led many researchers to search for genes associated with increased risk of ASD.

| Category of Characteristics | Genetic background |
|-----------------------------|--|
| Facial | Large and prominent ears (75-78%) |
| | Long face |
| | Mandibular prognathism (80% adult men) |
| | Cleft palate |
| | Macrocephaly |
| Ophthalmological | Strabismus (8%) |
| | Refractive errors |
| Neurological | Seizures (23%) |
| | Hypotonia (children) |
| | Clonus (adults) |
| | Positive palmomental reflex |
| Psychiatric | Poor eye contact |
| | Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder |
| | Anxiety |
| | Repetitive behaviour |
| | Aggression and distress crisis |
| | Social anxiety |
| Cognitive | Mental retardation |
| | Cognitive and language deficit |
| Orthopaedic | Flatfeet |
| | Hyper extensibility in the metacarpophalangeal joint |
| | Scoliosis |
| | Double jointed thumbs |
| Genitourinary | Macroorchidism (95% of adult men) |
| Cardiovascular | Cardiac abnormalities (mitral valveprolapse) |
| Other | Obesity, cramped teeth, tall or short stature |

Table 1.1 Clinical characteristics of patients with Fragile X Syndrome. The majority of the phenotypic characteristics have been described in males with FXS, women typically have similar features although often less severe. Modified from Saldarriaga et al., 2014

FXS is the most common known single gene cause of autism spectrum disorders, responsible for approximately 4% of all cases (Hagerman et al., 2010). Interestingly, not all individuals with FXS meet all the criteria of ASD: 30% of males with FXS will be diagnosed at some point in their lives with full-blown autism and an additional 30% have pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS) (Hagerman et al., 2010). PDD-NOS is still in the autism spectrum disorders; it includes cases where the criteria for full autism have not been met due to late age of onset, atypical symptomatology, or sub-threshold symptomatology (De Bruin et al., 2007). FXS patients who do not meet the criteria to be include in the previous two groups, have at least one autistic feature, like eye gaze aversion, hand flapping etc. Comorbidity of FXS with additional neurological medical problems such as seizures, leads to an increased risk of having full-blown autism compared to patients with FXS alone (Garcia-Nonell et al., 2008). Moreover, FXS comorbidity with autism increases in male and female FXS patients who have low IQs compared to individuals on the upper end of the IQ range (Hagerman et al., 2010). This high chance of co-occurrence between FXS and ASD has led many researchers to propose that FXS, being an aetiologically better defined (i.e., a single-gene) disorder, will provide valuable insights into the aetiology of non-syndromic ASD (Belmonte & Bourgeron, 2006).

Both ASD and FXS are highly heterogeneous disorders in terms of symptom severity and manifestation amongst affected individuals. This variability is likely to be the outcome of differences in genetic background, prenatal and postnatal environmental factors, and the interplay of the two. It is obvious from the above that environmental influences and additional genetic anomalies work in an intertwined fashion to modulate the interrelationships between behavioural, cognitive, and attentional deficits in FXS (Hagerman et al., 2010). There are only a few examples of FXS patients who have additional pathological mutations - such as Down or Tourette syndrome, other sex chromosome disorders, allelic variants of the serotonin transporter that lead to increased susceptibility to depression, and gene expression changes related to Prader-Willi phenotype (Garcia-Nonell et al., 2008; David Hessl et al., 2008; Nowicki et al., 2007). Their symptoms are noticeably more severe or more multifaceted than patients with FXS alone. Males with the later condition (Prader-Willi phenotype and FXS) are usually severely obese, show excessive hunger, hypogenitalia, and a higher comorbidity with autism than patients with FXS alone (Nowicki et al., 2007). Concluding this section, we should keep in mind that the prenatal and postnatal environment is likely to impact disease phenotype in a much greater degree than previously thought. Environmental influences on the pathophysiology of FXS and the severity of the symptoms associated with the disease, are just beginning to be explored and are likely to include exposure to toxins, abnormal immune response, and abuse or neglect (Hagerman et al., 2010).

1.5 The mouse model of FXS

1.5.1 Mouse model generation

The FMR1 gene is highly conserved across different mammalian species; Fmr1 gene in mice has a 95% homology with the human gene including the upstream regulatory region which contains the trinucleotide repeats. Moreover, the mouse homologue of FMRP shares 97% homology with human FMRP in their amino acid sequence (Ashley et al, 1993a; Ashley, et al., 1993b). Furthermore, the expression profiles of Fmr1 mRNA are very similar in terms of tissue distribution and developmental time course between humans and mice (Hergersberg et al., 1995; Hinds et al., 1993). However, possibly due to differences in epigenetic responses between mice and humans, when mice are engineered with the pathological CGG trinucleotide expansion, the Fmr1 gene does not become over-methylated and so fails to be silenced (Brouwer et al., 2007; Santoro et al., 2012).

More than 20 years ago, the first and most widely used KO (KO) mouse model was generated with a neomycin cassette interruption in exon 5 of the Fmr1 gene which results in translational silencing and loss of FMRP expression (C E Bakker et al., 1994). This outcome has a good construct validity for the full mutation that occurs in FXS patients. Since its creation, this mouse model has been proven to be invaluable in our understanding of the disease pathophysiology, the normal function of the product of the Fmr1 gene, fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP) in health and in disease, and designing novel therapeutic strategies.

1.5.2 Effects of background genetics in phenotype

In the previous section about the human phenotype (section 1.2.4) it was mentioned, that there is significant heterogeneity in the symptom manifestation of complex disorders like autism and FXS, possibly due to genetic background effects, prenatal and

postnatal environment stimuli, and the interplay between the two (Hagerman et al., 2010). Therefore, not all affected individuals express the same constellation of symptoms, nor do these symptoms manifest themselves with the same severity. This heterogeneity is also evident in the mouse model of FXS (Table 1.3). Taking into account the research in the field so far, most behavioural studies on the mouse model of FXS have been conducted on a pure B6 or FVB strain (Kazdoba, Leach, & Crawley, 2016; Santos, Kanellopoulos, & Bagni, 2014), though relatively recent studies have explored how behavioural phenotypes are modified by genetic strain (Corinne M. Spencer et al., 2011). The effects of genetic background on behaviour and physiology have been documented previously (Sittig et al., 2016) but it is plausible that the diversity seen in the Fmr1 KO mouse phenotype echoes the range of clinical symptoms amongst individuals with FXS, rather than being due to subtle differences in experimental procedures or genetic background influence alone. The inconsistency in the magnitude and direction of phenotypic differences seen in the Fmr1 KO mouse may at first seem discouraging and may suggest the idea of disregarding the model altogether. However, the heterogeneity of FXS is so notable that affected individuals show a range of cognitive impairments, with affected males displaying mild to severe cognitive symptoms (Hessl et al., 2009; Schneider et al., 2009). This poses an obvious challenge for FXS animal models, but it might also be considered an advantage.

1.5.3 Pathophysiology of the Fmr1 KO mouse

Dendritic spine morphology and neurotransmission

Fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP) functions primarily as an RNA-binding protein and is highly expressed in neurons, and more specifically in the cell soma, the dendrites and postsynaptic terminals (Antar et al., 2004; Bakker et al., 2000; Feng et al., 1997). Over the last years, the functional characterization of FMRP has revealed its specific dynamics: FMRP enters the nucleus and interacts with pre-messenger ribonucleoprotein (pre-mRNP) complexes in order to escort them to the cytoplasm (Fig 1.2). FMRP-containing mRNPs are largely associated to polyribosomes and involved in translational control both in soma and in dendritic spines (Bardoni et al., 2006; Dury et al., 2013). Furthermore, in neurons, some of the FMRP-mRNP complexes can be translocated to distant locations, such as dendrites, as component of RNA-granules, where they mediate the binding between mRNAs and molecular motors, such as

kinesins, promoting transport upon specific stimuli (Bassell & Warren, 2008; Davidovic et al., 2007). It is likely that this mechanism also influences abundance of a subset of mRNAs in synapses (Dictenberg et al., 2008). Decreased capacity to transport mRNA and control local translation into distal processes may result in an abnormal level of their protein products with consequences on the structure and synaptic plasticity, as observed in FXS patients and existing animal models (Maurin, Zongaro, & Bardoni, 2014).

Dendritic spines, small protuberances along the neuronal dendrites, are loci of excitatory and inhibitory synaptic input, where a large number of ligand receptors and various signalling molecules that are essential for synaptic function are located (Esther a Nimchinsky, Sabatini, & Svoboda, 2002). Post-mortem analysis of human brain tissue revealed that individuals affected by FXS have an elevated density of dendritic spines compared to age-matched unaffected subjects, with the vast majority of dendritic spines appearing lengthened and immature (Greenough et al., 2001; Hinton et al., 1991; Rudelli et al., 1985; Wisniewski et al., 1991). Fmr1 KO mice bred on both the B6 and the FVB genetic background exhibit directly analogous deficiencies in spine quantity and morphology (Galvez et al., 2003; Galvez & Greenough, 2005; McKinney et al., 2005; Nimchinsky et al., 2001), contributing additional face validity to the *Fmr1* mouse model. Analysis of the developing barrel cortex of young (1 week old) *Fmr1* KO mice revealed enhanced spine density and increased spine length in mutant mice compared to control littermates; this difference was not evident at 4 weeks of age (Nimchinsky et al., 2001). This lack of spine irregularities in 4 weeks' old mice was also seen in the developing somatosensory cortex of *Fmr1* KO mice by the Galvez and Greenough (2005). In the same study, adult *Fmr1* KO mice were shown to exhibit increased density of immature, thin elongated spines compared to control littermates (Galvez & Greenough, 2005). This leads us to hypothesise that there may be a short time period in postnatal synaptic development, during which dendritic spine morphology normalises in the absence of FMRP, but is not maintained throughout life. Similar structural deficits in dendritic spines have been observed in various other brain regions of older *Fmr1* KO mice. For example, *Fmr1* KO mice possess higher densities of lengthened spines in the visual cortex at 16 weeks of age compared to wildtype littermate controls (Comery et al., 1997). These studies suggest that the presence of functional FMRP is essential for the development of healthy dendritic spine morphology, and that the loss of FMRP effects adversely the normal structure of the synapse.

As a negative regulator of mRNA translation, FMRP heavily influences protein synthesis and amongst other things can affect the fine balance of components in the synaptic machinery located in dendritic spines (Fig. 1.3). Long term potentiation (LTP) and depression (LTD) are two basic plasticity mechanisms which lead to long lasting enhancement and decrease, respectively, of signal transduction between two neuronal synapses (Buffington et al., 2014; Malenka & Bear, 2004; Whitlock et al., 2006). These activity-dependent cellular events rely heavily on transcriptional and translational regulation of synaptic proteins in order to rapidly and accurately respond to synaptic activity modulation and support cognitive function. Studies focussed on plasticity mechanisms such as LTP and LTD, which are considered to express the electrophysiological correlates of learning and memory processes (Malenka & Bear, 2004; Takeuchi, Duszkiewicz, & Morris, 2014), have revealed defects in various brain structures of mice lacking the *Fmr1* gene (Table 1.2). A specific form of LTD, which is dependent on protein synthesis and metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR) activation (mGluR-LTD), has been shown to be enhanced in hippocampus *Fmr1* KO mice and cultured hippocampal neurons where FMRP was reduced with the use of small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) (Huber et al., 2002; Nakamoto et al., 2007; Nosyreva & Huber, 2006). LTP, along with decreased AMPA receptor surface localisation and selective increases in NMDA receptor subunit protein expression, has been shown to be impaired in Fmr1 KO mice (Krueger et al., 2011; Li et al., 2002; Nosyreva & Huber, 2006; Schütt et al., 2009; Seese et al., 2012; Shang et al., 2009). Two different FMRP deficient mouse models also display abnormal synaptic plasticity. The first is *Fmr1* KO2 mice, an *Fmr1* null mouse model which lacks both FMRP and *Fmr1* mRNA due to deletion of the *Fmr1* promoter and first exon (Mientjes et al., 2006). The second is called Fmr1 I304N, a relatively new FXS mouse model in which the endogenous *Fmr1* gene harbours an isoleucine to asparagine mutation (I304N) which leads to a non-functional FMRP (Zang et al., 2009). In the hippocampus of *Fmr1* KO2 mice, a lower ratio of AMPA to NMDA receptors was detected early in postnatal development compared to wildtype littermate controls (Pilpel et al., 2009b). The upregulation of NMDA receptors in the Fmr1 KO2 hippocampus resulted in increased NMDAR-dependent LTP. Taken together, this data confirms that the absence of *Fmr1* results in anomalies in normal synaptic development and activity, which is likely to contribute to the FXS behavioural and neurological phenotype. Given the importance of FMRP for the regulation of proteins vital to synaptic function, it is not surprising that FMRP deficiency results in defects in the structure and function of synapses.



Figure 1.2 Schematic representation of FMRP function. (A) FMRP interacts with protein partners that lock the Nuclear Localisation Signal (NLS) domain and let it enter the nucleus and join the nascent messenger ribonucleoproteins (mRNPs) complexes emerging from the nuclear pores. In the cytoplasm the FMRP-mRNPs complexes either associate with the translation machinery (when needed) or are transported in RNA-granules to distal parts of the neuron staying translationally repressed until needed. (B) In the absence of FMRP, mRNPs cannot be regulated and the binding of RNA granules to transport proteins cannot take place, since FMRP normally acts as an adaptor. As a results mRNA translation is not regulated properly and protein synthesis is increased. Figure modified from Dury et al., 2013



Figure 1.3 Role of Fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP) in modulating synaptic plasticity. The activation of group I metabotropic receptors (mGluR) stimulates translation of specific mRNAs at synapses. FMRP normally acts as a translational repressor regulating such expression; in the absence of FMRP, these mRNAs are over-translated leading to abnormalities in synapse structure and function.

| Plasticity mechanism | Brain region | Observed phenotype | Age | Reference examples |
|-------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|-----------|---------------------------|
| mGluRLTD | Hippocampus | Enhanced | P25-30 | Bhattacharya et al., 2012 |
| | Hippocampus | Protein synthesis independent | 4-12 wk | Nosyreva and Huber, 2006 |
| | Cerebellum | Enhanced | 3-7 wk | Koekkoek et al., 2005 |
| | Hippocampus | Enhanced and PS indipendant | 3-7 wk | Volk et al., 2007 |
| LTP | Hippocampus | Normal | 8-10 wk | Li et al., 2002 |
| | Hippocampus | Deficient with weak stimulus; normal with strong | 2-3 month | Lauterborn et al., 2007 |
| Late-LTP | Hippocampus | Normal | 5-7 wk | Paradee et al., 1999 |
| LTP | Anterior cingulate cortex | Deficient | 6-8 wk | Zhao et al., 2005 |
| | Somatosensory, temporal cortex | Deficient | 8-10 wk | Li et al., 2002 |
| | Somatosensory cortex | Delayed window for plasticity | P3-10 | Harlow et al., 2010 |
| | Amygdala | Impaired (mGluR- dependent) | 6-8 wk | Zhao et al., 2005 |
| STD-LTP | Prefrontal cortex | Deficient with weak stimulus; normal with strong stimulus | P14-23 | Meredith et al., 2007 |
| | Somatosensory cortex | Deficient with weak stimulus | P10-18 | Desai et al., 2006 |

Table 1.2 Synaptic plasticity phenotypes observed in the mouse model of FXS.Modified from Sidorov,Benjamin Bear 2013).

Physical Symptoms

Like males with FXS *Fmr1* KO mice have notably enlarged testes compared to wildtype littermate controls, but overall normal structural morphology (Ce E Bakker et al., 1994; Slegtenhorst-Eegdeman et al., 1998). It has been shown that this difference in testicle size is due to elevated proliferative activity of Sertoli cells which help in the process of spermatogenesis; This increased activity increases the number of germs cells in the testicles, and therefore, their weight and size (Slegtenhorst-Eegdeman et al., 1998). The presence of enlarged testes echoes the macroorchidism seen in male individuals with FXS, and therefore extends the face validity to the *Fmr1* KO mouse model in this aspect of the clinical disorder. Other physical characteristics, such as body temperature, body weight, and neurological reflexes do not differ between KO and wildtype mice, suggesting an otherwise typical general physical development (Ce E Bakker et al., 1994; Peier et al., 2000). There is also no prominent effect on any facial features or connective tissue as is observed in individuals affected by FXS, at least none that are perceivable to human observers (Hagerman, 1997).

1.5.4 Cognitive deficits of the Fmr1 KO mouse

I mentioned earlier that intellectual impairments are a prominent feature of FXS in affected individuals and can range from mild to severe. The difference in IQ scores between human patients and neurotypical individuals widens over time until around 12 years of age, which is probably due to the delayed development individuals with FXS experience rather than a true deterioration in overall intellectual functioning (Hall et al., 2008; Skinner et al., 2005). Novel approaches in cognitive testing suggest that conventional IQ tests can be adapted in order to reveal subtle irregularities within a selected population (Hessl et al., 2009). The hippocampus, an important brain structure for cognition, has been found to be larger in individuals with FXS (Kates et al., 1997; Reiss, Lee, & Freund, 1994); additionally, functional deficits in hippocampus-dependent tasks in subjects with FXS (Cornish, Munir, & Cross, 1998, 1999) would suggest that any hippocampus dependent task should reveal a deficit in mouse models of FXS. Furthermore, while no volume or morphology abnormalities in amygdala and prefrontal cortex of individuals with FXS have been reported, FXS patients have abnormal behavioural responses in tasks requiring the amygdala (S. Y. Kim et al., 2014), frontal lobe (Mazzocco et al., 1992) and prefrontal cortex (Kwon et al., 2001). Therefore, larger hippocampal volumes and hippocampal morphology differences seen in FXS patients (Jäkälä et al., 1997; Reiss et al., 1994) may or may not relate to the deficits in hippocampal-dependent memory. Keeping in mind that no cognitive task so far depends on a single brain structure; the aforementioned discrepancies could represent another instance in which behavioural tasks that require functional circuits (*i.e.*, the limbic system) may lead to unpredictable outcomes when multiple neural components within that system are impaired (*i.e.*, prefrontal cortex, amygdala, and hippocampus).

Decades of research focussed on the characterisation of the cognitive abilities in individuals with FXS predict that deficits in a FXS mouse models should occur in short-term (visuospatial) memory, visuospatial abilities, sequential information processing, associative learning, executive function and attention (Cianchetti et al., 1991; Kemper, Hagerman, & Altshul-Stark, 1988; Maes et al., 1994; Reiss & Freund, 1992) Starting from the Dutch-Belgium Fragile X Consortium (1994), many researchers over the last 22 years have conducted systematic characterizations of *Fmr1* KO mice and compared the observed phenotypes to the intellectual disabilities exhibited by individuals with FXS.

Spatial and Working memory

The Morris watermaze (MWM) is a setup commonly used to evaluate hippocampaldependent spatial learning in rodents, using a variety of tasks. In the simplest task version (Spatial Reference Memory-SRM task), subjects are trained over several days (usually 1 week) to locate a submerged platform using spatial cues. The latency to find an escape platform from a pool of opaque water decreases with the number of training trials indicating learning. This test, which was initially developed by Richard Morris, is used as a robust readout for spatial learning and memory (Morris et al., 1982). The SRM task was used from the first study describing the creation of the *Fmr1* KO mouse, to evaluate its visuospatial learning and memory (Bakker et al., 1994). The study did reveal mild genotype differences, such as that *Fmr1* KOs' performance was significantly poorer in reversal training (*i.e.*, a change of platform location to the opposite position in the pool) than their wildtype littermates, specifically during the first few trials after locationswitching. This difference may reflect an impairment when dealing with alternating reinforcement parameters. Surprisingly however, when the platform was removed from the pool and mice had search for 60 seconds to locate it (probe trial), there were no performance differences between groups; this suggests that visuospatial memory is unimpaired in *Fmr1* KO mice. When Kooy and colleagues (1996) repeated the original Consortium study (Bakker et al., 1994) using a larger sample size, they observed very similar results in the watermaze reference and reversal task, with the additional finding of a genotype difference during the initial spatial memory acquisition. Again however, no significant differences in the time spent looking in the right platform area, during the probe trial, were observed; this could mean that while there are some differences in watermaze performance, these may not be functionally relevant to the cognitive deficits associated with FXS. Despite the deficit *Fmr1* KOs exhibit in reversal training in watermaze, a different reversal learning task using an E-shaped maze filled with water revealed no difference between genotypes (Kooy et al., 1996). However, even though *Fmr1* KO mice did not show a robust perseveration phenotype across slightly different cognitive modalities (i.e., impaired reversal in Morris water maze, but not E-shaped maze), a cross-shaped watermaze replicated the watermaze acquisition deficit, even if that was in just one of two used background genetic strains (Dobkin et al., 2000; Van Dam et al., 2000). The aforementioned initial learning deficits have been replicated by some (D'Hooge et al., 1997), but others found no differences between groups (Paradee et al., 1999; Uutela et al., 2012). Similarly, the perseveration deficits Fmr1 KO mice exhibit in reversal learning were replicated by some studies (K. B. Baker et al., 2010; D'Hooge et al., 1997) but not others (Paradee et al., 1999).

This inconsistency in results across laboratories, points to the idea that the spatial learning deficits observed in the first studies may be due small changes in experimental conditions that cannot be systematically controlled. The vast majority of published studies -recently Baker and colleagues (2010) reported some probe trial differencesagrees that the probe trial analyses do not yield any differences between *Fmr1* KO and wildtype mice, indicating limited deficits in spatial learning and memory. To further understand the role of FMRP in spatial learning and memory, the performance of *Fmr1* KO mice has also been analysed in other dry-land mazes. In the Barnes maze (BM) for example, rodents are trained to find an escape hole based on distal extra-maze cues, and contrary to what has been found in the MWM, in the BM the Fmr1 KO mice show significant differences in retrieval and memory consolidation compared to wildtype littermates (Yan et al., 2004). In addition, a relatively recent study (Guo et al., 2012) showed that *Fmr1* KO mice exhibit a decreased ability to preserve spatial information after food reward, in a radial arm maze apparatus, compared to control subjects. We have to remember that some researchers have reported task-specific impairments in spatial cognition rather than global impairments (Cornish et al., 1998, 1999), although global

cognitive impairments in individuals with FXS have also been reported (Hall et al., 2008; D Hessl et al., 2009; Skinner et al., 2005). The mild deficits in spatial learning and memory reported in *Fmr1* KO mice could support the hypothesis of task-specific cognitive deficits and not global cognitive dysfunction.

Working memory has been shown to be affected in FXS and it is suggested to be amongst the core features of the syndrome (Baker et al., 2011). Several human clinical studies have shown that individuals with FXS exhibit low performance on specific working memory tasks under low-control conditions -verbal and visuospatial (K. Cornish et al., 2001; Dykens, Hodapp, & Leckman, 1987; Jäkälä et al., 1997; Munir, Cornish, & Wilding, 2000). Lanfranchi and colleagues (2009) recently reported working associative memory deficits under high-control conditions (i.e., a dual task requirement; for example, specific word recall only upon the presentation of a stimulus with particular properties) in affected individuals; these deficits were specific to another component of working memory, central executive functioning. While these studies and others suggest that human cognition deficits in FXS are task-specific and not global in nature, additional research has revealed impairments in all components of working memory in FXS regardless of task complexity and modality (Baker et al., 2011; Munir et al., 2000). The conflicting results related to specific and general working memory abnormalities in individuals with FXS could be due to task-specific contingencies (e.g., the type of stimuli used), as FXS patients shown more accurate recall with familiar stimuli rather than with abstract novel material (Maes et al., 1994). In Fmr1 KO mice, different working memory tasks, such as olfactory working memory and visuospatial working memory in a radial arm maze, can rely heavily on different brain regions (i.e., olfactory bulb or hippocampus, respectively). In several tasks, including those in the radial arm maze, *Fmr1* KO mice did not show to exhibit robust working memory deficits (Yan et al., 2004), although others have reported working memory impairments in *Fmr1* KOs in a version of a serial reversal task in the watermaze (Baker et al., 2010). Furthermore, *Fmr1* KOs performed similarly to the wildtype littermates in the "olfactory discrimination task" (Guo et al., 2011; Mineur et al., 2002; Moon et al., 2008; Yan et al., 2004), suggesting that their working memory (which correlates with IQ in humans) is not affected. It is plausible that the olfactory bulb, hippocampus or other brain structures are compensating for deficiencies in working memory in some of these tasks. Therefore, behavioural tasks which are less dependent on multiple brain regions are necessary in order to examine whether *Fmr1* KO mice
exhibit robust working memory deficits, as this would expand the face validity of the model.

The conflicting results in cognitive assays to date have sparked a debate as to whether the *Fmr1* KO mouse is a reliable and sufficient model of FXS in humans, since the core symptom of intellectual impairment is not prominent enough in the mutant mouse model.

Associative memory

Fear conditioning studies have been used to further elucidate whether other specific cognitive domains (i.e. associative learning) are affected in Fmr1 KO mice (Phillips & LeDoux, 1992). Fear conditioning can be divided into several distinct subtypes that dependent on the amygdala, hippocampus, and prefrontal cortex, each to a different extent. Contextual fear conditioning requires both the amygdala and hippocampus, while delay-cued fear conditioning requires the amygdala but not the hippocampus (Fanselow & Kim, 1994; Gould & Leach, 2014; Logue, Paylor, & Wehner, 1997). Contextual and delay-cued fear conditioning can also take place during the same training session and can be assessed using different settings in order to reveal hippocampus-dependent and hippocampus-independent memory effects, respectively. Trace-cued fear conditioning, a more difficult task in which the tone and shock are not simultaneous during training, requires hippocampus and prefrontal cortex (Gilmartin & Helmstetter, 2010; Runyan, Moore, & Dash, 2004) and may or may not be independent of the amygdala (Gilmartin, Kwapis, & Helmstetter, 2012; Raybuck & Matthew Lattal, 2011). In these tasks a conditioned and non-aversive stimulus (a tone, a smell or an environment) is coupled with a harmful unconditioned stimulus. As a result of this pairing, the conditioned stimulus "obtains" the aversive properties of the unconditioned stimulus, leading subjects to react aversively (freezing) to it; this response can be used as a readout of a defensive behaviour and, by association, an expression of memory (Wehner & Radcliffe, 2004). When Fmr1 KO mice were tested in both cued (tone) and contextual (environment) fear conditioning paradigms, they were shown to freeze less than the control littermates indicating associative memory deficits (Ding, Sethna, & Wang, 2014; Guo et al., 2011, 2012; Hayashi et al., 2007; Olmos-Serrano, Corbin, & Burns, 2011; Paradee et al., 1999). Trace fear conditioning studies have revealed mixed results: some showed Fmr1 KO mice may have deficits (Zhao et al., 2005) while others showed Fmr1 KOs to be identical if not slightly better than their wildtype littermates in acquisition of trace fear conditioning (Baker et al., 2010).

As in the case of spatial and working memory, other research groups did not report any memory deficits in the *Fmr1* KOs compared to littermate controls, using the same behavioural tasks (Peier et al., 2000; Uutela et al., 2012; Van Dam et al., 2000). These inconsistences could, once again, stem from small differences in the experimental protocols and/or from the influence of the background genetic strain (Corinne M. Spencer et al., 2011). Interestingly, Olmos-Serrano and colleagues (Olmos-Serrano et al., 2011) reported decreased freezing time in cued fear conditioning, when the same tone is presented in an altered environment (different context) from the initial chamber where the training took place, suggesting that the amygdala-dependent learning is most impaired.

One cognitive test which was used very early on in the behavioural assessment of the *Fmr1* KO mouse model is the passive avoidance task. This task utilizes the association of a mild foot-shock (just like fear conditioning) with an apparently safer but previously "punished" dark compartment of a maze in order to assess memory for the aversive event. Passive avoidance learning relies heavily on the dorsal hippocampus (Lorenzini et al., 1996) but because it involves fear conditioning, it also requires the amygdala (Slotnick, 1973). This dependence of performance in passive avoidance task on the dorsal hippocampus and amygdala would predict that subjects showing abnormalities in the function of either or both of these brain structures -like *Fmr1* KO mice would show decreased performance in this task, but unfortunately experimental data is inconsistent. Indeed, while control mice take more time or even refuse to enter the dark compartment, because they associate it with the shock to their paws, the *Fmr1* KO mice show a range of behavioural responses. Even though amygdala volume or structure are not typically affected, amongst individuals with FXS, affected individuals with FXS experience difficulties with emotion regulation. Furthermore, a recent study revealed that individuals with FXS displayed deceased activation of the amygdala, relative to healthy age-matched subjects, while viewing fearful faces (Kim et al., 2014); this indicates a difference in the processing of potentially fearful stimuli. Inconsistencies in behaviour have been obvious in this type of task as well; passive avoidance learning appeared to be unaffected in *Fmr1* KO mice in some studies (Bakker et al., 1994; Dolen et al., 2007; Veeraragavan et al., 2012; Veeraragavan et al., 2011) but was found to be disrupted in

others (Ding et al., 2014; Michalon et al., 2012, 2014; Yuskaitis et al., 2010). Interestingly, *Fmr1* KO mice seem to be more susceptible to extinction training than wildtype littermates - as shown by shorter latencies to enter the dark compartment (Dölen et al., 2007; Michalon et al., 2012), a finding which is consistent with the exaggerated extinction *Fmr1* KOs exhibit in other assays (Sidorov et al., 2014). Looking again at the divergence in the behaviour response of *Fmr1* KOs we could speculate that existing cognitive deficits combined with abnormal responses to fearful stimuli are working in opposition, explaining some of the inconsistent results in fear-associated tasks such as passive avoidance.

A different task which was used to assess, amongst other cognitive components, associative memory in *Fmr1* KO mice was the "five-choice serial reaction time" task. This paradigm can be used to measure to main aspects of cognition: visuospatial attention and impulsivity. Mice are required to observe a random light in one of five small holes, located on side of the testing box, and respond in a timely manner with a nose-poke in the correct spatial location, in order to receive a food reward. *Fmr1* KO mice were found to be significantly impaired in the acquisition phase; they showed an increased number of errors per trial during the training period (Krueger et al., 2011). They were therefore slower in reaching a pre-set training criterion and completing the task. However, they were able to complete the task.

In an attempt to implement rodent cognitive tasks with more ethological relevance, more recent studies have included spontaneous exploration tasks including novel object recognition as well as spatial and temporal order object recognition tasks. Novel object recognition, which is typically used as a short-term memory task, exploits rodents' innate behaviour in investigating novelty. In the case of novel object recognition (NOR), a subject is placed into a testing box with two identical copies of an object. After a certain interval, the experimental subject is returned to the box where one of the familiar objects has been replaced by novel one (Bevins & Besheer, 2006). If the mouse remembers the previously seen object, it preferentially investigates the novel object. *Fmr1* KO mice have been shown to have a memory deficit in this task (Busquets-Garcia et al., 2013; King & Jope, 2013; Ventura, Pascucci, Catania, Musumeci, & Puglisi-Allegra, 2004), but as with all the previously discussed cognitive domains, this impairment has not always been replicated successfully (Yan et al., 2004). Lastly a recent study reported that *Fmr1* KO

mice are impaired in a hippocampus-dependent spatial object recognition task, known as object location or object displacement task (King & Jope, 2013).

1.5.5 Behavioural abnormalities of the Fmr1 KO mouse

Anxiety, Attention and Hyperactivity

Anxiety is one of the central behavioural features of individuals with FXS, which persists throughout their life (Hagerman & Hagerman, 2002). Anxiety-related behaviour testing in Fmr1 KO mice, like all previously discussed behaviours, has generated quite inconsistent results, ranging from reduced anxiety-like behaviour in *Fmr1* KOs, to no genotype differences, to increased anxiety-like behaviour on numerous tasks. The elevated plus-maze is an anxiety-related task that utilizes rodents' natural preference for enclosed shady spaces by observing the amount of time and entries made into dark, enclosed (safe) arms as compared to open (exposed-unsafe) arms of an elevated-plus maze (Handley & Mithani, 1984; Lister, 1987; Peier et al., 2000). Fmr1 KO mice have been shown to spend significantly more time in the open arms and less time in the closed arms, but also have travelled more throughout the maze compared to controls. These findings may simply indicate higher general locomotion or they could be interpreted as decreased fear of exposed areas (Heulens et al., 2012; Liu, Chuang, & Smith, 2011; Yuskaitis et al., 2010). In a very similar task to the elevated plus maze set-up called the zero-maze, Fmr1 KO mice spent more time in the open quadrants of the maze (Z.-H. Liu et al., 2011). Furthermore, in the open field test, reduced time spent or distance travelled in the centre of an open area is traditionally considered an indicator for anxiety-related behaviour, since wildtype mice prefer to remain in the perimeter (thigmotaxis) when introduced to a novel environment. *Fmr1* KO mice spent a greater portion of their time in the central area of the open field compared to wildtype control mice (Spencer et al., 2005; Yan et al., 2004; Yuskaitis et al., 2010). Taken together, these reports point to a profile of lower anxiety-related behaviours in *Fmr1* KO mice, which is the opposite to the FXS clinical phenotype. In contrast to the findings of the previously discussed studies, others have shown *Fmr1* KO mice to exhibit increased anxiety-like responses in the mirrored chamber task (Spencer et al., 2005), avoidance of the central area of the open field (Restivo et al., 2005) and reduced time spent in the open arms of the elevated plus-maze (T V Bilousova et al., 2009). Another task which has been used to assess anxiety-related behaviours is the light-dark exploration test. The apparatus is divided into two compartments; a well-lit compartment and dark enclosed one. A typical mouse subject spends more time in a dark part of the testing box than the well-lit (J. Crawley & Goodwin, 1980). It has been shown that mice which received anxiolytic drug treatments increase the number of transitions between compartments (J N Crawley, 1985). When Fmr1 KO mice were tested in the light-dark test, they made more transitions between the chambers (Ding et al., 2014; Spencer et al., 2011), but did not show any differences in the time they spent in the light chamber compared to wildtype littermates. This could mean that the hyperactivity *Fmr1* KOs exhibit could hide any anxiety-related phenotypes when the tasks used, rely on scoring locomotion. Contrary to the aforementioned studies, several research groups reported no differences between genotypes in the elevated plusmaze (Mineur et al., 2002; Nielsen et al., 2002; Yan et al., 2004), in light-dark test (Spencer et al., 2007), or in the open field (Veeraragavan et al., 2012, 2011). These conflicting results could potentially be explained as a combination of differences in experimental parameters and housing conditions, genetic background, and age at testing (Walf & Frye, 2007). Moreover, elevated locomotion in Fmr1 KO mice could mask anxiety-like behaviours for the simple reason that all three of these tasks (elevated plus maze, light dark box, zero maze, open-field) use, to some degree, subjects' movement as a measure. Given the sensitive nature of anxiety-related assays, it is important that similar testing protocols are used across labs to determine the robustness of the *Fmr1* KO genotype on anxiety-related phenotypes, but also that novel tasks which tease out these behaviours without taking into account locomotion, should be employed.

It has been mentioned that individuals with FXS exhibit hyperactivity and have difficulties with attention and impulse control (Cornish et al., 2004; Hagerman & Hagerman, 2002; Hatton et al., 2002). Compared to individuals with other forms of severe intellectual disability, individuals with FXS performed better on selective attention, no difference between subjects was found in sustained attention and working memory (Bailey et al., 2001). Moreover, different studies have found that as task difficulty increases, individuals with FXS exhibit more profound attentional deficits, especially when subjects have to inhibit/switch previously learned responses (Wilding, Cornish, & Munir, 2002). In view of FXS clinical symptoms (i.e., its common comorbidity with ADHD), *Fmr1* KO mice were assessed in the previously discussed, "five-choice serial reaction time" task, which is considered the most reliable task for attention and impulsivity in rodents (Winstanley, Eagle, & Robbins, 2006). Although *Fmr1* KO mice were impaired in the acquisition phase of a visuospatial discrimination task, they were

identical to wildtype controls in the five-choice serial reaction time task (Kramvis et al., 2013; Krueger et al., 2011). Specifically, Krueger and colleagues found that *Fmr1* KOs need more training in order to reach a pre-set criterion during initial training (> 50% correct of > 15 trials for 2 consecutive days), when nose-pokes in illuminated holes were marked as correct and nose-pokes in non-illuminated holes were incorrect, but this effect could not be replicated in subsequent studies (Sidorov et al., 2014). Sidorov and colleagues reported a different behaviour instead: they observed enhanced extinction of nose-poke responses in *Fmr1* KOs, which is consistent with the enhanced extinction training seen by some research groups in a passive avoidance paradigm. In a different series of tasks assessing attention, Fmr1 KO mice were shown to exhibit impaired inhibitory control, exhibiting a higher rate of premature responses than wildtype mice (Moon et al., 2006). This was associated with changes in task parameters, suggesting that inhibitory control in *Fmr1* KO mice could be affected by stress or novelty. Additionally, the incorporation of olfactory distracters in the task significantly disrupted the performance of *Fmr1* KO mice; making more inaccurate responses during distracter presentations (Moon et al., 2006). Perhaps the most consistent behavioural finding in *Fmr1* KO mice is their increased locomotor activity in the open field test compared to wildtype littermate controls (Bakker et al., 1994; Ding et al., 2014; Moon et al., 2006; Peier et al., 2000). It is important to keep in mind that the observed robust hyperactivity phenotype seen in *Fmr1* KOs could easily be a confounding factor for the assessment of sustained attention, given that elevated general activity of mutant mice can easily interfere with task engagement.

Social interactions and Communication

Together with high levels of anxiety, individuals with FXS are often diagnosed with social phobias and social avoidance, especially those who are on the autistic spectrum (Cohen et al., 1988; Gross, Berry-Kravis, & Bassell, 2012; Hagerman & Hagerman, 2002). In rodents, a test that assesses preference for social interactions and social novelty is the "three-chambered apparatus", in which the experimental subject is given the choice between exploring a compartment (chamber) containing a stranger/novel mouse or an empty one (alternatively an object/non-social). Usually testing includes a second phase in which the experimental subject can choose between the previously encountered/familiar mouse and a new stranger mouse. The numbers of approaches and the time spent in proximity with each mouse are scored and usually expressed as raw

exploration times or an index expressing the exploration of the novel social stimulus (e.g., novel stranger mouse) versus the novel object or familiar mouse stimulus (Moy et al., 2004). Neurotypical mice will preferentially explore a novel mouse when given the choice between a novel mouse and a novel object or a novel mouse and familiar mouse. Results using the three-chambered social approach with *Fmr1* KO mice to evaluate their sociability are inconsistent in the literature. For example, several research groups have reported that *Fmr1* KO mice have unaffected sociability, preferring the social over the non-social maze compartment (Bhattacharya et al., 2012; Liu & Smith, 2009; McNaughton et al., 2008; Mines et al., 2010; Pietropaolo et al., 2014). On the other hand, *Fmr1* KO mice are affected in social novelty discrimination; they do not show any preference for the unfamiliar stranger mouse in the second phase of the paradigm (Bhattacharya et al., 2012; Mines et al., 2010). Moreover, Fmr1 KO males show less interest in social interaction with novel female mice (Mineur, Huynh, & Crusio, 2006) as well as impaired social dominance when tested in the "tube-test" with unfamiliar wildtype mice (C. M. Spencer et al., 2005). Such deficits may be partially explained by augmented social anxiety, as seen by the increased rearing and digging behaviour that the *Fmr1* KO mice display in the presence of another mouse (Liu & Smith, 2009; McNaughton et al., 2008; Mines et al., 2010). We have to keep in mind that anxiety phenotypes in *Fmr1* KO mice haven't yielded any robust results over the years. Impaired preference for the unfamiliar mice may indicate lack of interest in general novelty and/or failure to discriminate between familiar and novel mice; although the latter should be supported by robust deficits in olfactory discrimination tasks. As previously discussed, a finding which supports a general lack of interest for novelty is that *Fmr1* KO mice fail to recognize the novel object, in the novel object recognition task (Bhattacharya et al., 2012; Busquets-Garcia et al., 2013; Ventura et al., 2004). These findings suggest that discrimination deficits are not only observed in social tasks and that a deficit in the second phase of the three-chambered apparatus testing is hard to interpret.

In addition to the previously discussed studies, studies using direct social interactions with freely moving juvenile mice of the same sex, or using adult male subjects interacting with females on oestrus, did not reveal any differences between genotype deficits in social behaviour (Pietropaolo et al., 2014; Rotschafer et al., 2012) or they even showed enhanced social interactions for *Fmr1* KO mice, based on the greater engaging duration in affiliative behaviours, such as nose-to-nose sniffing, nose-to-anogenital sniffing and interaction time with a stimulus mouse by *Fmr1* KO mice (Spencer et al., 2005, 2008).

| Behavioural phenotype | Genetic background | Behavioural task | Observed phenotype | Parameter used | Reference examples | |
|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|---|-----------------------|--|--|--|
| Anxiety | FVB/129; C57BL/6J | Open-field | Decreased | Time spent at centre | Peier et al. (2000) Liu et al. (2011) | |
| | | | Increased | | Restivo et al. (2005) | |
| | C57BL/6J | Elevated-plus maze | Decreased | Time spent in open arms | Yuskaitis et al. (2010) | |
| | FVB | | Increased | | Bilousova et al. (2009) | |
| | C57BL/6J | Light–dark box | Decreased | Transitions light/dark | Peier et al. (2000) Veeraragavan et al. (2012) | |
| Hyperactivity | Hybrid FVB/NJ C57BL/6J | Elevated-plus maze | Normal | Time spent in open arms | Yan et al. (2004) | |
| | C57BL/6J; FVB | Open field | Increased | Distance travelled; mean speed | Min et al. (2009) Michalon et al. (2012) | |
| Associative learning | C57BL/6J | Passive avoidance | Normal | Latency to enter dark compartment | Bakker et al. (1994) Dölen et al. (2007) | |
| | | | Decreased | | Yuskaitis et al. (2010) Michalon et al. (2012) | |
| | C57BL/6J; FVB | Context and cued fear | Decreased | Freezing duration | Paradee et al. (1999) Peier et al. (2000) | |
| | C57BL/6J | | Normal | | Van Dam et al. (2000) Olmos- Serrano et al. (2011) | |
| Spatial learning | C57BL/6J; FVB/NJ C57BL/6J hybrid | Morris watermaze Reference task | Normal | Latency to platform; time on quadrant | Bakker et al. (1994) Paradee et al. (1999) | |
| | Hybrid FVB/NJ C57BL/6J | Barnes maze | Decreased | Time on the target hole | Yan et al. (2004) | |
| Working memory | C57BL/6; FVB | Novel object recognition | Decreased | Exploring novel object | Ventura et al. (2004) Busquets-Garcia et al. (2013) | |
| | | | Normal | | Yan et al. (2004) | |
| | FVB; C57BL/6J hybrid | Olfactory discrimination | Normal | Number of errors | Mineur et al. (2002) Moon et al. (2008) | |
| | C57BL/6 | Radial maze | Normal | | Yan et al. (2004) Guo et al. (2012) | |
| | C57BL/6; FVB | Y/T-maze | Decreased | Alternation | Bilousova et al. (2009) Udagawa et al. (2013) | |
| Cognitive rigidity | C57BL/6; FVB | Morris watermaze Reversal task | Normal | Time in target quadrant | Paradee et al. (1999) Yan et al. (2004) | |
| | | | Decreased | | Kooy et al. (1996) D'Hooge et al. (1997) | |
| | | Five-choiœ serial reaction time task | Decreased | Number of errors | Krueger et al. (2011) | |
| Social preference and novelty | C57BL/6 | Social preference | Normal | Time spent with social stimulus | Mines et al. (2010) Bhattacharya et al. (2012) | |
| | | Social novelty/ interaction | Decreased | Time spent with novel mouse | Mines et al. (2010) Bhattacharya et al. (2012) | |
| (to continue) | | | | | | |

| Behavioural phenotype | Genetic background | Behavioural task | Observed phenotype | Parameter used | Reference examples | | | |
|----------------------------|---|----------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------------------|---|--|--|--|
| (continued) | | | | | | | | |
| Sensory gating | FVB | PPI of acoustic startle | Decreased | Body flinches | de Vrij et al. (2008) Baker et al. (2010) | | | |
| | FVB/NJ C57BL/6J hybrid | | Normal | | Peier et al. (2000) Spencer et al. (2006) | | | |
| | | | Increased | | Renoux et al. (2014) | | | |
| Seizures susceptibility | FVB/NJ; C57BJ/6J; FVB/NJ C57BL/6J hybrid | Audiogenic seizures | Increased | Seizures-like behaviour | Osterweil et al. (2013) Veeraragavan et al. (2012) Bakker et al. (1994) | | | |
| Communication deficits | FVB/129 FVB | Ultrasonic vocalization | Decreased | Specific features of vocalizations | Rotschafer et al. (2012) | | | |
| | | | Increased | Number of calls of pups | Lai et al. (2014) | | | |
| Circadian rhythms | C57BJ/6J | Locomotor activity | Increased | Ambulatory counts | Baker et al. (2010) | | | |
| | | | Decreased | Wheel running | Zhang et al. (2008) | | | |

Table 1.3 Behavioural abnormalities seen in Fmr1 KO mouse (Modified from Santos et al., 2014 andKazdoba et al., 2014).

Once more, genetic background differences seem to affect the behavioural output; social interaction performance appears to be dependent on the background strain into which the *Fmr1* mutants have been bred (Moy et al., 2009; Spencer et al., 2011). Despite several studies suggesting that individuals with FXS have social interaction deficits and social phobia, it has been proposed that these social deficits are due to hyperarousal and augmented social anxiety rather than a lack of interest in social interactions. A behaviour supporting this idea is known as the "Fragile X handshake"; affected individuals will shake the interviewer's hand and acknowledge their presence but will actively avoid eye contact until the interviewer looks away (Lozano, Rosero, & Hagerman, 2014); the behaviours of the mouse model described here, may differentially account for these factors.

Along with various other cognitive delays, children with FXS exhibit delays in all major developmental milestones, including language development (Abbeduto et al., 2008; Finestack, Richmond, & Abbeduto, 2009; J E Roberts, Mirrett, & Burchinal, 2001). Rodent pup ultrasonic vocalizations (USVs) are considered to be biologically meaningful (Fischer & Hammerschmidt, 2011), as they are emitted by young pups primarily during stressful situations (i.e. maternal separation) (Maria Luisa Scattoni, Crawley, & Ricceri, 2009) and elicit behavioural responses by the parents (mainly mother). It has been shown that the type and duration of USVs emitted by the *Fmr1* KO mouse pups (8 days old) were different from the control littermates, following maternal separation (Roy, Watkins, & Heck, 2012); however, there was no apparent changes in the total number of calls. Recently, Lai and colleagues reported an increased number of USVs in seven-day old mouse *Fmr1* KO pups (Lai et al., 2014a) suggesting an age-dependent function of FMRP on communication. Moreover, adult male mice and rats emit ultrasonic vocalizations during interaction with females and in response to scents from sexually receptive females (Holy & Guo, 2005). Yet again the behavioural phenotypes related to social communications are fairly contradictory; studies focusing on ultrasonic vocalizations of *Fmr1* KO mice have been inconsistent in their findings. While there are reports of increases (Spencer et al., 2011) or no differences in the number of calls between Fmr1 mutant and wildtype mice (Pietropaolo et al., 2011), other research groups have reported a significant reduction in vocalizations from *Fmr1* KO mice (S. E. Rotschafer et al., 2012), including deficits in specific call-types (Roy et al., 2012); although no apparent difference in mating behaviour was observed. Taken together, these data suggest that social interaction and communication phenotype in *Fmr1* KO

mice is multifaceted. Mutant mice seem to exhibit some aspects of normal sociability, but they also display some abnormalities in social behaviour and communication.

1.5.6 Neurological symptoms of the Fmr1 KO mouse

Approximately 10-20% of individuals with full *FMR1* mutation exhibit childhood seizures which gradually decrease in adulthood (Hagerman & Stafstrom, 2009; Musumeci et al., 1999). Seizures associated with FXS are irregular, often partial, and can typically be managed with appropriate medication (Hagerman & Stafstrom, 2009; Heard et al., 2014). *Fmr1* KO mice have not been reported to display spontaneous seizures, but display enhanced susceptibility to audiogenic seizures, induced by exposure to a 125 decibel, high-intensity siren (Dolan et al., 2013; Osterweil et al., 2013a; Pacey, Heximer, & Hampson, 2009; Veeraragavan et al., 2012). Susceptibility to audiogenic seizures has been the most consistent behavioural phenotype in the mouse model and it is therefore usually implemented to examine the efficacy of potential FXS treatments (Michalon et al., 2012; Osterweil et al., 2013; Pacey et al., 2009; Yan et al., 2005). Audiogenic seizure vulnerability in *Fmr1* KO mice could reflect the seizure susceptibly seen in individuals with FXS, although the severity of audiogenic seizure in *Fmr1* KO mice varies in degree depending on age and background strain (Santos, Kanellopoulos, & Bagni, 2014).

Individuals with FXS have been reported to exhibit hyperarousal and augmented sensitivity to sensory stimuli (Verkerk et al., 1991). For example, individuals with FXS have heightened and more frequent responses and reduced habituation to a variety of sensory stimulations (e.g., olfactory, auditory, visual, tactile, and vestibular stimuli) as measured by electrodermal responses (Miller et al., 1999). Electrophysiological recordings in the auditory cortex demonstrated enhanced responses to auditory tones in *Fmr1* KO mice, indicating that auditory neurons of *Fmr1* KO mice are hypersensitive to stimuli (Rotschafer & Razak, 2013). These sets of data are consistent with the increased responses to high intensity tones seen in individuals with FXS (Rojas et al., 2001; Van der Molen et al., 2012b). "Prepulse inhibition" (PPI) has been used to evaluate the ability of human and rodents to filter irrelevant information in their surroundings, called sensorimotor gating. It occurs when a weak pre-stimulus weakens the response to a strong stimulus (pulse) which follows within 100 milliseconds (Braff, Geyer, & Swerdlow, 2001; Swerdlow et al., 2001). Abnormal sensory inhibition may reflect a deficit in processing and prioritizing incoming information, a feature also seen in

schizophrenic patients (Braff et al., 2001; Rihs et al., 2013). Treatments with antipsychotic medication has been shown to alleviate those deficits in both rats and humans (Curzon, Kim, & Decker, 1994; Sánchez-Morla et al., 2009; Suryavanshi et al., 2014). It is known that patients with FXS are hyper-aroused in situations of excessive stimulation and habituate poorly to sensory stimuli (Elizabeth Berry-Kravis, 2014). Deficits in PPI have been reported in individuals with FXS, correlating with other clinical FXS features, such as reduced IQ and attention (Frankland et al., 2004; D Hessl et al., 2009; Yuhas et al., 2011). Therefore, *Fmr1* KO mice and control littermates were tested in PPI in an acoustic startle task to examine possible sensorimotor gating deficits. These studies in *Fmr1* KO mice have yielded contradicting results. The majority of reports indicate Fmr1 KOs exhibit enhanced PPI and decreased startle (Ding et al., 2014; Paylor et al., 2008; Pietropaolo et al., 2011). This is a significant effect but unfortunately in the opposite direction to the human FXS phenotype. Moreover, it fits well with enhanced extinction in fear conditioning paradigms. In contrast, other research groups have reported deficits in PPI for *Fmr1* KO mice (de Vrij et al., 2008), enhanced startle responses to low intensity auditory stimuli (Nielsen et al., 2002), and minimal or no PPI differences between Fmr1 KOs and wildtype controls (Nielsen et al., 2002; Veeraragavan et al., 2011; Yan et al., 2004). As has been previously discussed, *Fmr1* KO's behaviour phenotypes are heavily influenced by genetic background (Pietropaolo et al., 2011; Spencer et al., 2011). Explanations for the inconsistent findings on PPI as reported by different research laboratories could include the use of different murine genetic backgrounds and subtle differences in testing protocols (Swerdlow, Braff, & Geyer, 2000). Of greater concern have been the contrasting phenotypes between the majority of PPI studies in the Fmr1 KO mouse model and FXS clinical studies. However, in one published study Frankland and colleagues (2004) showed that *Fmr1* KO mice display a heightened reaction to auditory stimuli, similar to the human phenotype (Renoux et al., 2014). Despite the inconsistences in published reports, it is clear that FMRP plays a role in sensorimotor gating. The absence of FMRP could be underlying the altered sensitivity to sensory stimulation seen in both human patients and mouse models.

Another aspect of behaviour which seem to be recapitulated by the mouse model of FXS is abnormal circadian rhythms. Sleep difficulties are a common feature of patients with FXS (Elizabeth Berry-Kravis, 2014); in the mouse model of the syndrome, FMRP has been shown to be involved in the regulation of circadian rhythmicity as measured by locomotor analysis. In complete darkness, FMRP was found to regulate the duration of

the circadian period (J. Zhang et al., 2008) as shorter activity periods of wheel running were recorded in the *Fmr1* KO mice compared to wildtype controls. Interestingly, FMRP absence affects circadian rhythmicity differently in females and males; recorded ambulatory activity during the light phase was elevated only in the female *Fmr1* KO mice (Baker et al., 2010)and no changes were reported in males. A caveat of these studies is that the affected circadian patterns seen in *Fmr1* KO mice cannot be directly compared to the sleep disturbances seen in human; simply because lack of activity (as measure by wheel running) does not mean sleep.

1.5.7 Lessons learned and lessons to be learned

Over the past 20 years, combined research by hundreds of laboratories working on FXS, has led to the identification of several hundreds of possible FMRP target mRNAs (Pasciuto & Bagni, 2014). A large number of these FMRP target mRNAs is known to have integral roles in synapse formation and function; a lot have also been shown to confer risk for autism. This fact might explain the very diverse and heterogeneous behavioural deficits seen in FXS; FMRP loss could be influencing multiple circuitries and cause alterations in various receptor pathways in different ways. Moreover, recent studies have shown that there is a convergence not only in behaviour but also key pathophysiological mechanisms between the mouse model of FXS and non-syndromic forms of intellectual disability (Barnes et al., 2015), and between Fmr1 KO mice (as a syndromic form of autism) and neuroligin 3 (*Nlgn3*) KO mice (as a non-syndromic form of autism) (Baudouin et al., 2012). Even though it is very well established that multiple behavioural abnormalities seen in the mouse model of FXS are due to FMRP loss and subsequent alteration of the glutamatergic signalling (Bear, Huber, & Warren, 2004), many other molecular pathways such as BDNF, mTOR, ERK1/2, cAMP, and PKC cascades are also affected (Osterweil et al., 2010; Sharma et al., 2010; Uutela et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2008). In addition, multiple neuronal circuits, such as the GABAergic, cholinergic, dopaminergic, and serotonergic systems, have been shown to be modified by FMRP loss (Deng et al., 2013; Gatto, Pereira, & Broadie, 2014). What's clear from these sets of data is that while certain aspects of FXS are recapitulated in the *Fmr1* KO mouse, other clinical features of the syndrome cannot be reproduced. This could be due to limitations of the behavioural paradigms used or because of limitations of the mouse as a model of neuropsychiatric diseases. Later in this thesis (Chapter 3) I will try to compare the two favourite rodent species in biomedical research, mouse and rat, and explain why newly created rat models have the potential to expand our knowledge of the pathophysiology of many devastating neuropsychiatric disorders.

Although it is well-known that the core genetic cause leading to FXS is the silencing of the *FMR1* gene, the wide spectrum of disabilities and diversity of physiological and cognitive features among patients with FXS lead us to believe that the cure of the disease could be difficult when targeting a single downstream affected pathway. The combination of pharmaceutical treatments targeting different molecules altered in FXS might be the key for the amelioration of FXS deficits. Having said that, the use of established and newly created animal models has been and will be of vital importance in advancing our understanding on the molecular basis of FXS, in order to be able to identify key affected molecular mechanism, which may lead to extended behavioural improvement when targeted. In the following introductory chapter, I will review recent advances in FXS treatment development and summarise FXS clinical trials which utilise symptom-based and mechanism-based treatments.

2. Therapeutic approaches in FXS

2.1 From Symptom-based to Mechanism-based therapeutic interventions

Drug discovery is by no means a novel concept. For millenia, we have identified the protective and therapeutic capacity of herbs and their crude extracts, like poppy seeds or willow tree bark. This premodern approach was pretty straighforward: focus exclusively on efficacy and safety without concern for mechanism of action (Enna & Williams, 2009). Remarkably, the Greek physician Hippocrates in the fourth century BCE described headache relief and fever reduction from the bitter powder of the willow tree in writings and was aware of the utility of willow bark in the treatment of inflammatory pain (Ugurlucan et al., 2012). Nearly two and a half millennia down the line, chemists working for Bayer isolated the active substance – salicylic acid – edited its formulation in order to reduce gastric side effects, and started selling it as aspirin in 1899. Similarly, the powerful analgesic morphine, was first isolated from opium poppy in 1804, industrially produced by Merck in Germany in the late 1820s, and later modified to be commercially sold as a cough suppressant in 1898, under the trade name Heroin. All of the above were done without any knowledge of the processes being targeted in the human body. The mechanism of action underlying the effects of these medications, and in the earliest example of salicylic acid, even the chemical compound itself, was completely unknown when these drugs were popularised. In this way, the empirical, symptom-based, approach led to the discovery of original CNS drugs.

Following the genomic revolution of the 1990s, the current high-throughput era has drastically reshaped our approach to the discovery of novel therapeutics. Today, research efforts focus on a hypothesis-driven, mechanism-based approach. Drug discovery emphasises target identification and the discovery of new chemical compounds which can act on a preselected molecular target site. This approach requires a very good understanding of the target physiology and a progressional integration of cellular and tissue in vitro studies, ultimately to animal models that can within reason predict the human responses (predicitve validity of a model).

This approach, also called "molecular medicine", begins with the identification of patients with similar or identical presentation of the disorder (Krueger & Bear, 2011). This can be very challenging when it comes to psychiatric and neurological disorders

37

which are highly heterogeneous in behavioural symptoms and genetic aetiology. Identifying multiple, more specific disorders from what originally appeared to be one syndrome with a diverse phenotype, will increase the likelihood of discovering the underlying mechanisms causing each disorder. A profound understanding of the genetic aetiology of the disease consequently allows for the generation of animal models with adequate construct validity. The application of basic neurobiology research in these models aims to characterise the molecular, cellular, and circuit processes being affected; these processes should be tightly associated with a measurable, behavioural manifestation. Molecular targets, such as receptors or proteins taking part in critical signal transduction cascades, may be amenable to pharmacological or other interventions. Genetic or small molecule approaches are validated first using in vitro assays and later in the animal model. It is critical to remember that irrespective of how much different disorders overlap, it is best to consider them independently at these first steps of the drug development process. Nevertheless a single therapeutic strategy could effectively alleviate symptoms in several or even all related disorders. Keeping this in mind, the current hope is that the identification of core molecular process contributing to FXS pathophysiology will lead to drug development which will be able to treat not only FXS but also autism spectrum disorders and intellectual disabilities more generally.

Over the last 20 years, the study of molecular, cellular, and behavioral alterations in existing animal models of FXS has significantly increased our understanding of FMRP function and the human disease pathophysiology, while providing us with potential molecular targets and candidate treatments in FXS, autism, and other associated neurodevelopmental disorders. Most of the current targeted treatments which are undergoing clinical trials have attempted to adjust the excitatory/inhibitory imbalance seen in FXS which is believed to contribute to its core pathophysiology. In the brain of individuals affected by FXS,there is likely to be excessive excitatory, mainly glutamatergic, signaling, coupled with deficits in inhibitory, mainly GABAergic, signaling. In the following paragraphs I will summarise existing symptomatic treatments followed by a summary of treatment undergoing clinical trials, categorised based on a hypothesised drug mechanism (Table 2.1).

2.2 Symptom-Based Interventions

To date, most of the drug treatment in FXS is symptomatic. The two most widely used medications are stimulants that help with attention and hyperactivity and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors that can control aggression which individuals sometimes display due to elevated social anxiety (Levenga et al., 2010). In addition to the use of pharmacological agents, patients with FXS also seem to benefit from behavioural therapy addressing speech, general communication and emotional problems (Moskowitz, Carr, & Durand, 2011). The latter has also been demonstrated in the FXS mouse model; an enriched environment can positively affect behaviour, and thus this behavioural intervention might also be beneficial for human patients (Restivo et al., 2005). While both existing types of treatment, pharmacological and non-pharmacological, impact symptoms only and do not improve any core behavioural deficits associated with the disease, multi-drug therapies based upon individual phenotype are currently the most common method of helping affected individuals.

2.2.1 ADHD treatments

Individuals with FXS are often been diagnosed ADHD. The comorbidity rate is approximately 73%, as measured in an all-male cohort for subjects scoring 15 or higher on the Conner's abbreviated scale, which is indicative of ADHD (Baumgardner et al., 1995). Even individuals not diagnosed with ADHD, often display hyperactivity and difficulty focusing in a classroom setting. On top of the human observations, Ventura and colleagues (2004) have shown that treating *Fmr1* KO mice with amphetamine -known treatment for ADHD- can have beneficial effects in behaviour.

So far, there have been three clinical trials testing medications aimed at the treatment of ADHD symptoms in FXS. The first in FXS was a double-blinded placebo-controlled study of the stimulants methylphenidate (Ritalin) and dexamfetamine. Participants were treated for one week with each of methylphenidate, dexamfetamine, and placebo. Methylphenidate treatment was shown to improved patient behaviour, based on the Comprehensive Teacher Rating Scale, while no improvement was observed with dexamfetamine (Hagerman, Murphy, & Wittenberger, 1988). The second trial has looked at the ability of L-acetylcarnitine (LAC) to reduce the ADHD symptoms observed in boys with FXS. This double-blinded, placebo-controlled, clinical trial found significant

improvement in the Clinical Global Impressions (CGI) scale for both parent and teacher response scores, as well as in the Vineland Adaptive Behaviour Scale (VABS) and Adaptive Behaviour Composite (ABC) score (Torrioli et al., 2008). The most recent trials of the three focusing on ADHD symptomatology in FXS examined the effects of the antiepileptic drug valproic acid (VPA). In an open-label trial of VPA, the only significant change was in hyperactivity measured by the Conner's Parent Rating Scale (Torrioli et al., 2010). Taken together, data from clinical trials show that while compounds like LAC and VPA may have some beneficial effects against ADHD symptomatology observed in FXS patients, stimulants are more commonly used since they show more robust effects (Roberts et al., 2012).

2.2.2 Oxytocin

It is common for individuals with FXS to experience extreme social anxiety, which is often coupled with severe eye gaze avoidance and hyperarousal (Reiss & Hall, 2007). The neuropeptide oxytocin (OXT) has been shown to have profound anxiolytic effects, besides its many other prosocial and reproductive effects. Hence, there is increasing basic research and medical interest in its potential therapeutic use for the treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders, such as anxiety disorders, posttraumatic stress disorder, as well as autism and schizophrenia, among others (Neumann & Slattery, 2016). The effects of intranasal oxytocin on social anxiety were tested in a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial involving eight individuals with FXS. Subjects' heart rate, heart rate fluctuation, eye gaze incidents, and concentration of salivary cortisol in response to a social stressor were amongst the outcome measures. Treated individuals showed significant improvement on eye gaze and salivary cortisol measures (Hall et al., 2012). Despite the promising results of the study, a larger study is essential in order to adequately evaluate the benefits of oxytocin in FXS.

2.2.3 Aripiprazole

Aripiprazole, also known as Abilify, belongs to class of drugs called atypical antipsychotics. They are usually prescribed by clinicians to contain hyperarousal seen in individuals with FXS and autism (Ching & Pringsheim, 2012). Despite their widespread use, clinical trials of antipsychotics in FXS are very limited. Amongst the newer generation antipsychotics, the only reported clinical testing in FXS has been with

aripiprazole. In a 12-week, open-label trial, 10 subjects received aripiprazole treatment. As a result, individuals showed significantly improved performance on CGI scale, Social Responsiveness scale (SRS), and the Children's Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale Modified for Pervasive Developmental Disorders (PDDs) (Erickson et al., 2010).

2.2.4 Melatonin

Sleep disturbances, and more specifically insomnia, is another symptom associated with FXS. Based on parent/caregiver reports, approximately 32% of boys with FXS experience some form of sleep irregularity. Irregular night sleep patterns and difficulties falling asleep were the most reported issues (Kronk et al., 2010). In a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of melatonin, lasting four-weeks, individuals with FXS and ASD (12 subjects, 6 with FXS) were treated. Results demonstrated a significant increase in sleep duration, decreased latency to sleep, and caused earlier sleep time onset (the clock time when the child fell asleep) in individuals who got the treatment. Sleep awakenings were decreased but the difference between treated and untreated individuals was not significant (Wirojanan et al., 2009).

2.2.5 Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors

To date there are only a few clinical trials assessing the value of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) in FXS. Existing evidence suggests this class of antidepressant drugs may have beneficial effects. In a case study involving individuals with autism, a low-dose of sertraline, also known as Zoloft, led to improvements (eight of nine subjects) in irritability, anxiety, and behavioural decline induced by a transition in daily routine (Steingard et al., 1997). A retrospective chart review of studies in 45 children with FXS, showed that the 11 subjects who were treated with sertraline showed improved language development (Indah Winarni et al., 2012). Moreover, in a very recent study, 52 children with FXS aged 2 to 6 years old were treated with sertraline for 6 months. Although analysis of the primary outcomes showed no improvement, secondary exploratory analyses revealed significant improvement on motor and visual perceptual tests, as well as some cognitive measures (Greiss Hess et al., 2016). Finally, in a survey of individuals with FXS, it was found that fluoxetine, also known as Prozac, led to the greatest behavioural activation compared to any other drug in its class (Hagerman et al., 1994). It's clear from the above that, despite the small number of clinical trials in FXS, SSRIs are a commonly prescribed treatment for the management of anxiety and

depression related symptoms which could also have beneficial effects in cognitive impairments associated with FXS.

2.3 Modulating Excitatory Neurotransmission

Research in the mouse model of FXS has revealed extensive alteration in signalling and/or localization of several glutamatergic receptors (Bostrom et al., 2016). Several clinical trials have been focussing on testing compounds reducing excitatory neurotransmission by antagonism of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) and more specifically mGluR5 (Fenobam, AFQ056, RO4917523). Alternative strategies include drugs which block the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors (memantine) or the α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4- isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (AMPAR) (CX516) have also been tested in individuals with FXS.

The mGluR theory of FXS proposed by Bear and colleagues (Bear et al., 2004) suggests that excessive signalling through mGluRs is a significant contributor to the behavioural, electrophysiological, and molecular abnormalities associated with the loss of FMRP. The brainchild of Bear and his colleagues was one of the first hypotheses describing a link between the loss of FMRP in FXS and changes in molecular and cellular mechanisms of known importance for synaptic development and function in the normal brain. The mGluR theory was based on a few key observations: (1) FMRP was shown to acts as a translation regulator for several genes at the synapse (Brown et al., 2001), (2) mGluR signalling is known to be coupled with synaptic protein synthesis (Weiler et al., 2004), (3) direct evidence connecting FMRP loss to an increase of mGluR signalling downstream effects (Chuang et al., 2005; Huber, 2000), and finally (4) the loop of evidence closes with the fact that many of the aforementioned downstream effects rely on intact mRNA translation at the synapse (Huber, 2000; Karachot et al., 2001; Raymond et al., 2000; Zho et al., 2002). Over the last 10 years, experimental data from countless studies have supported the mGluR theory for FXS (Bostrom et al., 2016). One of the most direct pieces of evidence supporting the role of mGluR in FXS, came from Dolen and colleagues. They were the first to demonstrate that a reduction in the levels of mGluR5 in Fmr1 KO mice, is enough to normalize elevated protein synthesis, dendritic spine morphology and some behavioural abnormalities (Dölen et al., 2007). However, a more recent study which included a more thorough behavioural assessment, revealed that genetically reducing mGluR5 in *Fmr1* KO mice has a limited beneficial effect in behavioural deficits. This suggests that mGlur5 signalling alterations may not lead to improvements as robust as

originally indicated (Thomas et al., 2012). Furthermore, several studies using the mouse model of FXS have shown that strong mGluR5 antagonists, like MPEP, can improve FXS related phenotypes, including receptor expression, behavioural deficits, and abnormal dendritic spine morphology (Michalon et al., 2012; Yan et al., 2005). I should also point out that the mGluR5 antagonists used in preclinical *Fmr1* KO studies so far, were also shown to maintain analgesic effects in mGluR5 KO mice. This data suggests that these molecules are not as eclectic as we would like and are likely to have additional molecular targets which could potentially contribute to the promising treatment effects previously discussed (Montana et al., 2009).

2.3.1 Fenobam

Fenobam is a non-benzodiazepine and potent negative allosteric modulator of mGluR5. It was synthesised in the late 1970s as a novel anxiolytic drug. It binds to the target in a non-competitive manner and has inverse agonist properties. This makes its mechanism of actions very similar to MPEP (a different selective mGluR5 antagonist developed by Novartis) (R. H. P. Porter et al., 2005). Studies in Fmr1 KO mice have reported some beneficial effects of fenobam on molecular, cellular and behavioural levels but the results were not conclusive (Vinueza Veloz et al., 2012; Wang, Smith, & Mourrain, 2014). In order to evaluate, primarily, its safety and its pharmacokinetic properties, an open-label, single-dose study in adult males and females with FXS was conducted almost 8 years ago (Berry-Kravis et al., 2009). The effects on sensory gating, attention, and behavioural inhibition were also explored. The small experimental sample included six young males and six young female adults with FXS (18.7-30.7 years). There were no significant adverse events and the medication was well tolerated. That was an important outcome because previous reports in non-FXS individuals who received fenobam treatment in high doses (four times the daily highest dose in the FXS trial) for a period of 4 weeks, reported adverse CNS effects including insomnia, vertigo, paresthesia, and even hallucinations (Friedmann et al., 1980). The primary measured outcome of the study, pre-pulse inhibition (PPI) was tested at baseline and after treatment with a single dose of fenobam. Six out of twelve (50%) subjects met a performance criterion of at least 20% improvement compared to baseline. The limited beneficial outcomes and potentially severe adverse effects suggest that future studies on fenobam as a long-term treatment option in FXS are highly unlikely to be considered.



Figure 2.1 Therapeutic strategies against FXS. (A) Symptom based treatments are still in use but little is known about the mechanisms targeted in FXS patients. **(B)** Compounds targeting excitatory transmission have received a lot of attention due to promising pre-clinical data but failed to produce promising results in human clinical trials. **(C)** Molecules targeting inhibitory transmission have also received due to the well characterised inhibition/excitation ratio anomalies in the mouse model of FXS but so far have not produced any clear positive outcomes. Lastly, a number of other therapeutics which target core pathophysiology associated with FXS **(D)**. Their mechanism by which they exert their therapeutic effects is not fully understood so both pre-clinical and clinical studies are currently been conducted either with monotherapies or a combination of treatments. In red are compounds which were found to be inefficient in human clinical trials and their testing has been terminated.

2.3.2 Mavoglurant/AFQ056

Mavoglurant, also known by the product name AFQ056, is a non-competitive mGluR5 antagonist developed by Novartis Pharmaceuticals specifically as a candidate drug for the treatment of Fragile X syndrome. As in the case of fenobam, studies in mice showed that AF0056 could reverse some behavioural deficits and spine morphology (Gantois et al., 2013; Pop et al., 2014). So far three clinical trials of mavoglurant in individuals with FXS have been completed. The first was a double-blind crossover study (subjects switched from placebo to treatment and vice versa during the trial), in which 30 subjects received 20 days of treatment. This study failed to find any positive effect of the treatment on any primary or secondary outcome measures, when the full study sample was analysed. Interestingly, when the researchers divided the participants according to methylation profiles, and limited their analysis to a small sub-set of seven individuals with complete *FMR1* promoter methylation, they found significant improvement across a wide range of outcome measures (Jacquemont et al., 2011). It is important to note that these seven participants showed minimal or no improvement while receiving the placebo treatment in one of the two stages of study, as measured by the Aberrant Behaviour Checklist (ABC). This finding may have contributed to the reported post-hoc effect found in that subgroup. The results of this initial study, led to two large international clinical trials in adults and adolescents: (1) a Phase IIb, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel group study in adult male and female participants (18-45 years) which lasted three months, and (2) a similarly controlled Phase III trial, in adolescents with FXS (12–17 years). Participants were assigned to two doses daily of 25 mg, 50 mg, 100 mg AFQ056, or placebo in order to evaluate the safety and efficacy of the three doses for treating the behavioural deficits associated with FXS. The ABC total score was used as a primary outcome measure, with the Clinical Global Impression-Improvement (CGI-I) scale and Repetitive Behaviour Scale-Revised (RBS-R) as secondary outcome measures. Unfortunately, neither of these studies found any significant improvements as a result of the treatment, on any primary or secondary outcome measures (Berry-Kravis et al., 2016). Following these negative results, the sponsor Novartis, terminated the open-label extension portion of the study in adolescents and discontinued the development program of AFQ056 for the treatment of FXS (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifiers: NCT01253629, NCT01357239) (Clapp, 2014).

2.3.3 Basimglurant/RO4917523

Another mGluR5 antagonist which was developed by Roche for the treatment of FXS and treatment resistant depression, is basimglurant (RO4917523). There is no published work testing basimglurant in *Fmr1* KO mice but a recent study showed that the orally bioavailable mGluR5-selective antagonist, CTEP, which is similar in structure, potency, and selectivity to basimglurant, can prevent cognitive impairments and prevent pathogenesis in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model (Hamilton et al., 2014). The effects of basimglurant as well as its safety and tolerability were studied in a Phase II clinical trial: 183 individuals with FXS, 14–50 years of age (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01517698) and in an additional study in 47 affected children and adolescents aged 5–13 years (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifiers: NCT01015430, NCT01750957). Although trial data remain unpublished at this time, treatment did not demonstrate efficacy based on the primary and secondary endpoints employed. Therefore, the sponsor of the trials, Roche, subsequently terminated its program for the development of basimglurant as a treatment for FXS (Santarelli, 2014).

Taken together, the disappointing results from both the mavoglurant and basimglurant trials, have led pharmaceutical companies to drastically move away from pursuing development of selective mGluR5 antagonists as potential targeted treatments for FXS. The fact that these clinical trials did not yield any promising results, does not conclusively answer the question of whether or not selective mGluR5 antagonists can alter FXS symptomatology and does not rule out the validity of the mGluR5 theory; however, these results do suggest that selective pharmacological decrease of mGlur5 signalling, alone, in humans with FXS, is not sufficient in order to ameliorate behavioural abnormalities when is used as a short-term treatment in the ages studied. Future trials of mGluR5 antagonists should target young subjects whose brains are dramatically more plastic compared to aged subjects. Targeting signalling imbalance during early postnatal brain development is possible to protect neural circuitry as it develops, potentially improving clinical outcomes, or even preventing the emergence of symptoms as a result. Finally, one of the current trends in field involves combined therapeutics, possibly including mGlur5 selective antagonists, with additional targeted drugs aiming at other key molecular and cellular mechanisms which might contribute to the FXS behavioural phenotype.

2.3.4 Memantine

Memantine (3,5-dimethyladamantan-1-amine) is a non-competitive antagonist acting on the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor. There is evidence of NMDA receptor dysfunction in FXS, but the overall direction of the effect is unclear, appearing to depend on brain region and age. Memantine was the first medication targeting the glutamatergic system that the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved for the management of Alzheimer's disease. A large body of work supports its effect in this devastating disorder; while it does not cure or reverse Alzheimer's, it does effectively treat a wide range of cognitive symptoms (Matsunaga, Kishi, & Iwata, 2015). Memantine treatment is also being explored in humans with other neurological disorders including Fragile Xassociated tremor/ataxia syndrome (FXTAS) and Down Syndrome with mixed results so far (Hanney et al., 2012; Seritan et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2014). Only one pilot open-label study has been conducted related to FXS until now. Six participants who had previously been diagnosed with both FXS and PDD/NOS (diagnosed using criteria of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fourth edition) received an average of 34.7 weeks of memantine treatment, in order to test the tolerability of memantine and its effectiveness against a number of symptoms associated with FXS (Erickson, Mullett, & McDougle, 2009). While four subjects showed an improvement in general symptomatology, as measured by the CGI-I, there were no robust effects in any specific symptom domains. Furthermore, two of the subjects displayed increased irritability and had to discontinue memantine treatment.

2.4 Modulating Inhibitory Neurotransmission

Along with the increase in glutamatergic signalling, the signalling imbalance observed in FXS is, in part, due to deficits in inhibitory GABAergic function. The fragile X mouse models (*Fmr1* KO) display reduced GABA(A) subunit receptors, reduced synthesis of GABA coupled with augmented degradation of GABA and overall deficits in GABAergic input in multiple brain regions, including the hippocampus, striatum, amygdala, and somatosensory cortex (Idrissi et al., 2012; Lozano, Hare, & Hagerman, 2014; Olmos-Serrano et al., 2010). This reduced GABAergic input seen in FXS leads to various behavioural impairments including hypersensitivity to sensory stimuli, increased seizure susceptibility, and elevated anxiety. Moreover, deficits in the GABA receptor structure and function, in different brain regions, have been repeatedly associated with behavioural abnormalities and attentional processing deficits linked to anxiety disorders

and autistic spectrum disorders (Frye et al., 2016; Prager et al., 2016). Moreover, studies using *Fmr1* KO mice have already shown that drugs which act as positive modulators of GABA_A receptors can improve behavioural and neurophysiological deficits (Braat & Kooy, 2015). All the above suggest that the GABAergic system represents a promising target for new treatments against core deficits of FXS.

2.4.1 R-baclofen/arbaclofen/STX209

The active right enantiomer of racemic baclofen, R-baclofen/arbaclofen, is a GABA_B agonist. It is a GABA derivative and has been used as a skeletal muscle relaxant, primarily used to treat spasticity. Recent knowledge related to the contribution of GABA signalling in the excitation/inhibition imbalance, seen in FXS, led Seaside Therapeutics to reformulate arbaclofen under the code name STX209, and study it's efficacy in individuals with FXS and ASD. STX209 acts at presynaptic GABA_B receptors. This led to the hypothesis that it inhibits glutamate release from presynaptic terminals, therefore reducing the neuronal hyperexcitability observed in FXS models and human patients. In the Fmr1 KO mouse model, STX209 has been to shown to restore to normal a number of abnormal phenotypes; from reducing susceptibility to audiogenic seizures (Pacey et al., 2009), normalising excessive dendritic spine density and protein synthesis (Henderson et al., 2012), reducing repetitive behaviours and reversing social deficits (Silverman et al., 2015). A four-week, Phase II trial of STX209 recruited 63 individuals (55 male), carrying a full *FMR1* mutation, aged 6–40 years; it was completed in 2010 and showed that the drug was well tolerated (Berry-Kravis et al., 2012). The study was designed as a double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial with a two-period crossover conducted across 12 centres in the USA. STX209 did not show a significant difference over placebo on the primary endpoint, the Irritability Subscale of the Aberrant Behaviour Checklist (ABC-I). Nevertheless, post-hoc analyses did reveal significant improvements in parentreported problem behaviours on the Visual Analog Scale (VAS) and on the Social Avoidance subscale of the ABC (ABC-SA); additional positive trends were also seen on multiple global measures. Interestingly, the more socially impaired subset of participants (based on the ABC-LSW at baseline), showed significant improvement on the Vineland II-Socialization raw score, on the ABC-Social Avoidance scale, and on all global measures. These very promising results lead to two phase III clinical trials in FXS individuals (Berry-Kravis et al., 2014). Unfortunately, no significant improvements were detected in the adolescent/adult Phase III trial. The Phase III trial in children found no

significant effect on any primary outcome measures, but did find an effect on the Fragile X Irritability subscale of the Aberrant Behaviour Checklist, a secondary outcome measure.

2.4.2 Acamprosate

Acamprosate, also known as Campral, is an FDA approved medication for the management of alcohol dependence and is currently being tested for efficacy in FXS. Its mechanism of action is still largely unknown and somewhat controversial; experiments done in Xenopus oocytes showed that acamprosate fails to alter activation of several tested GABA or glutamate receptor subtypes (Reilly et al., 2008). It is likely that acamprosate alters excitatory/inhibitory balance by modulating NMDA receptor transmission and may indirectly affect GABA_A receptor transmission (Boismare et al., 1984; Kalk & Lingford-Hughes, 2014), probably in a pleiotropic manner (Mann, Kiefer, Spanagel, & Littleton, 2008). The first study looking at the effects of acamprosate in individuals with FXS was a small three-subject open-label trial in which all subjects showed improvements, as measured by the CGI-I (Erickson, Mullett, & McDougle, 2010). Acamprosate was then tested in a group of 12 children with FXS (6-17 years) for a period of 10 weeks, in a new open-label trial. Again acamprosate was shown to significantly improve the performance of participants on a number of outcome measures including various subscales of the ABC, CGI Severity, Social Responsiveness Scale (SRS), Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder Rating Scale (ADHD-RS), and subscales of the Vineland Adaptive Behaviour Scale (VABS). On the CGI-I, the primary outcome measure, nine of the twelve subjects were either "very much improved" or "much improved" (Erickson et al., 2010). Moreover, in a separate published paper from the same study, acamprosate was shown to reduce plasma amyloid precursor protein (APP) and secreted APPa (sAPPα), and increase brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF); although individual responses to treatment did not correlate with the extent of the change in BDNF plasma levels (Erickson et al., 2013; Erickson et al., 2014). Based on the results of these two open-label studies, acamprosate is currently undergoing a Phase II double-blind, placebo-controlled study in individuals with FXS (clinicaltrials.gov, NCT01911455).

| Compound | Preclinical testing in mice | | Open label Clinical trials | Placebo-control Clinical trials | |
|--------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------------------------|---|-------------------------------------|---|
| | Physiological effects | Behavioural effects | Outcome | Primary outcomes | Secondary outcomes/ post-hoc analysis |
| ADHD treatments | N.A | (+) Ventura et al., 2004 | (+) Torrioli et al., 2010 | (-) Hagerman et al., 1988 | (+) Torrioli et al., 2008 |
| Oxytocin | N.A | N.A | N.A | N.A | (+) Hall et al., 2012 |
| Aripiprazole | N.A | N.A | + Erickson et al., 2010 | N.A | N.A |
| Melatonin | N.A | N.A | N.A | N.A | (+) Wirojanan et al., 2009 |
| SSRIs | N.A | N.A | N.A | - Greiss Hess et al., 2016 | (+) Greiss Hess et al., 2016 Indah Winarni et al., 2012 |
| Fenobam | (+) Wang et al., 2014 | (+) Vinueza Veloz et al., 2012 | + (small) Berry-Kravis et al., 2009 | N.A | N.A |
| Mavoglurant | (+) Pop et al., 2014 | (+) Gantois et al., 2013 | N.A | (-) Berry-Kravis et al., 2016 | (-) Berry-Kravis et al., 2016 |
| Basimglurant | N.A | N.A | N.A | (-) Santarelli 2014 | N.A |
| Memantine | N.A | N.A | (-) Erickson et al., 2009 | N.A | N.A |
| R-baclofen | (+) Henderson et al., 2012 | (+) Silverman et al., 2015 | | (-) Berry-Kravis et al., 2012 | (-) Berry-Kravis et al., 2014 |
| Riluzole | N.A | N.A | (-) Erickson et al., 2011 | N.A | N.A |
| Acamprosate | N.A | N.A | (+) Erickson, Mullett, & McDougle, 2010 | N.A | N.A |
| Ganaxolone | (+) Braat et al., 2015 | (-) Heulens et al., 2012 | N.A | N.A | N.A |
| Lithium | (+) Choi et al., 2011 | (+) Liu et al., 2011 | (+) but (-) in primary Berry-Kravis et al., 2008 | N.A | N.A |
| Minocycline | (+) Bilousova et al., 2009 | (+) Rotschafer et al., 2012 | (+) Paribello et al., 2010 | (-) Leigh et al., 2013 | (+) Schneider et al., 2013 Leigh et al., 2013 |
| Lovastatin | (+) Osterweil et al., 2013 | (+) Osterweil et al., 2013 | (+) Çaku et al., 2014 | N.A | N.A |
| Trofinetide | (+) Deacon et al., 2015 | (+) Deacon et al., 2015 | N.A | N.A | N.A |

Table 2.1 Summary of therapeutic approaches for FXS to date. In orange symptom based treatments, blue excitation modulators, green inhibition modulators and red other mechanism based treatments. References are examples from existing literature. For more details see Sastre et al., 2015. IGF-1: insulin-like growth factor 1, SSRIs: selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, (-): negative outcomes, (+): positive outcomes

2.4.3 Riluzole

Riluzole is a prescription drug approved by FDA for use by individuals with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). It has been also shown to have antidepressant properties and act as an anxiolytic in obsessive-compulsive disorder (Grant et al., 2007; Zarate et al., 2004). Although the action of riluzole on glutamate receptors has not been elucidated fully yet, it is hypothesized to work by inhibiting glutamate release (Debono et al., 1993; Martin et al., 1993) and potentiating post-synaptic GABA_A receptor activity (Jahn et al., 2008). Although there are no published studies in the mouse model of FXS, riluzole was one of the first drugs, hypothesised to act as a GABA_A agonist, to be studied in FXS clinical trials. A six week open-label prospective pilot study (100 mg/day) took place 6 years ago (Erickson et al., 2011) with a primary outcome of repetitive, compulsive behaviour, which is a common comorbid disorder with FXS; the sample was six adults with FXS. The study showed that treatment with riluzole was associated with a clinical response only in one of six subjects. Peripheral extracellular signal-related kinase (ERK) activation, which is known to be altered in fragile X KO mouse models (Weiler et al., 2004), was significantly corrected in all subjects despite the lack of significant clinical improvement.

2.4.4 Ganaxolone

Ganaxolone (3a-hydroxy-3B-methyl analog of allopregnanolone) is a CNS-selective steroid and positive allosteric modulator of the GABA_A receptors (Greenfield, 2013). Ganaxolone has been shown to act effectively as an anticonvulsant in diverse rodent models of seizure disorders, at tolerable doses and as potent sedative at higher doses (Carter et al., 1997). In *Fmr1* KO mice, ganaxolone has been shown to alleviate symptoms such as audiogenic seizures (Braat et al., 2015; Heulens et al., 2012). Furthermore, it is known to be well tolerated by human adults, children, and infants (Kerrigan et al., 2000; Monaghan et al., 1997). A Phase II trial in approximately 60 child carriers of the full mutation, aged 6–17 years, is currently taking place in California, US (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01725152). The study aims to determine the safety, tolerability, and efficacy of ganaxolone for the treatment of anxiety and attention deficits seen in FXS patients by using a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, 6-week crossover design with a 2-week washout period between the two treatment stages.

2.5 Other Mechanism-based Treatments

2.5.1 Lithium

Lithium has been used for more than 60 years as a psychiatric medication, and especially for the treatment of major depressive disorder and bipolar disorder (Rybakowski, 2011). Long before it was the subject of preclinical and clinical testing, lithium had been used, off-label, to treat aggression and mood instability seen in individuals with FXS (Liu & Smith, 2014). Over the last 10 years, lithium has been shown to ameliorate a wide range of phenotypes associated with the loss of FMRP. Fmr1 KO mice treated with lithium showed improvements in hyperactivity (Liu et al., 2011; Yuskaitis et al., 2010), social preference (Liu et al., 2011), cognition (King & Jope, 2013; Liu et al., 2011; Yuskaitis et al., 2010), aberrant dendritic spines (Liu et al., 2011), hippocampal plasticity (Choi et al., 2011), protein synthesis (Choi et al., 2011; Franklin et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2011) and seizure susceptibility (Min et al., 2009). Based on the extensive literature, lithium's mechanism of action seems to be the inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) (Jope, 2003), which has been shown to be altered in the *Fmr1* KO mouse (Jope & Roh, 2006; Portis et al., 2012). All the aforementioned preclinical data led to an open label treatment trial of lithium. Fifteen individuals with FXS, ages 6-23 were treated for two months, and showed improvement on a wide range of secondary measures such as ABC total scores, the CGI and the VAS. On the contrary, no effect was observed in the primary outcome measure, the Irritability Subscale of the ABC. While there were general behavioural improvements, the study also had a large number of adverse events, already known for lithium, including aggression, polyuria (increased urination), and polydipsia (increased thirst) (Berry-Kravis et al., 2008). The open-label design of this clinical trial makes it difficult to draw robust conclusions from the results. Although these findings are somewhat promising, the known side-effect profile of lithium probably limits its widespread use in patients with FXS.

2.5.2 Minocycline

Minocycline is a semi-synthetic broad-spectrum bacteriostatic antibiotic and it has an FDA approval for the treatment for acne (Strauss et al., 2007). Minocycline has been shown to inhibit matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP-9), which has been found to be elevated in the hippocampus of *Fmr1* KO mice (Bilousova et al., 2006; Dziembowska et al., 2013). Furthermore, *Fmr1* KO mice which received minocycline treatment displayed

reduced hyperactivity (Bilousova et al., 2009), reversal of communication deficits (Rotschafer et al., 2012), normal social recognition memory (Yau et al., 2016) and improvements in the immature dendritic spine phenotype (Bilousova et al., 2009; Siller & Broadie, 2012). There are two human clinical trials reported to date. In the first pilot study, 20 patients with FXS, 13-35 years, participated in an initial open-label trial. Minocycline led to significant improvement in CGI, ABC-C and the ABC irritability, hyperactivity, and inappropriate speech subscales after eight weeks of treatment (Paribello et al., 2010); minor side effects were observed. These promising results led to an additional study. This time minocycline efficacy was tested in randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled clinical trials. Fifty-five children and adolescents aged 3.5–16 years with FXS underwent a minocycline treatment for 3 months. Subjects who received the drug demonstrated significant improvements in CGI-I but no significant improvement was found on any specific measure of the behavioural domains tested (Leigh et al., 2013). Even though no significant effects of minocycline on VAS scores were detected upon initial analysis, ad-hoc analysis did reveal significant improvements in anxiety and mood-related symptoms. Results for this study could have been affected by study design weaknesses; including unblinding of subjects when they completed the study, unblinding related to drug side effects, and the fact that investigators were aware of preliminary efficacy results. Twelve subjects (mean age 10.5 years) were taken from the same study and tested in a passive, auditory oddball paradigm. It was shown that minocycline treatment could normalise a specific electrocortical measure called eventrelated potentials (ERPs) (Schneider et al., 2013). This could be indicative of a normalisation in hypersensitivity to auditory stimulation which individuals with FXS exhibit.

2.5.3 Lovastatin

Lovastatin, also known as Mavacor, is a statin that has been FDA approved for the longterm management of familial hypercholesterolemia (Descamps et al., 2011). As a statin, lovastatin is an inhibitor of the enzyme HMG-CoA reductase, an enzyme that catalyses the conversion of HMG-CoA to mevalonate. This pathway is upstream to Ras signalling. Work by Cerezo-Guisado and colleagues, in cultured rat brain neuroblasts, revealed that lovastatin can indeed inhibit Ras signalling, an upstream effect that resulted in reduction in ERK1/2 activation (Cerezo-Guisado et al., 2007). This study supported previous findings by Xu and colleagues done in fibroblasts (Xu et al., 1996). The extracellular signal-related kinase (ERK1/2) intracellular signalling pathway has been shown to be connected with the pathophysiology associated with FXS. Acting downstream of mGluRs, the ERK1/2 signalling pathway is integral for maintenance of normal synaptic plasticity and the regulation of activity-dependent protein synthesis (Gallagher et al., 2004; Osterweil et al., 2010). Elevated ERK activity under baseline conditions, has been shown except from the FXS mouse model in human post-mortem brain tissue as well (Wang et al., 2012). Reducing ERK1/2 activation indirectly, by inhibiting its activating kinase MEK with commercially available inhibitors U0126 and SL327, effectively reversed the audiogenic seizure phenotype in *Fmr1* KO mice (Wang et al., 2012) and reduced the increased basal level of protein synthesis seen in the hippocampus of *Fmr1* KO mice (Osterweil et al., 2010). Recently, Osterweil and colleagues confirmed that lovastatin indirectly inhibits Ras signalling and increases basal ERK1/2 activation. Moreover, Fmr1 KO mice treated with lovatatin, showed normalised level of protein synthesis, hippocampal plasticity and audiogenic seizure susceptibility (Osterweil et al., 2013). Despite the known safety profile of lovastatin and the aforementioned very promising preclinical results, only one clinical trial has studied lovastatin's efficacy against FXS symptomatology so far. Çaku and colleagues (2014) reported an open-label trial in 15 patients (13 males, 6-31 years old). Treatment response was assessed before and after treatment using the ABC-C, total score (primary outcome), as well as the subdomains of the FXS validated version of the ABC-C, and CGI-I, and VABSII (secondary outcomes). Significant improvements were observed in the primary outcome, after 4 and 12 weeks of treatment. There was also moderate improvement on the CGI-I, but the open-label nature of the trial precludes any strong inferences of efficacy at this stage of development (Çaku et al., 2014). In addition to the behavioural evaluation of the treated individuals, blood samples were collected in order to analyse relevant biochemical markers. Quantitative Western blotting analysis in platelet samples, showed that ERK and Akt phosphorylation levels were normalised as well as ERK activity. Interestingly the changes in ERK phosphorylation correlated well with the clinical response to the treatment (Pellerin et al., 2016). One of the potential issues that arises with the possible use of lovastatin as a treatment for FXS is the lipid metabolism of the patients. Individuals with FXS have been reported to have lower levels of low- and high-density lipoproteins and total cholesterol. Therefore, participants should be placed on lipid monitoring during future lovastatin trials (Berry-Kravis et al., 2015).

2.5.4 Insulin Growth Factor 1/Trofinetide/ NNZ-2566

NNZ-2566, or trofinetide, is a synthetic analogue of a naturally occurring peptide, called glypromate or GPE, which is derived from insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1). Trofinetide has been shown to have neuroprotective properties; in a rat model of traumatic brain injury, trofinetide leads to improving recovery, reducing apoptotic cell death, and reducing neuroinflamation (Cartagena et al., 2013; Wei et al., 2009). Trofinetide's efficacy has already been studied in recent Phase II clinical trial in individuals aged 16 to 45 years with Rett syndrome. Although the study has not been published yet, Neuren Pharmaceuticals has reported that the drug was well tolerated and met pre-specified criteria for improvement (Pharmaceuticals, 2016). Treatment with the entire IGF-1, which trofinetide mimics, has also been shown to improve symptomatology associated with Phelan-McDermid syndrome (PMDS) in the mouse model of the syndrome (Bozdagi, Tavassoli, & Buxbaum, 2013), cultured human neurons (Shcheglovitov et al., 2013), and a Phase I clinical trial in children (Kolevzon et al., 2014). PMDS, also called 22q13 deletion syndrome, is a rare developmental disorder caused by heterozygous deletion of the terminal of chromosome 22 (22q13.3) which includes the SHANK3 gene, or a loss of function mutation on the SHANK3 gene. SHANK3 gene loss of function mutations have been associated with ASDs (Boccuto et al., 2012; Phelan & McDermid, 2012). In the only publish study using the mouse model of FXS, trofinetide has been shown to reverse some learning and memory deficits, reduce hyperactivity, normalise abnormal dendritic spine morphology, and restore normal extracellular signal-related kinase (ERK) signalling and, interestingly, restore normal testicular size (Deacon et al., 2015). A double-blind, placebo-controlled early phase trial of trofinetide in patients with FXS, has recently been completed. This study was designed to investigate the safety and tolerability of a liquid oral formulation of trofinetide in adolescent and adult males with FXS (Treagus, 2015).

2.6 Treatment development for FXS: Quo Vadimus?

Over the last 10 years, drug development for FXS has received an increased amount of attention from both basic science researchers as well as large and small pharmaceutical companies. Basic, translational and clinical research breakthroughs continue to identify novel targets and develop new promising therapeutic treatments for patents. Based on its prevalence (1 in 5000), FXS is classified as a rare disease (EMA EU/3/15/1452). As a result, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) as well as the European Medicines

Agency (EMA) have adjusted the criterion for demonstrating drug efficacy to a single Phase III clinical trial with positive primary and secondary outcomes; as opposed to two Phase III trials in disorders affecting larger populations (that's mainly due to the difficulties of recruiting more participants for a second large scale clinical trial). As in any other clinical study, the primary endpoint, which is preapproved by the FDA or EMA and specified before the clinical trial begins, must be significantly improved in the treatment group compared to participants who received placebo. Despite the less strict criteria for approval, there has not yet been a single treatment medication which is approved for the treatment of FXS.

Clinical trials so far have revealed a number of promising medications with positive behavioural responses, but have the final behavioural readouts been adequately objective? Thorough evaluation of drug efficacy requires a set of standardized, diseasespecific, outcome measures; considerable effort is already being made in that direction. Primary endpoints of clinical trials in FXS have typically included the Aberrant Behaviour Checklist (and other subsection scores), the Clinical Global Impressions Improvement of Severity subscales (CGI-I or CGI-S), the Social Responsiveness Scale (SRS), or other care giver-, teacher-, or clinician-based rated scales. In research on developmental disorders it is possible to observe a significant improvement of subjects (20-30%) in response to placebo, when the aforementioned subjective evaluation methods are used; this effect is often tricky to avoid, even with a placebo lead-in phase during the trial (Waschbusch et al., 2009). It is clear from the above that the commonly used outcome measures listed, can be inadequate to track improvements in the FXS phenotype, resulting in a push to develop reliable, FXS-specific outcome measures (Berry-Kravis et al., 2013). The FXSspecific Fragile X Symptom Rating Scale is currently being validated in several clinical trials, including the Phase II trial of trofinetide (clinicaltrials.gov NCT01894958). Another scale being validated for use in FXS is the Pediatric Anxiety Rating Scale revised for FXS (Russo-Ponsaran et al., 2014). Progress in clinical trial endpoints and biomarker development are becoming top priorities in the field (Elizabeth Berry-Kravis et al., 2013).

Less subjective measures such as eye-tracking, pre-pulse inhibition, brain imaging, evoked related potentials (ERP), and blood biomarkers are slowly beginning to be included in early Phase II drug development as more objective measures of a treatment's efficacy and potential engagement with the underlying pathophysiology of the disorder (Pellerin et al., 2016). Molecular biomarkers, which are being explored as indicators of treatment response and signalling proficiency, include, but are not limited to, cyclic

adenosine 3', 5'-monophosphate (Kelley et al., 2007), ERK (Weng et al., 2008), BDNF (Erickson et al., 2013), amyloid beta-protein precursor and cleavage proteins (Erickson et al., 2014), MMP9 (Dziembowska et al., 2013), and event-related potential (Schneider et al., 2013); it is likely that the latter may only be applicable to higher-functioning individuals, as many subjects with FXS find the procedure too stressful to tolerate. These molecular and physiological biomarkers, have not been used as 'primary' endpoints in any large placebo-controlled trials in FXS yet. Nevertheless, even the inclusion of these types of assessment is important for identifying changes, positively associated with the given treatment, keeping in mind the strong placebo effect on standard parent/ caregiver report rating scales. Ideally, additional research focusing on the correlations between behavioural symptomatology/severity and its physiological/molecular correlates, the use of objective biomarkers, will be more common in the future, providing a way to a clearer treatment evaluation.

The possibility of divergence in response treatment between various sub-populations defined by factors such as IQ, premutation status, or even gender, obviously complicates the problem of treatment evaluation even further. For the purpose of ad-hoc analyses, several studies used symptom severity: social withdrawal (Berry-Kravis et al., 2012) or methylation status (Jacquemont et al., 2011) to stratify participants. Unfortunately, in both instances, when the trials were repeated in larger sample sizes, the findings were not replicated. Although it is still considered controversial, the expression levels of FMRP and methylation status of the *FMR1* gene have been correlated with cognitive ability (positively and negatively respectively), whereas little work has been done on the relation between the extent of CGG trinucleotide repeat and cognition (Chudley et al., 1983; Steyaert et al., 1996). Surprisingly, it was recently shown that the number of CGG repeats can differ across different tissue types in the same affected individual (Lokanga et al., 2013). This suggests that the number of repeats based on blood mononuclear cells (the cell type often used for FXS diagnostic and stratification purposes) may not always directly translate to that in the brain. If this finding is correct, it is obvious that inaccurate trinucleotide repeat characterisation can severely complicate efforts to use blood biomarkers for clinical trial inclusion/exclusion criteria.

One major question which need to be addressed in future FXS research, and in neuroscience as a whole, is whether correcting lifelong abnormal synaptic morphology and function can or will lead to improved behavioural symptomatology. More specifically, in FXS treatment development, the main question is whether modulation of synaptic imbalance in the adult brain, is adequate to restore normal cognitive function in FXS. Excitation/inhibition imbalances, which show a distinct developmental profile (Gatto & Broadie, 2010), can cause the brain circuitry to develop improperly with potentially permanent consequences in behaviour. We should keep in mind that FMRP is expressed ubiquitously across the brain starting from early stages of embryonic development.

On top of the complexity of the human disease and the difficulties in assessing the outcomes of clinical trials objectively, the reasons for our failure to develop a successful treatment for FXS so far, arises from the fact that the mouse model of FXS has some limitations. It is important to recognize the inherited limitations of the data produce and of the mouse model as a system. Clear interpretation of results, replication of the studies, and further studies on initial results need to receive more attention from the research community. Furthermore, it is a common problem in research that negative molecular, electrophysiological and especially behavioural responses are very rarely being reported; this can drastically skew the attitude of the research community, and the pharmaceutical industry towards the efficacy of a treatment. As discussed earlier, behaviour in *Fmr1* KO mice is known to be very unreliable; it is critical that authors are aware of potential confounding factors in their behavioural tasks. For example, many tests in rodents, can be heavily influenced by changes in locomotor activity. If, by any chance, a proposed treatment reduces basal levels of locomotor activity in the *Fmr1* KOs, this could affect a number of tests' readouts; reduce marble burying (reduced repetitive behaviours) and time spent in the open arm of the elevated zero or plus maze (perceived as reduced stress). When reporting and interpreting the efficacy of a pharmacological treatment, it is also really important to mention whether there was a robust baseline deficit between the vehicle-treated *Fmr1* KO mice and wildtype littermate controls. The differences between mouse and human physiology are obvious and translating results between species is challenging. Without thorough assessment, careful interpretation, and full disclosure of all experimental procedures in preclinical models, it is extremely difficult to get a clear picture of the effectiveness of a treatment. Nevertheless, this does not mean that a robust improvement in a single domain of the mouse behavioural (observed in several different tasks) is not a significant finding. Individuals with FXS exhibit a very multifaceted behavioural phenotype so that even if a drug only improves reliably one of the affected behavioural domains, it would be incredibly beneficial.
Even if we examine treatments where behavioural (limited in many cases), electrophysiological and molecular improvement/normalization were shown in the mouse model and moderate improvements were also shown in small scale clinical trials, expansion into larger sample sizes was unsuccessful in most cases. A reason for that could also be that the human equivalent of the majority of the behavioural and physiological readouts or symptom domains examined in the mouse model studies, are either not being assessed in the human clinical trials (i.e., audiogenic seizure susceptibility, object memory, PPI), or the equivalent human symptom domain is not heavily affected or easily translated into a relevant mouse behavioural task (social preference, inhibitory control) (Kramvis et al., 2013). Therefore, the efficacy of a treatment cannot be adequately examined for a number of behaviours across mouse model and human patients. For example, one of the most commonly used FXS preclinical mouse behaviour tests is the audiogenic seizure paradigm, partly because increased seizure susceptibility is one of the most common behavioural deficits seen in *Fmr1* KO mice. Several mGlur5 antagonists and many other treatments, especially those targeting excitatory/inhibitory imbalance, were effective at reducing the number or the severity of audiogenic seizures in *Fmr1* KO mice (Michalon et al., 2012). These results could suggest that the examined treatments effectively reduce hyperexcitability seen in the mouse brain; for obvious ethical reasons, seizure susceptibility is not something that is assessed in human clinical trials and the direct effect of a possible hyperexcitability attenuation, does not have a clear correlation to other symptom domains, such as anxiety or inattentiveness. Moreover, treatment with mavoglurant was shown to improve deficits in startle response in a PPI paradigm in the mouse model, but PPI could not be assessed in the clinical trial because several participants with FXS could tolerate this procedure easily (Levenga et al., 2010).

Of course mice are still relevant as a model for FXS and there is a lot more to learn from studies on them. For example, robust genetic manipulations are still only possible in mice. Genetic rescue in the *Fmr1* KO mouse by creating double mutants that harbour a mutated/deficient allele such as mGlur5 (Dölen et al., 2007), muscarinic M4 (Veeraragavan et al., 2012), p70 ribosomal S6 kinase (Bhattacharya et al., 2012), or amyloid β -protein precursor (APP) (Westmark et al., 2011) can be really powerful experiments. However, we have to keep in mind a major limitation of genetic rescue studies. This rescue approach is significantly different from administering a drug, which will proceed to modify the function of a receptor or any other signalling molecule, to an

infant, an adolescent, or even an adult. Double-mutant mice which are generated by crossing two single-mutant mice, will have "received the treatment" exerted by second genetic manipulation, from conception, every day, throughout the day, rather than the typically short-duration treatment used in a FXS clinical trial. Furthermore, in the case of a pharmacological approach, the optimal dose is usually unknown (since we are dealing with novel therapeutic strategies) and the highest tolerable dose is usually used. Nevertheless, both genetic and pharmacologic approaches can reveal potential core mechanisms which have been affected by the loss of FMRP, and can give greater insight into the likelihood of success of a treatment's for FXS.

It looks like mouse models often take the blame for one of the most inconvenient truths in translational research: Even after mouse studies suggest that a medication will be safe and effective, more than 8 out of 10 potential therapeutics fail when tested in large scale clinical trials (Arrowsmith, 2011; Ledford, 2011). Mouse models of various conditions, especially neuropsychiatric, are regularly thought to be poor predictors of an experimental drug's efficacy (poor predictive validity). As we previously discussed, the real reason for the observed poor predictive validity is often that the preclinical experiments are not rigorously designed; but in the case of neuropsychiatric disorders, mice might have certain inherited limitations as a species. In the following introductory chapter, I will be discussing how the emergence of new rat KO models can be a potential "game changer", for translational research.

3. From Mouse to Rat

3.1 Rats are not oversized mice

The outward similarity of mice and rats can convey the false impression that mice are essentially smaller, faster breeding rats. The evolutionary distance between mice and rats, however, is bigger than one might imagine; the rodent lineage which gave rise to these two species split between 18 and 40 million years ago; hence the genetic material shared between a rat and a mouse has had more evolutionary time to diverge than one might expect (Gibbs et al., 2004; S Kumar & Hedges, 1998). Homo sapiens has common ancestry with non-human primates about 6 to 7 million years ago, therefore mice and rats on average are much more different from each other than we are from chimps.

The Norway rat, *Rattus norvegicus*, was the first mammalian species to be domesticated for scientific purposes; the first recorded rat dissection dates back to 1621 when Theophilus Müller and Johannes Faber of Italy's Accademia dei Lincei in Rome perform a dissection of a pregnant wild specimen; work on rat physiology dates back to the early 19th century, when experimenters concentrated on the effects of food and oxygen deprivation (Abbott, 2004). The rat has been a very important model in biomedical research ever since, due to its well-characterized physiology and convenient size and, more importantly, the rat is a species with its own biological particularities which make it, in several circumstances, an advantageous model compared to a mouse. For example, rat arthritis and hypertension models, including transgenic animals, have long been used because they recapitulate, better than mice, human clinical aspects such as gender differences (Paul et al., 1994; Taurog et al., 1999).

Behavioural neuroscientists have historically preferred the larger and less temperamental rat. Mice are difficult to work with because they are generally hyperactive and more impulsive than rats; mice are also slower and less flexible learners compared to rats (Ellenbroek & Youn, 2016). For instance, a widely used experimental set-up for researchers interested in addiction, involves training rats to press a lever in order to get a small quantity of a certain drug such as cocaine (drug self-administration studies). Rats appear to learn faster and it is clear that they deliberately press the lever. On the other hand, mice look much more impulsive and they do not seem to have a certain plan; they rush and press the lever randomly (Chistyakov & Tsibulsky, 2006; Thomsen & Caine, 2005).

Even though rats have been used in both basic and applied biomedical research for many years now, the mouse is currently the king. Since 1990, the number of yearly published scientific reports indexed by PubMed in which mouse models have been used increased threefold, overtaking the number of papers devoted to the rat in 2002. The mouse genome has been extensively studied and genetic manipulation techniques have been far more advanced than in any other mammalian model. But rat genetics have begun to catch up after the report of the first cloned rat in 2003 and sequencing of the rat genome in 2004. Technologies such as zinc-finger nuclease technology have now been used to create dozens of KO rat lines (Dolgin, 2010). Moreover, recent advances in gene editing, like the CRISPR/Cas9 system provide outstanding possibilities for targeted modification of the genome, which are often extremely efficient. New KO rat models are being developed every month, which reveals the excitement in biomedical research about reestablishing the rat as the main animal model (Bao et al., 2015; Li et al., 2013). In the following few pages I will discuss why rats have the potential of being an invaluable tool in biomedical research and more specifically research focussed on neurological and neuropsychiatric disorders.

3.2 Rat in translational research

The development of technology allowing for targeted genetic manipulation of mouse embryonic stem cells 25 years ago, led to an explosion in biomedical research. Not surprisingly, the mouse has overtaken the rat and has become the most widely used model organism (Mayford et al., 1997). Yet the rat has traditionally been the preferred model organism in biomedical research, so that even until 2001 the number of published research reports in which rats were used was larger than that of mouse publications. In fact, in 1989, the year in which the creation of the first KO mouse was reported (Thompson et al., 1989; Zijlstra et al., 1989), there were 70% more publications on rats than mice. That bias toward rats in biomedical research, has given us today an enormous archive of historical physiological data on the rat (Gill et al., 1989). Furthermore, most in vivo assays, particularly those in behavioural and cardiovascular research, were initially developed and validated on the rat and only in the recent past have been adapted to be used for mice. Understanding of rat genetics is the single field where rats have been lagging behind mice. However, this has changed with the sequencing of the rat genome (Gibbs et al., 2004; Mullins & Mullins, 2004) and the development of tools such as the rat genome database (Shimoyama et al., 2015). Finally, the advent of new genomic editing tools, such as zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs) and CRISPR/cas9 gene editing system, has now enabled precise genetic manipulation of the rat genome and germ-line transmission, setting the stage for the resurgence of the rat as the model organism of choice.

3.2.1 Larger sample volumes

By weight, a rat is more than 10 times the size of a mouse. The larger size means larger tissues and samples (Kleiber, 1947; Medigreceanu, 1910). This can mean a reduction in the number of animals required for a study, or enable the study of molecules too low in concentration to be measured reliably in the mouse. There are also more opportunities to measure multiple biomarkers/metabolites from the same sample, further reducing animal requirements (Parasuraman, Raveendran, & Kesavan, 2010). Small sample volumes require highly sensitive assays and are prone to high variability and false readout, while the larger sample volumes afforded by rat models reduce these technical limitations. Moreover, with blood volume of approximately 25mL, it is a lot easier to get multiple blood samples from rats than mice (1.5-2.5mL), enabling time-course sampling (for both animals a maximum of 1% of the circulating blood volume can be removed every 24 hours) (Parasuraman et al., 2010; Teilmann et al., 2014).

3.2.2 Easier surgery

The larger size of the rat compared to mice, allows for surgery that is much easier to perform. Experimenter's training times are reduced when rats are the models of choice, reducing simultaneously the time needed for reliable data acquisition and eventually publication. More easily performed surgery also means fewer experimental errors, leading to increased data collection efficiency, reduction in experimental costs and in the number of animals used (Ellenbroek & Youn, 2016). Small substructures can be more easily studied and targeted, for example microinjections or cannulations into small brain nuclei such as the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus is far easier to perform in the rat. For example, disconnection studies (multiple brain areas in both hemispheres being deactivated in order to study the importance of functional connections between different brain areas) can be performed much more efficiently in rat models, even in neonates (Lipska et al., 2002; Zeeb & Winstanley, 2013). Furthermore, implantation of probes in order to monitor brain activity (something relevant to research in neurodevelopmental disorders) is possible in rat pups starting from the 14th day of their lives (Langston et al., 2010).

3.2.3 Higher resolution imaging

Imaging technologies are advancing rapidly with the emergence of techniques such as two-photon functional imaging of neuronal activity using calcium-sensitive (Svoboda & Yasuda, 2006) and voltage-sensitive (Ferezou, Bolea, & Petersen, 2006) dyes and protein markers, quantum dots (Marshall & Schnitzer, 2013), diffusion tensor imaging (Alexander et al., 2007), and fMRI among many others. Even though some of them require certain genetic tools already available in mice (like voltage and calcium dyes for two-photon imaging), the translational nature of the rat as a model makes it an ideal organism for imaging aimed at uncovering structural and functional irregularities related to disorders. Perhaps the biggest advantage of the rat over the mouse, which has already been discussed, is the increase in spatial resolution due to the rat's larger size; spatial resolution in PET imaging has been estimated to be up to 10 fold greater in the rat than the mouse) (Zheng et al., 2015).

An example of an imaging technique with potential translational value is resting state functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (rsfMRI). Interest in rsfMRI, an imaging method commonly used to study functional connectivity in the brain, has recently increased and has opened interesting and flourishing lines of investigation. The idea of measuring the brain's resting state became popular among human researchers and various resting state networks have been identified over the recent years. These observations led to a number of intriguing studies which investigated functional connectivity correlates in both neurologic and psychiatric disorders (van den Heuvel & Hulshoff Pol, 2010), depression (Greicius et al., 2007), dementia (Zhang et al., 2013) and schizophrenia (Kantrowitz et al., 2015). Consequently, rsfMRI became a very attractive candidate for identifying (early) disease signatures as it is a non-invasive technique which is undemanding for the patient due to its limited scanning time. rsfMRI experiments on animals are up to this date scarce, and are mainly on rats and monkeys (Kannurpatti et al., 2008; Moeller et al., 2009; van Meer et al., 2010; Vincent et al., 2007), with a few exceptions on mice (Grandjean, Schroeter, Batata, & Rudin, 2014). In a study published 5 years ago, Jonckers and colleagues (2011) compared functional connectivity between mice and rats using rsfMRI. They found that rats produced less variable data than mice, the imaging resolution was higher (i.e. 4 separate components for the entorhinal cortex compared to 2 for mice), but the overall signal to noise ratio was the same between the two rodent species. The use of rsfMRI in rat models clearly has the potential to give us more insight into, and understanding of, the potential of this technique as a clinical diagnostic tool. Rat models make it possible for us to experimentally alter functional connectivity using drugs and/or genetic lesions. Additionally, rsfMRI could be used to evaluate the efficacy of potential treatments in rat models (a preclinical stage), and examine how that translates to human patients who received the same treatment, (clinical trial stage), bridging the gap between the two stages of treatment development.

3.2.4 Physiology closer to humans

Over the years, several anatomical and physiological differences have been highlighted between mice and rats (Logan et al., 1988; Stepanichev et al., 2016; Witte et al., 2010). Additionally, rats are consistently more representative of human physiology than mice, but still not as close as larger animals (i.e. swine, dogs, macaque) (Lelovas et al., 2008; Radermacher & Haouzi, 2013). The heart rate of a mouse is ~ 600 beats per minute (310-840bpm), while the rat is less than half of that (300-450bpm) and therefore closer to the human average of 70 bpm. Adding to the previous the fact that rats have larger heart and blood vessel size, it is obvious why they are preferred in cardiovascular research over mice (a quick PubMed search shows that there are 6 times more published reports on rat than mouse). Furthermore, during the past decades, researchers working on drug discovery have preferred to screen the efficacy of a drug in genetically modified mice, models of disorders, and then switch models and assess safety and toxicity in rats, mainly due to the large volume of historical safety data in the rat and the greater physiological similarities between rats and humans compared to mice and humans. This methodology relies heavily on extrapolations of used mouse dosing to rat, and the assumption that this dose would have similar efficacy in the rat. The uncertainty in this approach is clearly far from ideal, as drug efficacy has been observed to be highly variable in different mouse strains, let alone in different species (Fattore et al., 2002; Paterson et al., 2003). Recently developed genetically modified rat models can now address this problem, enabling researchers to conduct both drug efficacy and safety studies not only in the same species but even in the same background strain.

3.2.5 Rich behavioural profile

I have already mentioned that the rat has been the work horse of experimental psychology. Rats' performance in behavioural tasks is much more reliable and robust

than that of mice; due to their increased variability, mouse behavioural assays typically require cohort sizes of up to 50% larger than those needed for rats (Ellenbroek & Yun 2016). Generally, rats perform better than mice on behavioural assays addressing learning and memory mechanisms and addiction; I mentioned earlier that rats are the preferred species for drug self-administration studies. The ability to classify subtly different behavioural responses is what can make the rat a powerful model of neuropsychiatric disorders. An example of that was reported by Steiner and Redish (2014). They showed that when rats realised they made a mistake, in a decision making task, they displayed signs of "regret". Regret is different from disappointment, which is simply when things are not working out. Regret is the recognition of one's mistake and the realisation that if one had done something differently, things would have been better. Steiner and Redish trained rats to run around a circular track past a series of four arms, each leading to a different food. As the rat came to the entrance of each arm, a tone indicated how long the rat would have to wait to receive that food. The rat could choose whether to stay or go, depending on how much it liked that food and how long it would have to wait. Whenever a rat refused a "good deal" only to realise that the next arm was offering a worse deal, it would stop and look back at the previous arm it had skipped. The rats showed three behaviours consistent with regret: (1) they only looked backwards in the "regret" arm, and not in the "disappointment" arm, (2) they were more likely to take a "bad deal" after their mistake, and (3) instead of taking their time to eat and groom themselves after they finished eating, the rats in the regret conditions ate quickly and rushed to the next arm. Of course, some differences in the cognitive performance between mice and rats could be due to the fact that most of the widely used cognitive tasks were first developed in rats and then just "transferred" with minor modifications to mice, without taking into account ethological difference between rodent species (Jaramillo & Zador, 2014).

In assays assessing pain, rats are less likely to be susceptible to anxiety-induced analgesia and, as previously discussed, perform much more reliably; in fact, pain research is one field where mice never surpassed rats in the number of publications. Interestingly, a recent study showed that the gender of experimenter heavily affects the response to painful stimuli in mice (Sorge et al., 2014). Moreover, rats are highly social compared to mice, which are more territorial and aggressive. An example is juvenile play; young rats will display playful wrestle behaviour with cagemates, much like kids do, while mice do not (Wöhr & Scattoni, 2013). Due to aggression and social rigidity in mice,

cages of male mice (the sex that is most frequently used in biomedical research) are a mixture of dominant and subordinate animals that vary greatly in terms of behaviour, physiology and immune function (Berry, 1970; Brain, 1971; C. A. Hendrie, Weiss, & Eilam, 1996) and this is, at least, a major source of variance in all studies using this rodent species. Cognitive and social behaviour differences will be discussed in more detail in the following paragraphs of this section, as these domains are two of the main affected behavioural domains in FXS and autism.

3.2.6 More translational

Taking together all of the previously discussed advantages of rats over mice, everything points to the idea that rat models are more translational than mouse models. The recent creation of KO rat models may be the best possible way to bridge the gap between basic preclinical research and clinical research, which can hopefully lead to the development of new treatments. Rats have been used in the pharmaceutical industry for years to predict how human patients will metabolize medication and to identify and study potential side effects. The results of these studies are essential before Phase I trials, addressing tolerance, can begin in humans. In the previous chapter, I discussed recent drug development efforts against FXS. Several translation failures so far have led to uncertainty in the field. As a result, the mouse model of FXS has recently come under scrutiny. Two examples that highlight the differences between the two rodents, once more, come from two comparative pharmacology studies. Rats and mice were treated with two previously discussed drugs (R-baclofen and MPEP) in an attempt to examine their efficacy against nicotine addiction. In both studies, differences between species was reported; mice also showed an inflexibility in dose-response curves and the dose of selfadministered nicotine (Fattore et al., 2002; Paterson et al., 2003). The newly created rat models are now aiming to reclaim their position as the animal model of choice because of all the reasons mentioned above.



Figure 3.1 Rats are not oversized mice. The outward similarity of mice and rats can give somebody the false impression that mice are essentially smaller, faster breeding rats but there are core differences between the species.

3.3 Rat as a model organism of ASD and FXS

Validity is a key concept when assessing the utility and reliability of animal models. As originally stipulated by McKinney and Bunney (1969), the ideal animal model of a disorder should mimic the disorder's aetiology, pathophysiology/symptomatology, and response to treatment. These criteria proposed by McKinney and Bunney laid the foundation for the concept of construct, face, and predictive validity of animal models respectively (D. C. Blanchard, Summers, & Blanchard, 2013; Willner, 1984). Specifically, in model organisms of neuropsychiatric disorders, construct validity expresses the conceptual framework of the model – that is, the commonality between the underlying neurobiological mechanisms in the model system/organism and those underlying the behaviour in the pathological state being observed in human patients. Face validity expresses the similarities between the symptoms displayed by the affected individuals and the behaviours exhibited by the model organisms. Lastly, the criterion of predictive validity relates to the capability of the model organism to predict the progression of the disorder modelled, as well as the response to therapeutic interventions; whether or not a medication will be successful when tested in the clinical trials (Willner, 1984), also including sensitivity of the animal model in question, to pharmacological manipulations affecting the disease in humans, either in a positive or in a negative direction (D. C. Blanchard et al., 2013). In the following pages I will discuss the potential advantage of rat models over mice in modelling FXS and ASD(Cenci, Whishaw, & Schallert, 2002). I will focus on the three core behavioural domains being affected in FXS and ASD, namely anxiety/hyperactivity, social interactions and cognitive deficits, and explain why the rat is a more suitable model organism.

3.3.1 Differences in anxiety-hyperactivity

Anxiety and hyperactivity are common behavioural problems associated with FXS and ASD (Leitner, 2014; Wheeler et al., 2014). The neurobiological mechanisms connecting anxiety/hyperactivity phenotypes and FXS/ASD remain elusive but there are available symptom-based treatments like SSRIs and ADHD medications (methamphetamines) that can partially alleviate the behaviours in affected individuals. Over the last 20 years behavioural phenotyping in the mouse model of FXS has yielded some contradictory results. The three main behavioural paradigms used to access anxiety-like and hyperactivity-like behaviours in rodents and specifically in *Fmr1* KO mice are the open field test, the elevated plus or zero maze and the light-dark box task (Bouwknecht &

Paylor, 2008). Although, rats do not seem to have an obvious advantage over mice when modelling anxiety related behaviours, differences between the species' natural response to stressors lead to different readouts in these tasks. An obvious difference in that respect is that mice are primarily herbivores while rats are opportunistic (herbivores and carnivores depending on their habitat's natural sources). This key difference in natural behaviour means that rats are bolder when exploring new environments which are potential unfriendly; a behaviour which is essentially assessed in all three aforementioned tests.

Rats and mice are used extensively in the field of depression and anxiety research because of the wealth of genetic and physiology data available. Nevertheless, summarising the findings from studies made using rats, mice or other species, as 'rodent models' does not take into consideration the potential importance of these species differences. This is also a very high risk strategy that assumes depression and anxiety to be general mammalian features that can be modelled in any animal of this class (Hendrie et al., 2013). In relation to innate fear and depression related tasks, there are important differences between rats and mice and their significance cannot be ignored.

Even though there are not many comparative studies specifically in behaviour, there are a large number of studies looking at differences in the neurotransmission systems between rats and mice, relative to mood disorders and specifically in depression, anxiety and innate fear. For example, galanin and galanin receptor 1 (GalR1) have been connected to the serotonergic system (Misane et al., 1998) and have been shown to be implicated in cellular processes related to neurological disorders such as anxiety and depression (Bellido et al., 2002). A comparative study showed that galanin and GalR1 have different expression profiles in the central nervous systems of mice and rats; there is a lack of galanin and GlR1 in the mouse dorsal raphé nucleus, a part of the serotonergic system which has long been implicated in mood disorders (Larm, Shen, & Gundlach, 2003). Consistent with this finding, two studies have demonstrated that drugs acting on the serotonergic system exert anxiolytic-like and panicolytic-like effects only on rats but not in mice (Blanchard et al., 1997; Griebel et al., 1997). The differences in neurotransmission between rats and mice seem to be even more widespread; it has been reported that exposure to restrain stress leads to different responses in the monoaminergic neurotransmission between rats and mice (Konstandi et al., 2000).

Differences have also been observed in the effect of corticotropin releasing factor (CRF), a molecule associated with depression and anxiety disorders (Binder & Nemeroff, 2010). It has been shown that intra-cerebroventricular administration CRF leads to a reduction of depression like behaviours in rats but not in mice (Dunn & Swiergiel, 2008). Moreover, Radulovic and colleagues (1998) showed that there are key differences in the distribution of Corticotropin-Releasing Ractor Feceptor type1 (CRFR1) between rat and mouse central nervous systems. The main species differences were observed in cortex and brainstem. Mice were found to express less CRFR1 in the neocortical areas and more CRFR1 in the brainstem than rats. Keeping in mind that the cortical CRF receptors have been implicated in stereotyped motor behaviours (Crawley et al., 1985) and cognitive function (Van'T Veer et al., 2012), while brainstem CRF receptors are mainly involved in fear and anxiety, one could speculate that besides the differences seen in stress response between the species, differential CRFR1 expression profiles could account, at least in part, for differences between the rats and the mice in studies of learning and memory (Whishaw, 1995).

3.3.2 Differences in social interactions

Perhaps the most important reason to consider rats as a superior animal model for the autism spectrum and other related neurodevelopmental disorders is that they express much more complex social behaviours than mice. Social interaction deficits are one of the three affected core behavioural domains in FXS and ASD. To date, many behavioural paradigms have been developed in order to assess related deficits in existing mouse models (Silverman et al., 2010; Wöhr & Scattoni, 2013). Nevertheless, the question of whether these human behavioural traits have strong endophenotype similarities to rodents still remains unanswered (Servadio, Vanderschuren, & Trezza, 2015).

Differences between rats and mice can be observed even while handling them (see 1.5.3). Anyone who has worked with both rodent species will easily see that mice are much more aggressive than rats. This may be due to the species' different social structures in the wild; mice normally live in small groups (depending on the availability of natural resources) where one extremely aggressive alpha male dominates and monopolizes all females. They are strongly territorial and show high levels of intra-male aggression whenever they are group housed. Rats, on the other hand, which are organised in bigger highly social colonies, have a more loose and dynamic hierarchy, with widespread promiscuity and low levels of aggression (Barnett, 1976). Rats live together relatively peaceably under laboratory conditions, within which significant levels of full-blooded aggression are seen under only the most unusual of conditions (Barnett, 1976; Rodgers & Hendrie, 1982).

Social learning is another behavioural skill relevant to FXS and ASD affected traits. Social transmission of knowledge and emotions have been documented in both mice and rats (Galef, 1984; Knapska et al., 2010; Munger et al., 2010). The only type of social learning that has been documented in mice is socially transmitted food preference, in addition to the identification of one of the molecular pathways involved. It seems that a specific receptor expressed in olfactory sensory neurons which are part of a specially designed circuit in the olfactory system is required for the acquisition of socially transmitted food preferences (STFPs) in mice (Munger et al., 2010). On the other hand, rats seem to be able to share information related not only to food preference (Strupp & Levitsky, 1984) but also to emotions (Knapska et al., 2010) and pain sensitivity (Fanselow, 1985). Knapska and colleagues (2010) showed that a brief social interaction of a rat with a cage mate that has undergone an aversive learning experience, was enough to promote aversive learning in the otherwise naive animal. Another related study by Fanselow (1985), showed that odours released by stressed rats can produce analgesia in unstressed naive conspecifics. These two socially evoked responses may belong to group of evolutionary conserved behaviours that promote defensive responses to novel, potentially harmful, situations in their environment. Collectively, these observations of social influence on food preference and fear in rats, point to the fact that the neuroanatomical circuits, mediating the complexities of social interactions seen in rats, should be much more intricate in comparison to mice, suggesting that rats can be a more suitable model for disorders affecting social interactions like FXS and ASD. Furthermore, such studies provide a useful model system with which we can explore the many ways in which social interactions are affected in these disorders.

One other way of communication in rodents, which is extensively studied, involves the use of ultrasonic vocalisations (USVs). Rodents have developed an elaborate communication system which is associated with emotionally negative and positive states. Aversive low pitch vocalisations, termed 22kHz type USVs, are emitted in dangerous and life threatening situations, or situations causing discomfort, frustration, and significant stress and anxiety. On the other hand, high pitch vocalisations (50kHz

type USVs), include brief calls emitted in a variety of social non-aversive, appetitive, and pleasing situations (Burgdorf et al., 2013). As mentioned before, rats display a richer social behavioural repertoire compared to mice, exhibiting more "human-like" behaviours; thus it is not surprising that rats and mice seem to have differences in vocalisations as well. It has been shown that juvenile rats display 'rough-and-tumble' play (largely composed of non-serious chasing, fighting and rolling around together); mice on the other hand exhibit a very low percentage of time spent in contact social play (Siviy & Panksepp, 2011). Furthermore, it has been found that juvenile rats emitted a high number of high frequency USVs also in anticipation of play when they were placed alone in a chamber where they had played with a partner during the previous days (Knutson, Burgdorf, & Panksepp, 1998). Play is thought to have an important role in brain development and well-being of humans as well as other animals. Taking this into account, several studies show that rats selectively bred for low rates of play-related 50kHz pro-social USVs can be used to model social deficit symptoms of autism (Burgdorf et al., 2013). Another indication of the rich communication repertoire of rats was shown by Blanchard and colleagues (Blanchard et al., 1990). They showed that rats' production of USVs, in response to a predator depends on the presence of conspecifics, meaning that they produce these alarm cries deliberately, reflecting in that way social facilitation (Crawford, 1939). Blanchard and colleagues hypothesized therefore, that rat USVs emitted in aversive situations serve as alarm calls to warn conspecifics (Blanchard et al., 1991). In support of this hypothesis, Kim and colleagues (2010) showed that the main vehicle for social transmission of fear in rats is potentially the emission of USVs. These observations have yet to be replicated in mice using the same apparatus (Visible Burrow System) and the same paradigm. The latest example suggests that mice lack the intense social bonding observed in rats. Conclusively, mice and rats have the capability to emit USVs mainly in a social context. The more colonial life style of the rat compared to the mouse is accompanied by the occurrence of ultrasonic vocalisations in a much wider variety of contexts. This species difference in the capability for, and evolutionary value of, communication of affective states could be linked to the more complex social structure of rats in comparison with mice.

Apart from the USVs, differences in the patterns of defensive behaviour in rats and mice were observed in the previously described studies (Blanchard et al., 1991; Blanchard et al., 1990). Upon the initial presentation of a predator, mice normally retreat from the open surface and return later engaging in risk assessment behaviour. This behaviour consists of returning to the main hall area of the apparatus and peeking through an opening. If an obstacle obscures the view of the cat, the mice would change their vantage point. After a period of about 5 to 10 min of risk assessment, the mice retreat to the depths of the burrows and remain there for some hours. In contrast, the rats immediately retreat to the depths of the burrows and engage in prolonged freezing behaviour. The main reason why the rats do not engage in initial risk assessment appears to be related to their use of vocal communication. The first rat to observe the cat emits an alarm signal to alert other members of the colony about the potential danger; therefore, not all members of the colony have to see the predator in order to avoid it. One could hypothesise that the greater complexity of social organization of rats seems to have resulted in their use of different defensive strategies to that used by mice. This observed use of vocal communication, as vocal communication is widely thought to involve relatively complex signalling (Marler, Evans, & Hauser, 1992).

Another difference between rats and mice which is possibly more relevant to ASD than FXS relates to prosocial behaviours like empathy. Behavioural tasks which assess empathy related behaviours have been developed for both rats and mice (Atsak et al., 2011; Bartal et al., 2011; Langford et al., 2006). Langford and colleagues (2006), working with mice, showed that the pain sensitivity of mice which observe cage mates in pain, is increased. In an attempt to determine the transmitting sensory modality of this behavioural response, they blocked sensory inputs individually, by placing physical barriers to sight and/or touch or by rendering mice anosmic or deaf. They found that visual blockade completely abolished the observed hyperalgesia, although based on the techniques used, pheromonal communication could not be ruled out. On a similar experiment in rats (Atsak et al., 2011) researchers showed that if a rat witnesses a conspecific receiving a mild electric foot shock, two things can happen; the witnesses reacts with a typical distress behaviour to the distress of the demonstrator rat, displaying empathetic freezing behaviour and the demonstrator's behaviour was in turn modulated by the behaviour of the witness, as in, demonstrators froze more following foot shocks if their witness froze more. The latter shows a reciprocal social communication. In a pair of more sophisticated paradigms, only possible in rats so far, Bartal et al. (2011) showed that under certain circumstances the rat can exhibit empathic behaviours. In their experiment, a rat was restrained in a small cylindrical cage in the middle of larger rectangular arena. A second, cage mate, rat was free to move into the arena, and gradually learned how to open the door of the cage and free its cage mate. Opening this door takes some effort, and it took the rats a while to find out how to open it. In contrast to the misconception that rats would be selfish animals, the free rats were seen putting considerable effort into finding ways to open the door and free their captive conspecific. In an additional experiment, they gave the free rat the choice between getting a chocolate reward placed inside an identical cage, and freeing the constrained rat. Surprisingly the majority of the test subjects decided to free the caged rat first and then share the food reward. All female rats in the study displayed this behaviour, while 30% of the males did not, showing that females seem to exhibit more empathy related behaviours. One could suggest, that this behaviour was seen not because rats really display empathic behaviours but because they crave companionship, but recently Sato and colleagues (2015) reported a similar behaviour, putting those doubts to rest. In order to test rats' altruistic behaviour, they divided a Plexiglas box into two compartments using a transparent partition. On one side of the box, a rat was forced to swim in water (the water level was rising slowly). The only way the rat could escape was if a second rat, sitting safe in the dry compartment of the testing box, open a small escape hatch connecting the two sides. Interestingly, the rats in the dry side did not open the hatch when their conspecific was still dry, confirming that they were helping in response to others' distress, rather than because they just wanted company. Rats that had previously been in the wet compartment, learned how to save their cage mates much faster than those who had never been soaked previously, suggesting that it is empathy that drove their response (Sato et al., 2015).

3.3.3 Differences in cognition

There are many studies to date showing that rats are indeed much better at acquiring new information than mice. This difference could also be due to the higher impulsivity of mice. Operant tasks that require suppression of spontaneous behaviours are more difficult for mice to perform well. A wide range of popular behavioural tasks either are best performed in rat models or have been validated and optimized especially well in rats, including tasks related to reward (De Vries et al., 1998), sensory systems (Znamenskiy & Zador, 2013), working memory (Deacon & Rawlins, 2006), declarative memory (Dusek & Eichenbaum, 1997) and decision making (Steiner & Redish, 2014). One of the most widely used behavioural tasks to assess learning memory in rodents is the Morris watermaze. It was initially designed for rats as natural swimmers, but it has been adjusted for mice ever since. The water maze has several advantages over conventional dry mazes. For example, there are no local cues such as scent traces from other rats and there is no fixed escape strategy. Experimental animals make good progress in the trials because they want to escape. Several studies have shown that even rat pups outperform the mice, especially in retention memory (Frick et al., 2000; Podhorna & Didriksen, 2005; Stranahan, 2011; Whishaw & Tomie, 1997; Whishaw, 1995). Both rats and mice are able to locate the hidden and visible platform, even when tested in an intense one-day training protocol. However, the two rodent species appear to use different strategies for locating the hidden platform; rats demonstrate a robust spatial strategy, whereas mice appear to utilize alternative non-spatial strategies which are neither consistent nor reliable. Moreover, early studies suggested that laboratory mice seemed to have a tendency to float, behaviour perhaps related to their perceived weakness in the water maze. Therefore, it was suggested that mice did not actually aim to find the platform, but simply waited until the experimenter rescued them, though water mazes have now been utilized extensively in thousands of published experiments with transgenic and knock-out mice. The key when using mice is to use procedures that minimize stress and improve performance in this task, like gentle handling for a few minutes every day before the start of training. The fact that rats seem to have greater visual acuity than mice and are natural swimmers gives them an obvious advantage in water maze tasks, of course, so we cannot claim that rats exhibit higher cognitive flexibility than mice based only on water maze results (Ellenbroek & Youn, 2016).

When mice and rats are compared in a spatial navigation task in dry mazes their performance is comparable (Cressant et al., 2007; Whishaw & Tomie, 1997). These results confirm that mice and rats can learn dry-land spatial tasks equally well but are likely to rely on different strategies even when confronted with the same paradigm. Cressant and colleagues (2007) confirmed what was previously observed (Frick et al., 2000); that the strategies of mice are much less robust and flexible than the ones used by rats, not allowing a rapid adaptation to a dynamic environment when a switch onto another sensory modality is ineffective. On this last note, several behavioural tasks have been used to assess cognitive flexibility, mainly in rats. These behaviours, such as attention shifting (Birrell & Brown, 2000), delayed alternation (Horst & Laubach, 2012) and delayed (non)matching-to sample tasks (Porter, Burk, & Mair, 2000) rely heavily on

prefrontal brain areas in mammals (Birrell & Brown, 2000). Interestingly, FXS patients exhibit difficulties in prefrontal cortex dependent tasks such as the Wisconsin Card Sorting (Van der Molen et al., 2012a). Rat and mouse equivalent of the tasks have already been developed (Tait, Chase, & Brown, 2013); once again the rat equivalent is more complex and rats perform much better in all aspects of testing. These differences in performance are important in order to be able to detect subtle differences after a potential treatment, so it is obvious that rat models can have a real advantage over mouse models when testing these complex behaviours.

Another type of a widely used set of behavioural paradigms is the spontaneous object exploration task. Again rats appear to perform better than mice either in short or long retention intervals (Bevins & Besheer, 2006) in novel object recognition, which is the simplest version of these tasks. In contrast a study by Stranahan (Stranahan, 2011) showed no difference between species but rats show increased exploratory behaviour; even so high exploration times are a very important element of behaviour in these types of tasks in order to get interpretable results. To date there is not a direct comparison between the species in other similar tasks like object in place or object in context but a quick look at the literature is enough to prove that rats outperform mice in both retention of memory, and performance index (Langston & Wood, 2010; Spanswick & Dyck, 2012).

Looking at physiology studies related to brain areas important for cognition can also give us an idea of the differences between mice and rats. An important comparative study showed that the adult neurogenesis in dentate gyrus (a process believed to be important for learning and memory amongst other behaviours) in rats, processes much faster and newly differentiated neurons have much higher chances of being incorporated into a functional circuit (Snyder et al., 2009). This suggests that new neurons may make a greater contribution to behaviour in rats than in mice. One other major difference between the rat and mouse dentate gyrus is that the peak of granule cell development is postnatal in the rat but prenatal in the mouse (Angevine, 1965; Schlessinger, Cowan, & Gottlieb, 1975), despite the almost identical gestation time in the two species. The delayed development of the dentate gyrus in the rat may result in a structure that is more versatile to changes in response to environmental stimuli and more plastic during adulthood. Behaviourally, this could result in rats showing a much more complex behavioural repertoire than mice and being able to acquire behavioural strategies that demand significant plasticity (Whishaw et al., 2001) and/or that strongly rely on refined hippocampal function (Gerlai & Clayton, 1999). It is not yet known which of these two species shows rates of neurogenesis comparable to humans. However, the extended development and more intricate and flexible behavioural repertoire of the rat compared with the mouse (Whishaw et al., 2001) suggest that the rat's hippocampus may be the better model for that of the human.

Concluding, the mouse can perform similarly to the rat, in many behavioural tasks, but is almost always less sophisticated and with less capacity for modifying its initial behavioural response. Given that there is roughly a fourfold difference in the weight of rat and mouse brains and that the mouse cortex is only about 60% as thick as the rat's brain, it is reasonable to assume that rats have more synapses per equivalent volume of cortical tissue, resulting to a more complex behavioural repertoire (Whishaw et al., 2001). Therefore, the mouse seems to be relatively inefficient for neurobehavioral research as it is a species functioning at a lower level of complexity, relative to the rat, focussing primarily on just those behaviours directly needed for successful survival and reproduction. When used in learning and memory tasks, mice often seem to lack a solid plan and a robust strategy (Cressant et al., 2007; Frick et al., 2000); manipulations of neural processes are thus relatively limited in their ability to alter behavioural output. This may not be a drawback for the genetic analysis of behaviour and can aid in gaining insights into the genetic basis of more basic behaviours. However, this may be a stumbling block for those neurobiologists who aim to assess behavioural plasticity and social behaviour as a primary aim of investigation. In particular, research related to behavioural deficits of neurodevelopmental disorders, like autism spectrum disorders, requires animal models which can exhibit complex behaviours. Lastly, using mouse models may also may be a drawback in comparing the results produced in different laboratories, in which the focus of the analysis is on behaviours that might be a less pronounced part of an animal's natural behaviour. Crabbe, Wahlsten and Dudek (1999) have remarked on the widely divergent results that can be obtained from behaviour of mice tested in different laboratories even when the same tests using the same apparatus are applied. This could be one of the ways to explain the inconsistency of the behavioural phenotype of *Fmr1* KO mice.



Figure 3.2 Rodent models are accelerating therapeutic development for neurodevelopmental disorders. Translational neuroscience has made great effort in developing treatments based on understanding the causal genetic mechanisms underlying neurodevelopmental diseases. Today we stand at a therapeutic front line, with much more to learn and the recent generation of a rat models creates exciting new directions. (photo from Jeste and Geschwind 2016)

3.4 The age of KO rats

A number of technological problems have made it very difficult to specifically target genes in rats. On the other hand, scientists have been effectively manipulating genes in mice ever since researchers first discovered mouse embryonic stem (ES) cells in the 1980s (Evans & Kaufman, 1981). Recent advances in genome sequencing in rats (Jacob & Kwitek, 2002) and the development of methods to produce pluripotent stem cells from rats (Buehr et al., 2008; P. Li et al., 2008) paved the way for the development of novel genetic manipulation techniques possible in rats and this has led to the creation of KO rats. Before the emergence of ZFN technology (Geurts et al., 2009), there had not been a reliable technique for creating KO rat models. Chemical mutagenesis using ethylnitrosourea (ENU) and random insertion mutagenesis using gene-trap Sleeping Beauty transposons have been used to generate loss-of-function, or 'KO', mutations in important disease genes including rat models of cancer, eye development and immunodeficiency (Amos-Landgraf et al., 2007; Homberg et al., 2007; Zan et al., 2003). Recently, the CRISPR/Cas9 system has emerged as a highly efficient and advantageous alternative to the previously mentioned genetic manipulation approaches. The CRISPR/Cas9 system has been used to generate genetically modified rat strains which carry single or multiple mutations in genes relevant to selected disorders (Bao et al., 2015; Shao et al., 2014). While existing mouse models were created by cloning or using embryonic stem cells, CRISPR/Cas9 technology bypasses these techniques by targeting genes in vivo, creating knock out or genetically modified animals in a shorter amount of time and enabling KO in a wider range of mammalian species; for example, by direct injection of RNAs into one-cell embryos. Now that KO technology is available for rats and mice, scientists will be able to make choices based only on the question they want to answer. Thus, it is widely believed that the rats' natural advantages as experimental animals, combined with the wealth of new genetic information and gene manipulation techniques should lead to a surge of interest among biomedical researchers (Dolgin, 2010) (Iannaccone & Jacob, 2009; Wöhr & Scattoni, 2013; Zalocusky & Deisseroth, 2013).

It is also the case that more complex brains are not always preferable. As Vermaercke and colleagues showed, when rats and humans were trained in rule-based and information-integration category-learning tasks with visual stimuli, their performance was equal in the rule-based categorization, but rats outperformed humans on generalization in the information-integration task (Vermaercke et al., 2014). Furthermore, and contrary to what I have discussed already, a recent test showed that even though rats learned faster than mice in a challenging rule-based auditory task, that tested perceptual ability as well as cognitive flexibility, their final performance was very similar. (Jaramillo & Zador, 2014). According to the authors, the performance differences researchers detect between mice and rats, could be due to the training protocols used in a wide range of behavioural tasks. The rat has been the workhorse of experimental psychology for many years, so most of the tasks were developed and optimized specifically for them. Since all of the genetic tools available in mice are still ages ahead of rats, careful adjustment of behavioural protocols could be an alternative way to study the neural mechanisms of normal and diseased brain states.

In closing, it is important to keep in mind that these recent innovations in genetic manipulation tools for rats do not mean the end of the lab mouse (Fig. 3.2). The hope is that by acknowledging and understanding the differences between species, the resources used in the past decades in studies, using mice as model organisms, will not be wasted and that both rodent species, rats and mice, will continue to be used in parallel, with a rational conceptual frame of reference based on objective features of comparative pathophysiology (rather than physiology). Only then could mouse and rat models take their real place in neuropsychiatric research along with other experimental approaches and in vitro (i.e., primary cultures, iPSC from affected individuals) studies before commencement of any human clinical trials.

4. Behavioural characterisation of a new rat model of Fragile X syndrome

4.1 Introduction

Over the last two decades, much has been learned about the pathophysiology associated to the loss of FMRP from mice and other model organisms of FXS (Chapter 1). Recent advances in techniques for manipulating genomes have allowed the generation of transgenic mammals other than mice. The recent generation of a rat model of FXS opens the door, not only to validate phenotypes across mammalian species, but also to address behavioural deficits (especially cognitive) using paradigms that are more challenging to address in mice. This cross-mammalian comparison, especially related to behavioural manifestations can be quite challenging if we take into account ethological differences between species (Chapter 3). The approach most likely to be used, to test the validity of new rat models is going to be the same as for any other previous model organism. Many candidate gene mutations, thought to be important for disorders, will be introduced in homologous rat genes and each mutant rat line will be evaluated for phenotypes analogous to the symptomatology of the human condition. Successful rat models should incorporate face validity (strong analogies to the pathophysiology of the human condition), construct validity (common biological underpinnings to the human disease, such as a genetic lesion or anatomical abnormality) and predictive validity (analogous system reaction to treatments which prevent or reverse symptoms in human patients) which is vital when testing the efficacy of new therapeutics (Silverman et al., 2010).

Choosing appropriate behavioural tests that are relevant to human neuropsychiatric disorders is not a trivial task. Certain symptoms may manifest only in humans or are inherently variable in severity. The same problem exists in the case of new rat models. In the case of *Fmr1* knockout rats, it is still not clear if common cellular and circuit pathophysiology with the mouse model leads to the same behavioural abnormalities. Therefore, this new model of FXS will enable us to directly examine whether common cellular dysfunction or behavioural outcomes of a genetic mutation are conserved across species.

4.2 The Fmr1 KO rat

The first rat model for FXS has been made available almost 5 years ago. Therefore, literature is still very limited; there are only seven published studies (including a study describing part of the work described in this thesis) looking into cellular, circuit and behavioural abnormalities in *Fmr1* knockout rats.

The first report by Hamilton and colleagues (2014), focussed on the behavioural characterisation of *Fmr1* KO rats. No significant differences were found between groups Fmr1 KO and WT rats, in a wide range of behavioural tasks but some behavioural abnormalities with relevance to autism were reported. Juvenile *Fmr1* knockout rats displayed reduced play behaviours during interaction with same genotype animals. This is interesting because contrary to mice, juvenile rats display a large repertoire of social and play behaviours (Thor & Holloway, 1984). No differences were observed in the three-chamber test, as all juvenile rats showed a strong preference for the "social" compartment, containing an unfamiliar stimulus rat. Moreover, a phenotype emulating repetitive behaviours was observed. Mutant rats chewed a wood block more. No cognitive or sensory processing abnormalities were reported except from small trends for enhanced PPI, indicating minor dysfunctions in sensory gating. The results in this first report are limited to only some subtle differences related to social and repetitive behaviour. *Fmr1* knockout rats do not seem to express a variety of behavioural deficits seen in the mouse model, but the rich behavioural of rats, like juvenile play (Wöhr & Scattoni, 2013), could reveal behavioural differences which indicate that this rat model will complement existing mouse models.

Two more studies examined deficits related to sensory processing, and specifically auditory stimuli (Engineer et al., 2014; Ruby, Falvey, & Kulesza, 2015). Engineer and colleagues reported that evoked potentials and spiking activity were significantly degraded in primary auditory cortex, anterior auditory field and the ventral auditory field in response to auditory stimuli. Further analysis revealed that activity in these brain areas contains significantly less information about sound identity in *Fmr1* knockout rats compared to wildtype littermates. Specifically, ventral auditory field which has been related to emotional regulation (Kimura, Imbe, & Donishi, 2010), showed the biggest differences. The second study examined morphology and neurochemistry in the auditory stem (Ruby et al., 2015). They reported that in absence of FMRP, specific neuronal types

have abnormal somatic and spine morphology, pointing to the fact that auditory dysfunction in FXS derive, at least in part, from malfunctioning brainstem circuits.

Another recently published study focussed on the postnatally developing visual cortex (Berzhanskaya et al., 2016a). They showed that the visual cortex of *Fmr1* null rats exhibits long periods of hyperactivity compared to wildtype littermates. Moreover, this hyperactivity was connected with reduced synchronisation of circuits in visual cortex, suggesting disrupted inhibitory function. As this thesis was being composed, another report from the same research group (Berzhanskaya et al., 2016b), showed that instead of the hyper-excitability previously observed, visual responses before eye-opening have reduced spike rates and an absence of early gamma oscillations, which is a marker for normal thalamic function at this age (Hartung et al., 2016). Surprisingly, despite this finding early in life, the developmental trajectory of visual responses in *Fmr1* null rats was found to be identical to wildtype littermates. Taken together these two studies suggest that early circuit deficits in this rat model of FXS have consequences on circuit function and are opposite those found in adults.

Lastly, another recently published study reported that FMRP loss leads to a dysregulation in reward processing in rats (Kenkel et al., 2016). Further behavioural analysis revealed that transgenic rats failed to discriminate a rewarding odour (almond) which is shown to elicit innate reward response in wildtype rats and a subsequent increased preference. These results provide support to evidence pointing to the reward system as a contributor to social deficits seen in individuals with FXS. The importance of this study apart from the results showing deficits in reward processing, is that it highlighted one of the advantages of rats as a translational model. Combining fMRI in awake rats with relevant behavioural assays in genetic rat models, represents an effective experimental approach that allows the identification of the effect of single gene mutations on neural circuits regulating emotion and cognition.

Taken together these studies suggest indicate that transgenic rats will complement existing mouse models, providing valuable insights into the pathophysiology associated with FMRP loss. Despite the diverse finding, it is obvious that cognitive deficits have been quite challenging to be identified so far in this new rat FXS model. This study is an attempt to characterise this rat model is the most thorough way possible within the limits of a PhD thesis. Behaviour was assessed on all three mainly affected trait groups in FXS: (1) anxiety/hyperactivity (2) social interactions/communication and (3) cognition. For each behavioural trait, more than one tests were used in an attempt to allow a more detailed characterisation of the model. While the majority of work presented in this chapter is focussed on the commercially available model of FXS on an albino Sprague-Dawley background strain, in the last section. I present work done on a custom made rat model with the same genetic lesion on *Fmr1* gene, but on a Long-Evans hooded background strain. Since the mouse model has shown background strain influences behavioural phenotype heavily (Corinne M. Spencer et al., 2011), we wanted to examine whether the cognitive deficits Sprague-Dawley rats display, persist across different strains.

4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Animals

Sprague-Dawley Fmr1 KO rat founders obtained from Sigma Advanced Genetic Engineering (SAGE) Labs (St. Louis, MO, USA), now part of Horizon Discovery, bred inhouse and kept in a 12h/12h light dark cycle. Female *Fmr1* heterozygotes were crossed to WT SD males (Charles River labs) to produce *Fmr1* KO and WT littermate controls. Offspring were genotyped using primers for Fmr1 lines. Fwd: 5'-TGGCATAGACCTTCAGTAGCC-3', Rev: 5'-TATTTGCTTCTCTGAGGGGGG-3'. WT rats produced a 400bp PCR product while *Fmr1* KO a 278bp (Figure 4.1A). DNA samples were obtained after alkaline lysis of tissue samples (~2mm ear clips) using 600µL NaOH 50mM per biopsy and incubating in 96 degrees for 40 minutes. 60µL of Tris 1M pH 8, were used to neutralise the pH of the solution. 1μ L of this sample was used for each PCR reaction.

Long Evans Hooded *Fmr1* KO rats, were obtained from Sigma Advanced Genetic Engineering (SAGE) Labs (St. Louis, MO, USA), now part of Horizon Discovery, bred inhouse and kept in a 12h/12h light dark cycle. Female *Fmr1* heterozygotes were crossed to WT LEH males to produce *Fmr1* KO and WT littermate controls. Offspring were genotyped using primers targeting the eGFP cassette in exon 1 of *Fmr1* gene Fwd: 5'-ACGTAAACGGCCACAAGTTC-3', Rev: 5'- ATGCCGTTCTTCTGCTTGTC-3'. WT rats produced no PCR product while *Fmr1* KO a 421bp. Primers targeting the genomic sequence either way of the eGFP cassette insertion site were used as positive control in a separate reaction; WT rats produced a 400bp PCR product while *Fmr1* KO nothing; the two reactions were run separately and the products from the same DNA sample were loaded on the same column (different well) on agarose gel (Figure 4.1B). All

experimental subjects were male and group housed (2–5 animals/cage) to avoid effects of isolation. Ad libitum standard laboratory chow was provided throughout experimental procedures. All experiments were done blind to genotype. Testing was always performed in during the light phase of the cycle. Prior to the start of the study, all experimental procedures were approved by the University of Edinburgh centenary services and abided by the Animal Care (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986.

4.3.2 Experimental Design

Six different cohort of animals were used for the experiments described in this chapter. Cohort 1 (9 WT and 9 *Fmr1* KO SD) was tested in USV analysis and a Reference and reversal task in watermaze. Cohort 2 (8 WT and 8 *Fmr1* KO SD) was tested in marble burying test. Cohort 3 (12 WT and 12 *Fmr1* KO SD) was tested in a Delayed Matching to Place task in watermaze. Cohort 4 (10 WT and 10 *Fmr1* KO SD) were tested in open field test and light/dark box. Cohort 5 (16 WT and 16 *Fmr1* KO SD) was tested in spontaneous exploration tasks and three chamber social interaction test (for the social interaction test only 14 from 16 animals of each group were used). Finally, cohort 6 (16 WT and 16 *Fmr1* KO LEH) was tested in spontaneous exploration tasks. Statistical analysis was done using IBM SPSS Statistics 22.0 and GraphPad Prism 6. All graphs were produced in GraphPad Prism 6.

4.3.3 Behavioural Assays

Open field test

Testing was carried out in wooden square arena (1x1 m) painted grey, under dimmed light. The walls were not vertical, but on a 45-degree angle in order to prevent shadow creation. No handling was carried out before testing, as it could have masked any anxiety phenotype. Rats' behaviour was recorded using an overhead camera, for 30min. The open field was cleaned with 70% ethanol between rats. Anymaze software was used to analyse subjects' behaviour.

Light/dark box

A wooden box with an enclosed (dark) and an open (light) compartment was used (light 40x50x30 cm; dark 40x30x30 cm). The two compartments were connected through an opening (8x8 cm). Rats were placed in the light compartment and let to explore the box

for 5min. Rats' behaviour was recorded using an overhead camera. A transition between compartments was recorded only when all 4 paws crossed the opening. The apparatus was cleaned with 70% ethanol between rats. Anymaze software was used to analyse subjects' behaviour.

Marble burying test

Testing was carried out as previously described (Deacon, 2006a). Transparent plastic cage (Tecniplast) (48x26.5x21 cm) was filled approximately 5 cm deep with wood chip bedding, lightly tamped down to make a flat, even surface. 15 black glass marbles were place in a regular pattern evenly spaced, each about 4 cm apart. Animals were placed in the cage for 2 h and the number of marbles buried (to 2/3 their depth) with bedding were recorder after 30 min and at the end of the experiment. Due to technical limitations rat behaviour was not monitored.

USV analysis

Dirty bedding was collected from cages containing males and transferred daily for seven days prior to the experiment, to cages containing stimulus females. This was done to ensure that the 14 females used would be receptive to male courtship (Moncho-Bogani et al., 2002). Oestrus in females was determined based on lordosis behaviour (Dulac & Torello, 2003; Kow & Pfaff, 1998). Every female was used maximum twice as stimulus to avoid decline in interest in males after repeated exposure. Apparatus was a transparent plastic cage (Tecniplast) (480x265x210mm). A microphone able to record in the ultrasonic frequency range (Avisoft-Bioacoustics) was placed approx. 10 cm above experimental cage on holding hand and connected to a computer running the appropriate acquisition software (Avisoft-RECORDER). Camera was placed next to experimental cage in order to record courtship behaviour. Male subjects were independently housed for 1 hour before the experiments, in cages outside the experimental room. Females were in a separate room from males. Each male was placed in the experimental cage approx. 15sec before female. USVs were recorded during a 3min interaction session between a male and female and for additional 3min after the stimulus female was removed from the cage. Males were weighed before the experiment as vocalisations' frequencies are heavily influenced by weight. Due to the special nature of the dataset, data analysis was primarily carried out by Dr Caterina Michetti Prof Maria Louisa Scattoni using Avisoft-SASLab Pro (Avisoft-Bioacoustics). Probability of vocalizations within each strain was calculated as number of calls in each category for each subject/total number of calls analysed in each subject and standardized by angular transformation (M. L. Scattoni, Ricceri, & Crawley, 2011).

Social interaction task

The backbone of this protocol is based on previously described experiments (McKibben, Reynolds, & Jenkins, 2014). The apparatus was rectangular box divided into three equally sized chambers (each chamber 21×63×45 cm; total size 63 ×63×45 cm). An overhead camera was used to record animal behaviour. The central chamber was connected to the left and right cambers with doors. Right and left chambers contained a wire mesh cylindrical enclosure (18cm diameter). Juvenile stimulus SD rats (n=8) (Charles River Laboratories, UK), complete strangers to the experimental subjects, were be habituated for 20 min to placement in a wire cage 24 h before testing. These rats were counterbalanced across genotypes and their location in the left vs right side chamber were counterbalanced between trials and tested rats. Each of them was not used for more than 2 rats in a row, as their loss of interest in the experiment animal would introduce bias. The experiment is divided in to three stages: Stage 1-Habituation; The test rat was placed in the middle chamber and allowed to explore only this chamber for 10 min. Barriers were place in the two doorways leading to the right and left chamber. Stage 2-Social interaction: following habituation, a stimulus rat (stranger 1), that had no prior contact with the experimental rat, was placed in one of the side chambers enclosed in the wire mesh cylindrical enclosure that will allow nose contact. An empty, but otherwise identical wire cage was placed in the opposite chamber. The experimental rat was placed in the middle chamber and was allowed to explore the entire arena for a period of 5 min. This step was repeated two more times to test social habituation. Stage 3-Social novelty preference; Following stage 2, the experimental rat will return to the centre chamber. With stranger1 (now familiar) retained in the arena, a second, unfamiliar rat (stranger2) was placed in the empty wire cage in the opposite chamber. The subjects were allowed to explore the entire arena again for a period of 5 min. Between the stages, rats were transferred in to a holding bucket for 3 min and the maze was cleaned with 70% ethanol. Time spent sniffing the wire cages was recorded online using in-house developed scoring software (multitimer). For each session a Discrimination Index DI [(time exploring social chamber—time exploring empty or familiar rat chamber)/(time exploring both chambers)] was calculated.

Spatial reference memory and reversal in watermaze

Subjects were trained in three stages in a 2 m diameter water maze containing a 12 cm escape platform (Fig 4.2). First, rats were trained for 3 days on the visible platform version of the water maze (4 trials/day, 15 min ITI, extra-maze cues obscured, platform location moved each trial). In the second stage, extra-maze cues were visible and rats received one daily hidden-platform training session for seven consecutive days; each session began with a reinforced probe trial, followed by three training trials separated by a 15 min ITI. For probe trials, an Atlantis platform (Spooner et al., 1984) was raised to 1.5 cm below the water surface 1 min into the trial; for standard trials the platform was raised throughout. Each trial lasted a maximum of 2 min; rats failing to escape were guided to the platform. All rats remained on the platform for 30 s before removal from the pool. The third (reversal) stage was identical to the second, but the platform was relocated to the opposite side of the pool. Path length performance is plotted in meters (m) was compared to account for differences in swim speed. For probe trials, target crossings during the first 60 s were quantified.

Delayed matching to place in watermaze

Subjects were trained on a modified version of a DMP task in the water maze (Steele & Morris, 1999). The protocol for both pre-training and delay phases were the same; the platform was hidden in a novel location on trial 1 of each day and then remained in this place for trials 2–4, on which rats could use rapidly encoded place memory to reach the escape platform efficiently. The different platform locations were located on an inner ring (0.8-m diameter) or outer ring (1.4 m) concentric with the pool. Each trial lasted a maximum of 2 min; rats failing to escape were guided to the platform. All rats remained on the platform for 30 s before removal from the pool. All four start positions were used daily in an arbitrary sequence, to discourage egocentric strategies. During the first phase, rats received two 4-day blocks of pre-training (4 trials/day, 15 s ITI, extra-maze cues visible, platform location moved each day). In the second phase, rats received 15 days of delay training during which three different ITIs (15 s, 15 min or 2 h) were introduced between trials 1 and 2 (5 days of each ITI); for one of the 5 days at each delay, trial 2 of the day was run as a probe trial with an Atlantis platform (Spooner et al., 1984) raised to 1.5 cm below the water surface 1 min into the trial; for standard trials the platform was raised throughout. Probe trial performance was calculated as the percent time spent in a 20 cm diameter zone around the centre of the platform location during the first 60 s.

Perseveration index indicates the difference between the percent time spent in the previous day's target zone and the current day's target zone during the first 60 s of the probe trial.

Spontaneous exploration tasks

Subjects underwent object recognition (OR), object place (OP), object context (OC) and object place context (OPC) tasks as previously described (Langston & Wood, 2010). Animals were tested in a rectangular box $(76 \times 45 \times 60 \text{ cm tall})$ that could be configured as either of two contexts (by changing floor/wall inserts). An overhead black and white camera was used to monitor the movement of the rat around the testing arena. The video signal was fed into a TV monitor on the desk of the experimenter. A computer ran an inhouse timing program (National Instruments, LabView) whereby depression of a key on the computer keyboard would activate a timer. This was performed manually by the experimenter who observed the behaviour of the rat via the TV monitor and recorded the amount of time the rat was engaged in exploration (Fig. 4.3 A&B). To confirm that no bias was introduced, since the experimenter was not blind to object novelty identity, a second independent scorer, blind to genotype, object identity and task rescored portion of trials (96 trials) and scoring was compared yielding a very high correlation (Pearson r =0.91, p <0.001) (Fig 4.3 C). Training included a 5-day habituation period during which rats familiarize themselves with the apparatus, the two different contextual configurations of the testing arena, the type of objects that would be placed in the arena during testing and the locations in which these objects would be placed. Each day, rats were brought into the testing room in their home cage, which was placed on a bench near to the testing apparatus. Following the habituation, rats were tested on object recognition tasks (associative and non-associative) in the morning. On each trial, rats to be tested were removed from its home cage and placed in the holding bucket on a stool next to the testing apparatus. Appropriate objects were cleaned with 70% ethanol solution and attached at the appropriate locations in the testing box configured as either context 1 or context 2 (counterbalanced across rats). Rats were placed into the box facing the wall from the side opposite to the object positions and were let to explore the objects. Exploration was defined as the rat being within 2 cm of an object, directing its nose at the object and being involved in active exploration such as sniffing or whisking. Sitting on or next to an object without any signs of active exploration was not included. After 3 min subjects were removed from the box at the same point from which they entered.



Figure 4.1 Injection of targeted Zinc finger nuclease (ZFN) mRNAs resulted in the respective loss of FMRP in Sprague-Dawley (SD) and Long-Evans Hooded (LEH) rats. Diagram of ZFN left and right homology arms (HA-L, HA-R) cleavage sites (selection) for the **(A)** commercially available Fmr1 KO SD rats and **(B)** custom made Fmr1 KO LEH rats. Note that the open reading frame of *Fmr1* gene has been interrupted in exon 1 by a eGFP gene cassette in the case of LEH rats and in exon 8 by a 122 bp deletion in SD rats. Using primers flanking the deletion region, the wild type and deletion alleles yield readily distinguishable PCR amplicons in SD rats**(A)**. In the case of LEH **(B)**, two reactions with two different primer sets were used for each DNA sample. One primer set flanking the insertion region gives a product of 400bp only for WT rats and another primer set targeting the eGFP gene was used to confirm the KO rats. The agarose gell used in this case had two combs in different positions; the two PCR products for a given rat were loaded in the upper and lower sections of gel (In the example upper for primers targeting *Fmr1*, lower for primers targeting eGFP) Furthermore primer dimers seem to be to be two close to the approx. 400bp products because if the short duration of electrophoresis.

(A)



(B)

Figure 4.2 Experimental setup (A) and acquisition software (B) used in watermaze experiments.



Figure 4.3 Experimental setup **(A)** and acquisition software **(B)** used in spontaneous exploration tasks. Correlation of scoring between the main scorer (scorer 1) and an independent scorer (scorer 2). The values on both axis are ratios of scored exploration times between left and right object **(C)**.

During the retention interval of 2 min rat were returned to the holding bucket while the experimenter prepared the box for the next part of the trial. The floor and walls of the box were removed, cleaned and replaced in the appropriate context configuration. For OC and OPC recognition a second sample in the opposite context with appropriate objects followed. New objects were cleaned and placed in the box. For the test phase one object was a third copy of the two objects seen in the sample phase while the other object was completely novel. The test phase was carried out using exactly the same procedures as the sample phase. After the test phase, the rat was returned to its home cage. Rats received 2 trials (one/day) on each of the four tasks (order OR, OP, OC, OPC, OPC, OC, OP, OR), with 3 min sample phases, a 2 min retention interval and a 3 min test phase. For each test phase, a Discrimination Index DI [(time exploring novel object—time exploring familiar object)/(time exploring both objects)] was calculated. Trials in which a subject did not reach at least 10 sec of exploration for each object in the sample phase and 15 sec of total exploration in the test phase were excluded from the analysis.

For the second group of spontaneous exploration tasks (Object displacement {OD} and Object recognition, short and long term memory tasks) a different square arena was used (60x60x50 cm). Subjects were habituated for 5 days to the new apparatus. Rats received again 2 trials (one/day) on each of the four tasks [order OR (2min ITI), OD (2min ITI), OD (2min ITI), OD (2min ITI), OR (2min ITI), OD (24h ITI), OR (24h ITI), OR (24h ITI), OD (24h ITI)], with 3 min sample phases, a 2 min retention interval and a 3 min test phase for the short term memory tasks, and 5 min sample phases, a 24 h retention interval and a 3 min test phase for long term memory tasks. Object displacement assesses spatial memory requiring allocentric representation of space therefore on all sessions, the rats will enter the testing box pseudo-randomly from one of the corners of the box.
4.4 Results

4.4.1 Fmr1 KO rats exhibit normal activity and anxiety levels

To determine whether Fmr1 KO rats experience the elevated activity and anxiety levels seen by many researchers in the mouse model of FXS (Santos, Kanellopoulos, & Bagni, 2014), we used three widely utilised tasks, open field test, light/dark box test and marble burying test. No differences were found between genotypes in any of these tests.

Open field test

We measured the total distance travelled and found no difference between groups $(WT:160.8 \pm 11.6 \text{ cm}; \text{ K0}:172.6 \pm 8.8 \text{ cm}; \text{ t18} = 0.81, \text{ p} = 0.43 \text{ Fig. 4.4A})$. In attempt to examine whether there are different patterns in the exploratory behaviour between groups we analysed the distance travelled in 5 min epochs across the total 30 min of open field testing. We found no statistically significant main effect of genotype indicating that, overall, Fmr1 KO rats did not have abnormal activity compared with control rats (time epoch F(5,90) = 96.86, p < 0.001; genotype F(1,18) = 0.649, p = 0.43; genotype × time epoch F(5,90) = 0.87, p = 0.50; Fig. 4.4B). The significant effect of time and the absence of interaction with genotype, indicates that both Fmr1 KO and control littermates displayed a burst of activity while exploring a novel environment, which steady decreased as a response to habituation to the environment as testing progressed. Another measure assessing activity levels is mean speed (Walsh & Cummins, 1976). The mean speed was found to be almost identical between the two groups (WT: $0.089 \pm$ 0.006cm/sec; K0:0.096 ± 0.005cm/sec; t18 = 0.81, p = 0.43 Fig. 4.4E). We also found no statistically significant effect of genotype when we examined mean speed in different epochs (time epoch F(5,90) = 96.75, P < 0.001; genotype F(1,18) = 0.658, p = 0.43; genotype × time epoch F(5,90) = 0.87, p = 0.50; Fig. 4.4F). Max speed did not reveal any differences between groups either (data not shown). In order to assess possible anxiety phenotypes in open field we analysed the movement of animals into different area zones (Bailey & Crawley, 2009). An outer zone 30cm wide was set in the analysis software (Anymaze). Again no differences were seen in the total distance spend in the outer area $(WT:158.8 \pm 11.5 cm; K0:170.1 \pm 8.7 cm; t18 = 0.79, p = 0.44 Fig. 4.4C)$ and when we looked the profile over time (time epoch F(5,90) = 101.1, p < 0.001; genotype F(1,18) =0.623, p = 0.44; genotype × time epoch F(5,90) = 0.87, p = 0.50; Fig. 4.4D). Analysis of other areas (i.e. corners) or number of transitions between them did not yield any differences between groups either (data not shown).

Light/dark box test

The light/dark box test utilises the innate aversion of rodents to intensely illuminated spaces and on their spontaneous exploratory behaviour in response to mild stressors, like novel environment (Hascoët & Bourin, 2009; Hölter et al., 2015). Analysis of time spent in the two compartments revealed a main effect of compartment but no significant effect of group and no interaction indicating that both groups behaved similarly (compartment F(1,36) = 10.96, p = 0.002; genotype F(1,18) = 0.0, p > 0.99; genotype × compartment F(1,36) = 0.033, p = 0.86; Fig. 4.5A). The number of transitions between the two compartments was also identical between the groups (compartment F(1,36) = 0.47, p = 0.499; genotype F(1,18) = 0.0, p > 0.99; genotype F(1,36) = 0.298, p = 0.59; Fig. 4.5B).

Marble burying test

The marble burying test is thought to be assessing repetitive and perseverative behaviours but it also heavily influenced by novelty induced anxiety (Deacon, 2006; Thomas et al., 2009). In response to an aversive stimulus rodents are likely to engage into a burying behaviour, commonly referred to as "defensive burying" (Poling, Cleary, & Monaghan, 1981). Taking into account previous report showing repetitive behaviours in Fmr1 KO rats (Hamilton et al., 2014) we wanted to examine if marble burying could reveal similar phenotypes. Analysis of number of marbles left uncovered by sawdust in two time points revealed a significant main effect of time but no significant effect of genotype (time F(1,14) = 29.34, p < 0.001; genotype F(1,14) = 2.01, p = 0.178; genotype × compartment F(1,14) = 0.059, p = 0.82; Fig. 4.5C).

4.4.2 Fmr1 KO rats display minor communication and social interaction deficits

The second main group of behaviour traits we assessed was social communications and social interactions. The three chamber social interaction task and analysis of ultrasonic vocalisations (USVs) have been used extensively to explore social deficits in models of neurodevelopmental disorders (Wöhr & Scattoni, 2013). Both tasks revealed mild deficits in social interactions which are consistent with previous findings in the mouse model and in recently published work in the rat model of FXS.



Figure 4.4 Fmr1 KO rats exhibit normal activity and anxiety levels in open field test. (A) Total ambulatory distance as well as distance travelled in 5 min epochs across the total 30 min of open field testing **(B)** revealed no differences between groups. Distance travelled in the periphery of the testing apparatus **(C)** as well as its profile across the testing **(D)** confirmed that Fmr1 KO rats experience normal anxiety levels. Hyperactivity was further assessed by analysis of the total average speed and speed profile across the total 30 min of open field testing confirming similar activity level between groups.



Figure 4.5 Fmr1 KO rats experience normal anxiety level and show no repetitive behaviours. Light/dark box testing revealed no differences in time spent between the two apparatus compartments **(A)** and equal number of transitions **(B)** between Fmr1 KO and wildtype rats. **(C)** Marble burying test confirmed that novelty-induced anxiety and repetitive behaviours are not augmented in Fmr1 KO rats.



Figure 4.6 Fmr1 KO rats display subtle social interaction deficits. (A) Fmr1 KO rats tend to explore less a stimulus rat over 3 repeated sessions, showing a steeper decline in their interest in the last two sessions. **(B)** Averaging exploration between all three sessions reveals a genotype difference in social preference. Both Fmr1 KO **(C)** and WT rats **(D)** show preference to the social stimulus. Both groups show good memory for a social stimulus (E) and both preferentially explore a novel conspecific rather than a familiar juvenile rat (F). *p<0.05



Figure 4.7 Fmr1 KO rats display minor communication deficits in social interaction task. Subjects used have similar body weight **(A)**. Social investigation of female in oestrous was almost identical between groups **(B)**. Total number of vocalisations over the two phases of testing revealed that Fmr1 KO rats vocalise less compared to their wildtype littermates **(C)**. Comparison of different categories of calls **(D)** produced by the two groups revealed no differences in the probability of each type of call irrespectively of the female presence **(E)**. *p<0.05

Three chamber social interaction task

Previous work by Hamilton and colleagues (Hamilton et al., 2014) showed that Fmr1 KO rats exhibit reduced play behaviours during adolescence but the show a strong preference, equal to wildtype littermates, to a social stimulus over an object in three chamber social task. We wanted to see if repeated exposure to the same social stimulus would lead to any differences in social habituation. For that reason, instead of a single exposure subjects were presented with the same stimulus juvenile rat three times (Fig 4.6). Analysis of the preference index revealed that Fmr1 KO rats overall have a lower interest in the social stimulus than their wildtype littermates (session F(2,52) = 7.8, p =0.0011; genotype F(1,26) =6.52, p =0.017; genotype × session F(1,14) = 0.519, p = 0.598; Fig. 4.6A). When values for each animal were averaged across the three sessions KO animals clearly showed a diminished interest (WT: 0.48 ±0.027; KO: 0.34 ±0.056; t26 = 2.29, p = 0.031; Fig. 4.6B). Nevertheless, both groups showed a strong preference for the social stimulus, over the three sessions (all multiple t-tests p <0.01 Bonferroni corrected; Fig 4.6 C, D). In order to explore possible social memory deficits, we used a fourth session; an unfamiliar rat was introduced to the chamber and the subjects were tested in their ability to recognise a novel over a familiar rat. Both groups of rats showed strong preference for the novel social stimulus (WT t26 = 6.47, p < 0.001; KO t26 = 5.52, p <0.001; Fig. 4.6 F) and there were no differences between groups in their preference for the unfamiliar social stimulus (WT: 0.55 ±0.078; KO: 0.43 ±0.084; t26 = 1.02, p = 0.32 Fig. 4.6E).

USV analysis

Rats have a very rich repertoire of vocalisations ranging from fear-induced vocalisations to vocalisations specific to mating behaviour. As a result, it is thought that analysis of these vocalisations during different social paradigms could reveal deficits in rodent models of human conditions which include communication deficits (Wöhr & Schwarting, 2013). We used the male courtship paradigm which has been previously used in rats (McGinnis & Vakulenko, 2003) and in the mouse model of FXS (Rotschafer et al., 2012). The paradigm consists of two phases; first a stimulus female on oestrous interacts with a male subject and then the male is recorded while being alone in the testing apparatus. The weight of animals is known to affect vocalisation frequency (Wöhr & Schwarting, 2013), so subject were weighed before the experiment and no differences were found between genotypes (WT: 377.1 ± 9.49 ; KO: 363.8 ± 8.39 ; t20 = 1.05, p = 0.31 Fig. 4.7A).

The interactions between the female stimulus and the subjects were analysed and classified. No differences were seen in any of the types of interactions examined (type of interaction F(2,48) =95.12, p <0.001; genotype F(1,16) =0.55, p =0.46; genotype × type of interaction F(2,48) = 0.36, p = 0.697; Fig. 4.7B). Analysis of the mean number of vocalisations, during both phases of the paradigm, revealed a significant effect of genotype (female presence F(1,32) = 18.82, p < 0.001; genotype F(1,16) = 6.61, p = 0.042; genotype × female presence F(1, 32) = 0.21, p = 0.650; Fig. 4.7C). Although there was an overall genotype effect, the total number of calls was no significantly different between genotypes (p =0.075, data not shown). For that reason, a detailed analysis of seven different categories of calls was carried out (Fig. 4.7D, E) in order to examine whether loss of FMRP in rats causes limited and call-type specific deficits in ultrasonic vocalization (Roy, Watkins, & Heck, 2012). No differences were observed in any of the different categories of calls with either female present (call type F(6,112) = 95.21, p <0.001; genotype F(1,16) =0.292, p =0.9712; genotype × call type F(6,112) = 2.87, p = 0.224; Fig. 4.7E), or male subjects alone (call type F(6,112) = 54.98, p < 0.001; genotype F(1,16) =0.007, p =0.566; genotype × call type F(6,112) = 2.21, p = 0.067; Fig. 4.7E).

4.4.3 Watermaze tasks reveal normal spatial memory in Fmr1 KO rats

To start addressing whether the loss of FMRP leads to impaired cognitive function in rats, we employed two tasks in the widely used watermaze apparatus (Morris, Garrud, Rawlins, & O'Keefe, 1982). The first is a spatial reference memory and reversal task which has been used to assess memory and cognitive flexibility in the mouse model of FXS (Santos et al., 2014). The second is delayed matching-to-place (DMP) task, which is a rather unusual version of the watermaze protocols in which rats (or mice) learn to escape to the hidden platform which is moved to a new location daily and performance is recorded across many days or weeks (da Silva, Bast, & Morris, 2014). Neither of these hippocampus dependent tasks revealed any differences in cognitive performance between groups (Till et al., 2015).

Spatial reference memory and reversal task

This task assays the ability of subjects to learn to navigate a circular pool using distal cues to locate a hidden, submerged escape platform. During the first phase of the task, both Fmr1 KO and wildtype rats showed a progressively decreased path length needed to reach the platform (training day F(6,96) = 21.89, p < 0.001; genotype F(1,16) = 1.66, p

=0.22; genotype \times training day F(6,96) =0.56, p =0.76; Fig. 4.8A). Moreover, the time spent in a zone around the platform location during probe trials across days increased (training day F(6,96) =10.30, P <0.001; genotype F(1,16) =0.04, p =0.85; genotype × training day F(6,96) =0.66, p =0.68; Fig. 4.8C). This data indicate that spatial learning and memory is equivalent between genotypes and that Fmr1 KO rats have intact spatial navigation capacity. To assess cognitive flexibility, rats then underwent a reversal learning task during which the platform was moved to the opposite side of the pool; the decrease in overall path length (training day F(6,96) =27.58, p <0.001; genotype F(1,16) =0.48, p =0.50; genotype × training day F(6,96) = 1.68, p = 0.13; Fig. 4.8B) and the increase in time spent in the new platform location zone (training day F(6,96) = 14.8, P <0.001; genotype F(1,16) <0.001, P =1; genotype × training F (6,96) =1.18, p =0.32; Fig. 4.8D) reveal a comparable learning of the new platform position between genotypes. Although analysis of cognitive parameters revealed no difference in learning in either of the two the phases of the task, swimming speed was significantly increased in Fmr1 KO during the reference memory phase (training day F(6,96) = 4.54, P <0.001; genotype F(1,16) =6.52, p =0.02; genotype × training day F(6,96) =1.43, p = 0.21; Fig. 4.8E) but not during reversal (training day F(6,96) =6.67, p <0.001; genotype F(1,16) =2.93, p =0.11; genotype × training day F(6,96) =0.61, P =0.72; Fig. 4.8F).

Delayed Matching to Place (DMP) task

To explore further the effects of FMRP loss in behavioural flexibility, we used a DMP task which is similar to the spatial reference memory task of water maze except that the location of the hidden platform location is updated daily (da Silva et al., 2014) (Fig. 4.9). This assay assesses the ability of an animal to learn a new location of a hidden platform in a single trial as measured by its performance in the following three trials. During the eight days of the pre-training phase, both Fmr1 KO and wildtype rats showed similar decreases in path lengths taken to escape over trials 2–4 compared with the first trial of the day (trial FD1-4(3,66) =21.19, p <0.001; genotype FD1-4(1,22) =0.21, p =0.65; genotype × trial FD1-4(3,66) =0.86, p =0.47. trial FD5-8(3, 66) =19.10, p <0.001; genotype FD5-8(1,22) =0.23, p =0.64; genotype × trial FD5-8(3,66) =0.18, p = 0.91 Fig. 4.9A). During the second phase, variable time delays were introduced between the first and second trials of each day [15sec, 15min or 2h inter-trial intervals (ITI)]. Although the task was made substantially more demanding, both Fmr1 KO and control rats performed similarly at each ITI as measured by their path lengths to escape (trial F15sec(3,66) =115.2, p <0.001; genotype F15sec(1,22) =0.45, p =0.51; trial × genotype F15sec(3,66)

=1.14, P =0.34. trial F15min(3,66) =91.6, p <0.001; genotype F15min(1,22) =2.04, P =0.17; trial × genotype F15min(3,66) =0.56, P = 0.64. trial F2hr(3,66) =85.93, p <0.001; genotype F2hr(1,22) =0.17, p =0.69; trial × genotype F2hr(3,66) =1.23, p = 0.30; Fig. 4.9B). A reduction in path length between the first and second trial of each day known as 'savings' reflect the learning from a single trial. The savings from trials one to two again did not reveal any differences between groups (delay F(2,44) =4.77, p =0.01; genotype F(1,22) =2.58, p =0.12; delay × genotype F(2,44) =0.14, p =0.87; Fig. 4.9C). Probe trials, during the second trial, measuring time spent searching in the target zone of each day further confirmed analogous one-trial spatial learning between groups across all used ITIs (delay F(2,44) =4.27, p =0.02; genotype F(1,22) =0.34, p =0.56; delay × genotype F(2,44) =1.26, p =0.29; Fig. 4.9D). Analysis of the time spent in a zone around the platform location on the previous day (expressed in negative values) suggests no difference in cognitive flexibility and no signs of perseveration across genotypes (delay F(2,44) =2.07, p =0.14; genotype F(1,22) =0.61, p =0.44; delay × genotype F(2,44) =0.54, p =0.59; Fig. 4.9E).

4.4.4 FMRP loss leads to hippocampus-dependent, spatial and episodiclike memory impairments

To investigate further the effect of FMRP loss on cognitive function, rats were tested on a battery of spontaneous recognition memory tasks testing non-associative memory in object-recognition (NOR), spatial memory in object displacement (OD) tasks and associative memory in object-context (OC), object-place (OP) and object-place-context (OPC) tasks (Fig. 4.10 and 4.11). Interestingly, while no impairments were observed in most of the tasks, a very robust deficit was detected in the most complex OPC task which is hippocampus-dependent and involves the associative recognition of objects, their spatial locations and the local context (Eacott & Norman, 2004; Langston & Wood, 2010).



Figure 4.8 *Fmr1* **KO rats have normal spatial reference memory acquisition and reversal learning. (A)** *Fmr1* KO rats learn the hidden-platform version of the water maze similarly to WT littermates as measured by a decrease over days in the path taken to escape **(B)** and the time spent in a zone around the platform during daily probe trials **(C)**. Performance during reversal learning was comparable between genotypes as measured by path to escape **(B)** and the time spent in a zone around the new platform location, during daily probe trials **(D)**. **(E)** *Fmr1* KO rats swim faster than WT littermates over reference memory training but not over reversal **(F)**. *p<0.05



Figure 4.9 One-trial spatial learning is intact in *Fmr1* **KO rats. (A)** *Fmr1* KO rats learn the DMP task similarly to WT littermates as measured by a decrease in the path length taken to escape over trials within a day. Introducing a variable time delay between the first and second trials of the day does not affect performance of *Fmr1* KO rats compared with WT as measured by path length to escape **(B)**, savings **(C)**, time spent searching in the target zone on probe trials **(D)** or time spent around the location of the target on the previous day on probe trials **(E)**.



Figure 4.10 Loss of FMRP results in impaired performance on spontaneous object exploration task assessing episodic-like memory. On top: a schematic of the spontaneous exploration tasks for novelty preference. (A) WT rats exhibit memory for all four tasks as measured by above chance performance. In contrast, Fmr1 KO rats do not perform above chance levels in an OPC task that requires the ability to form associations between objects, their locations and the context, but do exhibit memory for the individual components as measured by above chance performance in object recognition, object-place and object-context tasks. Object exploration in sample (B) and test phase (C) of the tasks is similar between the two genotype groups. * p<0.05 difference from chance (DI =0) # p<0.05 difference between genotypes



Figure 4.11 Fmr1 KO rats show impairment in long-term spatial object memory. On top: a schematic of the spontaneous exploration tasks for novel object and object displacement tasks. **(A)** Both groups have intact short and long-term object memory. WT rats exhibit memory for spatial object memory at both short and long delays while Fmr1 KO rats show only short term spatial memory **(B)**. Object exploration in sample **(C)** and test phase **(D)** of the tasks is similar between the two genotype groups. * p<0.05 difference from chance (DI =0)



Figure 4.12 Hooded rats are considered more suitable for behavioural testing due to their increased innate curiosity for novelty.

Short term non-associative and associative spontaneous exploration tasks

These four tasks assessed the subjects' ability to discriminate novel from familiar objects, and novel from familiar object-context, object-place and object-place-context associations over a short (2 min) delay. Both groups showed significant memory in NOR, OC and OP tasks but only wildtype rats performed above chance in OPC task (WTNOR: 0.37 ±0.03, t15 = 11.26, p <0.001; WTOC: 0.28 ±0.03, t15 =8.88, p <0.001; WTOP: 0.28 ±0.06, t15 =5.03, p <0.001; WTOPC: 0.22 ±0.04, t15 =5.32, p <0.001; KONOR: 0.42 ±0.04, t15 =11.20, p <0.001; KOOC: 0.18 ±0.04, t15 =4.93, p <0.001; KOOP: 0.21 ±0.05, t15 =4.1, p =0.004; KOOPC: 0.07 \pm 0.03, t15 =2.21, p =0.17; all values Bonferroni corrected Fig. 4.10A). Fmr1 KO rats showed a decreased preference for novelty in OC and OP tasks compared to their wildtype littermates, but only in OPC there was a significant difference between groups (NOR: t120 =0.88, p =0.85; OC: t120 =1.69, p =0.32; OP: t120 =1.26, p =0.61; OPC: t120 =1.26, p =0.04; all values Bonferroni corrected). In order to confirm that this finding was true memory deficit rather than an effect of impaired encoding we analysed the exploration time during the sampling phase of the tasks. We saw that both groups interacted with object on a very similar level indicating that the observed deficit is not due to poor encoding (task F(3,120) =1.2, p =0.32; genotype F(1,30) =0.18, p =0.67; task × genotype F(3,120) =0.92, p =0.43; Fig. 4.10B). We further analysed the exploration time during the test phase of the tasks in order to see if the observed impairment in OPC task is due to decreased interest in the objects. Although we found a main effect of task, no differences between groups were detected (task F(3,120) =1.87, p =0.039; genotype F(1,30) = 0.05, p = 0.83; task × genotype F(3,120) = 0.58, p = 0.63; Fig. 4.10C).

Short and long term spatial and non-spatial object memory

Taking into account the OPC deficit and the fact that no differences between genotypes were observed in the hippocampus dependent watermaze tasks, we want to assess spatial memory at both a short (2min) and along (24h) delay using object-displacement (OD) task. For OD task we used a different square testing apparatus, so in order to be sure that animals can perform in this new environment we used NOR as a positive control (Fig 4.11). Both Fmr1 KO rats their wildtype littermates performed significantly above chance in both delays in NOR task (WTNOR2min: 0.37 ± 0.03 , t15 = 11.26, p < 0.001; WTNOR24h: 0.26 \pm 0.04, t15 = 6.92 p < 0.001; KONOR2min: 0.42 ± 0.04 , t15 = 11.20, p < 0.001; KONOR24h: 0.19 \pm 0.03, t15 = 6.92, p < 0.001; all values Bonferroni corrected; Fig. 4.11A) confirming the intact object memory after FMRP loss. Although both groups

performed similarly in OD task at short delay (WTOD2min: 0.30 ±0.03, t15 = 10.07, p <0.001; KOOD2min: 0.19 ±0.04, t15 =4.27 p =0.002; all values Bonferroni corrected; Fig 4.11B), only wildtype rats performed above chance at a 24h delay (WTOD24h: 0.12 ±0.03, t15 = 3.73, p =0.008; KOOD24h: 0.06 ±0.03, t15 =1.95 p =0.28; all values Bonferroni corrected; Fig 4.11B). Despite this finding, no statistically significant differences were found in any of the two delays in either NOR or OD task (NOR2min: t30 =1.01, p =0.32; NOR24h: t30 =1.3, p =0.20; OD2min: t30 =2.17, p =0.16; OD24h: t30 =1.30, p =0.20; all values Bonferroni corrected). As previously, we also analysed raw exploration times during sample (task F(3,120) =1.4, p =0.26; genotype F(1,30) =3.59, p =0.061; task × genotype F(3,120) =0.08, p =0.97; Fig. 4.11C) and test phase (task F(3,120) =11.57, p <0.001; genotype F(1,30) =0.08, P =0.77; task × genotype F(3,120) =0.92, p =0.43; Fig. 4.11D) and found no differences in the exploratory behaviour between groups.

4.4.5 Spatial and episodic-like memory impairments persist across different rat strains

Following our findings that Fmr1 KO rats, on a Sprague-Dawley background, exhibit deficits in the OPC task, we explored whether the newly created Fmr1 KO Long-Evans-Hooded (LEH) rats exhibit the same deficit. The main goal was to determine whether the behavioural phenotype described previously persists across strains, since the mouse model of FXS has been shown to have many strain-specific behavioural phenotypes (Chapter 1). Previous research has shown that hooded rat strains are more suitable for behavioural testing than albino (Birch & Jacobs, 1979; Broersen & Uylings, 1999; Clemens et al., 2014) (Fig. 4.12); thus we were very pleased to discover in line with our previous findings in SD rats, LEH Fmr1 KO rats exhibit episodic-like (OPC) memory and spatial (OD) memory deficits.



Figure 4.13 LEH *Fmr1* **KO** rats are unable to remember object-place-context associations. On top: a schematic of the spontaneous object exploration. **(A)** WT rats exhibit memory for all four tasks as measured by above chance performance. In contrast, *Fmr1* KO rats do not perform above chance levels in an OPC task that requires the ability to form associations between objects, their locations and the context, but do exhibit memory for the individual components as measured by above chance performance in object recognition, object-place and object-context tasks. Object exploration in sample **(B)** and test phase **(C)** of the tasks is similar between the two genotype groups. * p<0.05 difference from chance (DI =0) # p<0.05 difference between genotypes.



Figure 4.14 LEH *Fmr1* KO rats show impairment in long-term object memory and reduced preference spatial novelty. On top: a schematic of the spontaneous exploration tasks for novel object and object displacement tasks. (A) Both groups have intact short object memory but only WT rats are able to remember object identities over a 24h delay. Both groups of rats exhibit memory for spatial object memory at both short and long delays while *Fmr1* KO rats show diminished preference for the displaced object at both delays compared to their WT littermates (B). Object exploration in sample (C) and test phase (D) of the tasks is similar between the two genotype groups. * p<0.05 difference from chance (DI =0) # p<0.05 difference between genotypes.

Short term non-associative and associative spontaneous exploration tasks

As described above, we used four tasks (NOR, OC, OP, OPC) to assess non-associative (NOR) and associative object memory (OC, OP, OPC) over a short (2 min) delay. As previously, both genotype groups showed significant memory in NOR, OC and OP tasks but only wildtype rats performed above chance in OPC task (WTNOR: 0.38 ±0.03, t15 = 14.18, p <0.001; WTOC: 0.33 ±0.03, t15 =11.44, p <0.001; WTOP: 0.32 ±0.03, t15 =10.23, p <0.001; WTOPC: 0.29 ±0.04, t15 =7.6, p <0.001; KONOR: 0.39 ±0.02, t15 =16.95, p <0.001; KOOC: 0.22 ±0.04, t15 =5.50, p <0.001; KOOP: 0.23 ±0.04, t15 =6.7, p <0.001; KOOPC: 0.08 ±0.03, t15 =2.79, p =0.06; all values Bonferroni corrected Fig. 4.13A). Although LEH Fmr1 KO rats showed again decreased preference for novelty in all three associative memory tasks, groups were significantly different only in OPC (NOR: t120 =0.10, p >0.99; OC: t120 =2.40, p =0.07; OP: t120 =1.99, p =0.18; OPC: t120 =4.55, p <0.001; all values Bonferroni corrected). The exploratory behaviour even though it was slightly different in LEH compared to SD, highlighting the strain differences in noveltyinduced behaviour (Clemens et al., 2014), it was almost identical between genotypes in both sample (task F(3,120) =17.63, p <0.001; genotype F(1,30) =0.39, p =0.53; task × genotype F(3,120) =0.25, p =0.86; Fig. 4.13B) and test phase (task F(3,120) =7.03, p <0.001; genotype F(1,30) =0.02, p =0.90; task × genotype F(3,120) =0.93, p =0.43; Fig. 4.13C), confirming that the observed deficit is not due to reduced encoding or luck of interest.

Short and long term spatial and non-spatial memory

LEH rats were also tested in the previously described tasks NOR and OD at both 2min and 24h delays (Fig 4.14). Testing in short 2min delay confirmed the results from the previous group of tasks (Fig 2.13), that the short term object memory in not affected by loss of FMRP (WTNOR2min: 0.49 ± 0.04 , t15 = 11.31, p <0.001; KONOR2min: 0.45 ± 0.03 , t15 = 15.93, p <0.001; Fig. 4.14A). On the other hand, only wildtype rats performed above chance in NOR at the 24h delay (WTNOR24h: 0.32 ± 0.02 , t15 = 13.67 P <0.001; KONOR24h: 0.08 ± 0.04 , t15 = 2.01, p =0.25; Fig. 4.14A). Furthermore, comparison between groups revealed a significant difference only at the 24h delay (NOR2min: t30=0.80, p =0.43; NOR24h: t30 = 4.65, p <0.001). In OD task Fmr1 KO rats performed significantly worse than their wildtype littermates at both delays (OD2min: t30 = 4.30, p <0.001; OD24h: t30 = 5.06, p <0.001) but both groups still performed significantly better than chance levels (WTOD2min: 0.36 ± 0.04 , t15 = 10.34, p <0.001; KOOD2min: 0.12 ± 0.04 , t15 =2.90 p =0.04; WTOD24h: 0.30 ± 0.02 , t15 = 12.96, p <0.001; KOOD24h: 0.11 ± 0.03 , t15 =3.57 p =0.01; all values Bonferroni corrected; Fig 4.14B) indicating that even though there is a difference in novelty preference, Fmr1 KO rats still have intact spatial object memory. Analysis of the exploration times revealed a main effect of task in both sample (task F(3,120) =7.89, p <0.001) and test phase (task F(3,120) =8.01, p <0.001) and a subtle genotype effect in test (genotype F(1,30) =4.57, p =0.03) but not in sample phase (genotype F(1,30) =1.89, p =0.17), and no significant interactions in either sample (task × genotype F(3,120) =1.62, p =0.19; Fig. 4.14C) or test phase (task × genotype F(3,120) =0.29, p =0.84; Fig. 4.14D).

4.5 Discussion

4.5.1 Fm1 KO rats exhibit distinct behavioural deficits

Recent developments in gene manipulation techniques have allowed genetic modification of mammalian species other than mice. The creation of rat models provides an invaluable opportunity of understanding the pathophysiology associated with the loss of FMRP, as well as providing cross-species validation of cellular dysfunction that will strengthen the relevance of genetic models of FXS to the human disorder. Part of the work presented in this chapter has been published on (Till et al., 2015) along with a first characterisation of cellular and plasticity abnormalities in this rat model of FXS. We find that *Fmr1* knockout rats recapitulate key aspects of hippocampal cellular and synaptic phenotypes associated with the loss of FMRP in mice, including elevated basal protein synthesis (Dölen et al., 2007), abnormal synaptic plasticity (Nosyreva & Huber, 2006) and alterations in the morphology of dendritic spines (Wijetunge et al., 2014) of hippocampal pyramidal neurons. From a translational scope, these phenotypes are commonly used to assess therapeutic efficacy for pharmacological reversal of FXSrelated symptoms (Michalon et al., 2012; Osterweil et al., 2013b) therefore the fact that they do persist in the rat model is important. Taking into account that the lineage which gave rise to the two species (mouse and rat) separate more than 12 million years ago, the commonality in cellular abnormalities validates the conceptual basis of theories underlying targeted approaches to therapies and their potential relevance to the human syndrome (Wijetunge et al., 2013).

In the first group of experiments we examined whether mutant rats exhibit any behaviours resembling the elevated anxiety and hyperactivity seen in humans affected by the disorder. Consistently with what Hamilton and colleagues had reported previously, no differences were observed in open field test that would indicate either elevated anxiety (time spent in the middle of open field), or hyperactivity (larger distance travelled). Light/dark box task did not reveal any difference between either. Some consider this task to be inadequate for identifying anxiety phenotypes in rats, based on the fact that rats are bolder when exploring a novel environment than mice (Hascoët & Bourin, 2009; Hölter et al., 2015). In our experiments, repetitive behaviours were assessed with the marble burying task (Deacon, 2006). This task is thought to access repetitive and perseverative behaviours but since the final readout is heavily influenced by novelty-induced anxiety and hyperactivity (Thomas et al., 2009), no differences were observed between groups. This result is somewhat contradicting to what Hamilton and colleagues (2014)have seen; they reported that *Fmr1* KO rats exhibit perseverative chewing behaviours when they are presented with a wood block.

Furthermore, we observed that a three-chamber social interaction test, which is commonly used to assess social interest in mice (Silverman et al., 2010), elicits a very strong preference for a social stimulus in rats. Despite the small genotype difference (Fig. 4.6A&B) both knockout rats and wildtype littermates demonstrated a strong preference for investigating the enclosure with the social stimulus (rat vs empty or novel rat vs familiar rat). This replicates previous work (Hamilton et al., 2014) showing that *Fmr1* KO rats have no differences in their preference for social stimuli in the three chamber social interaction task. The differences observed in social habituation, are consistent with absence of social odour recognition deficits (Hamilton et al., 2014); a task assessing social odour habituation is likely to support our findings (Yang and Crawley 2009). Interestingly we observed no effect in social memory test suggesting that the differences between mutants and control animals are very subtle and more demanding protocols are required in order to reveal deficits. Consistently with this idea Harony-Nicolas and colleagues (Harony-Nicolas et al., 2014) showed that by increasing the retention interval to 24h, Shank3 knockout rats (model for autism) are not distinguishing between familiar and novel conspecifics. The subtle difference we observed in USVs (Fig 4.7 C) are again consistent with previous findings (Hamilton et al., 2014) showing no differences in vocalisations between groups albeit in a different social paradigm (juvenile play). In our courtship paradigm, *Fmr1* KO rats displayed reduced vocalisations. Nevertheless, these small differences could may as well be because of limitations in our paradigm. The main limitation being our inability to differentiate between the female and male vocalisations.





Figure 4.15 Schematic illustration of organisational levels involved in manifested behaviour. On top **(A)** and **(B)** the behaviour depends mainly on two brain structures, at the bottom **(C)** and **(D)** a similar but different behaviour dependent on three structures. In the presence of a molecular event such as a genetic lesion, several molecular processes and events will be affected to a different extend **(B)** and **(D)**. Behaviours which require wider networks, are more likely to be affected as subtle abnormalities in each of the brain structures supporting it "accumulate", causing greater disturbances in the wider network. The intensity of grey is parallel to the disturbance of each system.

Recent studies have shown that contrary to what is widely believed, both female mice (Neunuebel et al., 2015) and rats (Börner et al., 2016) emit USVS in response to male

courtship. Therefore, it is plausible that the small difference we observe is due to females compensating for Fmr1 KOs' reduced vocalisation frequency. It would be interesting to analyse social communication in a number of other social and non-social paradigms, or even address the ontogeny of communication in *Fmr1* KO rats. Overall our results show a few consistent trends but no strong statistically significant differences in a number of parameters assessing communication and social interactions. This could simply indicate that experimental protocols and approaches used to assess the mouse model of FXS cannot be directly applied to rats. It is possible that adjusting some of these tasks by taking into account the ethological differences between the two species (rats have stronger memory expression, are more social etc.), will yield positive results.

Intellectual disability is a defining feature of Fragile X syndrome. Even though Fmr1 knockout mice show deficits (subtle non the less) in reversal learning in the watermaze (D'Hooge et al., 1997; Van Dam et al., 2000), this form of spatial learning is not affected by the loss of FMRP in rats. This is evidence that common cellular phenotypes in the hippocampus in *Fmr1* KO mice and rats are not mirrored by the same hippocampusdependent behavioural phenotypes. This result is consistent with previous work showing absence of deficits in hippocampus-dependent contextual fear conditioning in *Fmr1* null rats (S. M. Hamilton et al., 2014). One possibility is that these results parallel the scarcity of robust and reproducible across labs, cognitive deficit phenotypes reported for mouse models of FXS (Corinne M. Spencer et al., 2011). Another possibility is that since rats are natural swimmers (Whishaw, 1995), similar protocols used to reveal subtle deficits in *Fmr1* null mice are highly unlikely to do same for rats. In an attempt to answer this question, we decide used a more challenging paradigm in watermaze which has not been used in Fmr1 KO mice (Fig. 2.9). This one-trial spatial learning in a hippocampus- dependent DMP water maze task was also unaffected in *Fmr1* KO rats. These findings point to an intact flexible spatial learning in *Fmr1* KO rats. Dry land spatial working memory tasks have also failed to reveal a difference between genotypes (Supp. Fig. 1) (Asiminas et al., 2014). Additional experiments further probing spatial cognitive abilities in *Fmr1* KO rats are clearly needed. Maybe a more challenging reference and reversal protocol in the watermaze (1 trial/day) could reveal a deficit as it has been shown to be more sensitive previously (Nolan et al., 2004).

Interestingly, while spatial learning in watermaze tasks was found to be unaffected in *Fmr1* knockout rats, we found significant deficits in hippocampus-dependent associative

recognition memory, but not in other types of associative memory that do not require an intact hippocampus (Fig 4.10). Complete hippocampal lesions impair performance on the OPC recognition task but do not alter performance on OR, OP and OC (Langston & Wood, 2010). We find that adult *Fmr1* null rats are able to perform similarly to wildtype litter maters in the OR, OP and OC tasks, but not the OPC task. This episodic-like memory task that requires the hippocampus as well as intact prefrontal cortex-lateral entorhinal cortex connections (Chao et al., 2016) is the most complex of the object exploration tasks used here and requires binding of multiple associations to a coherent episodic representation. The fact that only OPC reveals a deficit might be simply because of its high complexity as a task. One other explanation lies on the fact that as a task requires a number of intact circuits working as a wide range network (perirhinal cortex-hippocampus-lateral entorhinal cortex-prefrontal cortex). It is plausible that subtle synaptic abnormalities in each of these brain structures "accumulate" causing greater disturbances in the wider network (Fig. 4.15).

Further to the episodic-like memory impairment, *Fmr1* knockout rats also exhibit spatial memory impairments in an object exploration task which examines allocentric spatial memory (OD) and depends on the hippocampus (Vogel-Ciernia & Wood, 2014). The fact that spatial memory deficits were not observed in any watermaze task but were observed in this spontaneous exploration task indicates that the differences between the very nature of the tasks can hide or a reveal an impairment. Spontaneous exploration tasks do not involve any training and they have a very naturalistic approach. Tasks like watermaze, in which good performance is a "life or death" situation push the system to compensate more efficiently. One could speculate that navigation tasks which involve training, direct the system's resources (rat brain) to focus on a certain "dimension" (i.e. find salient extra-maze cues). Object exploration tasks do not require any training; rats do not learn to expect any reward or any punishment. This approach does not put any pressure on the system to compensate to the same extent. Consistently with this idea Kentros and colleagues (2004) have shown that place cells in the CA1 area of hippocampus show increased place field stability when animals performed a navigational spatial task, compared to animals which were randomly foraging in the same apparatus. Since place cell stability has been associated with better memory (Dupret et al., 2010; Kentros et al., 1998) this supports the hypothesis that navigational spatial tasks like watermaze or T-maze may force the system to utilise mechanisms that could support this type of memory and potentially mask subtle circuit malfunctions.

Overall these data suggest that the loss of FMRP selectively affects a subset of hippocampus-dependent processes that include memory/binding of complex associations. Understanding how these differences arise will require a detailed analysis of the mechanisms by which cellular dysfunction affects neuronal circuit activity to ultimately control behaviour. Moreover, these differences highlight the fact that common cellular dysfunction across species can manifest in distinct behavioural phenotypes which may result from species ethological differences (Gerlai & Clayton, 1999).

4.5.2 Persistent cognitive deficits across background strains

One of the limitations of the mouse model has been the inconsistent and strain specific behavioural phenotype. Most behavioural studies on the mouse model of FXS have been conducted on a pure B6 or FVB strain (Kazdoba et al., 2014; Santos et al., 2014), though relatively recent studies have explored how behavioural phenotypes manifest in hybrid background strains (Corinne M. Spencer et al., 2011). Therefore, testing whether a rat model of FXS on a different background strain (LEH) expressed the same cognitive deficits was an obvious next step. Surprisingly, the two strains almost phenocopy each other in the spontaneous exploration tasks. These robust deficits in Object-place-context and Object-displacement memory, across rat strains, provide an assay against which potential therapeutics could be tested.

In summary, this study gives valuable insight into the deficits in episodic-like memory and spatial object memory associated with the loss of FMRP. Moreover, by demonstrating that the cellular pathophysiology associated with the loss of FMRP is shared between mice and rats (Till et al., 2015), we provide the foundation for interpretation of subsequent investigations of hippocampal function that utilises the biological and technical advantages rat models permit. As a result, rat-based disease models will like complement existing model organisms and together they could provide new insight into pathophysiology and behavioural manifestations of FMRP loss in humans.

5. *Fmr1* KO rats exhibit abnormal development of associative memory

5.1 Introduction

One of the main symptoms individuals with FXS display is pronounced developmental delays. Amongst the first clinical clues in children is delayed attainment of one or several developmental milestones; on average, boys with FXS can sit without support by the time they are 10 months of age and walk and talk at 20 months compared to 6-8 and 10-18 months for neurotypical children (Maes et al., 2000). Several studies have investigated the cognitive development in children and juveniles with FXS and revealed different profiles of delay for a wide range of behavioural traits, during different developmental stages. Starting from early childhood, although the rate of growth was found to be about half of that of typically developing children, boys with FXS progress normally in general cognitive and especially language development before age 7 (Bailey et al., 1998; Frolli, Piscopo, & Conson, 2014; Tonnsen et al., 2015). Interestingly Bailey and colleagues (2001) showed that ASD comorbidity severely slows down the development in all behavioural aspects examined (cognitive development, social development, language development, motor development). Studies looking at a broader age range normally reveal a decreased cognitive development during later childhood and adolescence. Gradually, affected children and adolescents display decreased improvement in raw scores on tests assessing cognitive function, compared to neurotypical peers (Hall et al., 2008), which subsequently translates to a decline in standardized IQ scores (Fisch, Simensen, & Schroer, 2002; Kover et al., 2013; Skinner et al., 2005). More specifically, children with FXS have been shown to display sharp decreases in IQ scores before ages 8 (Skinner et al., 2005), 10 (Dykens et al., 1989), and 11 (Fisch et al., 1996). These decreases have been shown to be followed by a potential stabilization in adolescence until at least age 14 (Skinner et al., 2005). Additionally, two longitudinal studies: one in a sample of children with FXS 3 to 11 years old (Cornish et al., 2013) and a second on children and early adolescents (6-16 years old) (Quintin et al., 2015), found greater improvements in working memory compared to attention skills. Therefore, these conflicting developmental trajectories of working memory and attention may be a signature of the cognitive developmental profile of children and adolescents with FXS.

Developmental delays and alterations during potentially critical developmental windows associated with the loss of FMRP have been studied using the *Fmr1* KO mouse model of FXS. A number of studies have reported a range of spine dysmorphologies or alterations in the pattern of synaptic protrusions and plasticity (Galvez & Greenough, 2005; Testa-Silva et al., 2012; Till et al., 2012; Wijetunge et al., 2014). These abnormalities are reported either during adulthood or more interestingly, around the second postnatal week, when both cortical and hippocampal areas undergo an extended synapse remodelling due to new functional circuit formation (Portera-Cailliau, 2012). Moreover, there are several reports of time-restricted changes in the thalamocortical circuit; namely increased NMDA to AMPA ratios and altered synaptic plasticity during the second postnatal week (Harlow et al., 2010). In addition to the deficits seen in the maturation of excitatory circuits, the development of local GABAergic inhibition is also delayed during the second postnatal week (Daw, Ashby, & Isaac, 2007) but it returns to wildtype levels by the start of the third (He et al., 2014). These phenotypes are in no way only a feature of this brain region; similar defects are displayed in other cortical and hippocampal regions (Meredith, Dawitz, & Kramvis, 2012; Pilpel et al., 2009), the amygdala (Vislay et al., 2013) and also in the other model organisms like the Drosophila model of Fragile X syndrome (Doll & Broadie, 2016; Gatto, 2009).

Besides the studies focussing on morphology and circuit function delays, there are a few focussing on biochemical/molecular evidence of a developmental abnormalities due to FMRP loss. For example, Lai, Doering and Foster (2016) examined the expression of neuroligins and neurexins in hippocampus and somatosensory cortex of *Fmr1* knockout mice. These transsynaptic proteins are key players in the maturation of two systems found to be affected by the loss of FMRP: glutamatergic (Bear et al., 2004) and GABAergic (Paluszkiewicz, Martin, & Huntsman, 2011). They observed a decrease in neurexin 3 expression in area CA1 of the hippocampus on two different postnatal days (P14 and P21) and in CA3 area only on P14. No statistically significant differences were observed for neuroligins. These changes might be linked to the delay in maturation of glutamatergic projections, seen in Fmr1 knockout mice (Harlow et al., 2010). Moreover, the levels of certain important metabolites have been shown to be altered in the hippocampus of Fmr1 knockouts (Gruss & Braun, 2001; Shi et al., 2012). More specifically, the levels of myo-inositol were found to be decreased on postnatal day 30 and taurine was increased in all ages tested (P18, 21, 30) (Shi et al., 2012). Taurine, which is an inhibitory amino acid derivative, is present in high concentrations in the developing brain and decreases with age (Kulak et al., 2010). The observed increase in taurine level could therefore reflect a delay in the maturation of hippocampus. An alternative interpretation is that this difference is a part of a compensatory system mechanism, in response to excessive mGluR signalling; taurine has been shown to protect against the effects of glutamate excitotoxicity in vitro by stabilizing calcium concentration in the cytoplasm to basal levels (A El Idrissi & Trenkner, 1999). Direct comparison between the aforementioned studies can be very difficult due to differences in imaging or electrophysiological techniques used (Wijetunge et al., 2014), age, brain region, and statistical analyses (Nimchinsky et al., 2001). Nevertheless, these studies, indicate that the effects of FMRP ablation are widespread and affect brain development heavily.

What is obviously missing from the studies reviewed so far is a connection with behaviour, showing delays in related behavioural domains like memory (connection to hippocampus development deficits) or sensory integration (somatosensory cortex). The only two studies which have reported behavioural delays come from Yun and colleagues (2006) and Lai and colleagues (2014), who studied startle response and ultrasonic vocalisations (USVs) respectively. In the first study, researchers showed that Fmr1 knockout mice showed a different developmental trajectory in their startle response, specifically after the 4th postnatal week. These results are somewhat consistent with abnormal developmental plasticity seen in primary auditory cortex of *Fmr1* knockouts (Kim et al., 2013). The second behavioural study focussed on pup USVs, which are considered a valid way to model communication deficits seen amongst individuals with FXS. Lai and colleagues (2014) used the maternal separation paradigm and recorded pup vocalisations in three different ages (P4, P7 and P10). They reported that *Fmr1* knockout pups showed an increased number of USVs compared to wildtype controls at P7 but not at P4 or P10. Moreover, Fmr1 knockout mice displayed a developmental shift in the temporal distribution of vocalisations, with P10 mice calling in distinct patterns.

The lack of behavioural studies focussing on cognitive development in *Fmr1* knockout mice is evident, and there are a number of factors which have led to this. A plausible reason is that the model's unreliable cognitive phenotype (see 1.3) has discouraged researchers from attempting such laborious longitudinal studies. Another explanation lies within the very nature of the cognitive tasks routinely used in rodents; previous experience. Most of the widely used learning and memory tasks assessing cognition in rodents shape the behaviour of subjects drastically, even from the first exposure/testing

(i.e. watermaze, radial maze). Therefore, the performance profiles seen cannot be easily interpreted; improved performance on a subsequent time-point could be the effect of previous knowledge rather than a genuine behavioural recovery. Moreover, these strong, behaviour shaping experiences could abolish effects previously seen on physiological and biochemical studies. Of course the way around this stumbling block would be to conduct cross-sectional instead of longitudinal studies with the main limitation being the inability to observe the emergence of certain behaviours within the same group of subjects.

The spontaneous object exploration tasks previously described (see Chapter 2), rely on the innate preference of rodents for novelty, and do not require any training/conditioning which could drastically affect behaviour. The only parameter that could slightly affect performance is that repeated exposures to the testing apparatus and experimenter will lead to increased habituation. Recently Lyon and Langston (2014) reported that Lister Hooded rats display distinct developmental trajectories across the four object exploration tasks described in the previous chapter (NOR, OC, OP, OPC). Weaning rats, we able to perform above chance in the simplest of the four tasks (NOR), from the first time tested (P25). Object-context recognition was shown to come online at P34, and surprisingly rats developed the ability to remember both OP and OPC associations, acutely on P48.

Two of the advantages of rat over mouse model (Chapter 3) are their larger size and the fact that they can be handled much more easily. These are especially relevant to studies focussing on the cognitive development in weanling rats. Moreover, in a recent review article Semple and colleagues (2013) highlighted some of the brain development milestones and drew parallels between humans and rodents. After carefully reviewing existing literature, the authors suggested that despite the obvious enormous difference in the time scale of development between the species, the sequence of key milestones in brain development are generally quite consistent between humans and rodents.

Taken together, the advantages of spontaneous object exploration tasks in longitudinal studies, the advantages of rats as models of neurodevelopmental disorders and the similarities in brain developmental milestones between rats and humans, offer a great opportunity to study developmental trajectories in subjects that will allow a more dynamic account of how certain cognitive skills and deficits emerge in FXS.

The aim of this study is to assess the performance in the four spontaneous object exploration tasks throughout postnatal development, to examined whether *Fmr1* KO display normal developmental trajectories or exhibit any delays. Taking into account that these four tasks depend on different neuronal circuits, the exact pattern of delay would highlight circuit specific delays and give insights into brain areas which are mostly affected by the loss of FMRP.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Animals

Subjects were male Sprague-Dawley rats (wild-type {WT}, n=16; *Fmr1*-KO {KO}, n=16), bred in-house and kept in a 12h/12h light dark cycle. Colony founders were produced by Sigma Advanced Genetic Engineering (SAGE) Labs (St. Louis, MO, US). Ear biopsies for genotyping and identification purposes were collected on postnatal-day 14 (P14). Large litter sizes were adjusted between P10-P15 to approximately 8-10 pups in order to ensure as equal as possible maternal care during infancy (Masís-Calvo et al., 2013). Animals were weaned from their mother at (P21) (Fig. 5.1) and housed in mixed genotype cages with littermates, 4 animals per cage. Animals were provided with water, sawdust bedding and either a gnawing block of wood and/or a cardboard tube as environmental enrichment throughout the experiment. Ad libitum standard laboratory chow was provided throughout the experiment. Testing was always performed in during the light phase of the cycle. Prior to the start of the study, all experimental procedures were approved by the University of Edinburgh centenary services and complied with the Animal Care (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986.

5.2.2 Apparatus

Testing pparatus was identical to the one used in Chapter 4 for the four spontaneous exploration tasks previously described (Object {NOR}, Object-Context {OC}, Object-Place {OP} and Object-Place-Context recognition {OPC}) (Till et al., 2015). In brief; the apparatus consisted of a rectangular box with removable walls and floor inserts that could conform to two distinct contexts. Positions of objects were the same throughout the experiment. The box was placed on a table surrounded on 3 sides by a black fabric curtain, with one opening at the south side of the box (where subjects were placed). An

overhead light and yellow rectangular cue hanging for the black curtain were placed, (and stayed the same throughout testing), on the north west and northeast corners of the environment, serving as extra-maze cues. A variety of objects were used which had to be reasonably sized, non-porous, easily cleaned with wet wipes and not easily pushed over. Each object was only used once per animal. Objects were cleaned between trials with 70% ethanol solution and baby wipes.

5.2.3 Habituation/Testing

Staring from P18 (3 days before weaning), animals were handled daily in the animal house and experimental room for 5 days prior to experiments. Task-specific habituation occurred during the two days prior to testing (P23-24). On P23, the animals were habituated to both contexts in cage groups (30 minutes per context) in the morning and individually in the afternoon (10 minutes per context). Between exposures to contexts, rats were place in a holding bucket which was also used during testing. On P24, animals were habituated twice (morning and afternoon) individually but this time 2 different objects were placed in the positions in which subjects would encounter objects during testing (10 minutes per context, with objects); these objects were not used again during testing. Testing started on P25 and continued for 45 days (P71). Testing time points were 5-7 days apart except from the last two time points (P61 and P70) (Fig 5.1). In order to be able to access performance within restricted developmental time windows the testing battery described previously (Chapter 4) was compressed into a 2-day protocol for each time point. In the morning of the first day, subjects were tested in OR and during the afternoon in OC recognition. In the morning of the second day OP task took place and OPC in the afternoon (testing protocol modified from Lyon & Langston, 2014). All four tasks were carried out exactly as described before (Chapter 4).



Experimental timeline



Figure 5.1 This study used weanling rats and monitored their performance in spontaneous exploration tasks from postnatal day 26 until early adulthood (P71) to explore developmental delays in the model of FXS (Cartoons of rats taken from McCutcheon & Marinelli 2009).

5.2.4 Statistical analysis

As descried previously, a Discrimination Index DI [(time exploring novel object—time exploring familiar object)/(time exploring both objects)] was calculated for each test phase. The only difference was that the criterion for data exclusion was less stringent than previously since the repeated testing of (4 tasks in 2 days) had a slight impact on the subjects' interest for objects. For this experiment, trials in which a subject did not reach 15 sec of total object exploration in both the sample and the test phases and at least 5 sec of exploration for each object in the sample phase, were excluded from the analysis. This criterion is stringent enough to exclude animals who were not interested, but to include animals that explored for an adequate amount of time overall and had experienced both objects. Groups' performance in all testing time points was compared to chance levels (unless stated otherwise), and false discovery rate during multiple comparisons against chance levels, was corrected using the Benjamini–Hochberg procedure (Benjamini & Hochberg, 1995) with the false recovery rate set to 0.05. Statistical analysis was done using IBM SPSS Statistics 22.0 and GraphPad Prism 6. All graphs were produced in GraphPad Prism 6.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 *Fmr1* KO rats show significant memory for objects throughout development

Both groups displayed significant object novelty preference in the NOR task in all testing time points used in this study (P25-P70) (Fig 5.2 A&B, Table 5.1&5.2). These results indicate that rats as young as 25-days-old can learn object identities and retrieve this information after a short 2min retention interval. Compared to adult testing were subjects were tested in each task twice and the average value was used for analysis, each time point of this study has only one testing session for each task. This difference can explain the increased variability observed across time points. Analysis of exploration times during both sample phase (Supp. Fig. 2A) and test phase (time $F_{(7,210)} = 12.41$, p <0.001; genotype $F_{(1,30)} = 1.85$, p =0.18; genotype × training day $F_{(7,210)} = 0.33$, p =0.94; Fig. 3.2C) revealed that even though exploration levels are fluctuating during the course of the experiment, both groups explore objects at a similar level.



Figure 5.2 Intact object memory in *Fmr1* **KO rats.** Both wildtype **(A)** and *Fmr1* KO rats **(B)** can distinguish novel from familiar objects from the first time-point of testing. **(C)** Exploration time between the groups was similar throughout the experiment. * p<0.05 difference from chance (DI =0); significance values have been controlled for the false discovery rate using the Benjamini–Hochberg procedure.



Figure 5.3 Developmental trajectory of object-context memory is largely unaffected by FMRP loss. Wildtype rats can distinguish novel from familiar object-context associations from P37 onwards **(A)** while *Fmr1* KO rats **(B)** show a very similar developmental profile, performing above chance from P43 onwards. **(C)** Overall Fmr1 KO rats did explore the objects more but post hoc analysis revealed that the only time point with significant difference between groups was P55. For **(A)** and **(B)*** p<0.05 difference from chance (DI =0); significance values have been controlled for the false discovery rate using the Benjamini–Hochberg procedure. For **(C)** * p<0.05 difference between groups


Figure 5.4 *Fmr1* **KO rats display a delay in the developmental trajectory of object-place associative memory.** WT subjects develop the ability to remember object-place associations on postnatal day 50 **(A)**. *Fmr1* KO rats start perform significantly above chance almost 2 weeks after (P62) **(B)**. Exploration time between the groups was similar throughout the experiment except from testing on postnatal day 56 when Fmr1 KO rats showed a significantly increase exploration compared to littermate controls **(C)**. Focussing on the two testing points before and after the emergence of OP **(D)**. For **(A)** and **(B)*** p<0.05 difference from chance (DI =0); significance values have been controlled for the false discovery rate using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure. For **(C)** and **(D)** * p<0.05 difference between groups



Figure 5.5 *Fmr1* **knockout rats are unable to discriminate novel from familiar object-place-context associations. (A)** WT rats show a developmental profile of performance similar to OP task, with OPC emerging at postnatal day 50. In contrast, *Fmr1* KO rats' ability to discriminate novel from familiar object-place-context (episodic-like) associations does not develop (B). Exploration time between the groups was similar throughout the experiment **(C)**. Focussing on the two testing points before and after the emergence of OPC **(D)**. For **(A)** and **(B)*** p<0.05 difference from chance (DI =0); significance values have been controlled for the false discovery rate using the Benjamini–Hochberg procedure. For **(C)** and **(D)** * p<0.05 difference between groups

5.3.2 *Fmr1* KO rats show similar object-context memory developmental profile to wildtype littermates

The developmental trajectory of object-context associative memory seems to be largely unaffected by FMRP loss (Fig 5.3) Even though *Fmr1* KO rats display a slightly delayed trajectory (Fig 5.3B) compared to wildtype littermates (Fig. 5.3A) we cannot be certain about the precise developmental trajectory due to high variability. The ontogenetic emergence of object-context associative memory seems to happen sometime between P32 and P37 (Table 5.1&5.2). Analysis of exploration times during test phase revealed significant fluctuation (time $F_{(7,210)} = 6.77$, p <0.001) across different time points; moreover *Fmr1* KO rats were found to explore more than their wildtype littermates (genotype $F_{(1,30)} = 7.36$, p =0.01; genotype × training day $F_{(7.210)} = 4.54$, p <0.001; Fig. 5.3C) but *post hoc* t-tests revealed that the only time point when there was a group difference was at P55 (P <0.001). Analysis of exploration times during sample phase revealed no genotype effect (Supp. Fig. 2 B).

5.3.3 *Fmr1* KO rats display a delay in the developmental trajectory of object-place associative memory

Object-place associative memory was found to be significantly delayed for *Fmr1* KO rats (Fig. 5.4). Wildtype rats can perform significantly better than chance from P50 onwards (Fig. 5.4A, Table 5.1) whereas *Fmr1* Kos perform better than chance only from P62 (Fig. 5.4B, Table 5.2). This significant delay could be interpreted as a delay in the development of plasticity mechanisms supporting this type of memory. The ability of the subjects to discriminate between novel and familiar object-place associations seems to develop between P44 and P50 in wildtype controls. This finding contradicts previous work by Ainge and Langston (2012) who found that juvenile rats are able to remember this type of associations as early as P30. However more recently Lyons and Langston showed a surprisingly similar developmental trajectory in Lister Hooded rats, with OP coming online at P48 (Lyon & Langston, 2014). Focusing on the time points before and after the ontogenetic emergence of OP (P44 & P50) gives us a better idea of the abruptness by which this type of memory emerges (Fig. 5.4D). Even though there is not a significant difference between time for either WT (t_{15} =1.91, p =0.08) or *Fmr1* KOs (t_{15} =1.57, p =0.14), analysis of the individual subjects showed that 10 out of 16 WT rats (62.5%) increased performance between the two testing points whereas only 5 out of 16(31.3%)

Fmr1 KO rats did the same. Exploration times during test phase did fluctuate across different time points (time $F_{(7,210)} = 3.77$, p <0.001), and no differences were detected between groups (genotype $F_{(1,30)} = 3.49$, p =0.07). On the other hand, the interaction between the groups and time was found to be significant (genotype × training day $F_{(7.210)} = 2.72$, p=0.01; Fig. 3.4C) but *post hoc* 1-sample t-tests revealed that the only time point when there was a group difference was at P56 (p <0.001). Moreover, analysis of exploration times during sample phase revealed no genotype effect (Supp. Fig. 2 C).

5.3.4 *Fmr1* KO rats are unable to discriminate novel from familiar objectplace-context associations

Analysis of the developmental trajectory of object-place-context memory confirmed our previous findings (Till et al., 2015; Chapter 4) that *Fmr1* KO rats are unable to remember complex object-place-context associations, thus Fmr1 KOs are not able to perform significantly better than chance levels at any time point (Fig. 5.5B, Table 5.2). Interestingly, the normal emergence of OPC task is identical (at least or the testing times we used) with OP task (Fig. 5.5A, Table 5.1). Focussing on the testing times before and after the ontogenetic emergence of OPC (P44 & P50), in order to get a closer look at the changes on a single subject level, reveals that 11 out of 16 (68.8%) WT rats improved their performance between the two testing points whereas there were only 4 out of 16 (25%) *Fmr1* rats with the same change (Fig. 5.5D). Moreover, the performance of WT rats on P44 was significantly worse than on P50 (p =0.03, paired t-test) and as expected no significant difference was detected for Fmr1 KOs. Analysis of exploration times during both sample phase (Supp. Fig. 2D) and test phase (time $F_{(7,210)}$ =4.85, p <0.001; genotype $F_{(1,30)} = 0.56$, p = 0.46; genotype × training day $F_{(7,210)} = 1.1$, p = 0.36; Fig. 3.5C) revealed that even though exploration levels are fluctuating during the course of the experiment, both groups explore objects at a similar level.

| Time-point | Significance | NOR | OC | ОР | ОРС |
|------------|---------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| P25&26 | Uncorrected p | < 0.001 | >0.05 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | ** | | | |
| | B&H | * | | | |
| P32&33 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | >0.05 | < 0.05 | < 0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | ** | | | |
| | B&H | * | | | |
| P37&38 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | *** | | |
| | B&H | * | * | | |
| P43&44 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | *** | | |
| | B&H | * | * | | |
| P49&50 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.001 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | *** | *** | ** |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |
| P55&56 | Uncorrected | <0.001 | < 0.05 | < 0.001 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | ** | | ** | |
| | B&H | * | * | * | |
| P61&62 | Uncorrected | <0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.001 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | *** | *** | *** |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |
| P70&71 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.001 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | *** | *** | ** |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |

Table 5.1 Development statistical overview for WT rats. * p<0.05 for Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons; * indicates significance from chance levels of discrimination after controlling the false discovery rate using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure (B&H)

| Time-point | Significance | NOR | OC | ОР | ОРС |
|------------|---------------|---------|-----------|--------|--------|
| P25&26 | Uncorrected p | <0.01 | >0.05 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | | | | |
| | B&H | * | | | |
| P32&33 | Uncorrected | >0.05 | < 0.05 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | | | | |
| | B&H | | | | |
| P37&38 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | >0.05 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | | | |
| | B&H | * | | | |
| P43&44 | Uncorrected | < 0.01 | < 0.05 | < 0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | * | | | |
| | B&H | * | * | | |
| P49&50 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.05 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | ** | | | |
| | B&H | * | * | | |
| P55&56 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.05 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | | | |
| | B&H | * | * | | |
| P61&62 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.05 | < 0.01 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | | | |
| | B&H | * | * | * | |
| P70&71 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.05 | < 0.01 | < 0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | | * | |
| | B&H | * | * | * | |

Table 5.2 Development statistical overview for *Fmr1* **KO rats.** * p<0.05 for Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons; * indicates significance from chance levels of discrimination after controlling the false discovery rate using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure (B&H)

5.4 Discussion

The disussion of the findings in this study can focus on two different directions; the developmental trajectory of object recognition and associative memory in wildtype rats and second the developmental delays and deficits related to FMRP loss.

5.4.1 Distinct developmental trajectories in associative memory of wildtype rats

In this study we investigated the ontogeny of associative and non-associative object recognition memory in wildtype and *Fmr1* KO juvenile rats. We showed that rats can remember novel objects form the same time tested (P25) all the way to adulthood. Moreover, we found age-related improvements in memory for, object-context, object-place and object-place-context associations, and we observed that these age-related progression differs as a function of the type of association (Fig 5.6). Consistent with the complexity of the tasks used, different age-related performance was observed, implicating the development of processes facilitating binding operations to account, at least in part, for the development of associative memory in juvenile rats (McCutcheon & Marinelli, 2009). Both wildtype and *Fmr1* KO weanling rats were able to recognise object identities from the earliest time point tested (P25) (Fig. 5.2). This result is fundamental in the interpretation of findings from more complex types of memory involving objects. Being able to remember object identities throughout the experimental time points suggests that the different developmental trajectories observed for the other 3 tasks are not due to inability to distinguish novel from familiar objects.

Consistently with previous findings by Lyn and Langston (Lyon & Langston, 2014), in our study OC recognition appears to ontogenetically emerge between P32 and P37 in wildtype rats. Contrary to this finding, Ramsaran and colleagues (2016) found that juvenile rats can remember object context associations from P17 onwards. This could be an effect of their experimental design, since they only used a specific object pair of objects, whereas in our experiments a variety of object pairs was used. Interestingly, contextual learning using a contextual fear conditioning paradigm has been shown to develop between P17 and P23 (Foster & Burman, 2010). Although the fact that fear conditioning paradigms were used in these studies, makes the comparison with non-aversive spontaneous exploration task difficult, it is possible that the late development,

seen in our OC test, could be due to the need of binding two non-aversive relevant pecies of information. Two recent reports suggest that postrhinal (POR) and lateral entorhinal (LEC) cortices are key neural substrates for object-context associative memory (Wilson et al., 2013a; Wilson, et al., 2013b); thus, these findings would appear to support the idea that POR and LEC development, or more importantly the crosstalk between two areas, may be the bottleneck in the emergence of object-context memory.

To our knowledge, this is one of the first demonstrations of a developmental trajectory of OP and OPC memory in juvenile rats. Based on the time-points tested, OP and OPC recognition both develop sometime between P44 and P50 in wildtype rats. Further studies are required to pin down the exact age these two tasks develop; Lyon and Langston (2014 and Lyon personal communication) have already shown that those two tasks seem to develop acutely and simultaneously on P48. OP associative memory has been shown to involve LEC (Wilson, et al., 2013a), prefrontal cortex (Chao et al., 2016) and is likely to involve perirhinal (PER) cortex which is an important brain area for object memory (Norman & Eacott, 2005), whereas it doesn't require an intact hippocampus (Langston & Wood, 2010). OPC associative memory has been shown to involve PER and LEC, prefrontal cortex (PFC) (Chao et al., 2016) and hippocampus (Langston & Wood, 2010). Therefore, it is unlikely that hippocampus postnatal development is dictating the emergence of these two types of associative memory. After all, hippocampus has developed almost to its adult form by P21; plasticity mechanisms are in place, stable place fields have emerged and other hippocampus dependent tasks, like object displacement task, are online (Bayer, 1980; Bekenstein & Lothman, 1991a, 1991b; Langston et al., 2010; Westbrook, Brennan, & Stanton, 2014). Nevertheless, additional complexity in dendritic morphology and overall neuron structure continues to improve; density of dendritic spines reaches a maximum on P24 in the stratum moleculare and on P48 in stratum lacunosum (Pokorný & Yamamoto, 1981).

Based on our behavioural data and what is known about the postnatal hippocampus development, we can hypothesise that: (1) OPC emergence is probably dictated by the object-place component of the task and (2) and that prefrontal cortex postnatal development timeline is the reason of the late onset of these types of associative memory. But what is known for the postnatal development of PFC? In contrast to the postnatal development of hippocampus, PFC circuits appear to develop later in life, in a timeline consistent with our findings, and continue to mature until early adulthood.

Piontkewitz and colleagues found a dramatic increase in PFC volume between P35 and P46 (Piontkewitz, Arad, & Weiner, 2011) and a subsequent mild decrease between P56-90, consistent with synaptic pruning during adolescence (Andersen, 2003). Moreover, there is a sharp increase in trypsin/EDTA resistant cortical synapses between P35 and P49, indicating increase structural stabilisation (Khaing et al 2006). These findings fully agree with the observed ontogenetic development of OP and OPC recognition (Lyon and Langston 2014). Further to this volumetric study, the functional maturation of PFC has been suggested to occur between P40 and P60. A study looking at the development of brain areas underlying foraging behaviour in rats found that prefrontal cortex is not critically involved in food and water regulation until nearly 60 days of age (Kolb & Nonneman, 1976). More detailed analysis on the development of innervation of PFC revealed that dopamine D1 receptors, mainly expressed by pyramidal cells in cortical layers III and V, continue to increase in number after P35 until early adulthood (P60), while D2 and D4 reach adult levels of density from P35 (Tarazi & Baldessarini, 2000). In contrast, GABAergic neurons appear to complete their postnatal maturation by the fourth postnatal week but the slower progression in the development of dopaminergic system dictates the maturation in interactions between pyramidal cells and GABAergic interneurons (Benes, Taylor, & Cunningham, 2000). Normal expression and development of dopamine receptors could significantly influence maturation of synaptic structures, function and behaviour, and may play an important role in the organization and connectivity of cortical and hippocampal brain systems. Consistently with the hypothesis that the development of prefrontal dopaminergic system supports OP and OPC associative memory, a recent study showed that infusion of D1/D5 receptor antagonists in prefrontal cortex, but not hippocampus or perirhinal cortex, leads to impairments in an associative spatial object memory task (Savalli, Bashir, & Warburton, 2015).

The abruptness by which OP and OPC emerge should not be a surprise. Other types of memory show the same sudden manifestation, indicating the importance of finely tuned circuits before a behaviour appears (Languille, Richer, & Hars, 2010; Westbrook et al., 2014). In contrast to this hypothesis, studies have shown that even though spatial memory is in place just before P18 it certainly continues to improve (Adams & Jones, 1984). Thus, it is possible that behaviours (types of memory in our case) which rely heavily on a single structure could emerge gradually and be refined in the process (spatial memory-hippocampus). This hypothesis is supported by studies looking at the development of spatial representation system (Langston et al., 2010; reviewed by Ainge

& Langston, 2012). On the other hand, behaviours which require intact wide range circuits involving multiple brain areas, are more likely to show abrupt developmental emergence, simply because the circuits supporting these complex behaviours have to be fully refined. Thus, it is plausible that even though the hippocampus is functional relatively early in postnatal development, its ability to cooperate with other brain areas and integrate information from different memory and sensory systems emerges later and in a more gradual fashion depending on the neural circuits involved. This could explain why OPC recognition, which requires multiple brain areas including the hippocampus, emerges late in postnatal development.

5.4.2 *Fmr1* knockout rats display abnormal development of associative memory

The second major finding of this study is that *Fmr1* KO rats display delays in emergence of OP and performed no better than chance at any time point on OPC. This finding is consistent with cognitive delays seen in individuals with FXS (Bailey et al., 2001; Maes et al., 2000). While OR and OC memory development shows very similar profile between wildtype and knockout rats, differences are observed in OP and OPC. OP associative memory emergence appears to be delayed for 6-12 days and OPC memory was not observed at any time point, which is consistent with previously presented data from adult subjects (Chapter 4) (Till et al., 2015).

The vast majority of studies looking at rodent postnatal brain development have focused on the first four postnatal weeks, during which major changes take place, leading to the emergence of most basic behaviours (Hartung et al., 2016; Meredith, 2015; Sugar & Witter, 2016). The same lack of reports focussing on developmental events between the sixth and seventh postnatal week is also evident for the mouse model of FXS. Nevertheless, a handful of studies have yielded results which could be considered consistent with the idea that fully functional hippocampus, PFC and LEC are important for OP and OPC recognition. Moreover, knowledge based on adult *Fmr1* knockout mice could provide some hints on the processes which have gone awry due to FMRP loss. For example, Calabrese and colleagues (2013) have shown, using magnetic resonance histology, that hippocampus reaches its plateau volume around P50 while frontal cortex around P42. This is largely consistent with the trajectories we see in OP and OPC. Moreover, it has been shown that interneurons in the rat prefrontal cortex undergo a dramatic reduction in NMDA/AMPA ratio, a determinant of synaptic plasticity, just before the emergence of OP and OPC (P31-P49) (H.-X. X. Wang & Gao, 2009). This could be relevant to FXS, since several studies have shown that NMDA/AMPA ratios are generally lower in cortex (Gocel & Larson, 2012; Harlow et al., 2010; Martin et al., 2015) and hippocampus (Yun & Trommer, 2011); moreover, interneurons in other cortical areas display robust deficits in excitatory drive (Gibson et al., 2008). Studies focussing on biochemical biomarkers during postnatal development have also revealed some interesting changes supporting our hypothesis and might explain the differences between *Fmr1* knockouts and wildtype littermates. Counotte and colleagues (2010) examined the synaptic proteome in rat prefrontal cortex, and found that it undergoes vast changes between P44 and P78. Keeping in mind that FMRP is a translation regulator/suppressor, controlling various genes important for synaptic function (Darnell et al., 2011), it is obvious that these natural changes in synapse proteome during sensitive developmental periods are bound to be severely affected by the loss of FMRP, leading to permanent circuit dysfunction. Lastly, the dopamine-mediated neuromodulation in prefrontal cortex of adult Fmr1 KO mice has been shown to be decreased (Paul, Venkitaramani, & Cox, 2013; Ventura et al., 2004). It is plausible that this dysregulation could account for these observed deficits.

5.4.3 Looking forward

Cognitive processes are generally supported by finely tuned interactions within largescale neuronal networks. Performance in different cognitive tasks is obviously not inherited, but it progressively matures in parallel with the formation of functional circuits and long-range coupling in the developing brain. Overall the results of this study replicate the behavioural deficits of *Fmr1* knockout rats presented in Chapter 2 (Fig 5.7) confirming the robustness of this cognitive deficit. This study went a step forward; the use of this longitudinal paradigm revealed a delay in the ability to form OP associative memory which could not have been explored otherwise. This suggests that our approach can definitely expand our understanding of the pathophysiology associated with FXS but also other neurodevelopmental disorders. It would be interesting to see if other behaviours which appear to be unaffected during adulthood, have an abnormal developmental trajectory. Of course longitudinal studies will not be possible for a number of tasks (i.e. watermaze tasks) in which case a cross-sectional experimental design should be followed (McCutcheon & Marinelli, 2009). Different trajectories between different types of associative memory found in this study agree with studies in children, which have also shown different developmental profiles for item-item or item-order etc. (Lee et al., 2015); this offers additional face validity to our rat model but also validates this behavioural assay. Focussing only on the developmental profile of wildtype rats, we can easily see that there is a relatively long time period (P25-P50) during which circuits supporting complex types of associative memory (OP and OPC) undergo extensive reconstruction and improvement. It is possible that pharmaceutical interventions during these period of elevated plasticity, could maximise the therapeutic effects (Andersen, 2003; Meredith et al., 2012). Therefore, these behavioural tasks could serve as powerful functional assay to help us examine the efficacy of target-based therapeutics not only in reversing established circuit and behavioural deficits but more importantly preventing their emergence.



Figure 5.6 Distinct developmental trajectory in object memory tasks for WT rats. Significant preference for novelty appears first for NOR, then OC, and finally OP and OPC. (time: $F_{(7,420)}$ =11.31, P <0.001; task: $F_{(3,60)}$ =32.91, P <0.001; Time x task: $F_{(21,420)}$ =1.86, P =0.01).



Figure 5.7 *Fmr1* KO rats are unable to form coherent object-place-context memory associations. Average data across the last two time-points (P61&P70) confirm previous findings in adult rats. Despite a diminished preference for novelty in NOR and OP tasks compared to their wildtype littermates, *Fmr1* KO rats are able to remember object identities (A), object-context (B) and object-place associations (C), but their ability to remember episodic-like memories (D) is severely impaired. * p<0.05 difference from chance (DI =0) # p<0.05 difference between genotypes.

6. Lovastatin treatment early in life restores cognitive development in *Fmr1* KO rats

6.1 Introduction

Over the last decade, multiple studies have reported that it is possible to reverse symptomatology associated with neurodevelopmental disorders in model organisms (primarily mouse models) during adulthood. The approaches utilised pharmacological or genetic rescue strategies in adulthood in different mouse models for neurodevelopmental disorders including Down syndrome (Fernandez et al., 2007), tuberous sclerosis (Ehninger et al., 2008), Rett syndrome (Guy et al., 2007) and Fragile X syndrome (Dölen et al., 2007; Osterweil et al., 2013b). Although collectively, these studies have reported correction of a wide range of phenotypic anomalies in the mouse models used, individually, the overwhelming majority of studies have reported rescue of selected physiological and behavioural deficits, with some key aspects of pathophysiology remaining unaffected. Due to the nature of these disorders, the timing of intervention could be a vital parameter to the efficacy of a given treatment; therefore, early intervention approaches in these mouse models, are currently gaining attention. For example, acute dosing with appropriate drug in new-born TS65Dn mice (a model for Down syndrome) is adequate to correct some pathophysiological and behavioural phenotypes during adulthood (Das et al., 2013). However, as mentioned earlier the therapeutic effects were somewhat limited, leaving other cerebellar pathological phenotypes unaffected (Gutierrez-Castellanos et al., 2013).

An alternative strategy to target processes during early critical periods in brain neurodevelopment, is treatment late prenatally. For example, administration of bumetanide (Na+-K+-2Cl- co-transporter antagonist), 24h before delivery, to pregnant *Fmr1* Het female mice and to VPA pre-treated pregnant rats (non-genetic model for autism) restored a range of physiological and behavioural deficits: namely neuronal activity of pyramidal neurons in CA3 area of hippocampus, hippocampal oscillations and abnormal pup vocalisations (Tyzio et al., 2014). Interestingly, Wang and Kriegstein (2011) showed that the same treatment (bumetanide) can cause long-lasting deficits in excitatory synaptic transmission, developmental delay and impaired sensorimotor gating in wildtype control mice, if it is given during a narrow developmental time window from E17 to P7. Drawing parallels between species (Semple et al., 2013; Sengupta, 2013), these results could indicate that therapeutic interventions in comparable developmental stages in humans can have profound effects in pathophysiology of neurodevelopmental disorders but also highlight the importance of tight regulation in treatment applications during early development.

Other studies have gone a step further and compared different treatment timing. For example, it was shown that early pharmacological intervention in *Fmr1* knockout juvenile mice appears to be more efficient in correcting biochemical, physiological and cognitive deficits the same pharmacological treatment in adult subjects (Dansie et al., 2013; Su et al., 2011; Sun, Hongpaisan, & Alkon, 2016). The existence of time-windows sensitive to pharmacological treatment has also been reported in the Drosophila model for FXS. Gatto and Broadie (2010) reported that reintroducing the FMRP fly homolog during a critical phase in brain development led to correction of abnormal dendritic morphology. On the other hand, treatment in the adult fly or intriguingly even at an earlier stage of circuit formation was ineffective. Such experiment of timed genetic intervention, has not been translated to any other model organism of FXS but it is vital to determine if the effectiveness of treatment dependents on already defined critical periods and precise developmental stages. It appears that the weakness of treatment during adulthood or to generalise, any untimely intervention, is that the therapeutics could miss a sensitive period of elevated plasticity, important in behavioural development. If FXS is a lasting consequence of abnormal brain development with deficits in synaptic maturation, it is possible that early interventions with pharmacological agents facilitating synaptic maturation could achieve more dramatic results, unfolding in that way, the full potential of the therapeutics. Since FXS is a genetic syndrome with defined genetic aetiology, this is entirely plausible, considering that newborn screening for FXS is technically feasible (Flora Tassone, 2014).

It is obvious from the above that early detection and therapeutic intervention holds promise for maximizing the efficacy of treatment. Early interventions are likely to improve symptomatology in young children with FXS. However, adapting treatment approaches to this population requires elucidating the developmental trajectories of cognitive function during early childhood first. Another limiting factor when treating children is drug safety. Candidate therapeutics which have been used in children before and found to be effective, would significantly speed up the translation of preclinical data. It is important to keep in mind that only about 30 percent of drugs commonly prescribed to children today, have been thoroughly tested in children; even though this can be harmless, this is not always the case. For example, 60 years ago, the antibiotic chloramphenicol was commonly prescribed in adults. But many new-borns died after receiving the antibiotic because their livers were not developed enough to metabolise the drug efficiently (FDA, 2016).

A drug group which has been approved by FDA for child use is HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors, or statins. They have been in use since 1970s and are considered a first-line pharmacologic intervention for children with familial hypercholesterolemia (Eiland & Luttrell, 2010). Over the last decade, there is a growing interest in statins with regards to their effects on brain function (Ling & Tejada-Simon, 2016). Surprisingly, studies using preclinical models of numerous neurodevelopmental disorders including Rett syndrome, Fragile X syndrome (FXS), neurofibromatosis and tuberous sclerosis have shown that statin treatment can have really positive effects against a wide range of symptoms. These promising results have led to a number of clinical trials as well. For example, in disorders such as neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1), treatment with lovastatin reversed cognitive deficits in both a mouse model (Weidong Li et al., 2005) and children suffering from these disorders (Acosta et al., 2011; Bearden et al., 2016; Chabernaud et al., 2012; Mainberger et al., 2013). However, in a placebo-controlled trial, twelve weeks of treatment with a different statin (simvastatin) did not lead to any improvement in cognitive function of children with NF1 (Krab et al., 2008). In FXS, treatment with lovastatin has been shown to improve symptomatology. Fmr1 KO mice which were treated with lovastatin displayed normalized protein synthesis levels in hippocampus and reduced susceptibility for audiogenic seizures (Osterweil et al., 2013b). The promising results of this study led to an open-label study in 2014. Patients who received treatment showed a significant improvement in measured behaviour output (Çaku et al., 2014).

How is lovastatin mechanism of action connected to molecular cascades affected by FMRP loss? During the early 1990s, several research groups reported that one of statins indirect mechanisms of action includes reduction of Ras farnesylation and as a result the activity of two downstream kinases, ERK-1 and ERK-2, in cells (Ling & Tejada-Simon, 2016) (Fig. 6.1B). Interestingly, two decades after, it was shown that blockade of Ras-ERK-1/ERK-2 signalling cascade, decreased some biochemical markers associated with FXS in the mouse model of the disorder (Osterweil et al., 2010). Taken together these

findings suggest that statins could be part of treatment schemes against core defects associated with FXS, but it is still unclear whether they could be used as monotherapy or in combination with other mechanism-based therapeutics or behavioural treatments. Consistent with the later though, two ongoing trials of lovastatin are focussing in the combination of lovastatin and a behavioural intervention (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02642653) and combination of lovastatin and minocycline (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02680379).

While Osterweil and colleagues (2013) focused on epileptogenesis and showed that lovastatin can reverse audiogenic seizure susceptibility in *Fmr1* knockout mice, this study aims to examine the effects of early lovastatin treatment on cognitive deficits before these have even emerged. We hypothesised that treating subjects early in life during possibly sensitive periods of postnatal development, would have strong effects in their cognitive development. In the previous chapter I have shown that *Fmr1* KO rats exhibit cognitive delays and deficits in two associative memory tasks, Object Place (OP) and Object-Place-Context (OPC) (OP delayed, OPC does not develop). Moreover, I showed that wildtype rats develop the ability to remember these complex associations not before postnatal day 49, revealing a time window of approximately 1 month from weaning (P22-P49), during which circuits supporting these times of memory are still being developed.

Cognitive attention and working memory, although delayed in FXS, reveal a developmental change, rather than a "freeze" (Cornish et al., 2013). This indicates that the system is still plastic and has a potential to change drastically once the appropriate treatment is in place. Fish and colleagues (1994) showed that it is the cognitive deficits that lag the adaptive abilities in boys with FXS. Their adaptive behaviour is sometimes sufficiently high to challenge a mental retardation diagnosis. They found that adaptive behaviours decline as a function of age. More interestingly, the average social intelligence quotient (SQ), which is indicative of adaptive behaviour, for 3 to 8-year-old affected children, is relatively high (approx. 70) (SQ follows the 'standard score' approach used in IQ tests, with a mean of 100). We propose a treatment timeline (P29-64) which would catch this period of high adaptive behaviour and possibly the last week or so in brain development (approx. a month in a rat with a lifespan of 2 years is roughly equal to 3.3 years of brain development in humans; (Semple et al., 2013; Yoon et al., 2014) before phenotypes associated with FXS are established in our rat model (Chapter 5).



Figure 6.1 Experimental design and lovastatin mechanism of action. (A) Subjects were given a lovastatin enriched diet (100mg/Kg) (green) for 5 weeks (P29-P64) and tested once every week throughout this period (arrows). The same subjects were also tested approx. 5 weeks and 3 months after the end of the treatment. Throughout that period they consumed normal diet (blue). **(B)** Statins' mechanism of action and potential link to FXS pathophysiology. Based on this hypothesis, it is obvious that lovastatin acts fairly indirectly on the molecular cascades affected by FMRP loss. Its effects on cholesterol metabolism or protein farnesylation can also contribute to its therapeutic effects.

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Animals

Subjects were male Long Evans Hooded rats (wild-type {WT}, n=25 {13 treated and 12 untreated}; *Fmr1*-KO {KO}, n=24 {12 treated and 12 untreated} *), bred in-house and kept in a 12h/12h light dark cycle. Colony founders were produced by Sigma Advanced Genetic Engineering (SAGE) Labs (St. Louis, MO, US). Animals were weaned from their mother at postnatal-day 22 (P22) and housed in mixed genotype cages with littermates, 2-4 animals per cage. Animals were provided with water, sawdust bedding and either a gnawing block of wood and/or a cardboard tube as environmental enrichment throughout the experiment. Ad libitum standard laboratory chow was provided until P29. *Note that for the last two time points (P98-105 & P164-5) numbers of animals are different due to experimental error (wild-type {WT}, n=22 {11 treated and 11 untreated}; *Fmr1*-KO {KO}, n=20 {9 treated and 11 untreated}).

6.2.2 Experimental Procedures

All experimental procedures, data analysis and exclusion criteria are almost identical to those described in Chapter 5 except for some minor changes. In brief; starting from weaning (P22), animals were handled daily in the animal house and experimental room for 4 days prior to experiments. Task-specific habituation was reduced to the two days prior to testing (P26-27). On P26 and P27, the animals were habituated to the apparatus as described in Chapter 3. Testing started on P28 with OR and OC and P29 with OP and OPC. On the afternoon of P29 animals switched to either control or lovastatin-enriched (100mg/kg) (Bioserv®) diet which was restocked and weighed once daily. Testing continued every 7 days until P64. At P64, animals were returned to ad libitum standard laboratory chow until the end of experiment (P164). Two more testing points 5-6 weeks and 3 months after the end of treatment were carried out (Fig. 6.1A). Rats' weight and consumption per cage was monitored throughout the dosing period (P29-P64) to ensure that diet did not have any adverse effects on their growth. Objects were used only once and were counterbalanced across tasks, genotypes and time-points to eliminate any bias. Abiding by the ARRIVE guidelines (Kilkenny et al., 2010), experimenters were always blind to the genotype and the diet of the animals. Furthermore, all experimental conditions (position of the novel object, context of test phase, order of presented contexts etc.) were counterbalanced across genotypes, treatment, age and tasks.

6.2.3 Statistical analysis

As described previously, a Discrimination Index DI [(time exploring novel object—time exploring familiar object)/(time exploring both objects)] was calculated for each test phase. The only difference was that the criterion for data exclusion was less stringent than previously. As the repeated testing of (4 tasks in 2 days) had a slight impact on the subjects' interest for objects. For this experiment, trials in which a subject did not reach 15 sec of total object exploration in both the sample and the test phases and at least 5 sec of exploration for each object in the sample phase, were excluded from the analysis. This criterion is stringent enough to exclude animals who were not interested, but to include animals that explored for an adequate amount of time overall and had experienced both objects. Groups' performance in all testing time points was compared to chance levels (unless stated otherwise), and false discovery rate during multiple comparisons against chance levels, was corrected using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure (Benjamini & Hochberg, 1995). Due to missing data (rats didn't reach object exploration criteria), a mixed linear model with time as a repeated measure was used to examine the effects of the treatment. Statistical analysis was done using IBM SPSS Statistics 22.0 and GraphPad Prism 6. All graphs were produced in GraphPad Prism 6.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Lovastatin does not impede normal physical development of rats

A promising drug candidate should have minimal side effects on the physiology of the subjects receiving the treatment. To determine whether lovastatin treatment has negative impacts on normal growth, we tracked weight changes in rats while they consumed lovastatin enriched diet, daily for the course of the treatment (35 days) (Fig 6.1). Lovastatin did not affect normal weight gain in either WT (time $F_{(35,770)} = 1453$, p <0.001; treatment $F_{(1,23)} = 0.44$, p =0.51; treatment × time $F_{(35,770)} = 0.71$, p =0.89; Fig. 6.2A) or *Fmr1* KO rats (time $F_{(35,770)} = 1037$, p <0.001; treatment $F_{(1,22)} = 3.42$, p =0.08; Fig. 6.2B). Even though a significant interaction was found in *Fmr1* KO rats (treatment × time $F_{(35,770)} = 2.97$, p <0.001), *post hoc* t-tests revealed no significant differences between groups. The average food intake per subject was similar for both diets throughout the course of the treatment, with both treatment groups reaching a plateau in food consumption (approx. 29gr/day) after postnatal day 57 (time $F_{(14,476)} = 53.29$, p <0.001; diet $F_{(114)} = 1.33$, p =0.27; treatment × time $F_{(14,476)} = 1.68$, p =0.01; Fig. 6.2C) with *post hoc*

1-sample t-tests revealing no differences at any time point. Finally, analysis of the daily treatment intake revealed that there was a peak of approx. 15mg lovastatin/Kg rat, between P35 and P42 (before the emergence of object-place and object-place-context memory) for both WT and *Fmr1* KO rats but overall no effect of genotype (time $F_{(34,748)}$ =21.47, p <0.001; genotype $F_{(1,22)}$ =0.03, p =0.87; genotype × time $F_{(35,770)}$ =0.27, p >0.99; Fig. 6.2D).

6.3.2 Lovastatin does not affect normal cognitive development in Object and Object-Context recognition

Treatment with lovastatin early in life did not affect object recognition memory in either WT (time $F_{(5,112.7)} = 0.52$, p < 0.05; treatment $F_{(1,22.7)} = 0.52$, p = 0.48; treatment × time $F_{(5,112.7)} = 0.76$, p = 0.58; Fig 6.3A) or *Fmr1* KO rats (time $F_{(5,108.1)} = 0.40$, p = 0.85; treatment $F_{(1,21,2)} = 0.55$, p = 0.47; treatment × time $F_{(5,108,1)} = 1.12$, p = 0.36; Fig. 6.3B). Both treatment groups in both genotypes were able to perform significantly above chance levels from the first testing time point. Analysis of exploration times during both sample (Supp. Fig. 3A) and test phase (time $F_{(5,220)}$ =1.41, p =0.22; test group $F_{(3,44)}$ =0.99, p =0.40; test group × time $F_{(15.220)}$ =0.84, p =0.63; Fig. 6.3C) revealed no difference in exploratory behaviour as a result of treatment. Dividing the 6 testing times in 2 epochs (before and after the ontogenetic emergence of object-place and object-place-context memory) reduces the variability and confirms that object recognition memory is not affected by FMRP loss (genotype $F_{(1,45)}$ =1.21, p =0.28) and that lovastatin treatment does not affect performance (treatment $F_{(1,45)}$ <0.05, p =0.95; treatment × genotype $F_{(1,45)}$ =1.18, p =0.28; Fig. 6.3D). The performance of individual subjects shows clearly that there was no substantial improvement between the time points. Only 7 out of 13 (approx. 50%) WT untreated rats improved their performance but overall there was no statistical difference between the two epochs (t_{12} =1.42, p =0.17, paired t-test; Fig. 6.3E). On the other hand, WT rats who received treatment showed a small but significant improvement (t_{11} = 3.11, p =0.01, paired t-test;). Moreover, both untreated and treated *Fmr1* KO did not show any improvement (KO_{control}: t₁₁ =0.31, p =0.77; KO_{lova}: t₁₁ =1.10, p =0.29, paired t-test; Fig. 4.3F).

Object context developmental was not affected from lovastatin treatment either. Both genotype groups could perform significantly above chance from P35 onwards either they received control or lovastatin enriched diet (WT: time $F_{(5,114.4)} = 3.50$, p <0.01; treatment $F_{(1,22.7)} = 0.22$, p =0.65; treatment × time $F_{(5,114.4)} = 0.48$, p =0.79; Fig. 6.4A. *Fmr1* KO: time

 $F_{(5,106.7)}$ =2.25, p >0.05; treatment $F_{(1,21.6)}$ =1.83, p =0.19; treatment × time $F_{(5,106.7)}$ =0.51, p =0.77; Fig. 6.4B). Exploration did not differ between groups either in sample (Supp. Fig. 3B) or test phase of testing (time $F_{(5,220)}$ =4.35, p <0.001; test group $F_{(3,44)}$ =0.50, p =0.68; test group × time $F_{(15.220)}$ =0.66, p =0.82; Fig. 6.4C). Collapsed data points in two epochs (P28-42 & P49-63) confirm that there are no differences between groups in response to the treatment (genotype $F_{(1,45)}$ =0.33, p =0.57; treatment $F_{(1,45)}$ =2.0, p =0.16; treatment × genotype $F_{(1,45)}$ =0.44, p =0.51; Fig. 6.4D). Analysis of individual subject novelty preference verify our previous observations that object-context memory develops normally before P42 and that lovastatin does not alter this trajectory (WT_{control}: t_{12} =3.54, p <0.01; WT_{lova}: t_{11} =1.42, p =0.18; KO_{control}: t_{11} =0.53, p =0.61; KO_{lova}: t_{11} =0.99, p =0.34, paired t-test; Fig. 6.4E&F).

6.3.3 Lovastatin treatment corrects developmental delay in Object-Place associative memory

Lovastatin treatment did not impede normal development of object-place memory in WT subjects (time $F_{(5,111.7)}$ =13.44, p <0.001; treatment $F_{(1,21.8)}$ =1.50, p =0.23; treatment × time $F_{(5,111.7)} = 0.43$, p = 0.83; Fig. 6.5A). Previous data (Chapter 5) suggested that *Fmr1* KO rats exhibit a developmental delay in the ontogeny of object-place associative memory. This study verified this delay; even though after correction for false discovery *Fmr1* KO rats did not perform significantly above chance at any testing point during treatment, there is a strong trend on P64 (Table 6.2). Lovastatin treated KO subjects displayed a significantly improved developmental trajectory (time $F_{(5,107.1)}$ =6.08, p <0.001; treatment $F_{(1,22,3)}$ =8.38, p <0.01; treatment × time $F_{(5,107,1)}$ =1.05, p =0.40; Fig 6.5B). Exploratory activity was identical between all groups in both sample (Supp. Fig. 3C) and test phase (time $F_{(5,220)} = 5.32$, p < 0.001; test group $F_{(3,44)} = 0.21$, p = 0.89; test group × time $F_{(15,220)} = 0.66$, p = 0.82; Fig. 6.5C). Collapsed data into pre-emergence and post-emergence epochs shows clearly that all groups except untreated *Fmr1* KO rats improved significantly (genotype $F_{(1,45)} = 8.99$, p < 0.01; treatment $F_{(1,45)} = 9.0$, p < 0.01; treatment × genotype $F_{(1,45)}$ =2.70, p =0.11; time × treatment × genotype $F_{(1,45)}$ =3.13, p =0.08; Fig. 6.5D). Moreover, performance of individual subjects confirms this robust improvement in object-place memory between the two epochs for WT and KO treated subjects. All WT on control diet (t_{12} =7.23, p <0.001) and 11 out of 12 WT treated animals (t_{11} =4.76, p <0.001; Fig. 6.5E) displayed improved performance between the two epochs. On the other hand, only Fmr1 KO rats treated with lovastatin improved their performance (t_{11} =3.49, p <0.01; Fig. 6.5F); even though 10 out of 12 *Fmr1* KO on control diet improved their performance this chance was not robust enough to lead to significant difference between epochs (t_{11} =2.02, p =0.07 Fig. 6.5F).

6.3.4 Lovastatin treatment prevents the emergence of cognitive deficits in Object-Place-Context recognition

The most striking cognitive deficit described in this thesis, is the inability of *Fmr1* KO rats to form coherent episodic-like memories (Chapter 4). This type of associative memory develops at P50 in WT rats (Chapter 5). Interestingly lovastatin treatment early in life, starting at a pre-symptomatic period can, not only, prevent the emergence of the deficit but also totally restore its developmental trajectory to WT levels (Fig. 6.6). Consistent with all 3 previously described tasks, WT rats are not affected by lovastatin treatment and show very similar developmental trajectory with the untreated group (time $F_{(5,109.5)}$ =4.33, p <0.01; treatment $F_{(1,21.9)}$ =1.13, p =0.30; treatment × time $F_{(5,109.5)}$ =0.85, p =0.52; Fig. 6.6A). More importantly, lovastatin treated Fmr1 KO rats display normal development, while untreated subjects can never perform significantly above chance levels (time $F_{(5,106.7)}$ =3.12, p <0.05; treatment $F_{(1,21.9)}$ =9.32, p =0.06; treatment × time $F_{(5,106.7)}$ = 3.06, p < 0.05; Fig. 6.6B). The exploration levels are identical between groups in both sample (Supp. Fig. 3D) and test phase of the task (time $F_{(5,220)}$ =1.00, P =0.42; test group F_(3,44) =0.70, P =0.56; test group × time F_(15.220) =1.18, P =0.29; Fig. 6.6C). Collapsed data points into the pre-emergence and post-emergence epochs confirms the effects of lovastatin treatment (genotype $F_{(1,45)}$ =2.05, p =0.16; treatment $F_{(1,45)}$ =8.91, p <0.01; treatment × genotype $F_{(1,45)}$ =2.11, p =0.15; time × treatment × genotype $F_{(1,45)}$ =9.26, p <0.01; Fig. 6.6D). Analysis of the individual values further validates our findings. Almost every WT rat in both treatment groups improved their performance between the two epochs (WT_{control}: t₁₂ =2.75, p <0.05; WT_{lova}: t₁₁ =2.83, p <0.05; Fig. 6.6E). On the other hand, only *Fmr1* KO rats who received lovastatin treatment improved their performance (KO_{control}: t₁₁ =0.52, p =0.61; KO_{lova}: t₁₁ =4.35, p <0.01, paired t-test; Fig. 6.6F).



Figure 6.2 Lovastatin has no effects on normal physical development of rats. Both WT **(A)** and *Fmr1* KO **(B)** rats have normal development during lovastatin treatment compared to untreated same genotype controls. Average daily food intake, based on cage consumption is similar between the two used diets **(C)**. Normalising the daily food intake to rats' weight reveals no difference between genotypes **(D)**.



Figure 6.3 *Fmr1* **KO** and **WT** rats experience normal development of object recognition memory. WT (A) and Fmr1 KO (B) rats' ability to discriminate novel from familiar objects is unaffected by lovastatin treatment. Exploration time between the groups was similar throughout the experiment (C). Averaging performances before and after the critical age for the ontogenetic emergence of object-place and episodic memory (P49, Chapter 3) reveals no differences between groups (D). Focussing on the individual subjects reveals no improvement for *Fmr1* KO (F) and WT untreated rats but a small improvement for WT treated subjects (E). For (A), (B) and (D) * p<0.05 difference from chance (DI =0); significance values have been controlled for the false discovery rate using the Benjamini–Hochberg procedure. For (E) and (F) # p<0.05 difference between groups.



Figure 6.4 Normal development of object recognition memory for *Fmr1* **KO and WT rats treated with lovastatin.** WT **(A)** and Fmr1 KO **(B)** rats' ability to discriminate novel from familiar objects is unaffected by lovastatin treatment. Consistently with our previous observations both *Fmr1* KO and WT rats develop the ability to discriminate novel from familiar object-context associations on P35. Exploration time between the groups was similar throughout the experiment **(C)**. Averaging performances before and after the critical age for the ontogenetic emergence of object-place and episodic memory (P49, Chapter 3) reveals no differences between groups **(D)**. Focussing on the individual subjects reveals no improvement for *Fmr1* KO **(F)** and WT treated rats but a small improvement for WT untreated subjects **(E)**. For (A), (B) and (D) * p<0.05 difference from chance (DI =0); significance values have been controlled for the false discovery rate using the Benjamini–Hochberg procedure. For (E) and (F) # p<0.05 difference between groups.



Figure 6.5 Lovastatin restores normal developmental trajectory of object-place memory in *Fmr1* KO rats. WT rats which received lovastatin treatment experience identical cognitive development to untreated controls and begin to discriminate novel from familiar object-place associations on P50 (A). Fmr1 KO rats' ability to discriminate novel from familiar object-place associations develops normally with lovastatin treatment early in life (B). Exploration time between the groups was similar throughout the experiment (C). Averaging performances before and after the critical age for the ontogenetic emergence of the task further confirms our observations (D). Focussing on the individual subjects reveals no improvement for *Fmr1* KO untreated subjects (F) but a significant improvement for both WT groups and treated *Fmr1* KO subjects (E). For (A), (B) and (D) * p<0.05 difference from chance (DI =0); significance values have been controlled for the false discovery rate using the Benjamini–Hochberg procedure. For (E) and (F) # p<0.05 difference between groups.



Figure 6.6 Lovastatin restores normal developmental trajectory of Object-Place-Context associative memory in *Fmr1* KO rats. WT rats who received treatment experience identical cognitive development to untreated controls and start to discriminate novel from familiar object-place associations on P50 (A). Even though untreated *Fmr1* KO rats perform at chance level throughout testing, lovastatin treatment early in life can lead to normal development of object-place-context associative memory (B). Exploration levels between the groups was similar throughout the experiment (C). Averaging performances before and after the critical age for the ontogenetic emergence of the task confirms our previous observations (D). Focussing on the individual subjects reveals no improvement for *Fmr1* KO untreated subjects (F) but a significant improvement for both WT groups and treated Fmr1 KO subjects (E). For (A), (B) and (D) * p<0.05 difference from chance (DI =0); significance values have been controlled for the false discovery rate using the Benjamini–Hochberg procedure. For (E) and (F) # p<0.05 difference between groups.



Figure 6.7 Performance in NOR and OC 5 weeks and 3 months after the end of treatment. All groups perform significantly better than chance levels in NOR (A) and OC (B). Exploration levels between the groups was similar for both NOR (C) and OC (D) in both testing points. For (A), (B) and (D) * p<0.05 difference from chance (DI =0); significance values have been controlled for the false discovery rate using the Benjamini–Hochberg procedure.



Figure 6.8 Lovastatin treatment early in life leads to long lasting cognitive improvements. Performance in OP 5 weeks and 3 months after the end of treatment is similar for all experimental groups confirming the developmental delay rather than a deficit (A). Surprisingly *Fmr1* KO rats treated with lovastatin display WT levels of performance in (B). Exploration levels between the groups was similar for both OP (C) and OPC (D) in both testing points. For (A), (B) and (D) * p<0.05 difference from chance (DI =0); significance values have been controlled for the false discovery rate using the Benjamini–Hochberg procedure.

6.3.5 Early lovastatin treatment has profound long lasting effects on cognition

Perhaps the most interesting and at the same puzzling result in this study come when the same subjects which received lovastatin treatment for 5 weeks during adolescence, were tested approx. 5 weeks and more than 3 months after the end of the treatment (Fig. 6.7 & Fig. 6.8). Performance in both NOR and OC was identical to the last testing point during treatment (NOR: genotype $F_{(1,35.5)} = 1.05$, p = 0.31; treatment $F_{(1,35.5)} = 0.27$, p = 0.61; treatment × genotype $F_{(1,35.5)} = 0.51$, p = 0.48; Fig 6.7A. OC: genotype $F_{(1,36.9)} = 1.15$, p = 0.29; treatment $F_{(1,36.9)} = 0.01$, p = 0.92; treatment × genotype $F_{(1,36.9)} = 0.16$, p = 0.69; Fig 6.7B). As previously, we found no differences between groups in exploration during sample (Supp. Fig 3A&B) or test phase (NOR: time $F_{(1,32)}$ =6.91, p <0.05; group $F_{(3,32)}$ =0.23, p =0.88; time × group $F_{(3,32)}$ =0.64, p =0.60; Fig 6.7C. OC: time $F_{(1,32)}$ =1.22, p =0.29; group F_(3,32) =1.99, p =0.14; time × group F_(3,32) =0.13, p =0.94; Fig 6.7D). Furthermore, *Fmr1* KO displayed fully developed ability to discriminate novel from familiar object-place associations (genotype $F_{(1,36.9)}$ =4.52, p <0.05; treatment $F_{(1,36.9)}$ =1.17, p =0.29; treatment × genotype $F_{(1,36.9)}$ =0.05, p =0.83; Fig 6.8A), while exploration times stayed again unaffected (time $F_{(1,32)}$ =0.97, p =033; group $F_{(3,32)}$ =0.19, p =0.91; time × group $F_{(3,32)}$ =0.88, p =0.46; Fig 6.8C). OPC task revealed the most intriguing result; *Fmr1* KO rats which received lovastatin early in life retained the profound effects of treatment for more than 3 months after the end of it (genotype $F_{(1,39,2)}$ = 5.36, p < 0.05; treatment $F_{(1,39,2)}$ =6.77, p <0.05; treatment × genotype F_(1,39.2) =7.34, p <0.05; Fig 6.8B) without any effects on exploratory activity (time $F_{(1,32)} = 0.13$, p =073; group $F_{(3,32)} = 1.58$, p =0.21; time × group F_(3,32) =0.75, p =0.53; Fig 6.8B).

| Time- point | Significance | NOR | OC | ОР | OPC |
|----------------|---------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| P28&29 | Uncorrected p | < 0.001 | >0.05 | < 0.05 | < 0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | ** | | | |
| | B&H | * | | | * |
| P35&36 | Uncorrected | < 0.01 | < 0.05 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | ** | | | |
| | B&H | * | * | | |
| P42&43 | Uncorrected | < 0.01 | < 0.01 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | * | | | |
| | B&H | * | * | | |
| P49&50 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | ** | *** | ** | |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |
| P56&57 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.001 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | *** | *** | ** |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |
| P63&64 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.001 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | *** | *** | *** |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |
| P98-105 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | >0.05 | < 0.01 | < 0.001 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | | | *** |
| | B&H | * | | * | * |
| P164-165 | Uncorrected | < 0.01 | < 0.001 | <0.001 | < 0.001 |
| | Bonferroni | ** | *** | ** | ** |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |

Table 6.1 Development statistical overview for WT rats on control diet. * p<0.05 for Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons; * indicates significance from chance levels of discrimination after controlling the false discovery rate using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure (B&H)

| Time- point | Significance | NOR | OC | ОР | ОРС |
|----------------|---------------|---------|---------|---------|--------|
| P28&29 | Uncorrected p | <0.01 | >0.05 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | * | | | |
| | B&H | * | | | |
| P35&36 | Uncorrected | < 0.05 | < 0.001 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | | *** | | |
| | B&H | * | * | | |
| P42&43 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | ** | *** | | |
| | B&H | * | * | | |
| P49&50 | Uncorrected | < 0.01 | < 0.01 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | * | * | | |
| | B&H | * | * | | |
| P56&57 | Uncorrected | < 0.01 | < 0.05 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | * | | | |
| | B&H | * | * | | |
| P63&64 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | *** | | |
| | B&H | * | * | | |
| P98-105 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.01 | < 0.001 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | * | ** | |
| | B&H | * | * | * | |
| P164-165 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | ** | *** | |
| | B&H | * | * | * | |

Table 6.2 Development statistical overview for Fmr1 KO rats on control diet. * p<0.05 for Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons; * indicates significance from chance levels of discrimination after controlling the false discovery rate using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure (B&H)

| Time- point | Significance | NOR | OC | ОР | ОРС |
|----------------|---------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| P28&29 | Uncorrected p | >0.05 | >0.05 | < 0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | | | | |
| | B&H | | | | |
| P35&36 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.01 | >0.05 | < 0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | ** | * | | |
| | B&H | * | * | | |
| P42&43 | Uncorrected | < 0.01 | < 0.01 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | * | ** | | |
| | B&H | * | * | | |
| P49&50 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.01 | < 0.001 | < 0.01 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | * | ** | * |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |
| P56&57 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.01 | < 0.01 | < 0.01 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | ** | ** | * |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |
| P63&64 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.01 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | ** | *** | * |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |
| P98-105 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.05 | < 0.01 | < 0.001 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | | | *** |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |
| P164-165 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.05 | < 0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | ** | ** | | |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |

Table 6.3 Development statistical overview for WT rats on lovastatin diet. * p<0.05 for Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons; * indicates significance from chance levels of discrimination after controlling the false discovery rate using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure (B&H)

| Time- point | Significance | NOR | 00 | ОР | ОРС |
|----------------|---------------|---------|---------|--------|---------|
| P28&29 | Uncorrected p | < 0.05 | >0.05 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | | | | |
| | B&H | * | | | |
| P35&36 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | ** | ** | | |
| | B&H | * | * | | |
| P42&43 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | >0.05 | >0.05 | >0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | ** | | | |
| | B&H | * | | | |
| P49&50 | Uncorrected | <0.001 | < 0.001 | < 0.01 | < 0.001 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | ** | * | *** |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |
| P56&57 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.01 | < 0.05 | < 0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | *** | | | |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |
| P63&64 | Uncorrected | < 0.001 | < 0.001 | <0.001 | < 0.001 |
| | Bonferroni | ** | ** | *** | ** |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |
| P98-105 | Uncorrected | < 0.01 | < 0.01 | < 0.05 | < 0.05 |
| | Bonferroni | * | * | | |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |
| P164-165 | Uncorrected | < 0.01 | < 0.001 | <0.001 | < 0.001 |
| | Bonferroni | * | ** | *** | ** |
| | B&H | * | * | * | * |

Table 6.4 Development statistical overview for *Fmr1* **KO rats on lovastatin diet.** * p<0.05 for Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons; * indicates significance from chance levels of discrimination after controlling the false discovery rate using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure (B&H)
6.4 Discussion

This study builds upon observations described in the previous chapter about altered developmental trajectories of associative memory displayed by *Fmr1* KO rats. The three issues addressed in this study were: (1) the effects of lovastatin in the normal development of WT rats; (2) the effectiveness of lovastatin treatment at early age in restoring normal development of cognitive abilities; and (3) the dependence of behavioural improvements on the continuous administration of treatment. The main findings of this early-onset lovastatin intervention in weanling rats can be summarized in the following points. Firstly, lovastatin appears to have minimum impact on rat growth; *Fmr1* KO subjects which received the treatment seem to have slightly lower weight but they display the same growth curve, whereas WT animals, both treated and untreated, were identical in their physical development. This can easily be explained by the fact that lovastatin affects cholesterol metabolism. Translating the average daily drug intake (approx. 12mg/Kg for rats equals 2.4mg/kg for humans Fig. 6.2D) is very close to the suggested dosage by FDA for children and teenagers with hypocholesteraemia (40mg daily) (Çaku et al., 2014; Reagan-Shaw, Nihal, & Ahmad, 2008). This is very important because it simply means that the observed behavioural improvements are not due to unrealistic drug quantities that would reduce the translational value of these results. Moreover, this also explains the very limited adverse effects (slight weight change) and the absence of effects on normal development of cognition in wildtype rats. This is particularly important as it means that other physiological mechanisms are not significantly altered, making transition to clinical trials even smoother. Moreover, lovastatin treatment starting from the 4th week can prevent the emergence of cognitive deficits (seen from P49 onwards) and lead to normal cognitive development. This is the first study to my knowledge reporting not just reversal but the prevention of a cognitive deficit in a model of FXS. What is really important and adds validity to this results, is that recent unpublished work in the lab has shown that plasticity deficits in prefrontal cortex (an important area for the two affected types of associative memory, OP and OPC)(Chao et al., 2016) are also reversed as a result of the treatment (Supp. Fig. 4) (Adam Jackson personal communication). Finally, the most surprising results of this study came from testing the same experimental subjects 5 to 6 weeks and more than 3 months after the end of treatment. Even though the rats were fed normal diet for all this time, the therapeutic effects of lovastatin seen at the end of the treatment persist even 100 days after. This the first demonstration of such an exciting but also puzzling effect. Moreover,

unpublished work has revealed that basal levels of protein synthesis are reduced to wildtype level in animals treated with lovastatin (Supp. Fig. 4) (Susana Ribeiro dos Louros personal communication). Putting aside the unique experimental design and the suppressing persistence of therapeutic effects of this study, overall these results are consistent with previous studies showing that lovastatin can reverse phenotypes associated with FXS (Osterweil et al., 2013b), other disorders (Y. S. Lee et al., 2014; Weidong Li et al., 2005).

6.4.1 How does lovastatin alleviate FXS symptomatology?

Lovastatin, like other statins, inhibits HMG-CoA reductase, an enzyme that is part of mevalonate pathway (Fig. 6.1B) and acts several steps upstream of ERK-1 and ERK-2 cascades. Therefore, any molecular changes introduced by lovastatin treatment inhibit ERK-1 and ERK-2 activity fairly indirectly. This mechanism of action for lovastatin is consistent with mGluR theory for FXS (Bear et al., 2004) as ERK-1 and ERK-2 signalling is activated by mGluR5 (Krab, Goorden, & Elgersma, 2008; Osterweil et al., 2010). Nevertheless, explaining the effects of lovastatin on behaviour and physiology, only based on fact that it can modulate ERK-1 and ERK-2 activity is limiting. While mGluR antagonists which are thought to target Fragile X syndrome-relevant translational mechanisms more directly, showed similar therapeutic effects to lovastatin when tested in mice (Michalon et al., 2012), clinical trials did not yield any promising results. This outcome does not conclusively answer the question of whether or not selective mGluR5 antagonists can alter FXS symptomatology and definitely does not rule out the validity of the mGluR5 theory, however, these results do suggest that selective pharmacological decrease of mGlur5 signalling, alone, in humans with FXS is not sufficient in order to ameliorate behavioural abnormalities, when used as a short-term treatment in the ages studied. There is still a distinct lack of mechanistic supportive evidence to justify the use of statins in the prevention or treatment of pathophysiology associated with various neuropsychiatric disorders. While the precise molecular mechanism of lovastatin action is beyond the scope of this thesis, it is tempting to speculate about possible pleiotropic effects of lovastatin treatment contributing to its therapeutic function.

There are several possible experiments which will elucidate further the mechanism of lovastatin action. An obvious line of investigation is cholesterol metabolism since cholesterol is vital to normal brain function including learning and memory (Schilling et al., 2014; Schreurs, 2010). Cholesterol metabolism alterations have been documented in individuals with FXS (Elizabeth Berry-Kravis et al., 2015) and recently Pietropaolo and colleagues (2014) have reported that dietary supplementation with omega-3 fatty acids from weaning reversed a wide range of behavioural deficits associated with loss of FMRP in mice. Moreover, cholesterol metabolism has been shown to be affected in a different neurodevelopmental disorder, Rett syndrome (Nagy & Ackerman, 2013). Consistently with studies on FXS, both omega-3 fatty acids and lovastatin treatment improved cholesterol homeostasis but also partially alleviated motor impairments, and generally improved the life of mice modelling the disease (Buchovecky et al., 2013; De Felice et al., 2012). A way to examine whether cholesterol homeostasis normalisation is even partially, related to lovastatin effects on pathophysiology associated with FXS, would be to use a similar statin which cannot cross the blood brain barrier (something that lovastatin can do). In that way any effects in symptomatology would be only due to other systemic effects of the drug.

Another function or lovastatin which should be addressed in relation to FXS and other neurodevelopmental disorders is its effects on neuroinflammation. The role of immune system on brain function under healthy and diseased conditions is becoming to be a major line of investigation especially in the field of neurodevelopmental disorders (Derecki, Cronk, & Kipnis, 2013; Gupta et al., 2014; Malkki, 2016). Along these lines, offspring of perinatally infected mothers is a widely used model of autism (Knuesel et al., 2014). In FXS, it has been shown that the mouse model of the syndrome displays some neuroinflammatory imbalances (IL-1β, CD45, CD11b), which can be rescued by omega-3 fatty acids supplementation (Pietropaolo et al., 2014). Interestingly Gouveia and colleagues (2011) showed that lovastatin reduces expression of the mRNA of interleukin-1 β , amongst other cytokines, in animals with status epilepticus; remember that one of the main behavioural deficits rescued by lovastatin treatment was increased susceptibility in audiogenic seizures (Osterweil et al., 2013b). Moreover, statins have been shown to decreases inflammation by reducing the expression the cytokines IL-1 β and TNF- α , in the kainic-induced animal model of epilepsy (Lee et al., 2008) and modulate immune T-cell function (Zhao et al., 2015). The connection between immune system and neurodevelopmental disorders is further validated by the finding of abnormally active neuroinflammatory processes in autistic individuals (Ashwood et al., 2011; Vargas et al., 2005). Taken together, the above could suggest a possible additional route for lovastatin to have positive effects on the FXS symptomatology. Obviously

further work is needed in order to elucidate the relations between statins, core FXS pathophysiology and immune system. Focussing on the resident immune cell of CNS, microglia, could be a potential route, since there is already a defined connection between microglia function, synapse formation and function and neurodevelopment. (Schafer et al., 2012; Zhan et al., 2014). A possible first experiment would be to explore translational changes in microglia during different age points, using Translating ribosome affinity purification (TRAP) (Heiman et al., 2014), and examine if lovastatin treatment early in life can have effects on possible translational abnormalities.

Looking at the seminal work from Osterweil and colleagues (2013), certain results point to the hypothesis of additional (possibly systemic) ways lovastatin exerts its effects. For example, while lovastatin had a dramatic effect on improving audiogenic seizure susceptibility, the effects on Ras-ERK-1/ERK-2 signalling were only moderate. Taking into account that farnesylation depletion affects not only Ras signalling (Sebti, 2005), it is fair to believe that downregulating ERK-1 and ERK-2 is just one of lovastatin's (and other statins) mechanisms of action. In order to get a better idea on the importance of Ras farnesylation in FXS symptomatology, the farnesyl group could be supplemented during lovastatin treatment and examine whether or not the beneficial effects of lovastatin diminish. Another approach could be a more direct downregulation of Ras farnesylation, using bisphosphonates (Bergstrom et al., 2000). In that way we could bypass additional effects from mevalonate pathway products upstream Ras signalling (Fig. 6.1B).

Focussing on our behavioural results, one might argue that the effects we're seeing cannot be interpreted as direct effect of lovastatin. Repeated exposures to the testing environment, experimenter and the overall procedure could have easily served as environmental enrichment. Environmental enrichment, especially early in life, has been shown to alleviate some cellular and behavioural abnormalities in *Fmr1* knockout mice (Lauterborn et al., 2015; Oddi et al., 2014), so it could be possible that an enhanced plasticity due lovastatin treatment was enough to amplify the effects of environmental enrichment. Even though there are no behavioural data to support or dispute this hypothesis, the preliminary electrophysiology results, showing rescue of plasticity deficits, came from animals which were only dosed in their home cage, without any additional manipulation. Of course the most direct way to examine the synergistic effects of lovastatin and environmental enrichment would be to use the same treatment duration but only test the subjects at the end of it. In line with this idea, an ongoing

clinical trial is testing the effects of lovastatin combined with behaviour intervention (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02642653).

6.4.2 Are all statins alike?

Over the recent years, statins have gain significant attention in relation to their effects against core pathophysiological mechanisms of a wide range of neuropsychiatric diseases (Ling & Tejada-Simon, 2016). Until this point, it is still questionable and poorly examined whether the preclinical and clinical outcomes documented, are a result of the statins' cholesterol-dependent or cholesterol-independent effects. One has to keep in mind that even though statins seem to share a common mechanism of action and have similar potency, and safety profile, they are not the same (Pedersen & Gaw, 2001; Tobert, 2003). Despite the similarities in the molecular structures of lovastatin and simvastatin, newer statins like fluvastatin and rosuvastatin are structurally diverse. The seemingly small structural differences can alter drastically the mechanism of action of a compound and, ultimately, its effect on physiology. This is particularly interesting as lovastatin, simvastatin and fluvastatin have been shown to inhibit Ras/ERK pathway (Osterweil et al., 2013b; Tsubaki et al., 2016) while rosuvastatin has been reported to enhance it (Z. Zhang et al., 2013). A difference between statins, highly related to their effects on the central nervous system (CNS) is concerning their relative lipophilicity and hydrophilicity. This parameter is important since lipophilicity is needed in order a compound to cross the blood brain barrier. Another important difference between statins is that even though all are predominantly metabolised by cytochrome P450, this is done by different isoforms of the enzyme (Pedersen & Gaw, 2001). This is particularly important when we consider early interventions, since during postnatal liver maturation, different P450 isoforms display different temporal patterns of expression (Cui, Renaud, & Klaassen, 2012; Ince et al., 2013). Therefore, it is important to improve our understanding as to the precise mechanism differences between statins. Until more comparative evidence is produced, clinicians and researchers should consider the effects on CNS for each statin individually, instead of assuming that other statins will have similar effects.



Figure 6.9 Paradigm shift in therapeutic intervention. After several failed clinical trials, both clinicians and basic researchers have suggested that the age of the participants requires further consideration. Animal models can be utilized to address biological questions on the pathological trajectory to full onset of symptomatology in neurodevelopmental disorders.

6.4.3 How can early intervention have such long lasting results?

Whilst in some ways this study replicates previous studies examining the efficacy of lovastatin (Lee et al., 2014; Osterweil et al., 2013) or the augmented effects of early intervention (Dansie et al., 2013; Oddi et al., 2014; Sun et al., 2016), the most striking and novel result is that early pharmacological intervention can have very long lasting effects on cognition, on a genetic rat model of intellectual disability and autism. This result besides impressive, is also quite puzzling. How can a relatively short pharmacological treatment, during a period of no observed major brain development milestones, lead to effects which persist for more than three months after the end of the treatment?

A first obvious suggestion is that this period (P29-P64) does indeed include important cellular events which affect synaptic formation and function later in life. I mentioned earlier that almost all research on postnatal brain development has been focusing on the four first postnatal weeks. Following the results of this study, there is a need to focus on discovering brain development hallmarks in the following weeks (4th-7th). It is possible that FMRP loss has a profound effect during this critical period which subsequently contribute to cognitive deficits but its effects during adulthood alone are minimal. This hypothesis agrees with the spatiotemporal expression pattern of FMRP (Rhiannon M. Meredith et al., 2012) and previous studies showing that treatment early in life can lead to more dramatic and persisting effects than treatment during adulthood (Dansie et al., 2013; Sun et al., 2016). Contrary to the latter hypothesis, a relatively recent study showed that ablation of FMRP in adulthood leads to decrease neurogenesis in the hippocampus and hippocampal dependent cognitive deficits (Guo et al., 2011). Repeating our study with the same duration of treatment but in adult animals, after the behavioural deficits in OPC have been established, is needed in order to reveal if: (1) established cognitive deficits can be reversed in adult *Fmr1* KO rats, and (2) if the treatment has long lasting effects.

In this absence of relevant physiological evidence that could explain the results of our study based on the more "mainstream" proposed mechanisms of action for lovastatin (Ras-ERK1/2 activity downregulation)(Krab, Goorden, et al., 2008), I think it is important to consider alternative ways by which lovastatin exerts its effects. A recent interesting study looked at the effects of early treatment with antioxidants in a rat model of schizophrenia (Cabungcal et al., 2014). What the authors showed is that when pre-symptomatic juveniles and adolescent rats were treated with the antioxidant N-acetyl

cysteine, physiological and behavioural deficits' onset was prevented. One of the pathophysiological features of this model is altered prefrontal function, including inhibitory interneurons during adolescence and augmented oxidative stress especially affecting parvalbumin (PV)-positive interneurons in prefrontal cortex.

Could these data be relevant to FXS? Research in *Fmr1* KO mice has revealed major defects in cortical inhibitory circuits (Selby, Zhang, & Sun, 2007). Moreover, a few studies in *Fmr1* knockout mice have demonstrated that FMRP loss leads to an augmentation in oxidative stress and related markers in the brain that it is possible to contribute to the pathophysiology of the Fragile X syndrome (de Diego-Otero et al., 2009; El Bekay et al., 2007). In agreement with these findings, FMRP has been shown to positively regulate the expression of the mitochondrial and cytosolic Superoxide Dismutase (SOD) (Bechara et al., 2009). Thus FMRP loss could lead to an increase in mitochondrial oxidative stress and subsequent abnormalities in mitochondrial function. Interestingly, lovastatin and other statins have been found to possess anti-oxidative properties (Kumar, Srivastava, & Gomes, 2011; Lee et al., 2016). Taken together these studies may suggest an additional mechanism for lovastatin, explaining its long lasting effects. It is plausible that specific neuronal types which are part of key circuits for learning and memory (Lipina et al., 2015) are highly susceptible to elevated oxidative stress (Liang et al., 2016), especially during early periods in life. Agents like lovastatin and other antioxidants, which can reduce oxidative stress and subsequently protect these circuits from decay, will lead to long lasting or even permanent results. Of course testing this hypothesis is a relatively straightforward task; dosing with an antioxidant during the same time period should produce the same or similar results to ours.

Besides pharmacological approaches, it is important to remember that intervention strategies might not be limited to pharmacological. For example, a different research group, using the same rat model of schizophrenia that was utilised for the antioxidant treatment rescue (Cabungcal et al., 2014), reported that cognitive training during adolescence is enough prevent the emergence of cognitive impairments normally seen in adulthood (Lee et al., 2012). In the case of FXS. Several studies have shown the beneficial effects of environmental enrichment (Lauterborn et al., 2015; Restivo et al., 2005) but only recently Oddi and colleagues showed that early social enrichment can have long lasting results in physiology and behaviour which persist through adulthood (Oddi et al., 2014). This is yet another testament to the fact that combination of

pharmacological treatments and cognitive interventions holds a great promise in curing neurodevelopmental disorders.

6.4.4 Paradigm shift in future clinical trials?

The current optimism, shared amongst some researchers, that treatment for FXS during adulthood is possible, is not unreasonable; several preclinical studies in adult mice showed reversal of symptomatology (Henderson et al., 2012; Michalon et al., 2012; Osterweil et al., 2013b). Nevertheless, after several failed clinical trials, both clinicians and basic researchers have suggested that the age of the participants requires further consideration. Like all other neurodevelopmental disorders, the behavioural and cognitive characteristics of FXS, such as social communication deficits, intellectual disability, and cognitive inflexibility, manifest early in infancy and continue to unfold during life. Failed trials of pharmacological interventions in adults may echo therefore, the fact that the fully matured nervous system has irreversibly suffered the pathophysiological consequences of FMRP loss (exacerbated LTD and abnormal synaptic morphology and function). Our results, support this paradigm shift in FXS clinical trials (Fig. 6.9). We showed that early pharmaceutical intervention during a pre-symptomatic period, can not only prevent the emergence of cognitive deficits associated with the loss of FMRP, but also have persistent benefits on cognitive function.

7. General discussion

FXS is the most common monogenic cause of intellectual disability and autism spectrum disorder. The mouse model of the syndrome (Ce E Bakker et al., 1994) has been proven invaluable in FXS research so far, however the subtle and strain-specific behavioural phenotype and recent failures of clinical trials which failed to replicate the promising results of preclinical studies, have raised questions over its validity. The recent generation of a rat model of FXS paves the way for determining whether certain phenotypes are species specific or persist across mammalian species. In this thesis, we have demonstrated that this novel rat model is promising, recapitulating key pathophysiological features of the disease (Till et al., 2015), but further work is needed to utilise all the advantages of rats as model organism. We have identified a robust cognitive deficit, which persists across two background strains (Chapter 4) (Asiminas et al., 2015) and we further explored its developmental trajectory in a longitudinal study (Chapter 5) (Asiminas et al., 2014). The next step was to attempt to reverse that deficit using a known pharmaceutical agent (lovastatin) (Chapter 6) (Asiminas et al., 2016). Utilising knowledge gained from the longitudinal study we decided to begin treatment over a pre-symptomatic, for the observed deficit, period. Unexpectedly, treatment could not only prevent the emergence of the deficit, but also fully restore normal developmental trajectory in all other developmentally delayed but unimpaired in adulthood tasks. Furthermore, when the same animals were tested 3 months after the end of the treatment showed the same behavioural profile compared to the end of the treatment. Our results show that not only we can prevent the emergence of cognitive deficits associated with FXS but also that therapeutic interventions in potentially critical developmental windows can have long lasting or even permanent effects.

Curing cognitive deficits associated with FXS or other intellectual disability syndromes is one of the holy grails in translational neuroscience. We believe that with the right medication during the appropriate developmental windows, which could enhance synaptic plasticity, in conjunction with the other types of educational and behavioural interventions, including relevant computer technologies, we will be able to achieve such a goal. This is a very exciting time in translational neuroscience not only for FXS but other conditions as well, due the extensive commonality amongst different types of neurodevelopmental disorders.

7.1 So you want to be a model (of FXS): what rats have to offer

This thesis is amongst the first few to examine the validity of new genetically modified rat models of neurodevelopmental disorders. Along with recently published work (Berzhanskaya et al., 2016a; Berzhanskaya et al., 2016b; Engineer et al., 2014; Hamilton et al., 2014; Kenkel et al., 2016; Ruby, Falvey, & Kulesza, 2015; Till et al., 2015), we showed that rats have the potential to expand our knowledge of pathophysiology associated with FXS significantly but also validate phenotypes across mammalian species. Rat's size, behavioural repertoire and physiology (Chapter 3) make it a very suitable model organism for FXS and other neurodevelopmental syndromes, but is it better than the mouse model? As is the case with any neurodevelopmental disease model, the *Fmr1* KO rat should not be seen as faithfully reproducing the disease (there is no such thing as a rat with FXS). However, this and other neurodevelopmental disease models are extremely useful to testing specific hypotheses about developmental trajectories of molecular, electrophysiological and behavioural phenomena of relevance to the disease of interest. Perhaps the biggest promise of rat models is bridging the gap between pre-clinical and clinical research. Due to their physiology which is closer to human, rats have been used in the pharmaceutical industry for years, to predict how human patients will metabolise medication, and to identify and study potential side effects. The results of these studies are essential before Phase I trials, addressing tolerance, can begin in humans. Moreover, during the past decades, the standard approach in drug discovery research, included drug efficacy screening in genetically modified mice, models of disorders, and then safety and toxicity assessment in rats, mainly due to the large volume of historical safety data in the rat and the physiology similarities between rats and humans. This methodology has relied heavily on extrapolations of used mouse dosing to rat, and the assumption that this dose would have similar efficacy in the rat. The recently developed genetically modified rat models, can now address this problem, enabling researchers to conduct both drug efficacy and safety studies in the same species, increasing coherence between efficacy and toxicity studies and speeding up the process significantly.

7.2 Time after time: the value of studying developmental trajectories

In Chapter 5 in this thesis I described a longitudinal study exploring the developmental trajectory of associative and non-associative object memory. Although these type of studies have been reported previously (Green & Stanton, 1989) very little is known about the emergence of behavioural phenotypes in rodent models of neurodevelopmental disorders. We showed that *Fmr1* KO rats showed a developmental delay in a type of memory which is unaffected during adulthood (OP) and they were nether able to develop the ability to remember more complex episodic-like memories (OPC). To our knowledge, this was the first demonstration of a cognitive delay in a rodent model of FXS and the first identification of a pre-symptomatic period during which potential interventions could be introduced. On a more general note, our findings highlight the value of studying behavioural developmental trajectories especially through carefully designed longitudinal rather than cross-sectional studies.

Longitudinal studies are fundamentally different from, cross-sectional studies, and have the power to answer important questions about cognitive development. While crosssectional studies compare data from different groups, longitudinal studies track the same subjects over time. They therefore control for two problems: the lack of comparability across different groups, and the inability to answer questions regarding continuity in individual development. Although longitudinal studies only evaluate one group over time, which means that any findings might simply reflect conditions relevant at the time of data collection, they are nevertheless considered far superior to crosssectional ones. But, they are also logistically more difficult to handle. Since longitudinal studies involve data collection from long periods of time, they can be really helpful in determining patterns.

Focussing on neurodevelopmental disorders, longitudinal studies can serve as a useful tool to test possible developmental pathophysiological hypotheses, in particular to investigated mechanisms involved in delayed emergence of behavioural anomalies, driven by developmental dysregulation. Taking into account that the sequence of key milestones in brain development are generally quite consistent between humans and rodents (Semple et al., 2013; Sengupta, 2013), longitudinal studies in rodent models can help us investigating how and when developmental sequences are disrupted in animal models, predict symptoms based on developmental markers identifiable during a pre-

symptomatic period, and help us identify critical periods suitable for intervention. What our data shows is that there is period during adolescence (P35-50) when neuronal networks supporting complex types of associative memory are still being refined. Despite indications that extensive synaptic changes take place during that period (Counotte et al., 2010), the vast majority of literature looking at synaptic maturation has been focussing so far in the first four postnatal weeks. There is a need for more in depth behavioural and physiological longitudinal studies in order to elucidate changes during adolescence which precede later behavioural deficits.

7.3 The early bird gets the worm

"No one calls in question the fact that the experiences of the earliest years of our childhood leave ineradicable traces in the depths of the mind"

Sigmund Freud 1899

Our findings clearly demonstrate that early pharmaceutical intervention with lovastatin fully restores cognitive development in *Fmr1* KO rats and leads to long lasting beneficial effects (Chapter 6). It is difficult to explain the mechanism by which a pharmacological (Dansie et al., 2013) or behavioural intervention (Oddi et al., 2014) leads to sustained effects, especially in the case of disorders with defined genetic aetiology, pre-existing any intervention such as FXS. It is possible that FMRP loss primarily has a profound effect during critical plasticity periods (Rhiannon M. Meredith et al., 2012), which precede cognitive deficits in adulthood. These developmentally coordinated changes in structural and plasticity phenotypes (Harlow et al., 2010; Till et al., 2012) and their consequences have not yet been fully investigated. However, it is possible that they illustrate the necessity of specific misregulated proteins, like FMRP, on specific neuronal circuits during development and maturation. Focussing on the spatiotemporal expression profiles of misregulated genes, important for neuronal function will expand our knowledge regarding which neuronal circuits and underlying behaviours are more susceptible to impairments in FXS and other neurodevelopmental disorders. An obvious consequence of the very existence of early time-windows, critical for phenotypic deficits is that they may constitute early periods of high susceptibility to therapeutic treatment. By comparing outcomes of treatment designs focussing on either young presymptomatic periods and during adulthood in animal models, the potential translational advantages from such an approach can be evaluated.

Another critical point when discussing the application of treatment order to correct neurodevelopmental impairments, during identified critical periods is that the brain undergoes multiple critical plasticity periods, spread across different brain areas, each of which has a unique underlying mechanism. Even within the same region of the nervous system, the same developing neuronal network could go through a sequence of critical periods, supported or triggered by distinct neurotransmitter or ion channeldependent mechanisms. For instance, retinal circuits go through a series of simultaneous network activation from perinatal development onwards, which involve first gap junction coupling, followed by nicotinic cholinergic receptor signalling and lastly, glutamatergic neurotransmission to mediate activity during the later postnatal stages (Blankenship & Feller, 2010). Taking into account this complexity, the pathophysiology associated with a neurodevelopmental disorder could depend on abnormalities in the sequence of these critical periods or even synapse-specific impairments in a regional circuit. Intervention strategies will probably need a careful fine-tuning in order to correct abnormal molecular mechanisms and restore a balance in the affected networks.

The extent to which late-stage pharmacological interventions could rescue the established deficits at specific neuroanatomical sites in FXS patients requires additional investigation. Although adult pharmacological interventions may be enough to reverse synaptic function, it seems unlikely that they will be enough to rewire abnormally formed circuits; this hypothesis could perhaps explain the limited efficacy of treatments over the relatively short duration of a clinical trial, seen so far. As a result, the FXS treatment field is moving toward pharmacological treatment trials with participants at the youngest possible age, in an effort to correct synaptic plasticity deficits early on in postnatal development; the hope is that normalizing circuit formation mechanisms will help improve behavioural impairments of FXS, on a long-term course. Future waves of treatment trials in FXS will likely deviate from previous studies, as researchers begin to use the information collected from earlier unsuccessful trials, in an attempt to eventually optimize study design specifically for FXS participants. For example, a case study of two young children with FXS showed that aggressive early combination treatment combined with intense educational intervention can lead to profound behavioural and cognitive improvement (Winarni et al., 2012). It's obvious that, for medications designed to be used by infants and young children, tolerability/toxicity will be a critical factor in determining which are appropriate for intervention that early in life. One of the potential

medications discussed earlier, lovastatin, has already been approved by FDA for the treatment of hypercholesterolemia in children (Tobert, 2003).

7.4 Changing direction in translational research

The low predictive validity of current animal models of FXS, as seen by the recent failure of many clinical trials, is at least partially an effect of the current direction in translational research. Animal model validity is currently being judged largely based on the identification of behavioural output which could be considered analogous to the multifaceted human phenotype. What this thesis is proposing is that animal models should be defined based on affected circuit mechanisms instead. We saw that common cellular pathophysiology between mouse and rat models of FXS leads to distinct behavioural deficits in rats (Till et al., 2015). Whether or not these behavioural deficits are consistent with human symptomatology is somewhat irrelevant; as long a human genetic lesion associated with a disease, leads to defined impairments from a molecular all the way to a behavioural level that makes an animal model valid and valuable to test the efficacy of candidate therapeutics.

8. Supplementary figures



Supplementary Figure 1. (B) 2W ANOVA: Day x genotype F(9,126) = 2.41, P = 0.01; genotype F(1,14) = 2.62, P = 0.13; Day F(9,126) = 4.94, P < 0.0001 **(C)** 2W ANOVA: Block x genotype F(1.14) = 2.33, P = 0.15; genotype F(1,14) = 2.62, P = 0.13; Block F(1,14) = 31.6, P < 0.0001. Fmr1 KO (n = 8) WT (n = 8) Results are means ± s.e.m



WT *Fmr1* KO P61 P70



Supplementary Figure 2. Sample phase exploration for NOR (A), OC (B), OP (C), OPC (D) throughout testing. No differences between genotype groups. Fluctuation between different time points could be attributed to rats' different interest to objects used.



Supplementary Figure 3. Sample phase exploration for NOR (A), OC (B), OP (C), OPC (D) throughout testing. No differences between genotype or treatment groups.



Supplementary Figure 4. Lovastatin treatment reverses long term plasticity deficits in prefrontal cortex after 5 weeks of treatment (A). 3 months after the end of treatment Fmr1 KO rats treated with lovastatin show corrected levels of basal protein synthesis in dorsal hippocampal slices from Fmr1 KO rats compared with WT littermate controls (B).

Bibliography

- Abbeduto, L., Murphy, M. M., Kover, S. T., Giles, N. D., Karadottir, S., Amman, A., ... Nollin, K. a. (2008). Signaling noncomprehension of language: a comparison of fragile X syndrome and Down syndrome. *American Journal of Mental Retardation : AJMR*, *113*(3), 214–30. http://doi.org/10.1352/0895-8017(2008)113[214:SNOLAC]2.0.C0;2
- Abbott, A. (2004). Laboratory animals: the Renaissance rat. *Nature*, *428*(6982), 464–6. http://doi.org/10.1038/428464a
- Abitbol, M., Menini, C., Delezoide, A. L., Rhyner, T., Vekemans, M., & Mallet, J. (1993). Nucleus basalis magnocellularis and hippocampus are the major sites of FMR-1 expression in the human fetal brain. *Nature Genetics*, 4(2), 147–53. http://doi.org/10.1038/ng0693-147
- Abrahams, B. S., & Geschwind, D. H. (2008). Advances in autism genetics: on the threshold of a new neurobiology. *Nature Reviews. Genetics*, *9*(5), 341–55. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2346
- Acosta, M. T., Kardel, P. G., Walsh, K. S., Rosenbaum, K. N., Gioia, G. A., & Packer, R. J. (2011). Lovastatin as treatment for neurocognitive deficits in neurofibromatosis type 1: Phase I study. *Pediatric Neurology*, 45(4), 241–245. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2011.06.016
- Adams, J., & Jones, S. M. (1984). Age differences in water maze performance and swimming behavior in the rat. *Physiol Behav*, *33*(6), 851–855. http://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(84)90218-X
- Ainge, J. A., & Langston, R. F. (2012). Ontogeny of neural circuits underlying spatial memory in the rat. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, 6(March), 8. http://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2012.00008
- Alexander, A. L., Lee, J. E., Lazar, M., & Field, A. S. (2007). Diffusion tensor imaging of the brain. Neurotherapeutics : The Journal of the American Society for Experimental NeuroTherapeutics, 4(3), 316–29. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nurt.2007.05.011
- Amos-Landgraf, J. M., Kwong, L. N., Kendziorski, C. M., Reichelderfer, M., Torrealba, J., Weichert, J., ... Dove, W. F. (2007). A target-selected Apc-mutant rat kindred enhances the modeling of familial human colon cancer. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(10), 4036–4041. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0611690104
- Andersen, S. L. (2003). Trajectories of brain development: Point of vulnerability or window of opportunity? In *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* (Vol. 27, pp. 3–18). http://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-7634(03)00005-8
- Angevine, J. B. (1965). Time of neuron origin in the hippocampal region. An autoradiographic study in the mouse. *Experimental Neurology. Supplement*, Suppl 2:1–70. http://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4886(65)90121-4
- Antar, L. N., Afroz, R., Dictenberg, J. B., Carroll, R. C., & Bassell, G. J. (2004). Metabotropic
 Glutamate Receptor Activation Regulates Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein and FMR1
 mRNA Localization Differentially in Dendrites and at Synapses. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(11), 2648–2655. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0099-04.2004
- Arrowsmith, J. (2011). Trial watch: Phase II failures: 2008-2010. *Nature Reviews. Drug Discovery*, 10(5), 328–329. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3439
- Ashwood, P., Corbett, B. A., Kantor, A., Schulman, H., van de Water, J., & Amaral, D. G. (2011). In search of cellular immunophenotypes in the blood of children with autism. *PLoS ONE*, *6*(5). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0019299
- Asiminas, A., Till, S., Burt, A., Cox, E., Morris, R., Chattarji, S., ... Wood, E. (2014). Fmr1 Knockout Rats exhibit abnormal development of episodic memory but normal spatial memory in adulthood. In 699.15/L10. SfN, Washington DC.
- Asiminas, A., Till, S. M., Osterweil, E. K., Bear, M. F., Chattarji, S., Wyllie, D. J. A., ... Wood, E. R. (2016). Lovastatin treatment early in life prevents development of cognitive deficits in a rat model of Fragile X Syndrome. In 392.07 / C24. SfN, San Diego, CA: Society for Neuroscience.
- Asiminas, A., Till, S., Morris, R., Chattarji, S., Wyllie, D., Kind, P., & Wood, E. (2015). Fmr1 knockout rats express hippocampus-dependent, spatial and episodic-like memory,

impairments. In 491.03/E21. SfN, Chicago, IL: Society for Neuroscience.

- Atsak, P., Orre, M., Bakker, P., Cerliani, L., Roozendaal, B., Gazzola, V., ... Keysers, C. (2011). Experience modulates vicarious freezing in rats: A model for empathy. *PLoS ONE*, 6(7). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0021855
- Bagni, C., Tassone, F., Neri, G., & Hagerman, R. (2012). Fragile X syndrome: Causes, diagnosis, mechanisms, and therapeutics. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI63141
- Bailey Jr., D. B., Hatton, D. D., & Skinner, M. (1998). Early developmental trajectories of males with fragile X syndrome. *Am J Ment Retard*, *103*(1), 29–39. http://doi.org/10.1352/0895-8017(1998)103<0029:EDTOMW>2.0.C0;2
- Bailey, D. B., Hatton, D. D., Skinner, M., & Mesibov, G. (2001). Autistic Behavior, FMR1 Protein, and Developmental Trajectories in Young Males with Fragile X Syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *31*(2), 165–174. http://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010747131386
- Baker, K. B., Wray, S. P., Ritter, R., Mason, S., Lanthorn, T. H., & Savelieva, K. V. (2010). Male and female Fmr1 knockout mice on C57 albino background exhibit spatial learning and memory impairments. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 9(6), 562–574. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-183X.2010.00585.x
- Baker, S., Hooper, S., Skinner, M., Hatton, D., Schaaf, J., Ornstein, P., & Bailey, D. (2011). Working memory subsystems and task complexity in young boys with Fragile X syndrome. *Journal* of Intellectual Disability Research, 55(1), 19–29. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2010.01343.x
- Bakker, C. E., de Diego Otero, Y., Bontekoe, C., Raghoe, P., Luteijn, T., Hoogeveen, a T., ... Willemsen, R. (2000). Immunocytochemical and biochemical characterization of FMRP, FXR1P, and FXR2P in the mouse. *Experimental Cell Research*, *258*(1), 162–170. http://doi.org/10.1006/excr.2000.4932
- Bakker, C. E., Verheij, C., Willemsen, R., van der Helm, R., Oerlemans, F., Vermey, M., ... Oostra, B.
 A. (1994). Fmr1 knockout mice: a model to study fragile X mental retardation. The Dutch-Belgian Fragile X Consortium. *Cell*, 78(1), 23–33.
- Bakker, C. E., Verheij, C., Willemsen, R., van der Helm, R., Oerlemans, F., Vermey, M., ... Oostra, B. A. (1994). Fmrl Knockout M ice : A Model to Study Fragile X Mental Retardation. *Cell*, 78(1), 23–33. http://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(94)90569-X
- Bao, D., Ma, Y., Zhang, X., Guan, F., Chen, W., Gao, K., ... Zhang, L. (2015). Preliminary Characterization of a Leptin Receptor Knockout Rat Created by CRISPR/Cas9 System. *Scientific Reports*, 5, 15942. http://doi.org/10.1038/srep15942
- Bardoni, B., Davidovic, L., Bensaid, M., & Khandjian, E. W. (2006). The fragile X syndrome: exploring its molecular basis and seeking a treatment. *Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine*, 8(8), 1–16. http://doi.org/10.1017/S1462399406010751
- Barnett, S. A. (1976). The rat : a study in behavior. Australian National University Press.
- Bartal, I. B.-A., Decety, J., & Mason, P. (2011). Empathy and Pro-Social Behavior in Rats. *Science*, 334(6061), 1427–1430. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1210789
- Bassell, G. J., & Warren, S. T. (2008). Fragile X Syndrome: Loss of Local mRNA Regulation Alters Synaptic Development and Function. *Neuron*.
 - http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.10.004
- Baudouin, S. J., Gaudias, J., Gerharz, S., Hatstatt, L., Zhou, K., Punnakkal, P., ... Scheiffele, P. (2012). Shared Synaptic Pathophysiology in Syndromic and Nonsyndromic Rodent Models of Autism. *Science*, 338(6103), 128–132. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1224159

Baumgardner, T. L., Reiss, A. L., Freund, L. S., & Abrams, M. T. (1995). Specification of the neurobehavioral phenotype in males with fragile X syndrome. *Pediatrics*, *95*(5), 744–752.

- Bayer, S. A. (1980). Development of the hippocampal region in the rat I. Neurogenesis examined with3H-thymidine autoradiography. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 190(1), 87–114. http://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901900107
- Bear, M. F., Huber, K. M., & Warren, S. T. (2004). The mGluR theory of fragile X mental retardation. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 27(7), 370–377. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2004.04.009
- Bearden, C. E., Hellemann, G. S., Rosser, T., Montojo, C., Jonas, R., Enrique, N., ... Silva, A. J. (2016). A randomized placebo-controlled lovastatin trial for neurobehavioral function in

neurofibromatosis I. *Annals of Clinical and Translational Neurology*, *3*(4), n/a–n/a. http://doi.org/10.1002/acn3.288

- Bechara, E. G., Didiot, M. C., Melko, M., Davidovic, L., Bensaid, M., Martin, P., ... Bardoni, B. (2009). A novel function for fragile X mental retardation protein in translational activation. *PLoS Biology*, 7(1). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1000016
- Beckel-Mitchener, A., & Greenough, W. T. (2004). Correlates Across the Structural, Functional, and Molecular Phenotypes of Fragile X Syndrome. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*. http://doi.org/10.1002/mrdd.20009
- Bekenstein, J. W., & Lothman, E. W. (1991a). A comparison of the ontogeny of excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission in the CA1 region and dentate gyrus of the rat hippocampal formation. *Developmental Brain Research*, 63(1-2), 237–243. http://doi.org/10.1016/0165-3806(91)90083-U
- Bekenstein, J. W., & Lothman, E. W. (1991b). An in vivo study of the ontogeny of long-term potentiation (LTP) in the CA1 region and in the dentate gyrus of the rat hippocampal formation. *Developmental Brain Research*, *63*(1-2), 245–251. http://doi.org/10.1016/0165-3806(91)90084-V
- Bellido, I., Díaz-Cabialel, Z., Jiménez-Vasquez, P. A., Andbjer, B., Mathé, A. A., & Fuxe, K. (2002). Increased density of galanin binding sites in the dorsal raphe in a genetic rat model of depression. *Neuroscience Letters*, 317(2), 101–105. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(01)02446-6
- Belmonte, M. K., & Bourgeron, T. (2006). Fragile X syndrome and autism at the intersection of genetic and neural networks. *Nature Neuroscience*, 9(10), 1221–1225. http://doi.org/10.1038/nn1765
- Ben-Ami Bartal, I., Decety, J., Mason, P., & Ben-Ami Bartal, I. (2011). Empathy and Pro-Social Behavior in Rats. *Science*, *334*(6061), 1427–1430. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1210789
- Benes, F. M., Taylor, J. B., & Cunningham, M. C. (2000). Convergence and plasticity of monoaminergic systems in the medial prefrontal cortex during the postnatal period: implications for the development of psychopathology. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991), 10, 1014–1027. http://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/10.1014*
- Benjamini, Y., & Hochberg, Y. (1995). Controlling the false discovery rate: A practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B* (*Methodological*), 57(1), 289–300. http://doi.org/10.2307/2346101
- Bergstrom, J. D., Bostedor, R. G., Masarachia, P. J., Reszka, A. A., & Rodan, G. (2000). Alendronate Is a Specific, Nanomolar Inhibitor of Farnesyl Diphosphate Synthase. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, *373*(1), 231–241. http://doi.org/10.1006/abbi.1999.1502
- Berry, R. J. (1970). The natural history of the house mouse. *Field Studies*.
- Berry-Kravis E Hagerman R, Budimirovic D, Kaufmann W, Bear M, Walton-Bowen K, Carpenter R, Wang P, V. J. (2014). Arbaclofen in fragile X syndrome: Results of phase 3 trials. *Annals of Neurology*. Retrieved from

http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=cctr&NEWS=N&AN=CN-01055346

- Berry-Kravis, E. (2002). Epilepsy in fragile X syndrome. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, 44(11), 724–728. http://doi.org/10.1017/S0012162201002833
- Berry-Kravis, E. (2014). Mechanism-based treatments in neurodevelopmental disorders: Fragile X syndrome. *Pediatric Neurology*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2013.12.001
- Berry-Kravis, E., Des Portes, V., Hagerman, R., Jacquemont, S., Charles, P., Visootsak, J., ... Von Raison, F. (2016). Mavoglurant in fragile X syndrome: Results of two randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trials. *Science Translational Medicine*, 8(321). Retrieved from http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L6077 69397\nhttp://dx.doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aab4109\nhttp://findit.library.jhu.edu/ resolve?sid=EMBASE&issn=19466242&id=doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aab4109&atitle=Ma voglurant+in
- Berry-Kravis, E., Hessl, D., Abbeduto, L., Reiss, A. L., Beckel-Mitchener, A., & Urv, T. K. (2013). Outcome measures for clinical trials in fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics : JDBP*, 34(7), 508–22. http://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0b013e31829d1f20

- Berry-Kravis, E., Hessl, D., Coffey, S., Hervey, C., Schneider, A., Yuhas, J., ... Hagerman, R. (2009). A pilot open label, single dose trial of fenobam in adults with fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, 46(4), 266–71. http://doi.org/10.1136/jmg.2008.063701
- Berry-Kravis, E., Knox, A., & Hervey, C. (2011). Targeted treatments for fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Neurodevelopmental Disorders*, 3(3), 193–210. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11689-011-9074-7
- Berry-Kravis, E., Levin, R., Shah, H., Mathur, S., Darnell, J. C., & Ouyang, B. (2015). Cholesterol levels in Fragile X syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics, Part A*, 167(2), 379– 384. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.36850
- Berry-Kravis, E. M., Hessl, D., Rathmell, B., Zarevics, P., Cherubini, M., Walton-Bowen, K., ... Hagerman, R. J. (2012). Effects of STX209 (arbaclofen) on neurobehavioral function in children and adults with fragile X syndrome: a randomized, controlled, phase 2 trial. *Science Translational Medicine*, 4(152), 152ra127. http://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3004214
- Berry-Kravis, E., Sumis, A., Hervey, C., Nelson, M., Porges, S. W., Weng, N., ... Greenough, W. T. (2008). Open-label treatment trial of lithium to target the underlying defect in fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics : JDBP*, *29*(4), 293–302. http://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0b013e31817dc447
- Berzhanskaya, J., Phillips, M. A., Gorin, A., Lai, C., Shen, J., & Colonnese, M. T. (2016). Disrupted Cortical State Regulation in a Rat Model of Fragile X Syndrome. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*, bhv331–. http://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhv331
- Berzhanskaya, J., Phillips, M. A., Shen, J., & Colonnese, M. T. (2016). Sensory hypo-excitability in a rat model of fetal development in Fragile X Syndrome. *Nature Publishing Group*, (April), 1–11. http://doi.org/10.1038/srep30769
- Bevins, R. a, & Besheer, J. (2006). Object recognition in rats and mice: a one-trial non-matchingto-sample learning task to study "recognition memory". *Nature Protocols*, 1(3), 1306– 1311. http://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2006.205
- Bhattacharya, A., Kaphzan, H., Alvarez-Dieppa, A. C., Murphy, J. P., Pierre, P., & Klann, E. (2012). Genetic Removal of p70 S6 Kinase 1 Corrects Molecular, Synaptic, and Behavioral Phenotypes in Fragile X Syndrome Mice. *Neuron*, 76(2), 325–337. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.07.022
- Bilousova, T. V., Rusakov, D. A., Ethell, D. W., & Ethell, I. M. (2006). Matrix metalloproteinase-7 disrupts dendritic spines in hippocampal neurons through NMDA receptor activation. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 97(1), 44–56. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.03701.x
- Bilousova, T. V, Dansie, L., Ngo, M., Aye, J., Charles, J. R., Ethell, D. W., & Ethell, I. M. (2009). Minocycline promotes dendritic spine maturation and improves behavioural performance in the fragile X mouse model. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, 46(2), 94–102. http://doi.org/10.1136/jmg.2008.061796
- Binder, E. B., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2010). The CRF system, stress, depression and anxiety: Insights from human genetic studies. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 15(6), 574–588. http://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2009.141
- Birrell, J. M., & Brown, V. J. (2000). Medial frontal cortex mediates perceptual attentional set shifting in the rat. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 20(11), 4320–4. http://doi.org/20/11/4320 [pii]
- Blanchard, D. C., Summers, C. H., & Blanchard, R. J. (2013). The role of behavior in translational models for psychopathology: Functionality and dysfunctional behaviors. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.06.008
- Blanchard, R. J., Blanchard, D. C., Agullana, R., & Weiss, S. M. (1991). Twenty-two kHz alarm cries to presentation of a predator, by laboratory rats living in visible burrow systems. *Physiology and Behavior*, 50(5), 967–972. http://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(91)90423-L
- Blanchard, R. J., Blanchard, D. C., Rodgers, J., & Weiss, S. M. (1990). The characterization and modelling of antipredator defensive behavior. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 14(4), 463–472. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-7634(05)80069-7
- Blanchard, R. J., Griebel, G., Henrie, J. A., & Blanchard, D. C. (1997). Differentiation of anxiolytic and panicolytic drugs by effects on rat and mouse defense test batteries. In *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* (Vol. 21, pp. 783–789). http://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-

7634(96)00062-0

- Blankenship, A. G., & Feller, M. B. (2010). Mechanisms underlying spontaneous patterned activity in developing neural circuits. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *11*(1), 18–29. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2759
- Boccuto, L., Lauri, M., Sarasua, S. M., Skinner, C. D., Buccella, D., Dwivedi, A., ... Schwartz, C. E. (2012). Prevalence of SHANK3 variants in patients with different subtypes of autism spectrum disorders. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, *21*(3), 310–316. http://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2012.175
- Boismare, F., Daoust, M., Moore, N., Saligaut, C., Lhuintre, J. P., Chretien, P., & Durlach, J. (1984). A homotaurine derivative reduces the voluntary intake of ethanol by rats: Are cerebral GABA receptors involved? *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, *21*(5), 787–789. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0091-3057(84)80020-9
- Börner, A., Hjemdahl, R., Götz, T., & Brown, G. R. (2016). Ultrasonic Vocalizations of Female Norway Rats (Rattus norvegicus) in Response to Social Partners. *Journal of Comparative Psychology*, 130(1), 76–80. http://doi.org/10.1037/com0000017
- Bostrom, C., Yau, S., Majaess, N., Vetrici, M., Gil-Mohapel, J., & Christie, B. R. (2016). Hippocampal dysfunction and cognitive impairment in Fragile-X Syndrome. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *68*, 563–574. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.06.033
- Bouwknecht, J. A., & Paylor, R. (2008). Pitfalls in the interpretation of genetic and pharmacological effects on anxiety-like behaviour in rodents. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, 19, 385–402. http://doi.org/10.1097/FBP.0b013e32830c3658
- Bozdagi, O., Tavassoli, T., & Buxbaum, J. D. (2013). Insulin-like growth factor-1 rescues synaptic and motor deficits in a mouse model of autism and developmental delay. *Molecular Autism*, 4(1), 9. http://doi.org/10.1186/2040-2392-4-9
- Braat, S., D'Hulst, C., Heulens, I., de Rubeis, S., Mientjes, E., Nelson, D. L., ... Kooy, R. F. (2015). The GABAA receptor is an FMRP target with therapeutic potential in fragile X syndrome. *Cell Cycle*, *14*(18), 2985–2995. http://doi.org/10.4161/15384101.2014.989114
- Braat, S., & Kooy, R. F. (2015). The GABA A Receptor as a Therapeutic Target for Neurodevelopmental Disorders. *Neuron*, *86*(5), 1119–1130. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2015.03.042
- Braff, D. L., Geyer, M. A., & Swerdlow, N. R. (2001). Human studies of prepulse inhibition of startle: Normal subjects, patient groups, and pharmacological studies. *Psychopharmacology*. http://doi.org/10.1007/s002130100810
- Brain, P. F. (1971). The physiology of population limitation in rodents--a review. *Communications in Behavioral Biology. Part A: [Original Articles], 6*(2), 115–23. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4943987
- Brown, V., Jin, P., Ceman, S., Darnell, J. C., O'Donnell, W. T., Tenenbaum, S. A., ... Warren, S. T. (2001). Microarray identification of FMRP-associated brain mRNAs and altered mRNA translational profiles in fragile X syndrome. *Cell*. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00568-2
- Buchovecky, C. M., Turley, S. D., Brown, H. M., Kyle, S. M., McDonald, J. G., Liu, B., ... Justice, M. J. (2013). A suppressor screen in Mecp2 mutant mice implicates cholesterol metabolism in Rett syndrome. *Nature Genetics*, 45(9), 1013–20. http://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2714
- Buehr, M., Meek, S., Blair, K., Yang, J., Ure, J., Silva, J., ... Smith, A. (2008). Capture of Authentic Embryonic Stem Cells from Rat Blastocysts. *Cell*, *135*(7), 1287–1298. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.12.007
- Buffington, S. a, Huang, W., & Costa-Mattioli, M. (2014). Translational Control in Synaptic Plasticity and Cognitive Dysfunction. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *37*, 17–38. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-071013-014100
- Burgdorf, J., Moskal, J., Brudzynski, S., & Panksepp, J. (2013). Rats selectively bred for low levels of play-induced 50 kHz vocalizations as a model for autism spectrum disorders: a role for NMDA receptors. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *251*, 18–24. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2013.04.022
- Busquets-Garcia, A., Gomis-Gonzalez, M., Guegan, T., Agustin-Pavon, C., Pastor, A., Mato, S., ... Ozaita, A. (2013). Targeting the endocannabinoid system in the treatment of fragile X syndrome. *Nature Medicine*, *19*(5), 603–607. http://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3127
- Cabungcal, J. H., Counotte, D. S., Lewis, E. M., Tejeda, H. A., Piantadosi, P., Pollock, C., ... O'Donnell,

P. (2014). Juvenile Antioxidant Treatment Prevents Adult Deficits in a Developmental Model of Schizophrenia. *Neuron*, *83*(5), 1073–1084. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.07.028

- Çaku, A., Pellerin, D., Bouvier, P., Riou, E., & Corbin, F. (2014). Effect of lovastatin on behavior in children and adults with fragile X syndrome: An open-label study. *American Journal of Medical Genetics, Part A*, 164(11), 2834–2842. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.36750
- Calabrese, E., Badea, A., Watson, C., & Johnson, G. A. (2013). A quantitative magnetic resonance histology atlas of postnatal rat brain development with regional estimates of growth and variability. *NeuroImage*, *71*, 196–206. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.01.017
- Cartagena, C. M., Phillips, K. L., Williams, G. L., Konopko, M., Tortella, F. C., Dave, J. R., & Schmid, K. E. (2013). Mechanism of action for NNZ-2566 anti-inflammatory effects following PBBI involves upregulation of immunomodulator ATF3. *NeuroMolecular Medicine*, *15*(3), 504–514. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12017-013-8236-z
- Carter, R. B., Wood, P. L., Wieland, S., Hawkinson, J. E., Belelli, D., Lambert, J. J., ... Gee, K. W. (1997). Characterization of the Anticonvulsant Properties of Ganaxolone (CCD 1042; 3α-Hydroxy-3β-methyl-5α-pregnan-20-one), a Selective, High-Affinity, Steroid Modulator of the γ-Aminobutyric AcidA Receptor. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, *280*(3), 1284–1295. Retrieved from http://jpet.aspetjournals.org/content/280/3/1284.abstract
- Cenci, M. A., Whishaw, I. Q., & Schallert, T. (2002). Animal models of neurological deficits: how relevant is the rat? *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, *3*(7), 574–579. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrn877
- Cerezo-Guisado, M. I., García-Román, N., García-Marín, L. J., Alvarez-Barrientos, A., Bragado, M. J., & Lorenzo, M. J. (2007). Lovastatin inhibits the extracellular-signal-regulated kinase pathway in immortalized rat brain neuroblasts. *The Biochemical Journal*, 401(1), 175–83. http://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20060731
- Chabernaud, C., Mennes, M., Kardel, P. G., Gaillard, W. D., Kalbfleisch, M. L., VanMeter, J. W., ... Acosta, M. T. (2012). Lovastatin regulates brain spontaneous low-frequency brain activity in Neurofibromatosis type 1. *Neuroscience Letters*, *515*(1), 28–33. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2012.03.009
- Chao, O. Y., Huston, J. P., Li, J. S., Wang, A. L., & de Souza Silva, M. A. (2016). The medial prefrontal cortex-lateral entorhinal cortex circuit is essential for episodic-like memory and associative object-recognition. *Hippocampus*, *26*(5), 633–645. http://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22547

Ching, H., & Pringsheim, T. (2012). Aripiprazole for autism spectrum disorders (ASD). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (5), 1–42. http://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD009043.pub2

- Chistyakov, V. S., & Tsibulsky, V. L. (2006). How to achieve chronic intravenous drug selfadministration in mice. *Journal of Pharmacological and Toxicological Methods*, 53(2), 117– 127. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.vascn.2005.03.009
- Chiurazzi, P., Neri, G., & Oostra, B. a. (2003). Understanding the biological underpinnings of fragile X syndrome. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics*, *15*(6), 559–66. http://doi.org/10.1097/00008480-200312000-00003
- Choi, C. H., Schoenfeld, B. P., Bell, A. J., Hinchey, P., Kollaros, M., Gertner, M. J., ... McBride, S. M. J. (2011). Pharmacological reversal of synaptic plasticity deficits in the mouse model of Fragile X syndrome by group II mGluR antagonist or lithium treatment. *Brain Research*, 1380, 106–119. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2010.11.032
- Chuang, S.-C., Zhao, W., Bauchwitz, R., Yan, Q., Bianchi, R., & Wong, R. K. S. (2005). Prolonged epileptiform discharges induced by altered group I metabotropic glutamate receptormediated synaptic responses in hippocampal slices of a fragile X mouse model. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *25*(35), 8048–55. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1777-05.2005
- Chudley, A. E., Knoll, J., Gerrard, J. W., Shepel, L., McGahey, E., & Anderson, J. (1983). Fragile (X)
 X-linked mental retardation I: relationship between age and intelligence and the frequency of expression of fragil (X)(q28). *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 14(4), 699–712.
- Cianchetti, C., Sannio-Fancello, G., Fratta, A. L., Manconi, F., Orano, A., Pischedda, M. P., ... Filippi, G. (1991). Neuropsychological, psychiatric, and physical manifestations in 149 members

from 18 fragile X families. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 40(2), 234–43. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.1320400222

- Clapp, K. (2014). Novartis Discontinues Development of mavoglurant (AFQ056) for Fragile X Syndrome. Retrieved July 16, 2016, from http://www.fraxa.org/novartis-discontinuesdevelopment-mavoglurant-afq056-fragile-x-syndrome/
- Cohen, I. L., Fisch, G. S., Sudhalter, V., Wolf-Schein, E. G., Hanson, D., Hagerman, R., ... Brown, W. T. (1988). Social gaze, social avoidance, and repetitive behavior in fragile X males: a controlled study. *American Journal of Mental Retardation : AJMR, 92*(5), 436–46. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2965890
- Comery, T. a, Harris, J. B., Willems, P. J., Oostra, B. a, Irwin, S. a, Weiler, I. J., & Greenough, W. T. (1997). Abnormal dendritic spines in fragile X knockout mice: maturation and pruning deficits. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(10), 5401–5404. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.10.5401
- Cornish, K., Cole, V., Longhi, E., Karmiloff-Smith, A., & Scerif, G. (2013). Mapping developmental trajectories of attention and working memory in fragile X syndrome: developmental freeze or developmental change? *Development and Psychopathology*, *25*(2), 365–76. http://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579412001113
- Cornish, K., Kogan, C., Turk, J., Manly, T., James, N., Mills, A., & Dalton, A. (2005). The emerging fragile X premutation phenotype: Evidence from the domain of social cognition. *Brain and Cognition*, *57*(1), 53–60. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2004.08.020
- Cornish, K. M., Munir, F., & Cross, G. (1998). The nature of the spatial deficit in young females with Fragile-X syndrome: A neuropsychological and molecular perspective. *Neuropsychologia*, *36*(11), 1239–1246. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0028-3932(97)00162-0
- Cornish, K. M., Munir, F., & Cross, G. (1999). Spatial cognition in males with Fragile-X syndrome: evidence for a neuropsychological phenotype. *Cortex; a Journal Devoted to the Study of the Nervous System and Behavior*, 35(2), 263–71. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0010-9452(08)70799-8
- Cornish, K. M., Turk, J., Wilding, J., Sudhalter, V., Munir, F., Kooy, F., & Hagerman, R. (2004).
- Annotation: Deconstructing the attention deficit in fragile X syndrome: A developmental neuropsychological approach. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.t01-1-00297.x
- Cornish, K., Munir, F., & Cross, G. (2001). Differential impact of the FMR-1 full mutation on memory and attention functioning : a neuropsychological perspective. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *13*(1), 144–150. http://doi.org/10.1162/089892901564126
- Counotte, D. S., Li, K. W., Wortel, J., Gouwenberg, Y., Van Der Schors, R. C., Smit, A. B., & Spijker, S. (2010). Changes in molecular composition of rat medial prefrontal cortex synapses during adolescent development. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *32*(9), 1452–1460. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07404.x
- Crabbe, J. C., Wahlsten, D., & Dudek, B. C. (1999). Genetics of mouse behavior: interactions with laboratory environment. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 284*(5420), 1670–2. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5420.1670
- Crawford, D. C., Acuña, J. M., & Sherman, S. L. (2001). FMR1 and the fragile X syndrome: human genome epidemiology review. *Genetics in Medicine : Official Journal of the American College of Medical Genetics*, *3*(5), 359–371. http://doi.org/10.1097/00125817-200109000-00006
- Crawford, M. P. (1939). The social psychology of the vertebrates. *Psychological Bulletin*, *36*(6), 407–446. http://doi.org/10.1037/h0056268
- Crawley, J., & Goodwin, F. K. (1980). Preliminary report of a simple animal behavior model for the anxiolytic effects of benzodiazepines. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior, 13*(2), 167–170. http://doi.org/10.1016/0091-3057(80)90067-2
- Crawley, J. N. (1985). Exploratory behavior models of anxiety in mice. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 9(1), 37–44. http://doi.org/10.1016/0149-7634(85)90030-2
- Crawley, J. N., Olschowka, J. A., Diz, D. I., & Jacobowitz, D. M. (1985). Behavioral investigation of the coexistence of substance P, corticotropin releasing factor, and acetylcholinesterase in lateral dorsal tegmental neurons projecting to the medial frontal cortex of the rat. *Peptides*, 6(5), 891–901. http://doi.org/10.1016/0196-9781(85)90320-1
- Cressant, A., Besson, M., Suarez, S., Cormier, A., & Granon, S. (2007). Spatial learning in Long-Evans Hooded rats and C57BL/6J mice: Different strategies for different performance.

Behavioural Brain Research, 177(1), 22–29. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2006.11.010

- Cronister, A., Schreiner, R., Wittenberger, M., Amiri, K., Harris, K., & Hagerman, R. J. (1991). Heterozygous fragile X female: Historical, physical, cognitive, and cytogenetic features. In *American Journal of Medical Genetics* (Vol. 38, pp. 269–274). http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.1320380221
- Cui, J., Renaud, H. J., & Klaassen, C. D. (2012). Ontogeny of novel cytochrome P450 gene isoforms during postnatal liver maturation in mice. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition*, 40(6), 1226– 1237. http://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.111.042697
- Cunningham, C. L., Cerde??o, V. M., Porras, E. N., Prakash, A. N., Angelastro, J. M., Willemsen, R., ... Noctor, S. C. (2011). Premutation CGG-repeat expansion of the Fmr1 gene impairs mouse neocortical development. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *20*(1), 64–79. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddq432
- Curzon, P., Kim, D. J. B., & Decker, M. W. (1994). Effect of nicotine, lobeline, and mecamylamine on sensory gating in the rat. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior*, 49(4), 877–882. http://doi.org/10.1016/0091-3057(94)90237-2
- D'Hooge, R., Nagels, G., Franck, F., Bakker, C. E., Reyniers, E., Storm, K., ... De Deyn, P. P. (1997). Mildly impaired water maze performance in male Fmr1 knockout mice. *Neuroscience*, 76(2), 367–376. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(96)00224-2
- Dansie, L. E., Phommahaxay, K., Okusanya, A. G., Uwadia, J., Huang, M., Rotschafer, S. E., ... Ethell, I. M. (2013). Long-lasting effects of minocycline on behavior in young but not adult Fragile X mice. *Neuroscience*, *246*, 186–198. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.04.058
- Darnell, J. C., Van Driesche, S. J., Zhang, C., Hung, K. Y. S., Mele, A., Fraser, C. E., ... Darnell, R. B. (2011). FMRP stalls ribosomal translocation on mRNAs linked to synaptic function and autism. *Cell*, 146(2), 247–261. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.06.013
- Das, I., Park, J.-M., Shin, J. H., Jeon, S. K., Lorenzi, H., Linden, D. J., ... Reeves, R. H. (2013). Hedgehog agonist therapy corrects structural and cognitive deficits in a Down syndrome mouse model. *Science Translational Medicine*, 5(201), 201ra120. http://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3005983
- Davidovic, L., Jaglin, X. H., Lepagnol-Bestel, A. M., Tremblay, S., Simonneau, M., Bardoni, B., & Khandjian, E. W. (2007). The fragile X mental retardation protein is a molecular adaptor between the neurospecific KIF3C kinesin and dendritic RNA granules. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 16(24), 3047–3058. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddm263
- Daw, M. I., Ashby, M. C., & Isaac, J. T. R. (2007). Coordinated developmental recruitment of latent fast spiking interneurons in layer IV barrel cortex. *Nature Neuroscience*, *10*(4), 453–461. http://doi.org/10.1038/nn1866
- De Bruin, E. I., Ferdinand, R. F., Meester, S., De Nijs, P. F. A., & Verheij, F. (2007). High rates of psychiatric co-morbidity in PDD-NOS. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *37*(5), 877–886. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-006-0215-x
- de Diego-Otero, Y., Romero-Zerbo, Y., el Bekay, R., Decara, J., Sanchez, L., Rodriguez-de Fonseca, F., & del Arco-Herrera, I. (2009). Alpha-tocopherol protects against oxidative stress in the fragile X knockout mouse: an experimental therapeutic approach for the Fmr1 deficiency. *Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology, 34*(4), 1011–1026. http://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2008.152
- De Felice, C., Signorini, C., Durand, T., Ciccoli, L., Leoncini, S., D'Esposito, M., ... Hayek, J. (2012). Partial rescue of Rett syndrome by omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) oil. *Genes Nutr*, 7(3), 447–458. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12263-012-0285-7
- de Vries, B. B., Jansen, C. C., Duits, A. A., Verheij, C., Willemsen, R., van Hemel, J. O., … Halley, D. J. (1996). Variable FMR1 gene methylation of large expansions leads to variable phenotype in three males from one fragile X family. *J. Med. Genet.*, *33*(12), 1007–1010. Retrieved from http://research.bmn.com/medline/search/record?uid=97157853
- De Vries, T. J., Schoffelmeer, A. N. M., Binnekade, R., Mulder, A. H., & Vanderschuren, L. J. M. J. (1998). Drug-induced reinstatement of heroin- and cocaine-seeking behaviour following long-term extinction is associated with expression of behavioural sensitization. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *10*(11), 3565–3571. http://doi.org/10.1046/j.1460-9568.1998.00368.x
- de Vrij, F. M. S., Levenga, J., van der Linde, H. C., Koekkoek, S. K., De Zeeuw, C. I., Nelson, D. L., ... Willemsen, R. (2008). Rescue of behavioral phenotype and neuronal protrusion

morphology in Fmr1 KO mice. *Neurobiology of Disease*, *31*(1), 127–132. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2008.04.002

- Deacon, R. M. J. (2006). Digging and marble burying in mice: simple methods for in vivo identification of biological impacts. *Nature Protocols*, *1*(1), 122–124. http://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2006.20
- Deacon, R. M. J., Glass, L., Snape, M., Hurley, M. J., Altimiras, F. J., Biekofsky, R. R., & Cogram, P. (2015). NNZ-2566, a Novel Analog of (1–3) IGF-1, as a Potential Therapeutic Agent for Fragile X Syndrome. *NeuroMolecular Medicine*, *17*(1), 71–82. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12017-015-8341-2
- Deacon, R. M. J., & Rawlins, J. N. P. (2006). T-maze alternation in the rodent. *Nature Protocols*, 1(1), 7–12. http://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2006.2
- Debono, M. W., Le Guern, J., Canton, T., Doble, A., & Pradier, L. (1993). Inhibition by riluzole of electrophysiological responses mediated by rat kainate and NMDA receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, *235*(2-3), 283–289. http://doi.org/10.1016/0014-2999(93)90147-A
- Deng, P. Y., Rotman, Z., Blundon, J. A., Cho, Y., Cui, J., Cavalli, V., ... Klyachko, V. A. (2013). FMRP Regulates Neurotransmitter Release and Synaptic Information Transmission by Modulating Action Potential Duration via BK Channels. *Neuron*, 77(4), 696–711. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.12.018
- Derecki, N. C., Cronk, J. C., & Kipnis, J. (2013). The role of microglia in brain maintenance: Implications for Rett syndrome. *Trends in Immunology*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2012.10.002
- Descamps, O. S., Tenoutasse, S., Stephenne, X., Gies, I., Beauloye, V., Lebrethon, M. C., ... Heller, F. R. (2011). Management of familial hypercholesterolemia in children and young adults: Consensus paper developed by a panel of lipidologists, cardiologists, paediatricians, nutritionists, gastroenterologists, general practitioners and a patient organization. *Atherosclerosis*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2011.06.016
- Devys, D., Lutz, Y., Rouyer, N., Bellocq, J. P., & Mandel, J. L. (1993). The FMR-1 protein is cytoplasmic, most abundant in neurons and appears normal in carriers of a fragile X premutation. *Nature Genetics*, 4(4), 335–340. http://doi.org/10.1038/ng0893-335
- DiCicco-Bloom, E., Lord, C., Zwaigenbaum, L., Courchesne, E., Dager, S. R., Schmitz, C., ... Young, L. J. (2006). The developmental neurobiology of autism spectrum disorder. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 26*(26), 6897–6906. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1712-06.2006
- Dictenberg, J. B., Swanger, S. A., Antar, L. N., Singer, R. H., & Bassell, G. J. (2008). A Direct Role for FMRP in Activity-Dependent Dendritic mRNA Transport Links Filopodial-Spine Morphogenesis to Fragile X Syndrome. *Developmental Cell*, *14*(6), 926–939. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2008.04.003
- Ding, Q., Sethna, F., & Wang, H. (2014). Behavioral analysis of male and female Fmr1 knockout mice on C57BL/6 background. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *271*, 72–78. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.05.046
- Dobkin, C., Rabe, A., Dumas, R., El Idrissi, A., Haubenstock, H., & Ted Brown, W. (2000). Fmr1 knockout mouse has a distinctive strain-specific learning impairment. *Neuroscience*, *100*(2), 423–429. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(00)00292-X
- Dolan, B. M., Duron, S. G., Campbell, D. a, Vollrath, B., Shankaranarayana Rao, B. S., Ko, H.-Y., ... Tonegawa, S. (2013). Rescue of fragile X syndrome phenotypes in Fmr1 KO mice by the small-molecule PAK inhibitor FRAX486. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *110*(14), 5671–6. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1219383110
- Dölen, G., Osterweil, E., Rao, B. S. S., Smith, G. B., Auerbach, B. D., Chattarji, S., & Bear, M. F. (2007). Correction of Fragile X Syndrome in Mice. *Neuron*, *56*(6), 955–962. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2007.12.001
- Dolgin, E. (2010). The knockout rat pack. *Nature Medicine*, *16*(3), 254–257. http://doi.org/10.1038/nm0310-254
- Doll, C. A., & Broadie, K. (2016). Neuron class-specific requirements for Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein in critical period development of calcium signaling in learning and memory circuitry. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 89, 76–87. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2016.02.006

- Dulac, C., & Torello, a T. (2003). Molecular detection of pheromone signals in mammals: from genes to behaviour. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, *4*(7), 551–562. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1140
- Dunn, A. J., & Swiergiel, A. H. (2008). Effects of acute and chronic stressors and CRF in rat and mouse tests for depression. In *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* (Vol. 1148, pp. 118–126). http://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1410.022
- Dupret, D., O'Neill, J., Pleydell-Bouverie, B., & Csicsvari, J. (2010). The reorganization and reactivation of hippocampal maps predict spatial memory performance. *Nature Neuroscience*, *13*(8), 995–1002. http://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2599
- Dury, A. Y., El Fatimy, R., Tremblay, S., Rose, T. M., Côté, J., De Koninck, P., & Khandjian, E. W. (2013). Nuclear Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein Is localized to Cajal Bodies. *PLoS Genetics*, 9(10). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003890
- Dusek, J. a, & Eichenbaum, H. (1997). The hippocampus and memory for orderly stimulus relations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(13), 7109–14. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.13.7109
- Dykens, E., Leckman, J., Paul, R., & Watson, M. (1988). Cognitive, behavioral, and adaptive functioning in fragile X and non-fragile X retarded men. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *18*(1), 41–52. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF02211817
- Dykens, E. M., Hodapp, R. M., & Leckman, J. F. (1987). Strengths and weaknesses in the intellectual functioning of males with fragile X syndrome. *American Journal of Mental Deficiency*, 92(4), 234–236.
- DYKENS, E. M., HODAPP, R. M., ORT, S., FINUCANE, B., SHAPIRO, L. R., & LECKMAN, J. F. (1989). The Trajectory of Cognitive Development in Males with Fragile X Syndrome. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *28*(3), 422–426. http://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-198905000-00020
- Dziembowska, M., Pretto, D. I., Janusz, A., Kaczmarek, L., Leigh, M. J., Gabriel, N., ... Tassone, F. (2013). High MMP-9 activity levels in fragile X syndrome are lowered by minocycline. *American Journal of Medical Genetics, Part A*, *161*(8), 1897–1903. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.36023
- Ehninger, D., Han, S., Shilyansky, C., Zhou, Y., Li, W., Kwiatkowski, D. J., ... Silva, a J. (2008). Reversal of learning deficits in a Tsc2+/- mouse model of tuberous sclerosis. *Nat Med*, 14(8), 843–848. http://doi.org/10.1038/nm1788
- Eiland, L. S., & Luttrell, P. K. (2010). Use of statins for dyslipidemia in the pediatric population. *The Journal of Pediatric Pharmacology and Therapeutics : JPPT : The Official Journal of PPAG*, 15(3), 160–72. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3018249&tool=pmcentrez& rendertype=abstract
- El Bekay, R., Romero-Zerbo, Y., Decara, J., Sanchez-Salido, L., Del Arco-Herrera, I., Rodr??guez-De Fonseca, F., & De Diego-Otero, Y. (2007). Enhanced markers of oxidative stress, altered antioxidants and NADPH-oxidase activation in brains from Fragile X mental retardation 1deficient mice, a pathological model for Fragile X syndrome. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *26*(11), 3169–3180. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05939.x
- El Idrissi, A., & Trenkner, E. (1999). Growth factors and taurine protect against excitotoxicity by stabilizing calcium homeostasis and energy metabolism. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 19*(21), 9459–9468. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10531449
- Ellenbroek, B., & Youn, J. (2016). Rodent models in neuroscience research: is it a rat race? *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, 9(10), 1079–1087. http://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.026120
- Engineer, C. T., Centanni, T. M., Im, K. W., Rahebi, K. C., Buell, E. P., & Kilgard, M. P. (2014). Degraded speech sound processing in a rat model of fragile X syndrome. *Brain Research*, *1564*, 72–84. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.03.049
- Enna, S. J., & Williams, M. (2009). Challenges in the search for drugs to treat central nervous system disorders. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, *329*(2), 404–411. http://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.108.143420.therapies
- Erickson, C. A., Mullett, J. E., & McDougle, C. J. (2009). Open-label memantine in fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *39*(12), 1629–1635. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-009-0807-3

- Erickson, C. A., Mullett, J. E., & McDougle, C. J. (2010). Brief report: Acamprosate in fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *40*(11), 1412–1416. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-010-0988-9
- Erickson, C. A., Ray, B., Maloney, B., Wink, L. K., Bowers, K., Schaefer, T. L., ... Lahiri, D. K. (2014). Impact of acamprosate on plasma amyloid-?? precursor protein in youth: A pilot analysis in fragile X syndrome-associated and idiopathic autism spectrum disorder suggests a pharmacodynamic protein marker. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *59*, 220–228. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.07.011
- Erickson, C. A., Stigler, K. A., Posey, D. J., & McDougle, C. J. (2010). Aripiprazole in autism spectrum disorders and fragile X syndrome. *Neurotherapeutics*, *7*, 258–263. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nurt.2010.04.001
- Erickson, C. A., Weng, N., Weiler, I. J., Greenough, W. T., Stigler, K. A., Wink, L. K., & McDougle, C. J. (2011). Open-label riluzole in fragile X syndrome. *Brain Research*, *1380*, 264–270. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2010.10.108
- Erickson, C. A., Wink, L. K., Ray, B., Early, M. C., Stiegelmeyer, E., Mathieu-Frasier, L., ... McDougle, C. J. (2013). Impact of acamprosate on behavior and brain-derived neurotrophic factor: an open-label study in youth with fragile X syndrome. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, *228*(1), 75– 84. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-013-3022-z
- Evans, M. J., & Kaufman, M. H. (1981). Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. *Nature*. http://doi.org/10.1038/292154a0
- Fanselow, M. S. (1985). Odors released by stressed rats produce opioid analgesia in unstressed rats. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *99*(3), 589–592. http://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.99.3.589
- Fanselow, M. S., & Kim, J. J. (1994). Acquisition of contextual Pavlovian fear conditioning is blocked by application of an NMDA receptor antagonist D,L-2-amino-5- phosphonovaleric acid to the basolateral amygdala. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *108*(1), 210–212.
- Fattore, L., Cossu, G., Martellotta, M. C., & Fratta, W. (2002). Baclofen antagonizes intravenous self-administration of nicotine in mice and rats. *Alcohol and Alcoholism (Oxford, Oxfordshire)*, *37*(5), 495–498.
- FDA. (2016). Drug Research and Children. Retrieved August 10, 2016, from http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ResourcesForYou/Consumers/ucm143565.htm
- Feng, Y., Gutekunst, C.-A., Eberhart, D. E., Yi, H., Warren, S. T., & Hersch, S. M. (1997). Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein: Nucleocytoplasmic Shuttling and Association with Somatodendritic Ribosomes. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 17(5), 1539–1547. Retrieved from

http://www.jneurosci.org/content/17/5/1539\nhttp://www.jneurosci.org/content/17/5/1539.full.pdf\nhttp://www.jneurosci.org/content/17/5/1539.long\nhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9030614

- Ferezou, I., Bolea, S., & Petersen, C. C. H. (2006). Visualizing the Cortical Representation of Whisker Touch: Voltage-Sensitive Dye Imaging in Freely Moving Mice. *Neuron*, 50(4), 617– 629. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.03.043
- Fernandez, F., Morishita, W., Zuniga, E., Nguyen, J., Blank, M., Malenka, R. C., & Garner, C. C. (2007). Pharmacotherapy for cognitive impairment in a mouse model of Down syndrome. *Nature Neuroscience*, 10(4), 411–413. http://doi.org/10.1038/nn1860
- Finestack, L. H., Richmond, E. K., & Abbeduto, L. (2009). Language Development in Individuals with Fragile X Syndrome. *Topics in Language Disorders*, 29(2), 133–148. http://doi.org/10.1097/TLD.0b013e3181a72016
- Fisch, G. S., Holden, J. J., Simensen, R., Carpenter, N., Howard-Peebles, P. N., Maddalena, A., ... McGann, B. (1994). Is fragile X syndrome a pervasive developmental disability? Cognitive ability and adaptive behavior in males with the full mutation. *Am J Med Genet*, *51*(4), 346– 352. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.1320510410 [doi]
- Fisch, G. S., Simensen, R. J., & Schroer, R. J. (2002). Longitudinal Changes in Cognitive and Adaptive Behavior Scores in Children and Adolescents with the Fragile X Mutation or Autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *32*(2), 107–114. http://doi.org/10.1023/A:1014888505185
- Fisch, G. S., Simensen, R., Tarleton, J., Chalifoux, M., Holden, J. J., Carpenter, N., ... Maddalena, A. (1996). Longitudinal study of cognitive abilities and adaptive behavior levels in fragile X

males: a prospective multicenter analysis. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 64(2), 356–361. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-8628(19960809)64:2<356::AID-AJMG24>3.0.CO;2-D

- Fischer, J., & Hammerschmidt, K. (2011). Ultrasonic vocalizations in mouse models for speech and socio-cognitive disorders: Insights into the evolution of vocal communication. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-183X.2010.00610.x
- Foster, J. a, & Burman, M. a. (2010). Evidence for hippocampus-dependent contextual learning at postnatal day 17 in the rat. *Learning & Memory (Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y.)*, 17(5), 259–266. http://doi.org/10.1101/lm.1755810
- Frankland, P. W., Wang, Y., Rosner, B., Shimizu, T., Balleine, B. W., Dykens, E. M., ... Silva, a J. (2004). Sensorimotor gating abnormalities in young males with fragile X syndrome and Fmr1-knockout mice. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 9(4), 417–25. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4001432
- Franklin, A. V., King, M. K., Palomo, V., Martinez, A., McMahon, L. L., & Jope, R. S. (2014). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 inhibitors reverse deficits in long-term potentiation and cognition in fragile X mice. *Biological Psychiatry*, 75(3), 198–206. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.08.003
- Frick, K. M., Stillner, E. T., & Berger-Sweeney, J. (2000). Mice are not little rats: species differences in a one-day water maze task. *Neuroreport*, *11*(16), 3461–5. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11095500
- Friedmann, C. T. H., Davis, L. J., Ciccone, P. E., & Rubin, R. T. (1980). Phase II double-blind controlled study of a new anxiolytic, fenobam (McN-3377) vs placebo. *Current Therapeutic Research - Clinical and Experimental*, 27 (2), 144–151. Retrieved from http://queens.ezp1.qub.ac.uk/login?url=http://queens.ezp1.qub.ac.uk/login?url=http://o vidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=emed1a&AN=198 0118830
- Frolli, A., Piscopo, S., & Conson, M. (2014). Developmental changes in cognitive and behavioural functioning of adolescents with fragile-X syndrome. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, *59*(july), 613–621. http://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12165
- Frye RE, Casanova MF, Fatemi SH, Folsom TD, Reutiman TJ, Brown GL, Edelson SM, Slattery JC, A. J. (2016). Neuropathological Mechanisms of Seizures in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Front Neurosci*, 10(10), 192.
- Fu, Y. H., Kuhl, D. P., Pizzuti, A., Pieretti, M., Sutcliffe, J. S., Richards, S., ... Warren, S. T. (1991). Variation of the CGG repeat at the fragile X site results in genetic instability: resolution of the Sherman paradox. *Cell*, 67(6), 1047–58. http://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(91)90283-5
- Galef, B. G. J. (1984). Social Enhancement of Food Preferences in Norway rats: A Brief Review. In C. M. Heyes & B. G. J. Galef (Eds.), *Social Learning In Animals: The Roots of Culture*.
- Gallagher, S. M., Daly, C. a, Bear, M. F., & Huber, K. M. (2004). Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase activation is required for metabotropic glutamate receptor-dependent longterm depression in hippocampal area CA1. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *24*(20), 4859–64. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5407-03.2004
- Galvez, R., Gopal, A. R., & Greenough, W. T. (2003). Somatosensory cortical barrel dendritic abnormalities in a mouse model of the fragile X mental retardation syndrome. *Brain Research*, *971*(1), 83–89. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(03)02363-1
- Galvez, R., & Greenough, W. T. (2005). Sequence of abnormal dendritic spine development in primary somatosensory cortex of a mouse model of the fragile X mental retardation syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, *135 A*(2), 155–160. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.30709
- Gantois, I., Pop, A. S., de Esch, C. E. F., Buijsen, R. A. M., Pooters, T., Gomez-Mancilla, B., ... Willemsen, R. (2013). Chronic administration of AFQ056/Mavoglurant restores social behaviour in Fmr1 knockout mice. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *239*(1), 72–79. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2012.10.059
- Garcia-Nonell, C., Ratera, E. R., Harris, S., Hessl, D., Ono, M. Y., Tartaglia, N., ... Hagerman, R. J. (2008). Secondary medical diagnosis in fragile X syndrome with and without autism spectrum disorder. *Am J Med Genet A*, *146A*(15), 1911–1916.

http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.32290

- Gatto, C. L. (2009). Temporal requirements of the fragile X mental retardation protein in modulating circadian clock circuit synaptic architecture. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, *3*. http://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.04.008.2009
- Gatto, C. L., & Broadie, K. (2010). Genetic controls balancing excitatory and inhibitory synaptogenesis in neurodevelopmental disorder models. *Frontiers in Synaptic Neuroscience*. http://doi.org/10.3389/fnsyn.2010.00004
- Gatto, C. L., Pereira, D., & Broadie, K. (2014). GABAergic circuit dysfunction in the Drosophila Fragile X syndrome model. *Neurobiology of Disease*, *65*, 142–159. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2014.01.008
- Gerlai, R., & Clayton, N. S. (1999). Analysing hippocampal function in transgenic mice: An ethological perspective. *Trends in Neurosciences*. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(98)01346-0
- Geurts, A. M., Cost, G. J., Freyvert, Y., Zeitler, B., Miller, J. C., Choi, V. M., ... Buelow, R. (2009). Knockout rats via embryo microinjection of zinc-finger nucleases. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 325(5939), 433. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1172447
- Gibbs, R. a, Weinstock, G. M., Metzker, M. L., Muzny, D. M., Sodergren, E. J., Scherer, S., ... Collins, F. (2004). Genome sequence of the Brown Norway rat yields insights into mammalian evolution. *Nature*, 428(6982), 493–521. http://doi.org/10.1038/nature02426
- Gibson, J. R., Bartley, A. F., Hays, S. A., & Huber, K. M. (2008). Imbalance of Neocortical Excitation and Inhibition and Altered UP States Reflect Network Hyperexcitability in the Mouse Model of Fragile X Syndrome. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *100*(5), 2615–2626. http://doi.org/10.1152/jn.90752.2008
- Gill, T. J., Smith, G. J., Wissler, R. W., & Kunz, H. W. (1989). The rat as an experimental animal. *Science*, *245*(4915), 269–276.
- Gilmartin, M. R., & Helmstetter, F. J. (2010). Trace and contextual fear conditioning require neural activity and NMDA receptor-dependent transmission in the medial prefrontal cortex. *Learning & Memory (Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y.)*, *17*(6), 289–96. http://doi.org/10.1101/lm.1597410
- Gilmartin, M. R., Kwapis, J. L., & Helmstetter, F. J. (2012). Trace and contextual fear conditioning are impaired following unilateral microinjection of muscimol in the ventral hippocampus or amygdala, but not the medial prefrontal cortex. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, *97*(4), 452–464. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2012.03.009
- Gocel, J., & Larson, J. (2012). Synaptic NMDA receptor-mediated currents in anterior piriform cortex are reduced in the adult fragile X mouse. *Neuroscience*, *221*, 170–181. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.06.052
- Gould, T. J., & Leach, P. T. (2014). Cellular, molecular, and genetic substrates underlying the impact of nicotine on learning. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2013.08.004
- Gouveia, T. L. F., Scorza, F. A., Silva, M. J. V., Bandeira, T. de A., Perosa, S. R., Arga??araz, G. A., ... Naffah-Mazzacoratti, M. da G. (2011). Lovastatin decreases the synthesis of inflammatory mediators in the hippocampus and blocks the hyperthermia of rats submitted to longlasting status epilepticus. *Epilepsy and Behavior*, *20*(1), 1–5. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2010.10.001
- Grandjean, J., Schroeter, A., Batata, I., & Rudin, M. (2014). Optimization of anesthesia protocol for resting-state fMRI in mice based on differential effects of anesthetics on functional connectivity patterns. *NeuroImage*, *102*(P2), 838–847. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.08.043
- Grant, P., Lougee, L., Hirschtritt, M., & Swedo, S. E. (2007). An open-label trial of riluzole, a glutamate antagonist, in children with treatment-resistant obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychopharmacology*, *17*(6), 761–767. http://doi.org/10.1089/cap.2007.0021
- Green, R. J., & Stanton, M. E. (1989). Differential ontogeny of working memory and reference memory in the rat. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 103(1), 98–105. http://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.103.1.98
- Greenfield, L. J. (2013). Molecular mechanisms of antiseizure drug activity at GABAA receptors. *Seizure*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.seizure.2013.04.015

- Greenough, W. T., Klintsova, a Y., Irwin, S. a, Galvez, R., Bates, K. E., & Weiler, I. J. (2001). Synaptic regulation of protein synthesis and the fragile X protein. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 98(13), 7101–7106. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.141145998
- Greicius, M. D., Flores, B. H., Menon, V., Glover, G. H., Solvason, H. B., Kenna, H., ... Schatzberg, A. F. (2007). Resting-State Functional Connectivity in Major Depression: Abnormally Increased Contributions from Subgenual Cingulate Cortex and Thalamus. *Biological Psychiatry*, 62(5), 429–437. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.09.020
- Greiss Hess, L., Fitzpatrick, S. E., Nguyen, D. V., Chen, Y., Gaul, K. N., Schneider, A., ... Hagerman, R. J. (2016). A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial of Low-Dose Sertraline in Young Children With Fragile X Syndrome. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 1. http://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0000000000334
- GRIEBEL, G., PERRAULT, G., & SANGER, D. (1997). A Comparative Study of the Effects of Selective and Non-Selective 5-HT2 Receptor Subtype Antagonists in Rat and Mouse Models of Anxiety. *Neuropharmacology*, 36(6), 793–802. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0028-3908(97)00034-8
- Grønskov, K., Hallberg, A., & Brøndum-Nielsen, K. (1998). Mutational analysis of the FMR1 gene in 118 mentally retarded males suspected of fragile X syndrome: Absence of prevalent mutations. *Human Genetics*, *102*(4), 440–445. http://doi.org/10.1007/s004390050718
- Gross, C., Berry-Kravis, E. M., & Bassell, G. J. (2012). Therapeutic Strategies in Fragile X Syndrome: Dysregulated mGluR Signaling and Beyond. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *37*(1), 178–195. http://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2011.137
- Gruss, M., & Braun, K. (2001). Alterations of Amino Acids and Monoamine Metabolism in Male Fmr1 Knockout Mice: A Putative Animal Model of the Human Fragile X Mental Retardation Syndrome. *Neural Plasticity*, 8(4), 285–298. http://doi.org/10.1155/NP.2001.285
- Guo, W., Allan, A. M., Zong, R., Zhang, L., Johnson, E. B., Schaller, E. G., ... Zhao, X. (2011). Ablation of Fmrp in adult neural stem cells disrupts hippocampus-dependent learning. *Nature Medicine*, *17*(5), 559–565. http://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2336
- Guo, W., Murthy, A. C., Zhang, L., Johnson, E. B., Schaller, E. G., Allan, A. M., & Zhao, X. (2012). Inhibition of GSK3?? improves hippocampusdependent learning and rescues neurogenesis in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 21(3), 681–691. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddr501
- Gupta, S., Ellis, S. E., Ashar, F. N., Moes, A., Bader, J. S., Zhan, J., ... Arking, D. E. (2014). Transcriptome analysis reveals dysregulation of innate immune response genes and neuronal activity-dependent genes in autism. *Nature Communications*, *5*, 5748. http://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6748
- Gutierrez-Castellanos, N., Winkelman, B. H. J., Tolosa-Rodriguez, L., Devenney, B., Reeves, R. H., & De Zeeuw, C. I. (2013). Size does not always matter: Ts65Dn Down syndrome mice show cerebellum-dependent motor learning deficits that cannot be rescued by postnatal SAG treatment. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *33*(39), 15408–13. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2198-13.2013
- Guy, J., Gan, J., Selfridge, J., Cobb, S., & Bird, A. (2007). Reversal of Neurological Defects in a Mouse Model of Rett Syndrome. *Science*, *315*(5815), 1143–1147. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1138389
- Hagerman, P. J. (2008). The fragile X prevalence paradox. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, 45(8), 498–499. http://doi.org/10.1136/jmg.2008.059055
- Hagerman, P. J., & Stafstrom, C. E. (2009). Origins of Epilepsy in Fragile X Syndrome. *Epilepsy Currents*, *9*(4), 108–112. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1535-7511.2009.01309.x
- Hagerman, R., Hoem, G., & Hagerman, P. (2010). Fragile X and autism: Intertwined at the molecular level leading to targeted treatments. *Molecular Autism*, 1(1), 12. http://doi.org/10.1186/2040-2392-1-12
- Hagerman, R. J. (1997). Fragile X syndrome. Molecular and clinical insights and treatment issues. *The Western Journal of Medicine*, *166*(2), 129–37. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1304031&tool=pmcentrez& rendertype=abstract
- Hagerman, R. J., Berry-Kravis, E., Kaufmann, W. E., Ono, M. Y., Tartaglia, N., Lachiewicz, A., ... Tranfaglia, M. (2009). Advances in the treatment of fragile X syndrome. *Pediatrics*, 123(1),

378-90. http://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2008-0317

Hagerman, R. J., Fulton, M. J., Leaman, A., & Riddle, J. (1994). A survey of fluoxetine therapy in fragile X syndrome. *Developmental Brain Dysfunction*, 7(2-3), 155–164. Retrieved from https://ucd.idm.oclc.org/login?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/618636928?acc ountid=14507\nhttp://jq6am9xs3s.search.serialssolutions.com/?ctx_ver=Z39.88-2004&ctx_enc=info:ofi/enc:UTF-

8&rfr_id=info:sid/ProQ:psycinfo&rft_val_fmt=info:ofi/fmt:kev:mtx

- Hagerman, R. J., & Hagerman, P. J. (2002). The fragile X premutation: Into the phenotypic fold. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development*. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-437X(02)00299-X
- Hagerman, R. J., Leavitt, B. R., Farzin, F., Jacquemont, S., Greco, C. M., Brunberg, J. a, ... Hagerman, P. J. (2004). Fragile-X-associated tremor/ataxia syndrome (FXTAS) in females with the FMR1 premutation. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 74(5), 1051–6. http://doi.org/10.1086/420700
- Hagerman, R. J., Murphy, M. A., & Wittenberger, M. D. (1988). A controlled trial of stimulant medication in children with the fragile X syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 30(1-2), 377–92. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3052064
- Hall, S. S., Burns, D. D., Lightbody, A. A., & Reiss, A. L. (2008). Longitudinal changes in intellectual development in children with fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *36*(6), 927–939. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-008-9223-y
- Hall, S. S., Lightbody, A. A., McCarthy, B. E., Parker, K. J., & Reiss, A. L. (2012). Effects of intranasal oxytocin on social anxiety in males with fragile X syndrome. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 37(4), 509–518. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.07.020
- Hamilton, A., Esseltine, J. L., DeVries, R. A., Cregan, S. P., & Ferguson, S. S. G. (2014). Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 knockout reduces cognitive impairment and pathogenesis in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Molecular Brain*, *7*, 40. http://doi.org/10.1186/1756-6606-7-40
- Hamilton, S. M., Green, J. R., Veeraragavan, S., Yuva, L., McCoy, A., Wu, Y., ... Paylor, R. (2014). Fmr1 and Nlgn3 knockout rats: novel tools for investigating autism spectrum disorders. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 128(2), 103–9. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0035988
- Handley, S. L., & Mithani, S. (1984). Effects of alpha-adrenoceptor agonists and antagonists in a maze-exploration model of "fear"-motivated behaviour. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, *327*(1), 1–5. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF00504983
- Hanney, M., Prasher, V., Williams, N., Jones, E. L., Aarsland, D., Corbett, A., ... Ballard, C. (2012).
 Memantine for dementia in adults older than 40 years with Down's syndrome (MEADOWS): A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *The Lancet*, 379(9815), 528–536. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61676-0
- Harlow, E. G., Till, S. M., Russell, T. A., Wijetunge, L. S., Kind, P., & Contractor, A. (2010). Critical Period Plasticity Is Disrupted in the Barrel Cortex of Fmr1 Knockout Mice. *Neuron*, 65(3), 385–398. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2010.01.024
- Harony-Nicolas, H., Bozdagi-Gunal, O., Kay, M., Daskalakis, N., Klei, B., Baxter, M., ... Buxbaum, J. (2014). Behavioral, molecular and electrophysiological deficits in the Shank3-deficient rat model for autism. In 798.01/52. SfN, Washington DC.
- Hartung, H., Brockmann, M. D., Pöschel, B., De Feo, V., & Hanganu-Opatz, I. L. (2016). Thalamic and Entorhinal Network Activity Differently Modulates the Functional Development of Prefrontal-Hippocampal Interactions. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3232-15.2016
- Hascoët, M., & Bourin, M. (2009). The mouse light-dark box test. *Neuromethods*. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-303-9-11
- Hatton, D. D., Hooper, S. R., Bailey, D. B., Skinner, M. L., Sullivan, K. M., & Wheeler, A. (2002). Problem behavior in boys with fragile X syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 108(2), 105–116. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.10216
- Hayashi, M. L., Rao, B. S. S., Seo, J.-S., Choi, H.-S., Dolan, B. M., Choi, S.-Y., ... Tonegawa, S. (2007). Inhibition of p21-activated kinase rescues symptoms of fragile X syndrome in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(27), 11489–11494. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0705003104
- He, Q., Nomura, T., Xu, J., & Contractor, A. (2014). The developmental switch in GABA polarity is

delayed in fragile X mice. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *34*(2), 446–50. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4447-13.2014

- Heard, T. T., Ramgopal, S., Picker, J., Lincoln, S. A., Rotenberg, A., & Kothare, S. V. (2014). EEG abnormalities and seizures in genetically diagnosed Fragile X syndrome. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 38, 155–160. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2014.07.002
- Heiman, M., Kulicke, R., Fenster, R. J., Greengard, P., & Heintz, N. (2014). Cell type-specific mRNA purification by translating ribosome affinity purification (TRAP). *Nature Protocols*, 9(6), 1282–91. http://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2014.085
- Henderson, C., Wijetunge, L., Kinoshita, M. N., Shumway, M., Hammond, R. S., Postma, F. R., ... Healy, a. M. (2012). Reversal of Disease-Related Pathologies in the Fragile X Mouse Model by Selective Activation of GABAB Receptors with Arbaclofen. *Science Translational Medicine*, 4(152), 152ra128–152ra128. http://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3004218
- Hendrie, C. A., Weiss, S. M., & Eilam, D. (1996). Exploration and predation models of anxiety: Evidence from laboratory and wild species. In *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior* (Vol. 54, pp. 13–20). http://doi.org/10.1016/0091-3057(95)02176-0
- Hendrie, C., Pickles, A., Stanford, S. C., & Robinson, E. (2013). The failure of the antidepressant drug discovery process is systemic. *Journal of Psychopharmacology (Oxford, England)*, 27(5), 407–13; discussion 413–6. http://doi.org/10.1177/0269881112466185
- Hessl, D., Nguyen, D. V, Green, C., Chavez, A., Tassone, F., Hagerman, R. J., ... Hall, S. (2009). A solution to limitations of cognitive testing in children with intellectual disabilities: the case of fragile X syndrome. *J Neurodev Disord*, *1*(1), 33–45. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11689-008-9001-8
- Hessl, D., Tassone, F., Cordeiro, L., Koldewyn, K., McCormick, C., Green, C., ... Hagerman, R. J. (2008). Brief report: Aggression and stereotypic behavior in males with fragile X syndrome Moderating secondary genes in a "single gene" disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 38(1), 184–189. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-007-0365-5
- Heulens, I., D'Hulst, C., Van Dam, D., De Deyn, P. P., & Kooy, R. F. (2012). Pharmacological treatment of fragile X syndrome with GABAergic drugs in a knockout mouse model. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 229(1), 244–249. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2012.01.031
- Hinton, V. J., Brown, W. T., Wisniewski, K., & Rudelli, R. D. (1991). Analysis of neocortex in three males with the fragile X syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 41(3), 289–294. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.1320410306
- Hölter, S. M., Einicke, J., Sperling, B., Zimprich, A., Garrett, L., Fuchs, H., ... Wurst, W. (2015). Tests for Anxiety-Related Behavior in Mice. In *Current Protocols in Mouse Biology* (pp. 291–309).
 Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
 - http://doi.org/10.1002/9780470942390.mo150010
- Holy, T. E., & Guo, Z. (2005). Ultrasonic songs of male mice. *PLoS Biology*, *3*(12), 1–10. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0030386
- Homberg, J. R., Olivier, J. D. A., Smits, B. M. G., Mul, J. D., Mudde, J., Verheul, M., ... Cuppen, E. (2007). Characterization of the serotonin transporter knockout rat: A selective change in the functioning of the serotonergic system. *Neuroscience*, *146*(4), 1662–1676. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.03.030
- Horst, N. K., & Laubach, M. (2012). Working with memory: evidence for a role for the medial prefrontal cortex in performance monitoring during spatial delayed alternation. *J Neurophysiol*, *108*, 3276–3288. http://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01192.2011
- Huber, K. M. (2000). Role for Rapid Dendritic Protein Synthesis in Hippocampal mGluR-Dependent Long-Term Depression. *Science*, *288*(5469), 1254–1256. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.288.5469.1254
- Huber, K. M., Gallagher, S. M., Warren, S. T., & Bear, M. F. (2002). Altered synaptic plasticity in a mouse model of fragile X mental retardation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(11), 7746–50. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.122205699
- Iannaccone, P. M., & Jacob, H. J. (2009). Rats! *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, 2(5-6), 206–210. http://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.002733
- Idrissi, A. El, Yan, X., L'Amoreaux, W., Brown, W. T., & Dobkin, C. (2012). Neuroendocrine alterations in the fragile X mouse. *Results and Problems in Cell Differentiation*, *54*, 201–221.

http://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-21649-7_11

- Ince, I., Knibbe, C. A. J., Danhof, M., & De Wildt, S. N. (2013). Developmental changes in the expression and function of cytochrome p450 3a isoforms: Evidence from in vitro and in vivo investigations. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics*. http://doi.org/10.1007/s40262-013-0041-1
- Indah Winarni, T., Chonchaiya, W., Adams, E., Au, J., Mu, Y., Rivera, S. M., ... Hagerman, R. J. (2012). Sertraline May Improve Language Developmental Trajectory in Young Children with Fragile X Syndrome: A Retrospective Chart Review. *Autism Research and Treatment*, 2012, 1–8. http://doi.org/10.1155/2012/104317
- J??k??l??, P., H??nninen, T., Ryyn??nen, M., Laakso, M., Partanen, K., Mannermaa, A., & Soininen, H. (1997). Fragile-X: Neuropsychological test performance, CGG triplet repeat lengths, and hippocampal volumes. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 100(2), 331–338. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI119538
- Jacob, H. J., & Kwitek, A. E. (2002). Rat genetics: attaching physiology and pharmacology to the genome. *Nature Reviews. Genetics*, *3*(1), 33–42. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrg702
- Jacquemont, S., Curie, A., des Portes, V., Torrioli, M. G., Berry-Kravis, E., Hagerman, R. J., ... Gomez-Mancilla, B. (2011). Epigenetic modification of the FMR1 gene in fragile X syndrome is associated with differential response to the mGluR5 antagonist AFQ056. *Science Translational Medicine*, *3*(64), 64ra1. http://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3001708
- Jahn, K., Schlesinger, F., Jin, L. J., Dengler, R., Bufler, J., & Krampfl, K. (2008). Molecular mechanisms of interaction between the neuroprotective substance riluzole and GABAAreceptors. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, 378(1), 53–63. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00210-008-0290-y
- Jaramillo, S., & Zador, A. M. (2014). Mice and rats achieve similar levels of performance in an adaptive decision-making task. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, *8*. http://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2014.00173
- Jonckers, E., van Audekerke, J., de Visscher, G., van der Linden, A., & Verhoye, M. (2011). Functional connectivity fMRI of the rodent brain: Comparison of functional connectivity networks in rat and mouse. *PLoS ONE*, *6*(4). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0018876
- Jope, R. S. (2003). Lithium and GSK-3: One inhibitor, two inhibitory actions, multiple outcomes. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-6147(03)00206-2
- Jope, R. S., & Roh, M.-S. (2006). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK3) in psychiatric diseases and therapeutic interventions. *Current Drug Targets*, 7(11), 1421–34. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2008.05.010
- Kalk, N. J., & Lingford-Hughes, A. R. (2014). The clinical pharmacology of acamprosate. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 77(2), 315–323. http://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.12070
- Kannurpatti, S. S., Biswal, B. B., Kim, Y. R., & Rosen, B. R. (2008). Spatio-temporal characteristics of low-frequency BOLD signal fluctuations in isoflurane-anesthetized rat brain. *NeuroImage*, *40*(4), 1738–1747. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.05.061
- Kantrowitz, J. T., Hoptman, M. J., Leitman, D. I., Moreno-Ortega, M., Lehrfeld, J. M., Dias, E., ... Javitt, D. C. (2015). Neural Substrates of Auditory Emotion Recognition Deficits in Schizophrenia. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(44), 14909–14921. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4603-14.2015
- Karachot, L., Shirai, Y., Vigot, R., Yamamori, T., & Ito, M. (2001). Induction of long-term depression in cerebellar Purkinje cells requires a rapidly turned over protein. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *86*, 280–289.
- Kates, W. R., Abrams, M. T., Kaufmann, W. E., Breiter, S. N., & Reiss, A. L. (1997). Reliability and validity of MRI measurement of the amygdala and hippocampus in children with fragile X syndrome. *Psychiatry Research - Neuroimaging*, 75(1), 31–48. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4927(97)00019-X
- Kazdoba, T. M., Leach, P. T., Silverman, J. L., & Crawley, J. N. (2014). Modeling fragile X syndrome in the Fmr1 knockout mouse. *Intractable & Rare Diseases Research*, *3*(4), 118–33. http://doi.org/10.5582/irdr.2014.01024
- Kelley, D. J., Davidson, R. J., Elliott, J. L., Lahvis, G. P., Yin, J. C. P., & Bhattacharyya, A. (2007). The cyclic AMP cascade is altered in the fragile X nervous system. *PLoS ONE*, *2*(9).
http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0000931

- Kemper, M. B., Hagerman, R. J., & Altshul-Stark, D. (1988). Cognitive profiles of boys with the fragile X syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, *30*(1-2), 191–200. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3177444
- Kenkel, W. M., Yee, J. R., Moore, K., Madularu, D., Kulkarni, P., Gamber, K., ... Ferris, C. F. (2016). Functional magnetic resonance imaging in awake transgenic fragile X rats: evidence of dysregulation in reward processing in the mesolimbic/habenular neural circuit. *Translational Psychiatry*, 6(3), e763. http://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2016.15
- Kentros, C. G., Agnihotri, N. T., Streater, S., Hawkins, R. D., & Kandel, E. R. (2004). Increased Attention to Spatial Context Increases Both Place Field Stability and Spatial Memory. *Neuron*, *42*(2), 283–295. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(04)00192-8
- Kentros, C., Hargreaves, E., Hawkins, R. D., Kandel, E. R., Shapiro, M., & Muller, R. V. (1998). Abolition of long-term stability of new hippocampal place cell maps by NMDA receptor blockade. *Science*, 280(5372), 2121–2126. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.280.5372.2121
- Kerrigan, J. F., Shields, W. D., Nelson, T. Y., Bluestone, D. L., Dodson, W. E., Bourgeois, B. F. D., ... Monaghan, E. P. (2000). Ganaxolone for treating intractable infantile spasms: A multicenter, open-label, add-on trial. *Epilepsy Research*, 42(2-3), 133–139. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0920-1211(00)00170-4
- Kilkenny, C., Browne, W. J., Cuthill, I. C., Emerson, M., & Altman, D. G. (2010). Improving Bioscience Research Reporting: The ARRIVE Guidelines for Reporting Animal Research. *PLoS Biology*, 8(6), e1000412. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1000412
- Kim, E. J., Kim, E. S., Covey, E., & Kim, J. J. (2010). Social transmission of fear in rats: The role of 22-kHz ultrasonic distress vocalization. *PLoS ONE*, 5(12). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0015077
- Kim, H., Gibboni, R., Kirkhart, C., & Bao, S. (2013). Impaired critical period plasticity in primary auditory cortex of fragile X model mice. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 33(40), 15686–92. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3246-12.2013
- Kim, S. Y., Burris, J., Bassal, F., Koldewyn, K., Chattarji, S., Tassone, F., ... Rivera, S. M. (2014). Fearspecific amygdala function in children and adolescents on the fragile x spectrum: A dosage response of the FMR1 gene. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24(3), 600–613. http://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhs341
- Kimura, A., Imbe, H., & Donishi, T. (2010). Efferent connections of an auditory area in the caudal insular cortex of the rat: anatomical nodes for cortical streams of auditory processing and cross-modal sensory interactions. *Neuroscience*, *166*(4), 1140–1157. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.01.032
- King, M. K., & Jope, R. S. (2013). Lithium treatment alleviates impaired cognition in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 12(7), 723–731. http://doi.org/10.1111/gbb.12071
- Kleiber, M. (1947). Body size and metabolic rate. *Physiological Reviews*, 27(4), 511–541.
- Knapska, E., Mikosz, M., Werka, T., & Maren, S. (2010). Social modulation of learning in rats. *Learning & Memory (Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y.)*, 17(1), 35–42. http://doi.org/10.1101/lm.1670910
- Knuesel, I., Chicha, L., Britschgi, M., Schobel, S. A., Bodmer, M., Hellings, J. A., ... Prinssen, E. P. (2014). Maternal immune activation and abnormal brain development across CNS disorders. *Nature Reviews. Neurology*, *10*(11), 643–60. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2014.187
- Knutson, B., Burgdorf, J., & Panksepp, J. (1998). Anticipation of play elicits high-frequency ultrasonic vocalizations in young rats. *Journal of Comparative Psychology (Washington, D.C.*: 1983), 112(1), 65–73. http://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7036.112.1.65
- Kolb, B., & Nonneman, A. J. (1976). Functional development of prefrontal cortex in rats continues into adolescence. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 193(4250), 335–336. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.935872
- Kolevzon, A., Bush, L., Wang, A. T., Halpern, D., Frank, Y., Grodberg, D., ... Buxbaum, J. D. (2014). A pilot controlled trial of insulin-like growth factor-1 in children with Phelan-McDermid syndrome. *Molecular Autism*, *5*(1), 54. http://doi.org/10.1186/2040-2392-5-54
- Konstandi, M., Johnson, E., Lang, M. A., Malamas, M., & Marselos, M. (2000). Noradrenaline,

dopamine, serotonin: different effects of psychological stress on brain biogenic amines in mice and rats. *Pharmacological Research*, *41*(3), 341–346. Retrieved from D:\MORE DOCS\pdf Papers\Monoamines stress rats and mice 2000.pdf

- Kooy, R. F., D'Hooge, R., Reyniers, E., Bakker, C. E., Nagels, G., De Boulle, K., ... Willems, P. J. (1996). Transgenic mouse model for the fragile X syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 64(2), 241–5. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-8628(19960809)64:2<241::AID-AJMG1>3.0.CO;2-X
- Kover, S. T., Pierpont, E. I., Kim, J.-S., Brown, W. T., & Abbeduto, L. (2013). A neurodevelopmental perspective on the acquisition of nonverbal cognitive skills in adolescents with fragile X syndrome. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 38(7), 445–60. http://doi.org/10.1080/87565641.2013.820305
- Kow, L. M., & Pfaff, D. W. (1998). Mapping of neural and signal transduction pathways for lordosis in the search for estrogen actions on the central nervous system. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 92(2), 169–180. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4328(97)00189-7
- Krab, L. C., de Goede-Bolder, A., Aarsen, F. K., Pluijm, S. M. F., Bouman, M. J., van der Geest, J. N., ... Elgersma, Y. (2008). Effect of simvastatin on cognitive functioning in children with neurofibromatosis type 1: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA : The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 300(3), 287–294. http://doi.org/10.1001/jama.300.3.287
- Krab, L. C., Goorden, S. M. I., & Elgersma, Y. (2008). Oncogenes on my mind: ERK and MTOR signaling in cognitive diseases. *Trends in Genetics*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2008.07.005
- Kramvis, I., Mansvelder, H. D., Loos, M., & Meredith, R. (2013). Hyperactivity, perseveration and increased responding during attentional rule acquisition in the Fragile X mouse model. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 7(November), 172. http://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2013.00172
- Kronk, R., Bishop, E. E., Raspa, M., Bickel, J. O., Mandel, D. a, & Bailey, D. B. (2010). Prevalence, nature, and correlates of sleep problems among children with fragile X syndrome based on a large scale parent survey. *Sleep*, *33*(5), 679–687.
- Krueger, D. D., & Bear, M. F. (2011). Toward fulfilling the promise of molecular medicine in fragile X syndrome. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 62, 411–429. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-061109-134644
- Krueger, D. D., Osterweil, E. K., Chen, S. P., Tye, L. D., & Bear, M. F. (2011). Cognitive dysfunction and prefrontal synaptic abnormalities in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 108(6), 2587–2592. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1013855108
- Kulak, A., Duarte, J. M. N., Do, K. Q., & Gruetter, R. (2010). Neurochemical profile of the developing mouse cortex determined by in vivo1H NMR spectroscopy at 14.1 T and the effect of recurrent anaesthesia. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *115*(6), 1466–1477. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2010.07051.x
- Kumar, S., & Hedges, S. B. (1998). A molecular timescale for vertebrate evolution. *Nature*, 392(6679), 917–920. http://doi.org/10.1038/31927
- Kumar, S., Srivastava, N., & Gomes, J. (2011). The effect of lovastatin on oxidative stress and antioxidant enzymes in hydrogen peroxide intoxicated rat. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *49*(4), 898–902. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2010.12.014
- Kwon, H., Menon, V., Eliez, S., Warsofsky, I. S., White, C. D., Dyer-Friedman, J., ... Reiss, A. L. (2001). Functional neuroanatomy of visuospatial working memory in fragile X syndrome: Relation to behavioral and molecular measures. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 158(7), 1040–1051. http://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.158.7.1040
- Lai, J. K. Y., Doering, L. C., & Foster, J. A. (2016). Developmental expression of the neuroligins and neurexins in fragile X mice. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *524*(4), 807–828. http://doi.org/10.1002/cne.23868
- Lai, J. K. Y., Sobala-Drozdowski, M., Zhou, L., Doering, L. C., Faure, P. A., & Foster, J. A. (2014a). Temporal and spectral differences in the ultrasonic vocalizations of fragile X knock out mice during postnatal development. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *259*, 119–130. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2013.10.049
- Lai, J. K. Y., Sobala-Drozdowski, M., Zhou, L., Doering, L. C., Faure, P. A., & Foster, J. A. (2014b). Temporal and spectral differences in the ultrasonic vocalizations of fragile X knock out

mice during postnatal development. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *259*, 119–130. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2013.10.049

- Lanfranchi, S., Cornoldi, C., Drigo, S., & Vianello, R. (2009). Working memory in individuals with fragile X syndrome. *Child Neuropsychology : A Journal on Normal and Abnormal Development in Childhood and Adolescence, 15*(2), 105–19. http://doi.org/10.1080/09297040802112564
- Langford, D. J., Crager, S. E., Shehzad, Z., Smith, S. B., Sotocinal, S. G., Levenstadt, J. S., ... Mogil, J. S. (2006). Social modulation of pain as evidence for empathy in mice. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *312*(5782), 1967–1970. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1128322
- Langston, R. F., Ainge, J. A., Couey, J. J., Canto, C. B., Bjerknes, T. L., Witter, M. P., ... Moser, M.-B. (2010). Development of the Spatial Representation System in the Rat. *Science*, 328(5985), 1576–80. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1188210
- Langston, R. F., & Wood, E. R. (2010). Associative recognition and the hippocampus: Differential effects of hippocampal lesions on object-place, object-context and object-place-context memory. *Hippocampus*, *20*(10), 1139–1153. http://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20714
- Languille, S., Richer, P., & Hars, B. (2010). Abrupt emergence of long-lasting memory in the preweanling rat. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 207(2), 515–519. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2009.10.035
- Larm, J. A., Shen, P. J., & Gundlach, A. L. (2003). Differential galanin receptor-1 and galanin expression by 5-HT neurons in dorsal raph?? nucleus of rat and mouse: Evidence for species-dependent modulation of serotonin transmission. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 17(3), 481–493. http://doi.org/10.1046/j.1460-9568.2003.02471.x
- Lauterborn, J. C., Jafari, M., Babayan, A. H., & Gall, C. M. (2015). Environmental enrichment reveals effects of genotype on hippocampal spine morphologies in the mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Cerebral Cortex*, *25*(2), 516–527. http://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bht249
- Ledford, H. (2011). Ways to fix the clinical trial. *Macmillan Publishers Limited: Nature*, 477, 526–528. http://doi.org/10.1038/477526a
- Lee, H., Dvorak, D., Kao, H. Y., Duffy, ??ine M., Scharfman, H. E., & Fenton, A. A. (2012). Early Cognitive Experience Prevents Adult Deficits in a Neurodevelopmental Schizophrenia Model. *Neuron*, *75*(4), 714–724. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.06.016
- Lee, J. K., Wendelken, C., Bunge, S. A., & Ghetti, S. (2015). A Time and Place for Everything: Developmental Differences in the Building Blocks of Episodic Memory. *Child Dev.* http://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12447
- Lee, J. K., Won, J. S., Singh, A. K., & Singh, I. (2008). Statin inhibits kainic acid-induced seizure and associated inflammation and hippocampal cell death. *Neuroscience Letters*, 440(3), 260–264. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2008.05.112
- Lee, S. H., Choi, N. Y., Yu, H. J., Park, J., Choi, H., Lee, K. Y., ... Koh, S. H. (2016). Atorvastatin Protects NSC-34 Motor Neurons Against Oxidative Stress by Activating PI3K, ERK and Free Radical Scavenging. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 53(1), 695–705. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-014-9030-0
- Lee, Y. S., Ehninger, D., Zhou, M., Oh, J. Y., Kang, M., Kwak, C., ... Silva, A. J. (2014). Mechanism and treatment for learning and memory deficits in mouse models of Noonan syndrome. *Nat Neurosci*, *17*(12), 1736–1743. http://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3863
- Leigh, M. J., Nguyen, D. V, Mu, Y., Winarni, T. I., Schneider, A., Chechi, T., ... Hagerman, R. J. (2013). A randomized double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of minocycline in children and adolescents with fragile x syndrome. *J Dev Behav Pediatr*, *34*(3), 147–155. http://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0b013e318287cd17
- Leitner, Y. (2014). The co-occurrence of autism and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in children what do we know? *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *8*, 268. http://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2014.00268
- Lelovas, P. P., Xanthos, T. T., Thorma, S. E., Lyritis, G. P., & Dontas, I. A. (2008). The laboratory rat as an animal model for osteoporosis research. *Comparative Medicine*.
- Levenga, J., de Vrij, F. M. S., Oostra, B. A., & Willemsen, R. (2010). Potential therapeutic interventions for fragile X syndrome. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, *16*(11), 516–527. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2010.08.005
- Li, J., Pelletier, M. R., Perez Velazquez, J.-L., & Carlen, P. L. (2002). Reduced cortical synaptic

plasticity and GluR1 expression associated with fragile X mental retardation protein deficiency. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, *19*(2), 138–151. http://doi.org/10.1006/mcne.2001.1085

- Li, P., Tong, C., Mehrian-Shai, R., Jia, L., Wu, N., Yan, Y., ... Ying, Q. L. (2008). Germline Competent Embryonic Stem Cells Derived from Rat Blastocysts. *Cell*, *135*(7), 1299–1310. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.12.006
- Li, W., Cui, Y., Kushner, S. A., Brown, R. A. M., Jentsch, J. D., Frankland, P. W., ... Silva, A. J. (2005). The HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor lovastatin reverses the learning and attention deficits in a mouse model of Neurofibromatosis Type 1. *Current Biology*, *15*(21), 1961–1967. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2005.09.043
- Li, W., Teng, F., Li, T., & Zhou, Q. (2013). Simultaneous generation and germline transmission of multiple gene mutations in rat using CRISPR-Cas systems. *Nature Biotechnology*, 31(8), 684–686. http://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2652
- Liang, D., Li, G., Liao, X., Yu, D., Wu, J., & Zhang, M. (2016). Developmental loss of parvalbuminpositive cells in the prefrontal cortex and psychiatric anxiety after intermittent hypoxia exposures in neonatal rats might be mediated by NADPH oxidase-2. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 296, 134–140. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2015.08.033
- Ling, Q., & Tejada-Simon, M. V. (2016). Statins and the brain: New perspective for old drugs. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 66, 80–6. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2015.11.013
- Lipina, T. V, Prasad, T., Yokomaku, D., Luo, L., Connor, S. A., Kawabe, H., ... Craig, A. M. (2015). Cognitive Deficits in Calsyntenin-2-deficient Mice Associated with Reduced GABAergic Transmission. *Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*. http://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.206
- Lipska, B. K., Halim, N. D., Segal, P. N., & Weinberger, D. R. (2002). Effects of reversible inactivation of the neonatal ventral hippocampus on behavior in the adult rat. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 22*(7), 2835–2842. http://doi.org/20026195
- Lister, R. G. (1987). The use of a plus-maze to measure anxiety in the mouse. *Psychopharmacology*, *92*(2), 180–185. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF00177912
- Liu, Z. H., & Smith, C. B. (2009). Dissociation of social and nonsocial anxiety in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Neuroscience Letters*, 454(1), 62–66. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2009.02.066
- Liu, Z., & Smith, C. B. (2014). Lithium: A promising treatment for fragile X syndrome. *ACS Chemical Neuroscience*, *5*(6), 477–483. http://doi.org/10.1021/cn500077p
- Liu, Z.-H., Chuang, D.-M., & Smith, C. B. (2011). Lithium ameliorates phenotypic deficits in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *The International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology / Official Scientific Journal of the Collegium Internationale Neuropsychopharmacologicum (CINP)*, 14(5), 618–30. http://doi.org/10.1017/S1461145710000520
- Logan, B. J., Laverty, R., Sanderson, W. D., & Yee, Y. Ben. (1988). Differences between rats and mice in MDMA (methylenedioxymethylamphetamine) neurotoxicity. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, *152*(3), 227–234. http://doi.org/10.1016/0014-2999(88)90717-0
- Logue, S. E., Paylor, R., & Wehner, J. M. (1997). Hippocampal Lesions Cause Learning Deficits in Inbred Mice in the Morris Water Maze and Conditioned Fear Task. *Behav.Neurosci.*, *111*, 104–113.
- Lokanga, R. A., Entezam, A., Kumari, D., Yudkin, D., Qin, M., Smith, C. B., & Usdin, K. (2013). Somatic Expansion in Mouse and Human Carriers of Fragile X Premutation Alleles. *Human Mutation*, *34*(1), 157–166. http://doi.org/10.1002/humu.22177
- Lorenzini, C. A., Baldi, E., Bucherelli, C., Sacchetti, B., & Tassoni, G. (1996). Role of dorsal hippocampus in acquisition, consolidation and retrieval of rat's passive avoidance response: A tetrodotoxin functional inactivation study. *Brain Research*, *730*(1-2), 32–39. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(96)00427-1
- Lozano, R., Hare, E. B., & Hagerman, R. J. (2014). Modulation of the GABAergic pathway for the treatment of fragile X syndrome. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*. http://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S42919
- Lozano, R., Rosero, C. A., & Hagerman, R. J. (2014). Fragile X spectrum disorders. Intractable &

Rare Diseases Research, *3*(4), 134–146. http://doi.org/10.5582/irdr.2014.01022

- Lubs, H. a. (1969). A marker X chromosome. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 21(3), 231–244. http://doi.org/10.1097/MBC.0b013e328343f8bf
- Lyon, S., & Langston, R. F. (2014). Memory ontogeny in the juvenile rat. In *93.20/SS15*. SfN, Washington DC: Society for Neuroscience.
- Maes, B., Fryns, J. P., Ghesquiere, P., & Borghgraef, M. (2000). Phenotypic checklist to screen for fragile X syndrome in people with mental retardation. *Ment Retard*, *38*(3), 207–215. http://doi.org/10.1352/0047-6765(2000)038<0207:PCTSFF>2.0.C0;2
- Maes, B., Fryns, J. P., Van Walleghem, M., & Van den Berghe, H. (1994). Personal independence of adult mentally retarded men with fragile-X syndrome. *Genetic Counseling*, 5(2), 129–139. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.1320500211
- Mainberger, F., Jung, N. H., Zenker, M., Wahlländer, U., Freudenberg, L., Langer, S., ... Mall, V. (2013). Lovastatin improves impaired synaptic plasticity and phasic alertness in patients with neurofibromatosis type 1. *BMC Neurology*, *13*, 131. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2377-13-131
- Malenka, R. C., & Bear, M. F. (2004). LTP and LTD:An Embarrassment of Riches. *Neuron*, 44(1), 5–21. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2004.09.012
- Malkki, H. (2016). Neurodevelopmental disorders: Impaired immune system function linked to social behaviour deficits in mice. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, *12*(8), 431–431. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2016.109
- Mann, K., Kiefer, F., Spanagel, R., & Littleton, J. (2008). Acamprosate: Recent findings and future research directions. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, *32*(7), 1105–1110. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2008.00690.x
- Marler, P., Evans, C. S., & Hauser, M. D. (1992). Animal Signals: Motivational, referential, or both? In *Nonverbal Vocal Communication* (pp. 66 – 86).
- Marshall, J. D., & Schnitzer, M. J. (2013). Optical strategies for sensing neuronal voltage using quantum dots and other semiconductor nanocrystals. *ACS Nano*, *7*(5), 4601–4609. http://doi.org/10.1021/nn401410k
- Martin, D., Thompson, M. A., & Nadler, J. V. (1993). The neuroprotective agent riluzole inhibits release of glutamate and aspartate from slices of hippocampal area CA1. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, *250*(3), 473–476. http://doi.org/10.1016/0014-2999(93)90037-I
- Martin, H. G. S., Lassalle, O., Brown, J. T., & Manzoni, O. J. (2015). Age-Dependent Long-Term Potentiation Deficits in the Prefrontal Cortex of the Fmr1 Knockout Mouse Model of Fragile X Syndrome. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*, 1–9. http://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhv031
- Martin, J. P., & Bell, J. (1943). A Pedigree of Mental Defect Showing Sex-Linkage. *Journal of Neurology and Psychiatry*, 6(3-4), 154–157. http://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.6.3-4.154
- Masís-Calvo, M., Sequeira-Cordero, A., Mora-Gallegos, A., & Fornaguera-Trías, J. (2013). Behavioral and neurochemical characterization of maternal care effects on juvenile Sprague-Dawley rats. *Physiology & Behavior*, *118*, 212–7. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.05.033
- Matsunaga, S., Kishi, T., & Iwata, N. (2015). Memantine monotherapy for Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS One*, *10*(4), e0123289. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0123289
- Maurin, T., Zongaro, S., & Bardoni, B. (2014). Fragile X Syndrome: From molecular pathology to therapy. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.01.006
- Mayford, M., Mansuy, I. M., Muller, R. U., & Kandel, E. R. (1997). Memory and behavior: a second generation of genetically modified mice. *Current Biology : CB*, 7(9), R580–R589. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(06)00287-9
- Mazzocco, M. M., Hagerman, R. J., Cronister-Silverman, A., & Pennington, B. F. (1992). Specific frontal lobe deficits among women with the fragile X gene. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *31*(6), 1141–1148. http://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199211000-00025
- McCutcheon, J. E., & Marinelli, M. (2009). Age matters. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(5), 997–1014. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.06648.x
- McGrother, C. W., Bhaumik, S., Thorp, C. F., Hauck, A., Branford, D., & Watson, J. M. (2006).

Epilepsy in adults with intellectual disabilities: Prevalence, associations and service implications. *Seizure*, *15*(6), 376–386. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.seizure.2006.04.002

- McKibben, C. E., Reynolds, G. P., & Jenkins, T. A. (2014). Analysis of sociability and preference for social novelty in the acute and subchronic phencyclidine rat. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, *28*(10), 955–963. http://doi.org/10.1177/0269881114544778
- McKinney, B. C., Grossman, A. W., Elisseou, N. M., & Greenough, W. T. (2005). Dendritic spine abnormalities in the occipital cortex of C57BL/6 Fmr1 knockout mice. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Neuropsychiatric Genetics*, 136 B(1), 98–102. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.30183
- McKinney, W. T., & Bunney, W. E. (1969). Animal Model of Depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *21*(2), 240. http://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1969.01740200112015
- McNaughton, C. H., Moon, J., Strawderman, M. S., Maclean, K. N., Evans, J., & Strupp, B. J. (2008). Evidence for social anxiety and impaired social cognition in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *122*(2), 293–300. http://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.122.2.293
- Medigreceanu, F. (1910). On the relative sizes of the organs of rats and mice bearing malignant new growths. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B*, 82(555), 286–292.
- Meredith, R. M. (2015). Sensitive and critical periods during neurotypical and aberrant neurodevelopment: A framework for neurodevelopmental disorders. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, *50*, 180–188. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.12.001
- Meredith, R. M., Dawitz, J., & Kramvis, I. (2012). Sensitive time-windows for susceptibility in neurodevelopmental disorders. *Trends in Neurosciences*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2012.03.005
- Merenstein, S. A., Sobesky, W. E., Taylor, A. K., Riddle, J. E., Tran, H. X., & Hagerman, R. J. (1996). Molecular-clinical correlations in males with an expanded FMR1 mutation. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 64(2), 388–394. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-8628(19960809)64:2<388::AID-AJMG31>3.0.CO;2-9
- Michalon, A., Bruns, A., Risterucci, C., Honer, M., Ballard, T. M., Ozmen, L., ... Lindemann, L. (2014). Chronic metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 inhibition corrects local alterations of brain activity and improves cognitive performance in fragile X mice. *Biological Psychiatry*, 75(3), 189–197. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.05.038
- Michalon, A., Sidorov, M., Ballard, T. M., Ozmen, L., Spooren, W., Wettstein, J. G., ... Lindemann, L. (2012). Chronic Pharmacological mGlu5 Inhibition Corrects Fragile X in Adult Mice. *Neuron*, 74(1), 49–56. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.03.009
- Mientjes, E. J., Nieuwenhuizen, I., Kirkpatrick, L., Zu, T., Hoogeveen-Westerveld, M., Severijnen, L., ... Oostra, B. A. (2006). The generation of a conditional Fmr1 knock out mouse model to study Fmrp function in vivo. *Neurobiology of Disease*, *21*(3), 549–555. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2005.08.019
- Miller, L. J., McIntosh, D. N., McGrath, J., Shyu, V., Lampe, M., Taylor, A. K., ... Hagerman, R. J. (1999). Electrodermal responses to sensory stimuli in individuals with fragile X syndrome: A preliminary report. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 83(4), 268–279. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-8628(19990402)83:4<268::AID-AJMG7>3.0.CO;2-K
- Min, W. W., Yuskaitis, C. J., Yan, Q., Sikorski, C., Chen, S., Jope, R. S., & Bauchwitz, R. P. (2009). Elevated glycogen synthase kinase-3 activity in Fragile X mice: Key metabolic regulator with evidence for treatment potential. *Neuropharmacology*, 56, 463–472. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.09.017
- Mines, M. A., Yuskaitis, C. J., King, M. K., Beurel, E., & Jope, R. S. (2010). GSK3 influences social preference and anxiety-related behaviors during social interaction in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome and autism. *PLoS ONE*, 5(3). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009706
- Mineur, Y. S., Huynh, L. X., & Crusio, W. E. (2006). Social behavior deficits in the Fmr1 mutant mouse. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *168*(1), 172–175. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2005.11.004
- Mineur, Y. S., Sluyter, F., De Wit, S., Oostra, B. A., & Crusio, W. E. (2002). Behavioral and neuroanatomical characterization of the Fmr1 knockout mouse. *Hippocampus*, 12(1), 39– 46. http://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.10005
- Misane, I., Razani, H., Wang, F. H., Jansson, A., Fuxe, K., & Ogren, S. O. (1998). Intraventricular

galanin modulates a 5-HT(1A) receptor-mediated behavioural response in the rat. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *10*(4), 1230–1240. http://doi.org/10.1046/j.1460-9568.1998.00132.x

- Moeller, S., Nallasamy, N., Tsao, D. Y., & Freiwald, W. a. (2009). Functional connectivity of the macaque brain across stimulus and arousal states. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *29*(18), 5897–5909. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0220-09.2009
- Monaghan, E. P., Navalta, L. A., Shum, L., Ashbrook, D. W., & Lee, D. A. (1997). Initial human experience with ganaxolone, a neuroactive steroid with antiepileptic activity. *Epilepsia*, *38*(9), 1026–1031. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1528-1157.1997.tb01486.x
- Moncho-Bogani, J., Lanuza, E., Hernández, A., Novejarque, A., & Martínez-García, F. (2002). Attractive properties of sexual pheromones in mice: Innate or learned? *Physiology and Behavior*, 77(1), 167–176. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9384(02)00842-9
- Montana, M. C., Cavallone, L. F., Stubbert, K. K., Stefanescu, A. D., Kharasch, E. D., & Gereau, R. W. (2009). The metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype 5 antagonist fenobam is analgesic and has improved in vivo selectivity compared with the prototypical antagonist 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 330(3), 834–843. http://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.109.154138
- Moon, J., Beaudin, a E., Verosky, S., Driscoll, L. L., Weiskopf, M., Levitsky, D. a, ... Strupp, B. J. (2006). Attentional dysfunction, impulsivity, and resistance to change in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *120*(6), 1367–79. http://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.120.6.1367
- Moon, J., Ota, K. T., Driscoll, L. L., Levitsky, D. A., & Strupp, B. J. (2008). A mouse model of fragile x syndrome exhibits heightened arousal and/or emotion following errors or reversal of contingencies. *Developmental Psychobiology*, *50*(5), 473–485. http://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20308
- Moore, C. J., Daly, E. M., Tassone, F., Tysoe, C., Schmitz, N., Ng, V., ... Murphy, D. G. M. (2004). The effect of pre-mutation of X chromosome CGG trinucleotide repeats on brain anatomy. *Brain*, *127*(12), 2672–2681. http://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh256
- Morris, R. G., Garrud, P., Rawlins, J. N., & O'Keefe, J. (1982). Place navigation impaired in rats with hippocampal lesions. *Nature*. http://doi.org/10.1038/297681a0
- Moskowitz, L. J., Carr, E. G., & Durand, V. M. (2011). Behavioral intervention for problem behavior in children with fragile X syndrome. *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, *116*(6), 457–478. http://doi.org/10.1352/1944-7558-116.6.457
- Moy, S. S., Nadler, J. J., Perez, A., Barbaro, R. P., Johns, J. M., Magnuson, T. R., ... Crawley, J. N. (2004). Sociability and preference for social novelty in five inbred strains: An approach to assess autistic-like behavior in mice. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, *3*(5), 287–302. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-1848.2004.00076.x
- Moy, S. S., Nadler, J. J., Young, N. B., Nonneman, R. J., Grossman, A. W., Murphy, D. L., ... Lauder, J. M. (2009). Social approach in genetically engineered mouse lines relevant to autism. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 8(2), 129–142. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-183X.2008.00452.x
- Mullins, L. J., & Mullins, J. J. (2004). Insights from the rat genome sequence. *Genome Biology*, 5(5), 221. http://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2004-5-5-221
- Munger, S. D., Leinders-Zufall, T., McDougall, L. M., Cockerham, R. E., Schmid, A., Wandernoth, P., ... Kelliher, K. R. (2010). An olfactory subsystem that detects carbon disulfide and mediates food-related social learning. *Current Biology*, 20(16), 1438–1444. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2010.06.021
- Munir, F., Cornish, K. M., & Wilding, J. (2000). Nature of the working memory deficit in fragile-X syndrome. *Brain and Cognition*, 44, 387–401. http://doi.org/10.1006/brcg.1999.1200
- Musumeci, S. A., Hagerman, R. J., Ferri, R., Bosco, P., Dalla Bernardina, B., Tassinari, C. A., ... Elia, M. (1999). Epilepsy and EEG findings in males with fragile X syndrome. *Epilepsia*, 40(8), 1092–1099. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1528-1157.1999.tb00824.x
- Nagy, G., & Ackerman, S. L. (2013). Cholesterol metabolism and Rett syndrome pathogenesis. *Nature Genetics*, 45(9), 965–7. http://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2738
- Nakamoto, M., Nalavadi, V., Epstein, M. P., Narayanan, U., Bassell, G. J., & Warren, S. T. (2007). Fragile X mental retardation protein deficiency leads to excessive mGluR5-dependent

internalization of AMPA receptors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *104*(39), 15537–15542. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0707484104

- Neumann, I. D., & Slattery, D. A. (2016). Oxytocin in General Anxiety and Social Fear: A Translational Approach. *Biological Psychiatry*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.06.004
- Neunuebel, J. P., Taylor, A. L., Arthur, B. J., & Egnor, S. R. (2015). Female mice ultrasonically interact with males during courtship displays. *eLife*, 4(2007), 1–24. http://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.06203
- Nielsen, D. M., Derber, Wi. J., McClellan, D. A., & Crnic, L. S. (2002). Alterations in the auditory startle response in Fmr 1 targeted mutant mouse models of fragile X syndrome. *Brain Research*. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(01)03309-1
- Nimchinsky, E. a, Oberlander, a M., & Svoboda, K. (2001). Abnormal development of dendritic spines in FMR1 knock-out mice. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 21*(14), 5139–5146. http://doi.org/21/14/5139 [pii]
- Nimchinsky, E. a, Sabatini, B. L., & Svoboda, K. (2002). Structure and function of dendritic spines. *Annual Review of Physiology*, *64*, 313–353.

http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.physiol.64.081501.160008

- Nolan, M. F., Malleret, G., Dudman, J. T., Buhl, D. L., Santoro, B., Gibbs, E., ... Morozov, A. (2004). A Behavioral Role for Dendritic Integration. *Cell*, *119*(5), 719–732. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2004.11.020
- Norman, G., & Eacott, M. J. (2005). Dissociable effects of lesions to the perirhinal cortex and the postrhinal cortex on memory for context and objects in rats. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *119*(2), 557–566. http://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.119.2.557
- Nosyreva, E. D., & Huber, K. M. (2006). Metabotropic receptor-dependent long-term depression persists in the absence of protein synthesis in the mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *95*, 3291–3295. http://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01316.2005
- Nowicki, S. T., Tassone, F., Ono, M. Y., Ferranti, J., Croquette, M. F., Goodlin-Jones, B., & Hagerman, R. J. (2007). The Prader-Willi phenotype of fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Developmental* and Behavioral Pediatrics : JDBP, 28(2), 133–138. http://doi.org/10.1097/01.DBP.0000267563.18952.c9
- Oddi, D., Subashi, E., Middei, S., Bellocchio, L., Lemaire-Mayo, V., Guzmán, M., ... Pietropaolo, S. (2014). Early Social Enrichment Rescues Adult Behavioral and Brain Abnormalities in a Mouse Model of Fragile X Syndrome. *Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology, 40*(5), 1113–1122. http://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.291
- Olmos-Serrano, J. L., Corbin, J. G., & Burns, M. P. (2011). The GABA A receptor agonist THIP ameliorates specific behavioral deficits in the mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Developmental Neuroscience*. http://doi.org/10.1159/000332884
- Olmos-Serrano, J. L., Paluszkiewicz, S. M., Martin, B. S., Kaufmann, W. E., Corbin, J. G., & Huntsman, M. M. (2010). Defective GABAergic neurotransmission and pharmacological rescue of neuronal hyperexcitability in the amygdala in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *30*(29), 9929–38. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1714-10.2010
- Osterweil, E. K., Chuang, S. C., Chubykin, A. A., Sidorov, M., Bianchi, R., Wong, R. K. S., & Bear, M. F. (2013a). Lovastatin Corrects Excess Protein Synthesis and Prevents Epileptogenesis in a Mouse Model of Fragile X Syndrome. *Neuron*, *77*(2), 243–250. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.01.034
- Osterweil, E. K., Chuang, S. C., Chubykin, A. A., Sidorov, M., Bianchi, R., Wong, R. K. S., & Bear, M. F. (2013b). Lovastatin Corrects Excess Protein Synthesis and Prevents Epileptogenesis in a Mouse Model of Fragile X Syndrome. *Neuron*, *77*(2), 243–250. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.01.034
- Osterweil, E. K., Krueger, D. D., Reinhold, K., & Bear, M. F. (2010). Hypersensitivity to mGluR5 and ERK1/2 leads to excessive protein synthesis in the hippocampus of a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 30*(46), 15616–27. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3888-10.2010
- Pacey, L. K. K., Heximer, S. P., & Hampson, D. R. (2009). Increased GABA(B) receptor-mediated

signaling reduces the susceptibility of fragile X knockout mice to audiogenic seizures. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 76(1), 18–24. http://doi.org/10.1124/mol.109.056127.posits

- Paluszkiewicz, S. M., Martin, B. S., & Huntsman, M. M. (2011). Fragile X syndrome: The GABAergic system and circuit dysfunction. *Developmental Neuroscience*. http://doi.org/10.1159/000329420
- Paradee, W., Melikian, H. E., Rasmussen, D. L., Kenneson, A., Conn, P. J., & Warren, S. T. (1999). Fragile X mouse: Strain effects of knockout phenotype and evidence suggesting deficient amygdala function. *Neuroscience*, 94(1), 185–192. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(99)00285-7
- Parasuraman, S., Raveendran, R., & Kesavan, R. (2010). Blood sample collection in small laboratory animals. *Journal of Pharmacology & Pharmacotherapeutics*, 1(2), 87–93. http://doi.org/10.4103/0976-500X.72350
- Paribello, C., Tao, L., Folino, A., Berry-Kravis, E., Tranfaglia, M., Ethell, I. M., & Ethell, D. W. (2010). Open-label add-on treatment trial of minocycline in fragile X syndrome. *BMC Neurology*, 10, 91. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2377-10-91
- Pasciuto, E., & Bagni, C. (2014). SnapShot: FMRP mRNA Targets and Diseases. *Cell*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.08.035
- Paterson, N. E., Semenova, S., Gasparini, F., & Markou, A. (2003). The mGluR5 antagonist MPEP decreased nicotine self-administration in rats and mice. *Psychopharmacology*, *167*(3), 257–64. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-003-1432-z
- Paul M, Pinto YM, Schunkert H, Ganten D, B. M. (1994). Activation of the renin-angiotensin system in heart failure and hypertrophy--studies in human hearts and transgenic rats. *European Heart Journal*, 15.
- Paul, K., Venkitaramani, D. V, & Cox, C. L. (2013). Dampened dopamine-mediated neuromodulation in prefrontal cortex of fragile X mice. *The Journal of Physiology*, 591(4), 1133–43. http://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2012.241067
- Paylor, R., Yuva-Paylor, L. a, Nelson, D. L., & Spencer, C. M. (2008). Reversal of sensorimotor gating abnormalities in Fmr1 knockout mice carrying a human Fmr1 transgene. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *122*(6), 1371–1377. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0013047
- Pedersen, T., & Gaw, A. (2001). Statins Similarities and differences. In *American Journal of Managed Care* (Vol. 7).
- Peier, A. M., McIlwain, K. L., Kenneson, A., Warren, S. T., Paylor, R., & Nelson, D. L. (2000). (Over)correction of FMR1 deficiency with YAC transgenics: behavioral and physical features. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 9(8), 1145–1159. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/9.8.1145
- Pellerin, D., Çaku, A., Fradet, M., Bouvier, P., Dubé, J., & Corbin, F. (2016). Lovastatin corrects ERK pathway hyperactivation in fragile X syndrome: potential of platelet's signaling cascades as new outcome measures in clinical trials. *Biomarkers*. http://doi.org/10.3109/1354750X.2016.1160289
- Pharmaceuticals, N. (2016). NNZ-2566 in Rett Syndrome. Retrieved July 16, 2016, from http://www.neurenpharma.com/irm/content/nnz-2566-in-rett-syndrome.aspx?RID=330
- Phelan, K., & McDermid, H. E. (2012). The 22q13.3 deletion syndrome (Phelan-McDermid syndrome). *Molecular Syndromology*, 2(3-5), 186–201. http://doi.org/10.1159/000334260
- Phillips, R. G., & LeDoux, J. E. (1992). Differential contribution of amygdala and hippocampus to cued and contextual fear conditioning. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *106*(2), 274–285. http://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.106.2.274
- Pieretti, M., Zhang, F., Fu, Y.-H., Warren, S. T., Oostra, B. A., Caskey, C. T., & Nelson, D. L. (1991). Absence of expression of the FMR-1 gene in fragile X syndrome. *Cell*, 66(4), 817–822. http://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(91)90125-I
- Pietropaolo, S., Goubran, M., Joffre, C., Aubert, A., Lemaire-Mayo, V., Crusio, W. E., & Layé, S. (2014). Dietary supplementation of omega-3 fatty acids rescues fragile X phenotypes in Fmr1-Ko mice. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 49(1), 119–129. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.07.002
- Pietropaolo, S., Guilleminot, A., Martin, B., D'Amato, F. R., & Crusio, W. E. (2011). Geneticbackground modulation of core and variable autistic-like symptoms in Fmr1 knock-out mice. *PLoS ONE*, 6(2). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017073

- Pilpel, Y., Kolleker, A., Berberich, S., Ginger, M., Frick, A., Mientjes, E., ... Seeburg, P. H. (2009a). Synaptic ionotropic glutamate receptors and plasticity are developmentally altered in the CA1 field of Fmr1 knockout mice. *The Journal of Physiology*, 587(4), 787–804. http://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2008.160929
- Pilpel, Y., Kolleker, A., Berberich, S., Ginger, M., Frick, A., Mientjes, E., ... Seeburg, P. H. (2009b). Synaptic ionotropic glutamate receptors and plasticity are developmentally altered in the CA1 field of Fmr1 knockout mice. *The Journal of Physiology*, *587*(Pt 4), 787–804. http://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2008.160929
- Piontkewitz, Y., Arad, M., & Weiner, I. (2011). Abnormal trajectories of neurodevelopment and behavior following in utero insult in the rat. *Biological Psychiatry*, *70*(9), 842–851. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.06.007
- Podhorna, J., & Didriksen, M. (2005). Performance of male C57BL/6J mice and Wistar rats in the water maze following various schedules of phencyclidine treatment. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, *16*, 25–34. http://doi.org/10.1097/00008877-200502000-00003
- Pokorný, J., & Yamamoto, T. (1981). Postnatal ontogenesis of hippocampal CA1 area in rats. II. Development of ultrastructure in stratum lacunosum and moleculare. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 7(2), 121–130. http://doi.org/10.1016/0361-9230(81)90076-9
- Pop, A. S., Levenga, J., De Esch, C. E. F., Buijsen, R. A. M., Nieuwenhuizen, I. M., Li, T., ... Willemsen, R. (2014). Rescue of dendritic spine phenotype in Fmr1 KO mice with the mGluR5 antagonist AFQ056/Mavoglurant. *Psychopharmacology*, *231*(6), 1227–1235. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-012-2947-y
- Porter, M. C., Burk, J. A., & Mair, R. G. (2000). A comparison of the effects of hippocampal or prefrontal cortical lesions on three versions of delayed non-matching-to-sample based on positional or spatial cues. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 109(1), 69–81. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4328(99)00161-8
- Porter, R. H. P., Jaeschke, G., Spooren, W., Ballard, T. M., Büttelmann, B., Kolczewski, S., ... Malherbe, P. (2005). Fenobam: a clinically validated nonbenzodiazepine anxiolytic is a potent, selective, and noncompetitive mGlu5 receptor antagonist with inverse agonist activity. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, *315*(2), 711–21. http://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.105.089839
- Portera-Cailliau, C. (2012). Which Comes First in Fragile X Syndrome, Dendritic Spine Dysgenesis or Defects in Circuit Plasticity? *The Neuroscientist*, *18*(1), 28–44. http://doi.org/10.1177/1073858410395322
- Portis, S., Giunta, B., Obregon, D., & Tan, J. (2012). The role of glycogen synthase kinase-3 signaling in neurodevelopment and fragile X syndrome. *International Journal of Physiology, Pathophysiology and Pharmacology*.
- Prager, E. M., Bergstrom, H. C., Wynn, G. H., & Braga, M. F. M. (2016). The basolateral amygdala γaminobutyric acidergic system in health and disease. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*. http://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.23690
- Quintin, E.-M., Jo, B., Hall, S. S., Bruno, J. L., Chromik, L. C., Raman, M. M., ... Reiss, A. L. (2015). The cognitive developmental profile associated with fragile X syndrome: A longitudinal investigation of cognitive strengths and weaknesses through childhood and adolescence. *Development and Psychopathology*, *8*, 1–13. http://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579415001200
- Radermacher, P., & Haouzi, P. (2013). A mouse is not a rat is not a man: species-specific metabolic responses to sepsis a nail in the coffin of murine models for critical care research? *Intensive Care Medicine Experimental*, 1(1), 7. http://doi.org/10.1186/2197-425X-1-7
- Radulovic, J., Sydow, S., & Spiess, J. (1998). Characterization of native corticotropin-releasing factor receptor type 1 (CRFR1) in the rat and mouse central nervous system. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *54*(4), 507–21. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4547(19981115)54:4<507::AID-JNR8>3.0.CO;2-E [pii]
- Ramsaran, A. I., Westbrook, S. R., & Stanton, M. E. (2016). Ontogeny of object-in-context recognition in the rat. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *298*, 37–47. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2015.04.011
- Raybuck, J. D., & Matthew Lattal, K. (2011). Double dissociation of amygdala and hippocampal contributions to trace and delay fear conditioning. *PLoS ONE*, 6(1). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0015982

- Raymond, C. R., Thompson, V. L., Tate, W. P., & Abraham, W. C. (2000). Metabotropic glutamate receptors trigger homosynaptic protein synthesis to prolong long-term potentiation. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 20*(3), 969–976.
- Reagan-Shaw, S., Nihal, M., & Ahmad, N. (2008). Dose translation from animal to human studies revisited. *The FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, 22(3), 659–661. http://doi.org/10.1096/fj.07-9574LSF
- Reilly, M. T., Lobo, I. A., McCracken, L. M., Borghese, C. M., Gong, D., Horishita, T., & Adron Harris, R. (2008). Effects of acamprosate on neuronal receptors and ion channels expressed in Xenopus oocytes. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, *32*(2), 188–196. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2007.00569.x
- Reiss, A. L., & Freund, L. (1992). Behavioral phenotype of fragile X syndrome: DSM-III-R autistic behavior in male children. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, *43*(1-2), 35–46. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.1320430106
- Reiss, A. L., & Hall, S. S. (2007). Fragile X Syndrome: Assessment and Treatment Implications. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.chc.2007.03.001
- Reiss, A. L., Lee, J., & Freund, L. (1994). Neuroanatomy of fragile X syndrome: the temporal lobe. *Neurology*, 44(7), 1317–24. http://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.44.7.1317
- Renoux, A. J., Sala-Hamrick, K. J., Carducci, N. M., Frazer, M., Halsey, K. E., Sutton, M. A., ... Todd, P. K. (2014). Impaired sensorimotor gating in Fmr1 knock out and Fragile X premutation model mice. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *267*, 42–45. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.03.013
- Restivo, L., Ferrari, F., Passino, E., Sgobio, C., Bock, J., Oostra, B. A., ... Ammassari-Teule, M. (2005). Enriched environment promotes behavioral and morphological recovery in a mouse model for the fragile X syndrome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *102*(32), 11557–11562. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0504984102
- Rihs, T. A., Tomescu, M. I., Britz, J., Rochas, V., Custo, A., Schneider, M., ... Michel, C. M. (2013). Altered auditory processing in frontal and left temporal cortex in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome: a group at high genetic risk for schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Research*, *212*(2), 141–9. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2012.09.002
- Roberts, J. E., Hatton, D. D., Long, A. C. J., Anello, V., & Colombo, J. (2012). Visual attention and autistic behavior in infants with fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 42(6), 937–946. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-011-1316-8
- Roberts, J. E., Mirrett, P., & Burchinal, M. (2001). Receptive and expressive communication development of young males with fragile X syndrome. *American Journal of Mental Retardation*, *106*(3), 216–30. http://doi.org/10.1352/0895-8017(2001)106<0216:RAECDO>2.0.CO;2
- Rodgers, R. J., & Hendrie, C. A. (1982). Agonistic behaviour in rats: Evidence for non-involvement of opioid mechanisms. *Physiology and Behavior*, *29*(1), 85–90. http://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(82)90370-5
- Rojas, D. C., Benkers, T. L., Rogers, S. J., Teale, P. D., Reite, M. L., & Hagerman, R. J. (2001). Auditory evoked magnetic fields in adults with fragile X syndrome. *Neuroreport*, *12*(11), 2573–6. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11496151
- Rotschafer, S. E., Trujillo, M. S., Dansie, L. E., Ethell, I. M., & Razak, K. A. (2012). Minocycline treatment reverses ultrasonic vocalization production deficit in a mouse model of Fragile X Syndrome. *Brain Research*, *1439*, 7–14. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2011.12.041
- Rotschafer, S., & Razak, K. (2013). Altered auditory processing in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Brain Research*, *1506*, 12–24. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2013.02.038
- Roy, S., Watkins, N., & Heck, D. (2012). Comprehensive Analysis of Ultrasonic Vocalizations in a Mouse Model of Fragile X Syndrome Reveals Limited, Call Type Specific Deficits. *PLoS ONE*, 7(9), 1–6. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044816
- Ruby, K., Falvey, K., & Kulesza, R. J. (2015). Abnormal neuronal morphology and neurochemistry in the auditory brainstem of Fmr1 knockout rats. *Neuroscience*, *303*, 285–298. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.06.061
- Rudelli, R. D., Brown, W. T., Wisniewski, K., Jenkins, E. C., Laure-Kamionowska, M., & Connell, F.

(1985). Adult fragile X syndrome. Clinico-neuropathologic findings. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 67(3-4), 289–295. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF00687814

- Runyan, J. D., Moore, A. N., & Dash, P. K. (2004). A Role for Prefrontal Cortex in Memory Storage for Trace Fear Conditioning. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(6 t), 1288–1295. http://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.4880-03.2004
- Russo-Ponsaran, N. M., Yesensky, J., Hessl, D., & Berry-Kravis, E. (2014). Feasibility, reproducibility, and clinical validity of the pediatric anxiety rating scale - Revised for fragile X syndrome. *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 119(1), 1–16. http://doi.org/10.1352/1944-7558-119.1.1
- Rybakowski, J. K. (2011). Lithium in neuropsychiatry: a 2010 update. *The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry : The Official Journal of the World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry*, *12*(5), 340–348. http://doi.org/10.3109/15622975.2011.559274
- Sánchez-Morla, E. M., Santos, J. L., Aparicio, A., García-Jiménez, M. A., Villanueva, C., Martínez-Vizcaíno, V., & Arango, C. (2009). Antipsychotic effects on auditory sensory gating in schizophrenia patients. *European Neuropsychopharmacology : The Journal of the European College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 19(12), 905–9. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2009.09.001
- Santarelli, L. (2014). Roche Open letter. Retrieved July 16, 2016, from http://www.fraxa.org/pdf/RocheLetter.pdf
- Santoro, M. R., Bray, S. M., & Warren, S. T. (2012). Molecular Mechanisms of Fragile X Syndrome: A Twenty-Year Perspective. *Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease*, 7(1), 219–245. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pathol-011811-132457
- Santos, A. R., Kanellopoulos, A. K., & Bagni, C. (2014). Learning and behavioral deficits associated with the absence of the fragile X mental retardation protein: what a fly and mouse model can teach us. *Learning & Memory (Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y.)*, *21*(10), 543–55. http://doi.org/10.1101/lm.035956.114
- Sato, N., Tan, L., Tate, K., & Okada, M. (2015). Rats demonstrate helping behavior toward a soaked conspecific. *Animal Cognition*, 1039–1047. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10071-015-0872-2
- Savalli, G., Bashir, Z. I., & Warburton, E. C. (2015). Regionally selective requirement for D 1 /D 5 dopaminergic neurotransmission in the medial prefrontal cortex in object-in-place associative recognition memory. *Learning & Memory*, *22*(2), 69–73. http://doi.org/10.1101/lm.036921.114
- Scattoni, M. L., Crawley, J., & Ricceri, L. (2009). Ultrasonic vocalizations: A tool for behavioural phenotyping of mouse models of neurodevelopmental disorders. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, *33*(4), 508–515. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.08.003
- Scattoni, M. L., Ricceri, L., & Crawley, J. N. (2011). Unusual repertoire of vocalizations in adult BTBR T+tf/J mice during three types of social encounters. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 10(1), 44–56. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-183X.2010.00623.x
- Schafer, D. P., Lehrman, E. K., Kautzman, A. G., Koyama, R., Mardinly, A. R., Yamasaki, R., ... Stevens, B. (2012). Microglia Sculpt Postnatal Neural Circuits in an Activity and Complement-Dependent Manner. *Neuron*, 74(4), 691–705. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.03.026
- Schilling, J. M., Cui, W., Godoy, J. C., Risbrough, V. B., Niesman, I. R., Roth, D. M., ... Head, B. P. (2014). Long-term atorvastatin treatment leads to alterations in behavior, cognition, and hippocampal biochemistry. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 267, 6–11. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.03.014
- Schlessinger, a R., Cowan, W. M., & Gottlieb, D. I. (1975). An autoradiographic study of the time of origin and the pattern of granule cell migration in the dentate gyrus of the rat. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *159*(2), 149–75. http://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901590202
- Schneider, A., Leigh, M. J., Adams, P., Nanakul, R., Chechi, T., Olichney, J., ... Hessl, D. (2013). Electrocortical changes associated with minocycline treatment in fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Psychopharmacology (Oxford, England)*, 27(10), 956–63. http://doi.org/10.1177/0269881113494105
- Schreurs, B. G. (2010). The effects of cholesterol on learning and memory. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.04.010

- Schütt, J., Falley, K., Richter, D., Kreienkamp, H. J., & Kindler, S. (2009). Fragile X mental retardation protein regulates the levels of scaffold proteins and glutamate receptors in postsynaptic densities. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(38), 25479–25487. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.042663
- Sebti, S. M. (2005). Protein farnesylation: Implications for normal physiology, malignant transformation, and cancer therapy. *Cancer Cell*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2005.04.005
- Seese, R. R., Babayan, A. H., Katz, A. M., Cox, C. D., Lauterborn, J. C., Lynch, G., & Gall, C. M. (2012). LTP induction translocates cortactin at distant synapses in wild-type but not Fmr1 knockout mice. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 32(21), 7403–13. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0968-12.2012
- Selby, L., Zhang, C., & Sun, Q. Q. (2007). Major defects in neocortical GABAergic inhibitory circuits in mice lacking the fragile X mental retardation protein. *Neuroscience Letters*, 412(3), 227–232. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2006.11.062
- Semple, B. D., Blomgren, K., Gimlin, K., Ferriero, D. M., & Noble-Haeusslein, L. J. (2013). Brain development in rodents and humans: Identifying benchmarks of maturation and vulnerability to injury across species. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 106-107, 1–16. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2013.04.001
- Sengupta, P. (2013). The laboratory rat: Relating its age with human's. *International Journal of Preventive Medicine*. http://doi.org/23930179
- Seritan, A. L., Nguyen, D. V., Mu, Y., Tassone, F., Bourgeois, J. A., Schneider, A., ... Hagerman, R. J. (2014). Memantine for fragile x-associated tremor/ataxia syndrome: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 75(3), 264–271. http://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.13m08546
- Servadio, M., Vanderschuren, L. J. M. J., & Trezza, V. (2015). Modeling autism-relevant behavioral phenotypes in rats and mice: Do "autistic" rodents exist? *Behavioural Pharmacology*, *26*(6), 522–40. http://doi.org/10.1097/FBP.00000000000163
- Shang, Y., Wang, H., Mercaldo, V., Li, X., Chen, T., & Zhuo, M. (2009). Fragile X mental retardation protein is required for chemically-induced long-term potentiation of the hippocampus in adult mice. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *111*(3), 635–646. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06314.x
- Shao, Y., Guan, Y., Wang, L., Qiu, Z., Liu, M., Chen, Y., ... Li, D. (2014). CRISPR/Cas-mediated genome editing in the rat via direct injection of one-cell embryos. *Nature Protocols*, 9(10), 2493–512. http://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2014.171
- Sharma, A., Hoeffer, C. A., Takayasu, Y., Miyawaki, T., McBride, S. M., Klann, E., & Zukin, R. S. (2010). Dysregulation of mTOR Signaling in Fragile X Syndrome. *J. Neurosci.*, 30(2), 694– 702. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3696-09.2010
- Shcheglovitov, A., Shcheglovitova, O., Yazawa, M., Portmann, T., Shu, R., Sebastiano, V., ... Dolmetsch, R. E. (2013). SHANK3 and IGF1 restore synaptic deficits in neurons from 22q13 deletion syndrome patients. *Nature*, *503*(7475), 267–71. http://doi.org/10.1038/nature12618
- Sherman, S. L., Jacobs, P. A., Morton, N. E., Froster-Iskenius, U., Howard-Peebles, P. N., Nielsen, K. B., ... Watson, M. (1985). Further segregation analysis of the fragile X syndrome with special reference to transmitting males. *Human Genetics*, 69(4), 289–299. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF00291644
- Sherman, S. L., Marsteller, F., Abramowitz, A. J., Scott, E., Leslie, M., & Bregman, J. (2002). Cognitive and behavioral performance among FMR1 high-repeat allele carriers surveyed from special education classes. *American Journal of Medical Genetics - Neuropsychiatric Genetics*, 114(4), 458–465. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.10303
- Shi, D., Xu, S., Waddell, J., Scafidi, S., Roys, S., Gullapalli, R. P., & McKenna, M. C. (2012). Longitudinal in vivo developmental changes of metabolites in the hippocampus of Fmr1 knockout mice. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 123(6), 971–981. http://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.12048
- Shimoyama, M., De Pons, J., Hayman, G. T., Laulederkind, S. J. F., Liu, W., Nigam, R., ... Jacob, H. (2015). The Rat Genome Database 2015: Genomic, phenotypic and environmental variations and disease. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 43(D1), D743–D750. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku1026
- Sidorov, M. S., Krueger, D. D., Taylor, M., Gisin, E., Osterweil, E. K., & Bear, M. F. (2014). Extinction

of an instrumental response: A cognitive behavioral assay in Fmr1 knockout mice. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, *13*(5), 451–458. http://doi.org/10.1111/gbb.12137

- Siller, S. S., & Broadie, K. (2012). Matrix metalloproteinases and minocycline: Therapeutic avenues for fragile X syndrome. *Neural Plasticity*. http://doi.org/10.1155/2012/124548
- Silverman, J. L., Pride, M. C., Hayes, J. E., Puhger, K. R., Butler-Struben, H. M., Baker, S., & Crawley, J. N. (2015). GABAB Receptor Agonist R-Baclofen Reverses Social Deficits and Reduces Repetitive Behavior in Two Mouse Models of Autism. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 40(9), 2228–2239. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.66
- Silverman, J. L., Yang, M., Lord, C., & Crawley, J. N. (2010). Behavioural phenotyping assays for mouse models of autism. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 11(7), 490–502. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2851
- Siviy, S. M., & Panksepp, J. (2011). In search of the neurobiological substrates for social playfulness in mammalian brains. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.03.006
- Skinner, M., Hooper, S., Hatton, D. D., Roberts, J., Mirrett, P., Schaaf, J., ... Bailey, D. B. (2005). Mapping nonverbal IQ in young boys with fragile X syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 132 A(1), 25–32. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.30353
- Slegtenhorst-Eegdeman, K. E., de Rooij, D. G., Verhoef-Post, M., van de Kant, H. J., Bakker, C. E., Oostra, B. a, ... Themmen, a P. (1998). Macroorchidism in FMR1 knockout mice is caused by increased Sertoli cell proliferation during testicular development. *Endocrinology*, *139*(1), 156–162. http://doi.org/10.1210/endo.139.1.5706
- Slotnick, B. M. (1973). Fear behavior and passive avoidance deficits in mice with amygdala lesions. *Physiology and Behavior*, *11*(5), 717–720. http://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(73)90258-8
- Snow, K., Doud, L. K., Hagerman, R., Pergolizzi, R. G., Erster, S. H., & Thibodeau, S. N. (1993). Analysis of a CGG sequence at the FMR-1 locus in fragile X families and in the general population. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, *53*, 1217–1228. http://doi.org/citeulikearticle-id:10462704
- Snyder, J. S., Choe, J. S., Clifford, M. a, Jeurling, S. I., Hurley, P., Brown, A., ... Cameron, H. a. (2009). Adult-born hippocampal neurons are more numerous, faster maturing, and more involved in behavior in rats than in mice. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 29*(46), 14484–95. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1768-09.2009
- Sorge, R. E., Martin, L. J., Isbester, K. A., Sotocinal, S. G., Rosen, S., Tuttle, A. H., ... Mogil, J. S. (2014). Olfactory exposure to males, including men, causes stress and related analgesia in rodents. *Nature Methods*, 11(6), 629–632. http://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2935
- Spanswick, S. C., & Dyck, R. H. (2012). Object/context specific memory deficits following medial frontal cortex damage in mice. *PLoS ONE*, *7*(8). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0043698
- Spencer, C. M., Alekseyenko, O., Hamilton, S. M., Thomas, A. M., Serysheva, E., Yuva-Paylor, L. A., & Paylor, R. (2011). Modifying behavioral phenotypes in Fmr1KO mice: Genetic background differences reveal autistic-like responses. *Autism Research*, 4(1), 40–56. http://doi.org/10.1002/aur.168
- Spencer, C. M., Alekseyenko, O., Serysheva, E., Yuva-Paylor, L. A., & Paylor, R. (2005). Altered anxiety-related and social behaviors in the Fmr1 knockout mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, *4*(7), 420–430. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-183X.2005.00123.x
- Spencer, C. M., Graham, D. F., Yuva-Paylor, L. a, Nelson, D. L., & Paylor, R. (2008). Social behavior in Fmr1 knockout mice carrying a human FMR1 transgene. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *122*(3), 710–715. http://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.122.3.710
- Spooner, R. I., Thomson, A., Hall, J., Morris, R. G. M., & Salter, S. H. (1984). The Atlantis platform: a new design and further developments of Buresova's on-demand platform for the water maze. *Learning & Memory*, *1*(3), 203–11. http://doi.org/10.1101/lm.1.3.203
- Steele, R. J., & Morris, R. G. M. (1999). Delay-dependent impairment of a matching-to-place task with chronic and intrahippocampal infusion of the NMDA-antagonist D-AP5. *Hippocampus*, 9(2), 118–136. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-1063(1999)9:2<118::AID-HIP04>3.0.CO;2-8

- Steiner, A. P., & Redish, A. D. (2014). Behavioral and neurophysiological correlates of regret in rat decision-making on a neuroeconomic task. *Nature Neuroscience*, 17(7), 995–1002. http://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3740
- Steingard, R. J., Zimnitzky, B., DeMaso, D. R., Bauman, M. L., & Bucci, J. P. (1997). Sertraline treatment of transition-associated anxiety and agitation in children with autistic disorder. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychopharmacology*, 7(1), 9–15. http://doi.org/10.1089/cap.1997.7.9
- Stepanichev, M., Markov, D., Pasikova, N., & Gulyaeva, N. (2016). Behavior and the cholinergic parameters in olfactory bulbectomized female rodents: Difference between rats and mice. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *297*, 5–14. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2015.09.033
- Steyaert, J., Borghgraef, M., Legius, E., & Fryns, J. P. (1996). Molecular-intelligence correlations in young fragile X males with a mild CGG repeat expansion in the FMR1 gene. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 64(2), 274–277. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-8628(19960809)64:2<274::AID-AJMG8>3.0.CO;2-U
- Stranahan, A. M. (2011). Similarities and differences in spatial learning and object recognition between young male C57Bl/6J mice and Sprague-Dawley rats. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *125*(5), 791–795. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0025133
- Strauss, J. S., Krowchuk, D. P., Leyden, J. J., Lucky, A. W., Shalita, A. R., Siegfried, E. C., ... Bhushan, R. (2007). Guidelines of care for acne vulgaris management. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 56(4), 651–663. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2006.08.048
- Strupp, B. J., & Levitsky, D. a. (1984). Social transmission of food preferences in adult hooded rats (Rattus norvegicus). *Journal of Comparative Psychology*, 98(3), 257–266. http://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7036.98.3.257
- Su, T., Fan, H. X., Jiang, T., Sun, W. W., Den, W. Y., Gao, M. M., ... Yi, Y. H. (2011). Early continuous inhibition of group 1 mGlu signaling partially rescues dendritic spine abnormalities in the Fmr1 knockout mouse model for fragile X syndrome. *Psychopharmacology*, 215(2), 291– 300. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-010-2130-2
- Sugar, J., & Witter, M. P. (2016). Postnatal development of retrosplenial projections to the parahippocampal region of the rat. *eLife*, *5*, e13925. http://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.13925
- Sullivan, A. K., Marcus, M., Epstein, M. P., Allen, E. G., Anido, A. E., Paquin, J. J., ... Sherman, S. L. (2005). Association of FMR1 repeat size with ovarian dysfunction. *Human Reproduction*, 20(2), 402–412. http://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deh635
- Sullivan, K., Hatton, D. D., Hammer, J., Sideris, J., Hooper, S., Ornstein, P. A., & Bailey, D. B. (2007). Sustained attention and response inhibition in boys with fragile X syndrome: Measures of continuous performance. *American Journal of Medical Genetics, Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics*, 144(4), 517–532. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.30504
- Sun, M.-K., Hongpaisan, J., & Alkon, D. L. (2016). Rescue of Synaptic Phenotypes and Spatial Memory in Young Fragile X Mice. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 357(2), 300–10. http://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.115.231100
- Suryavanshi, P. S., Ugale, R. R., Yilmazer-Hanke, D., Stairs, D. J., & Dravid, S. M. (2014). GluN2C/GluN2D subunit-selective NMDA receptor potentiator CIQ reverses MK-801induced impairment in prepulse inhibition and working memory in Y-maze test in mice. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 171(3), 799–809. http://doi.org/10.1111/bph.12518
- Sutherland, G. R. (1977). Fragile sites on human chromosomes: demonstration of their dependence on the type of tissue culture medium. *Science*, *197*(4300), 265–266. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.877551
- Svoboda, K., & Yasuda, R. (2006). Principles of Two-Photon Excitation Microscopy and Its Applications to Neuroscience. *Neuron*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.05.019
- Swerdlow, N. R., Braff, D. L., & Geyer, M. a. (2000). Animal models of deficient sensorimotor gating: what we know, what we think we know, and what we hope to know soon. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, 11(3-4), 185–204. http://doi.org/10.1097/00008877-200006000-00004
- Swerdlow, N. R., Karban, B., Ploum, Y., Sharp, R., Geyer, M. A., & Eastvold, A. (2001). Tactile prepuff inhibition of startle in children with Tourette's syndrome: In search of an "fMRIfriendly" startle paradigm. *Biological Psychiatry*, 50(8), 578–585. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3223(01)01164-7
- Tait, D. S., Chase, E. A., & Brown, V. J. (2013). Attentional Set-Shifting in Rodents: a Review of

Behavioural Methods and Pharmacological Results. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 1–14. http://doi.org/10.2174/1381612819666131216115802

- Takeuchi, T., Duszkiewicz, A. J., & Morris, R. G. M. (2014). The synaptic plasticity and memory hypothesis: encoding, storage and persistence. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, *369*(1633), 20130288. http://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0288
- Tarazi, F. I., & Baldessarini, R. J. (2000). Comparative postnatal development of dopamine D1, D2, and D4 receptors in rat forebrain. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, *18*(1), 29–37. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0736-5748(99)00108-2
- Tassone, F. (2014). Newborn Screening for Fragile X Syndrome. *JAMA Neurology*, *71*(3), 355–359. http://doi.org/10.1002/mrdd.20002
- Tassone, F., Hagerman, R. J., Taylor, A. K., Mills, J. B., Harris, S. W., Gane, L. W., & Hagerman, P. (2000). Clinical involvement and protein expression in individuals with the FMR1 premutation. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, *91*(2), 144–152.
- http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-8628(20000313)91:2<144::AID-AJMG14>3.0.C0;2-V Taurog, J. D., Maika, S. D., Satumtira, N., Dorris, M. L., McLean, I. L., Yanagisawa, H., ... Hammer, R. E. (1999). Inflammatory disease in HLA-B27 transgenic rats. *Immunological Reviews*. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.1999.tb01317.x
- Teilmann, a C., Kalliokoski, O., Sørensen, D. B., Hau, J., & Abelson, K. S. P. (2014). Manual versus automated blood sampling: impact of repeated blood sampling on stress parameters and behavior in male NMRI mice. *Laboratory Animals*, *48*(4), 278–91. http://doi.org/10.1177/0023677214541438
- Testa-Silva, G., Loebel, A., Giugliano, M., De Kock, C. P. J., Mansvelder, H. D., & Meredith, R. M. (2012). Hyperconnectivity and slow synapses during early development of medial prefrontal cortex in a mouse model for mental retardation and Autism. *Cerebral Cortex*, 22(6), 1333–1342. http://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhr224
- Thomas, A., Burant, A., Bui, N., Graham, D., Yuva-Paylor, L. A., & Paylor, R. (2009). Marble burying reflects a repetitive and perseverative behavior more than novelty-induced anxiety. *Psychopharmacology*, *204*(2), 361–373. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-009-1466-y
- Thomas, A. M., Bui, N., Perkins, J. R., Yuva-Paylor, L. A., & Paylor, R. (2012). Group i metabotropic glutamate receptor antagonists alter select behaviors in a mouse model for fragile X syndrome. *Psychopharmacology*, *219*(1), 47–58. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-011-2375-4
- Thompson, S., Clarke, A. R., Pow, A. M., Hooper, M. L., & Melton, D. W. (1989). Germ line transmission and expression of a corrected HPRT gene produced by gene targeting in embryonic stem cells. *Cell*, *56*(2), 313–321. http://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(89)90905-7
- Thomsen, M., & Caine, S. B. (2005). Chronic intravenous drug self-administration in rats and mice. *Current Protocols in Neuroscience / Editorial Board, Jacqueline N. Crawley ... [et Al.], Chapter 9*, Unit 9.20. http://doi.org/10.1002/0471142301.ns0920s32
- Thor, D. H., & Holloway, W. R. (1984). Developmental analyses of social play behavior in juvenile rats. *Bulletin of the Psychonomic Society*, *22*(6), 587–590. http://doi.org/10.3758/BF03333916
- Till, S. M., Asiminas, A., Jackson, A. D., Katsanevaki, D., Barnes, S. A., Osterweil, E. K., ... Kind, P. C. (2015). Conserved hippocampal cellular pathophysiology but distinct behavioural deficits in a new rat model of FXS. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *24*(21), 5977–5984. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddv299
- Till, S. M., Wijetunge, L. S., Seidel, V. G., Harlow, E., Wright, A. K., Bagni, C., ... Kind, P. C. (2012). Altered maturation of the primary somatosensory cortex in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *21*(10), 2143–2156. http://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/dds030
- Tobert, J. a. (2003). Lovastatin and beyond: the history of the HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors. *Nature Reviews. Drug Discovery*, *2*(7), 517–26. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrd1112
- Tonnsen, B. L., Grefer, M. L., Hatton, D. D., & Roberts, J. E. (2015). Developmental trajectories of attentional control in preschool males with fragile X syndrome. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, *36*, 62–71. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2014.09.015
- Torrioli, M. G., Vernacotola, S., Peruzzi, L., Tabolacci, E., Mila, M., Militerni, R., ... Neri, G. (2008). A

double-blind, parallel, multicenter comparison of L-acetylcarnitine with placebo on the attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in fragile X syndrome boys. *American Journal of Medical Genetics, Part A*, 146(7), 803–812. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.32268

- Torrioli, M., Vernacotola, S., Setini, C., Bevilacqua, F., Martinelli, D., Snape, M., ... Neri, G. (2010). Treatment with valproic acid ameliorates ADHD symptoms in fragile X syndrome boys. *American Journal of Medical Genetics, Part A*, 152(6), 1420–1427. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.33484
- Treagus, R. (2015). Neuren's trofinetide successful in proof of concept Phase 2 clinical trial in Fragile X syndrome. Retrieved July 16, 2016, from http://www.neurenpharma.com/IRM/PDF/1557/TrofinetidesuccessfulinPhase2trialinFr agileX
- Tsubaki, M., Mashimo, K., Takeda, T., Kino, T., Fujita, A., Itoh, T., ... Nishida, S. (2016). Statins inhibited the MIP-1α expression via inhibition of Ras/ERK and Ras/Akt pathways in myeloma cells. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, *78*, 23–29. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2015.12.017
- Turner, G., Webb, T., Wake, S., & Robinson, H. (1996). Prevalence of fragile X syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 64(1), 196–197. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-8628(19960712)64:1<196::AID-AJMG35>3.0.CO;2-G
- Tyzio, R., Nardou, R., Ferrari, D. C., Tsintsadze, T., Shahrokhi, A., Eftekhari, S., ... Ben-Ari, Y. (2014). Oxytocin-mediated GABA inhibition during delivery attenuates autism pathogenesis in rodent offspring. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *343*(6171), 675–9. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1247190
- Ugurlucan, M., M. Caglar, I., N. Turhan Caglar, F., Ziyade, S., Karatepe, O., Yildiz, Y., ... Cicek, S. (2012). Aspirin: from a Historical Perspective. *Recent Patents on Cardiovascular Drug Discovery*, 7(1), 71–76. http://doi.org/10.2174/157489012799362377
- Uutela, M., Lindholm, J., Louhivuori, V., Wei, H., Louhivuori, L. M., Pertovaara, A., ... Castrén, M. L. (2012). Reduction of BDNF expression in Fmr1 knockout mice worsens cognitive deficits but improves hyperactivity and sensorimotor deficits. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, *11*(5), 513–523. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-183X.2012.00784.x
- Van Dam, D., D'Hooge, R., Hauben, E., Reyniers, E., Gantois, I., Bakker, C. E., ... De Deyn, P. P. (2000). Spatial learning, contextual fear conditioning and conditioned emotional response in Fmr1 knockout mice. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 117(1-2), 127–136. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4328(00)00296-5
- van den Heuvel, M. P., & Hulshoff Pol, H. E. (2010). Exploring the brain network: A review on resting-state fMRI functional connectivity. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2010.03.008
- Van der Molen, M. J. W., Huizinga, M., Huizenga, H. M., Ridderinkhof, K. R., Van der Molen, M. W., Hamel, B. J. C., ... Ramakers, G. J. A. (2010). Profiling Fragile X Syndrome in males: Strengths and weaknesses in cognitive abilities. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 31(2), 426–439. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2009.10.013
- Van der Molen, M. J. W., Van der Molen, M. W., Ridderinkhof, K. R., Hamel, B. C. J., Curfs, L. M. G., & Ramakers, G. J. A. (2012a). Attentional set-shifting in fragile X syndrome. *Brain and Cognition*, *78*(3), 206–217. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2011.12.008
- Van der Molen, M. J. W., Van der Molen, M. W., Ridderinkhof, K. R., Hamel, B. C. J., Curfs, L. M. G., & Ramakers, G. J. A. (2012b). Auditory and visual cortical activity during selective attention in fragile X syndrome: A cascade of processing deficiencies. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 123(4), 720–729. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2011.08.023
- van Meer, M. P. A., van der Marel, K., Wang, K., Otte, W. M., El Bouazati, S., Roeling, T. A. P., ... Dijkhuizen, R. M. (2010). Recovery of sensorimotor function after experimental stroke correlates with restoration of resting-state interhemispheric functional connectivity. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 30*(11), 3964– 72. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5709-09.2010
- Van'T Veer, A., Yano, J. M., Carroll, F. I., Cohen, B. M., & Carlezon, W. A. (2012). Corticotropin-Releasing Factor (CRF)-Induced Disruption of Attention in Rats Is Blocked by the κ-Opioid Receptor Antagonist JDTic. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *37*(13), 2809–2816. http://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2012.151
- Vargas, D. L., Nascimbene, C., Krishnan, C., Zimmerman, A. W., & Pardo, C. A. (2005). Neuroglial

activation and neuroinflammation in the brain of patients with autism.[Erratum appears in Ann Neurol. 2005 Feb;57(2):304]. *Annals of Neurology*, *57*(1), 67–81. Retrieved from http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=med5&A N=15546155\nhttp://openurl.ac.uk/athens:_edu//lfp/LinkFinderPlus/Display?sid=OVID: Ovid+MEDLINE(R)&id=pmid:15546155&id=&issn=0364-

5134&isbn=&volume=57&issue=1&spage=67&pages=67-81&d

- Veeraragavan, S., Bui, N., Perkins, J. R., Yuva-Paylor, L. A., & Paylor, R. (2011). The modulation of fragile X behaviors by the muscarinic M4 antagonist, tropicamide. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 125(5), 783–90. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0025202
- Veeraragavan, S., Graham, D., Bui, N., Yuva-Paylor, L. A., Wess, J., & Paylor, R. (2012). Genetic reduction of muscarinic M4 receptor modulates analgesic response and acoustic startle response in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome (FXS). *Behavioural Brain Research*, 228(1), 1–8. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2011.11.018
- Ventura, R., Pascucci, T., Catania, M. V, Musumeci, S. a, & Puglisi-Allegra, S. (2004). Object recognition impairment in Fmr1 knockout mice is reversed by amphetamine: involvement of dopamine in the medial prefrontal cortex. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, 15(5-6), 433–442. http://doi.org/10.1097/00008877-200409000-00107
- Verkerk, A. J. M. H., Pieretti, M., Sutcliffe, J. S., Fu, Y. H., Kuhl, D. P. A., Pizzuti, A., ... Warran, S. T. (1991). Identification of a gene (FMR-1) containing a CGG repeat coincident with a breakpoint cluster region exhibiting length variation in fragile X syndrome. *Cell*, 65(5), 905–914. http://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(91)90397-H
- Vermaercke, B., Cop, E., Willems, S., D'Hooge, R., & Op de Beeck, H. P. (2014). More complex brains are not always better: rats outperform humans in implicit category-based generalization by implementing a similarity-based strategy. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 21, 1080–6. http://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-013-0579-9
- Vincent, J. L., Patel, G. H., Fox, M. D., Snyder, a Z., Baker, J. T., Van Essen, D. C., ... Raichle, M. E. (2007). Intrinsic functional architecture in the anaesthetized monkey brain. *Nature*, 447(7140), 83–6. http://doi.org/10.1038/nature05758
- Vinueza Veloz, M. F., Buijsen, R. A. M., Willemsen, R., Cupido, A., Bosman, L. W. J., Koekkoek, S. K. E., ... De Zeeuw, C. I. (2012). The effect of an mGluR5 inhibitor on procedural memory and avoidance discrimination impairments in Fmr1 KO mice. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 11(3), 325–331. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-183X.2011.00763.x
- Vislay, R. L., Martin, B. S., Olmos-Serrano, J. L., Kratovac, S., Nelson, D. L., Corbin, J. G., & Huntsman, M. M. (2013). Homeostatic responses fail to correct defective amygdala inhibitory circuit maturation in fragile X syndrome. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 33(17), 7548–58. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2764-12.2013
- Vogel-Ciernia, A., & Wood, M. A. (2014). Examining object location and object recognition memory in mice. *Current Protocols in Neuroscience / Editorial Board, Jacqueline N. Crawley* ... [et Al.], 69(1-2), 8.31.1–17. http://doi.org/10.1002/0471142301.ns0831s69
- Walf, A. A., & Frye, C. A. (2007). The use of the elevated plus maze as an assay of anxiety-related behavior in rodents. *Nature Protocols*, *2*(2), 322–8. http://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2007.44
- Wang, D. D., & Kriegstein, A. R. (2011). Blocking Early GABA Depolarization with Bumetanide Results in Permanent Alterations in Cortical Circuits and Sensorimotor Gating Deficits. *Cerebral Cortex*, 21(3), 574–587. http://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhq124
- Wang, G. X., Smith, S. J., & Mourrain, P. (2014). Fmr1 KO and fenobam treatment differentially impact distinct synapse populations of mouse neocortex. *Neuron*, *84*(6), 1273–1286. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.11.016
- Wang, H., Wu, L.-J., Zhang, F., & Zhuo, M. (2008). Roles of calcium-stimulated adenylyl cyclase and calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV in the regulation of FMRP by group I metabotropic glutamate receptors. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 28*(17), 4385–4397. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0646-08.2008
- Wang, H.-X. X., & Gao, W.-J. J. (2009). Cell type-specific development of NMDA receptors in the interneurons of rat prefrontal cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 34(8), 2028–40. http://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2009.20

- Wang, X., Snape, M., Klann, E., Stone, J. G., Singh, A., Petersen, R. B., ... Zhu, X. (2012). Activation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway contributes to the behavioral deficit of fragile x-syndrome. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 121(4), 672–679. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2012.07722.x
- Warren, S. T., & Ashley, C. T. (1995). Triplet repeat expansion mutations: The example of fragile X syndrome. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *18*, 77–99. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ne.18.030195.000453
- Waschbusch, D. a, Pelham, W. E., Waxmonsky, J., & Johnston, C. (2009). Are there placebo effects in the medication treatment of children with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder? *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics : JDBP*, 30(2), 158–168. http://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0b013e31819f1c15
- Wehner, J. M., & Radcliffe, R. a. (2004). Cued and contextual fear conditioning in mice. Current Protocols in Neuroscience / Editorial Board, Jacqueline N. Crawley ... [et Al.], Chapter 8, Unit 8.5C. http://doi.org/10.1002/0471142301.ns0805cs27
- Wei, H. H., Lu, X. M., Shear, D. A., Waghray, A., Yao, C., Tortella, F. C., & Dave, J. R. (2009). NNZ-2566 treatment inhibits neuroinflammation and pro-inflammatory cytokine expression induced by experimental penetrating ballistic-like brain injury in rats. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 6, 19. http://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-6-19
- Weiler, I. J., Spangler, C. C., Klintsova, A. Y., Grossman, A. W., Kim, S. H., Bertaina-Anglade, V., ... Greenough, W. T. (2004). Fragile X mental retardation protein is necessary for neurotransmitter-activated protein translation at synapses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(50), 17504–17509. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0407533101
- Weng, N., Weiler, I. J., Sumis, A., Berry-Kravis, E., & Greenough, W. T. (2008). Early-phase ERK activation as a biomarker for metabolic status in Fragile X syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics, Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics*, 147(7), 1253–1257. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.30765
- Westbrook, S. R., Brennan, L. E., & Stanton, M. E. (2014). Ontogeny of object versus location recognition in the rat: Acquisition and retention effects. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 56(7), 1492–1506. http://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21232
- Westmark, C. J., Westmark, P. R., O'Riordan, K. J., Ray, B. C., Hervey, C. M., Salamat, M. S., ... Malter, J. S. (2011). Reversal of fragile X phenotypes by manipulation of AβPP/Aβ levels in Fmr1 KO mice. *PLoS ONE*, 6(10). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0026549
- Wheeler, A., Raspa, M., Bann, C., Bishop, E., Hessl, D., Sacco, P., & Bailey, D. B. (2014). Anxiety, attention problems, hyperactivity, and the Aberrant Behavior Checklist in fragile X syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics, Part A*, *164*(1), 141–155. http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.36232
- WHISHAW, I. (1995). A comparison of rats and mice in a swimming pool place task and matching to place task: Some surprising differences. *Physiology & Behavior*, *58*(4), 687–693. http://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(95)00110-5
- Whishaw, I. Q. (1995). A comparison of rats and mice in a swimming pool place task and matching to place task: Some surprising differences. *Physiology and Behavior*, *58*(4), 687–693. http://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(95)00110-5
- Whishaw, I. Q., Metz, G. A. S., Kolb, B., & Pellis, S. M. (2001). Accelerated nervous system development contributes to behavioral efficiency in the laboratory mouse: A behavioral review and theoretical proposal. *Developmental Psychobiology*. http://doi.org/10.1002/dev.1041
- Whishaw, I. Q., & Tomie, J. A. (1997). Of mice and mazes: Similarities between mice and rats on dry land but not water mazes. *Physiology and Behavior*, *60*(5), 1191–1197. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9384(96)00176-X
- Whitlock, J. R., Heynen, A. J., Shuler, M. G., & Bear, M. F. (2006). Learning Induces Long Term Potentiation in the Hippocampus. *Science*, *313*(5790), 1093–1097. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1128134
- Wijetunge, L. S., Angibaud, J., Frick, A., Kind, P. C., & Nägerl, U. V. (2014). Stimulated emission depletion (STED) microscopy reveals nanoscale defects in the developmental trajectory of dendritic spine morphogenesis in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*.

http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5302-13.2014

- Wijetunge, L. S., Chattarji, S., Wyllie, D. J. A., & Kind, P. C. (2013). Fragile X syndrome: From targets to treatments. *Neuropharmacology*, *68*, 83–96. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.11.028
- Wilding, J., Cornish, K., & Munir, F. (2002). Further delineation of the executive deficit in males with fragile-X syndrome. *Neuropsychologia*, *40*(8), 1343–1349. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0028-3932(01)00212-3
- Willner, P. (1984). The validity of animal models of depression. *Psychopharmacology*, 83(1), 1– 16. http://doi.org/10.1042/BST0371378
- Wilson, D. I. G., Langston, R. F., Schlesiger, M. I., Wagner, M., Watanabe, S., & Ainge, J. A. (2013). Lateral entorhinal cortex is critical for novel object-context recognition. *Hippocampus*, 23(5), 352–366. http://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22095
- Wilson, D. I. G., Watanabe, S., Milner, H., & Ainge, J. A. (2013). Lateral entorhinal cortex is necessary for associative but not nonassociative recognition memory. *Hippocampus*, 23(12), 1280–1290. http://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22165
- Winarni, T. I., Schneider, A., Borodyanskara, M., & Hagerman, R. J. (2012). Early intervention combined with targeted treatment promotes cognitive and behavioral improvements in young children with fragile x syndrome. *Case Reports in Genetics*, *2012*, 280813. http://doi.org/10.1155/2012/280813
- Winstanley, C. A., Eagle, D. M., & Robbins, T. W. (2006). Behavioral models of impulsivity in relation to ADHD: Translation between clinical and preclinical studies. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *26*(4), 379–395. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2006.01.001
- Wirojanan, J., Jacquemont, S., Diaz, R., Bacalman, S., Anders, T. F., Hagerman, R. J., & Goodlin-Jones, B. L. (2009). The efficacy of melatonin for sleep problems in children with autism, fragile X syndrome, or autism and fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine : JCSM : Official Publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine*, 5(2), 145–150. http://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2008.107
- Wisniewski, K. E., Segan, S. M., Miezejeski, C. M., Sersen, E. A., & Rudelli, R. D. (1991). The fra(X) syndrome: Neurological, electrophysiological, and neuropathological abnormalities. In *American Journal of Medical Genetics* (Vol. 38, pp. 476–480). http://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.1320380267
- Witte, M. M., Resuehr, D., Chandler, A. R., Mehle, A. K., & Overton, J. M. (2010). Female mice and rats exhibit species-specific metabolic and behavioral responses to ovariectomy. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, *166*(3), 520–528. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.01.006
- Wöhr, M., & Scattoni, M. L. (2013). Behavioural methods used in rodent models of autism spectrum disorders: current standards and new developments. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *251*, 5–17. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2013.05.047
- Xu, X. Q., McGuire, T. F., Blaskovich, M. a, Sebti, S. M., & Romero, G. (1996). Lovastatin inhibits the stimulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase by insulin in HIRcB fibroblasts. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 326(2), 233–7. http://doi.org/10.1006/abbi.1996.0070
- Yan, Q. J., Asafo-Adjei, P. K., Arnold, H. M., Brown, R. E., & Bauchwitz, R. P. (2004). A phenotypic and molecular characterization of the fmr1-tm1Cgr fragile X mouse. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 3(6), 337–359. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-183X.2004.00087.x
- Yan, Q. J., Rammal, M., Tranfaglia, M., & Bauchwitz, R. P. (2005). Suppression of two major Fragile X Syndrome mouse model phenotypes by the mGluR5 antagonist MPEP. *Neuropharmacology*, 49(7), 1053–1066. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2005.06.004
- Yang, J.-C., Niu, Y.-Q., Simon, C., Seritan, A. L., Chen, L., Schneider, A., ... Olichney, J. M. (2014). Memantine effects on verbal memory in fragile X-associated tremor/ataxia syndrome (FXTAS): a double-blind brain potential study. *Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology, 39*(12), 2760–8. http://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.122
- Yau Suk Yu ,Chiu Christine, Vetrici Mariana, C. B. R. (2016). Chronic minocycline treatment improves social recognition memory in adult male Fmr1 knockout mice. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *312*, 77–83. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2016.06.015
- Yoon, B. H., Kim, C. J., Romero, R., Jun, J. K., Park, K. H., Choi, S. T., ... Sengupta, P. (2014). The

Laboratory Rat : Relating Its Age With Human ' s. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *4*(6), 624–630.

- Yuhas, J., Cordeiro, L., Tassone, F., Ballinger, E., Schneider, A., Long, J. M., ... Hessl, D. (2011). Brief report: Sensorimotor gating in idiopathic autism and autism associated with fragile X syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 41(2), 248–253. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-010-1040-9
- Yun, S. H., & Trommer, B. L. (2011). Fragile X mice: Reduced long-term potentiation and N-Methyl-D-Aspartate receptor-mediated neurotransmission in dentate gyrus. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 89(2), 176–182. http://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.22546
- Yun, S. W., Platholi, J., Flaherty, M. S., Fu, W., Kottmann, A. H., & Toth, M. (2006). Fmrp is required for the establishment of the startle response during the critical period of auditory development. *Brain Research*, 1110(1), 159–165. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2006.06.086
- Yuskaitis, C. J., Mines, M. A., King, M. K., Sweatt, J. D., Miller, C. A., & Jope, R. S. (2010). Lithium ameliorates altered glycogen synthase kinase-3 and behavior in a mouse model of Fragile X syndrome. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *79*(4), 632–646. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2009.09.023
- Zalocusky, K., & Deisseroth, K. (2013). Optogenetics in the behaving rat: integration of diverse new technologies in a vital animal model. *Optogenetics*, *1*, 1–17. http://doi.org/10.2478/optog-2013-0001
- Zan, Y., Haag, J. D., Chen, K.-S., Shepel, L. a, Wigington, D., Wang, Y.-R., ... Gould, M. N. (2003). Production of knockout rats using ENU mutagenesis and a yeast-based screening assay. *Nature Biotechnology*, 21(6), 645–651. http://doi.org/10.1038/nbt830
- Zang, J. B., Nosyreva, E. D., Spencer, C. M., Volk, L. J., Musunuru, K., Zhong, R., ... Darnell, R. B. (2009). A mouse model of the human fragile X syndrome I304N mutation. *PLoS Genetics*, 5(12). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1000758
- Zarate, C. A., Payne, J. L., Quiroz, J., Sporn, J., Denicoff, K. K., Luckenbaugh, D., ... Manji, H. K. (2004). An Open-Label Trial of Riluzole in Patients with Treatment-Resistant Major Depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *161*(1), 171–174. http://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.161.1.171
- Zeeb, F. D., & Winstanley, C. a. (2013). Functional disconnection of the orbitofrontal cortex and basolateral amygdala impairs acquisition of a rat gambling task and disrupts animals' ability to alter decision-making behavior after reinforcer devaluation. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 33*(15), 6434–43. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3971-12.2013
- Zhan, Y., Paolicelli, R. C., Sforazzini, F., Weinhard, L., Bolasco, G., Pagani, F., ... Gross, C. T. (2014). Deficient neuron-microglia signaling results in impaired functional brain connectivity and social behavior. *Nature Neuroscience*, *17*(3), 400–406. http://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3641
- Zhang, D., Liu, B., Chen, J., Peng, X., Liu, X., Fan, Y., ... Huang, R. (2013). Determination of Vascular Dementia Brain in Distinct Frequency Bands with Whole Brain Functional Connectivity Patterns. *PLoS ONE*, 8(1). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0054512
- Zhang, J., Fang, Z., Jud, C., Vansteensel, M. J., Kaasik, K., Lee, C. C., ... Nelson, D. L. (2008). Fragile X-Related Proteins Regulate Mammalian Circadian Behavioral Rhythms. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 83(1), 43–52. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2008.06.003
- Zhang, Z., Li, S., Cui, M., Gao, X., Sun, D., Qin, X., ... Cao, F. (2013). Rosuvastatin enhances the therapeutic efficacy of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells for myocardial infarction via PI3K/Akt and MEK/ERK pathways. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, 108(2), 333. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00395-013-0333-5
- Zhao, M.-G., Toyoda, H., Ko, S. W., Ding, H.-K., Wu, L.-J., & Zhuo, M. (2005). Deficits in trace fear memory and long-term potentiation in a mouse model for fragile X syndrome. *The Journal* of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 25(32), 7385–7392. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1520-05.2005
- Zheng, J., Winkeler, A., Peyronneau, M. A., Dolle, F., & Boisgard, R. (2015). Evaluation of PET Imaging Performance of the TSPO Radioligand [F]DPA-714 in Mouse and Rat Models of Cancer and Inflammation. *Molecular Imaginag and Biology*, (July 2015), 127–134. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11307-015-0877-x
- Zho, W.-M., You, J.-L., Huang, C.-C., & Hsu, K.-S. (2002). The group I metabotropic glutamate

receptor agonist (S)-3,5-dihydroxyphenylglycine induces a novel form of depotentiation in the CA1 region of the hippocampus. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 22*(20), 8838–8849. http://doi.org/22/20/8838 [pii]

Zijlstra, M., Li, E., Sajjadi, F., Subramani, S., & Jaenisch, R. (1989). Germ-line transmission of a disrupted beta 2-microglobulin gene produced by homologous recombination in embryonic stem cells. *Nature*, *342*(6248), 435–438. http://doi.org/10.1038/342435a0

Znamenskiy, P., & Zador, A. M. (2013). Corticostriatal neurons in auditory cortex drive decisions during auditory discrimination. *Nature*, 497(7450), 482–5. http://doi.org/10.1038/nature12077